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Future.
  KUKA sees itself as a driver of Industrie 4.0 and is developing technologies 

for the intelligent factory of the future. The introduction of digitization 
will bring about production that increasingly organizes itself with the aid 
of decentralized networked systems. Robots that collaborate directly with 
humans, are mobile and capable of autonomous navigation enable flexibility 
in the production process. They also are the key component in the inter
action of production and IT.
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in € millions 2014 2015 Change
in %

Orders received

Robotics 805.5 891.2 10.6

Systems 1,456.0 1,428.1 1.9

Swisslog – 551.8 –

Group 2,229.0 2,838.9 27.4

Sales revenues

Robotics 834.6 909.6 9.0

Systems 1,285.6 1,471.7 14.5

Swisslog – 620.8 –

Group 2,095.7 2,965.9 41.5

Order backlog (Dec. 31) 1,702.5 1,639.0 -3.7

EBIT

Robotics 88.9 100.2 12.7

Systems 80.2 114.7 43.0

Swisslog – 45.9 –

Group 141.8 135.6 4.4

EBIT in % of sales

Robotics 10.7 11.0 –

Systems 6.2 7.8 –

Swisslog – 7.4 –

Group 6.8 4.6 –

Earnings after taxes 68.1 86.3 26.7

Financial situation

Free cash flow 172.2 95.7 155.6

Capital employed (annual average) 492.0 676.8 37.6

ROCE (EBIT in % of capital employed) 28.8 20.0 –

Capital expenditure 94.3 107.0 13.5

Employees (Dec. 31) 12,102 12,300 1.6

Net worth

Balance sheet total 1,979.5 2,381.7 20.3

Equity 541.1 732.5 35.4

in % of balance sheet total 27.3 30.8 –

Share

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
(in millions of shares) 34.2 36.1 5.6

Earnings per share (in €) 1.99 2.39 20.1

Dividend per share (in €) 0.40 0.50 * 25.0

Market capitalization (Dec. 31) 2,106.0 3,197.5 51.8

* Subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on May 27, 2016

Key figures



KUKA at a glance
  KUKA is a global automation company with sales revenues of around 3 billion euro and 
a  workforce of 12,300 worldwide. The company is one of the world’s leading suppliers of 
auto mation solutions. KUKA offers its customers tailored solutions ranging from the core 
 component – the robot – to cells and largescale systems. As a technology leader, KUKA sets 
standards the world over. In addition to the headquarters at the production and development  
site in Augsburg, the Group is internationally represented with about 100 companies. KUKA 
stands for innovations in automation and is a driver of Industrie 4.0. 

  In 2015, the company realigned itself to concentrate on eight focus markets that are character
ized by their high growth and profit potential:

Service

Solution
Cell

Product

Energy

Metal Industry

Consumer Goods

E-Commerce

Electronics

Automotive

Healthcare

Aerospace



Supervisory Board Report
Dear Shareholders,

The Supervisory Board has great pleasure in presenting its report for the 
past financial year, during which it once again successfully performed 
the tasks conferred on it under the law, the Articles of Association and 
its Standing Rules of Procedure on behalf of KUKA. The activities of the 
Supervisory Board included advising the Executive Board and carrying 
out its control function. The activities mainly focused on corporate plan
ning and strategy, particularly with respect to the further profitable 
growth of the company.

The Supervisory Board held plenary sessions and organized a telephone 
conference. Copious work on details was accomplished by the various 
committees. The Supervisory Board attended the company’s Annual 
General Meeting on June 10, 2015. The Supervisory Board continuously 
monitored business development, particularly through the regular man
agement report presentations by the Executive Board at the meetings of 
the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board informed us of orders 
received, sales revenues, EBIT, staffing numbers and 

other key indicators. There were good outcomes throughout. Outside the 
Supervisory Board meetings the Chairman was in constant contact with 
the Executive Board and was thus kept uptodate with the economic 
situation of the company. The other members of the Supervisory Board 
too, particularly those chairing the committees, had repeated bilateral 
contact with the Executive Board members, during which they discussed 
various business transactions. This rendered the Supervisory Board 
capable of giving optimal attention to its control and advisory function. 

Bernd Minning,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 Corporate Governance



Corresponding to the legal requirements, it resolved in plenum con
cerning all questions of Executive Board emoluments. It had to deal 
with transactions that required approval. The Audit Committee paid 
particular attention to the issues of risk and compliance management.

Changes to the Executive Board and  
Supervisory Board

The Executive Board is unchanged, with Dr. Till Reuter, CEO, and Mr. Peter 
Mohnen, CFO. Dr. Till Reuter’s appointment lasts until April 25, 2020 
and Mr. Peter Mohnen’s until July 31, 2020. In view of the above terms 
in office, the Supervisory Board has set the quota for female Executive 
Board members at 0% as of June 30, 2017 (fulfillment deadline).

Some changes occurred in the Supervisory Board. Dr. Walter Bickel 
retired from the Supervisory Board on March 26, 2015, and Dr. Michael 
Proeller and Guy WyserPratte stepped down from the Supervisory 
Board at the end of the Annual General Meeting held on June 10, 2015. 
Dr. Hubert Lienhard, Friedhelm Loh and Hans Ziegler were elected to the 
Supervisory Board as new members during the Annual General Meeting 
held on June 10, 2015. At the subsequent meeting of the Supervisory 
Board on June 10, 2015, Dr. Hubert Lienhard was appointed a member of 
the Mediation Committee and the Technology and Production Commit
tee, Hans Ziegler became a member of the Nomination Committee, the 
Personnel Committee and the Audit Committee, and Mr. Loh a member 
of the Strategy and Development Committee. Also, Prof. Dr. Uwe Loos 
was elected a new member of the Audit Committee.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank Dr. Michael Proeller, Guy 
WyserPratte and Dr. Walter Bickel for their effective support during their 
terms of office. The Supervisory Board remains elected until the Annual 
General Meeting of 2018. In view of the continuing periods in office, the 
Supervisory Board has set itself a target quota for female members of 
8.33% by June 30, 2017 (fulfillment deadline) taking into account that 
Ms Carola Leitmeir is a current member.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board  
and its committees

The Supervisory Board held six plenary sessions. It passed one resolution 
by written circulatory procedure. 

On March 24, 2015 the Supervisory Board met for its financial statements 
meeting. During this meeting, the Executive Board presented the annual 
financial statements for 2014 and the consolidated financial statements 
and consolidated management report for KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and 
the Group. The Executive Board explained the annual financial state
ments and KPMG in its role as auditor along with the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee presented their reports concerning the financial state
ments. By approving the annual accounts of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
the Supervisory Board adopted the respective financial statements. The 
Supervisory Board then supported the Executive Board’s proposal to the 
Annual General Meeting to approve the distribution of a dividend of 
€ 0.40 per share, carrying forward the remaining balance sheet profit. 

The Supervisory Board also approved the consolidated financial state
ments of the KUKA Group for 2014. The Supervisory Board approved 
the Corporate Governance report and dealt with the other proposed 
resolutions for the Annual General Meeting planned for June 10, 2015. A 
further item on the agenda was the resolution and approval of the report 
of the Supervisory Board for the 2014 financial year. At the meeting held 
on March 24, 2015 the Supervisory Board also considered adaptable 
production and the general outlook for Industrie 4.0 in relation to the 
topic of the future: Automation Powerhouse. Finally at this meeting, 
the Supervisory Board had to decide on the variable emoluments of the 
members of the Executive Board, as well as the achievement levels for 
the personal targets of 2014 and the specification of personal targets 
for the 2015 financial year, as well as the definition of key parameters 
for the phantom share program 2015 – 2017.

On April 13, 2015 an extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board 
was held at Hannover Messe, at which the shareholders’ representa
tives nominated Dr. Hubert Lienhard, Friedhelm Loh and Hans Ziegler as 
candidates for election to the Supervisory Board by the Annual General 
Meeting.
 
The Supervisory Board met before and after the Annual General Meeting 
held on June 10, 2015. It received a report on the internal control system 
(ICS) and passed resolutions on the sale of the Tools and Dies business 
unit of KUKA Systems GmbH and HLS Ingenieurbüro GmbH, a subsidiary 
of KUKA Systems GmbH.

The meeting on September 25, 2015 was devoted to Group strategy. 
The Group strategy as well as the individual strategies of Robotics, Sys
tems, KUKA Industries and Swisslog were discussed. The Supervisory 
Board was also informed of the procedure for renewed verification of 
its efficiency.

The final meeting of the full Supervisory Board in 2015 took place on 
December 11. This meeting focused on planning. The Supervisory Board 
passed a resolution to approve the 2016 budget and the mediumterm 
planning up to 2018. The work of the committees was also reported 
on at this meeting. As part of the ongoing professional training of the 
Supervisory Board, an expert paper was presented on supervisory board 
duties, particularly focusing on recent developments in the law and 
the German Corporate Governance Code. Finally the Supervisory Board 
altered its Standing Rules of Procedure in particular to take account of 
the changes in the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) of 2015 
with regard to putting forward candidates for the Supervisory Board.

The written resolution concerned the declaration of compliance and 
declaration regarding corporate management.

All members of the Supervisory Board except Dr. Michael Proeller partici
pated in more than half of the Supervisory Board meetings; all members 
of the Supervisory Board attended more than half of the meetings of 
the committees to which they belonged (German Corporate Governance 
Code, section 5.4.7). The Executive Board was regularly in attendance 
at the Supervisory Board meetings, except when the Executive Board’s 
remuneration was on the agenda (German Corporate Governance Code, 
section 3.6). In addition, reference is made to the report on corporate 
governance with the same title, forming part of the business report. 
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The Supervisory Board has the following committees: Personnel Com
mittee (chaired by Mr. Minning), Audit Committee (chaired initially 
by Dr. Bickel, then Mr. Ziegler), Strategy and Development Commit
tee (chaired by Mr. Minning), Technology and Production Committee 
(chaired by Prof. Dr. Loos) and Mediation Committee in accordance 
with section 27 para.  3 of the German Codetermination Act (Mit
bestG) (chaired by Mr. Minning). A Nomination Committee also exists 
in accordance with section 5.3.3 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code (chaired by Mr. Minning).

The Personnel Committee met twice during 2015. It prepared all the items 
on the agenda of the plenum concerning issues relating to the Executive 
Board. The principal agenda items were the remuneration of the Executive 
Board and the proportion of women on the Executive Board. 

The Audit Committee convened six meetings during the year under 
review. Regular discussions took place on the results in connection with 
the treatment of the respective financial statements. It was also the 
Committee’s task to handle the review of the annual financial state
ments for 2014 by the Deutsche Prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung (DPR). 
Its work on risk management and compliance issues has already been 
mentioned above. 

The Strategy and Development Committee was convened four times. 
At these meetings, it reviewed the 2016 – 2020 corporate strategy as 
well as in particular various aspects of Industrie 4.0, diverse application 
technologies for robots and the marketing of robots in certain segments 
of the economy. A new focus of attention was Swisslog and its steadily 
developing markets. 

There were six meetings of the Technology and Production Committee. 
The roadmap for Industrie 4.0 was part of the agenda. However, the 
committee also addressed purchasing and assembly issues and prod
uct quality; finally the review of the postmerger integration processes 
regarding Reis and Swisslog is likewise worthy of mention.

There was no occasion to convene the Mediation Committee. 

In connection with the changes in composition of the Supervisory Board, 
the Nomination Committee was required to hold a meeting in 2015.

Independence and conflicts of interest,  
declaration of compliance

It must be noted that Dr. Hubert Lienhard is CEO of Voith Group and 
Mr. Friedhelm Loh is sole shareholder of SWOCTEM GmbH as well as 
owner and managing director of the Loh group of companies. According 
to the latest WpHG notifications (as of December 31, 2015), Voith Group 
holds an interest of 25.10% and SWOCTEM GmbH an interest of 10.018% 
in KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. KUKA Group has business relations with 
firms in Voith Group as well as the Loh group of companies. The indi
rect relationship between the Supervisory Board Chairman and KBee AG 
was already discussed in the 2014 annual report. KBee AG maintains a 
business relationship with KUKA Group.

Mr. Bernd Minning has also announced that he will terminate his role 
as CEO of Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH. Furthermore, this com
pany (as of December 3, 2014) disclosed its interest in KUKA Aktieng
esellschaft as 0%. Mr. Minning reported that he now holds stakes in 
logicbase GmbH (“4Sellers”) and WM Industries in Shanghai. These 
firms may be considered potential business partners of KUKA Group.

The abovementioned business relationships featured neither in discus
sions nor in resolutions of the Supervisory Board during the year under 
review. Concerning KBee, only one status report has been received.

The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board submitted identically 
worded declarations in accordance with section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). The Executive Board made its annual declara
tion on January 18, 2016 and the Supervisory Board followed suit on 
February 8, 2016. The declaration of compliance was made permanently 
available to shareholders on the company’s website. 

Work with the auditors
The annual financial statements of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft as of 
December 31, 2015 and the consolidated financial statements of KUKA 
Group as of December 31, 2015, as well as the consolidated manage
ment report of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and KUKA Group, including 
the bookkeeping, were audited by auditors KPMG Aktiengesellschaft, 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, which issued an unqualified 
audit opinion in each case on February 29, 2016. The auditors also 
checked the monitoring system as per section 91 para. 2 of the Ger
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the purpose of which is the early 
detection of developments that could threaten the company’s existence. 
KUKA Group’s midyear report dated June 30, 2015 was also reviewed by 
the auditors. KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s consolidated statements were 
prepared in accordance with section 315 a of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) based on the International Accounting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union.

The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee retained the external audi
tors, KPMG, as per the resolution at the Annual General Meeting of 
June 10, 2015. During the course of retaining the auditors of the finan
cial statements of the company and the Group, the chair of the Audit 
Committee and the chairman of the Supervisory Board conducted a 
review with the auditors regarding key audit issues, scope and fees. The 
auditors agreed to immediately inform the chair of the Audit Committee 
about any disqualification or bias issues encountered during the audit, 
provided such disqualification or bias issues could not immediately be 
resolved. The auditors also agreed to report on an ongoing basis during 
the audit all material findings and developments arising during the audit 
that were within the scope of the Supervisory Board’s responsibilities. 
Furthermore, the auditors were instructed to inform the Supervisory 
Board, or note in the audit report, if information was encountered during 
the audit that was contrary to the declarations released by the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board as per section 161 para. 1 sentence 1 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 Corporate Governance

8



Finally, the Audit Committee obtained the independence declaration of 
the auditors in accordance with section 7.2.1 of the GCGC and monitored 
the auditors’ independence. 

As in the previous years – always in respect of other topics – the com
pany asked the auditors to focus especially on a number of items during 
the annual review of fiscal 2015, such as deconsolidation effects from 
the sale of Group companies, valuation of acquisitions in the event of 
company expansion, cost calculation in the case of contract manufactur
ing, capitalization and impairment of selfgenerated intangible assets, 
and recognition and valuation of deferred taxes. The auditors found no 
major issues regarding these items.

On February 1, 2016, the auditors gave the Audit Committee chair a 
detailed explanation of the preliminary audit results. Because they had 
been contracted to review the June 30, 2015 midyear financial report, 
the auditors attended the August 4, 2015 Audit Committee meeting.

In a joint meeting with the auditors on March 8, 2016, the Audit Com
mittee reviewed the two sets of financial statements for fiscal 2015, 
taking into consideration the auditors’ reports. The Executive Board and 
the auditors presented the highlights of the financial reports to the 
panel. The Audit Committee members reviewed, discussed and checked 
in detail the documentation relating to the financial statements and 
discussed the audit report in depth with the auditors. The auditors 
answered the questions posed by the Audit Committee members. The 
Audit Committee reported to the Supervisory Board on the results of 
its discussions during the Board’s meeting on March 8, 2016 and rec
ommended that the Board approve KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s annual 
financial statements and KUKA Group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements for fiscal 2015.

The full Supervisory Board reviewed the draft annual financial state
ments and the Executive Board’s recommendation on appropriation of 
net income on March 8, 2016. The auditors, KPMG, attended the Super
visory Board meeting in order to report on material findings in the audit 
and to provide additional information. All members of the Supervisory 
Board were in possession of the audit reports provided by the auditors. 
KPMG explained in detail the financial position and performance of the 
company and the Group. The auditor also reported that there are no 
material weaknesses in the internal controlling of the accounting system 
or the risk early detection system. The Board and the auditors jointly 
reviewed and discussed the financial statements and KPMG answered 
all questions posed by the Supervisory Board.

2015 financial statements adopted
After completing its own review of the financial statements for 2015 for 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and KUKA Group, and with full knowledge and 
consideration of the Audit Committee report, the auditors’ reports and 
the explanations provided, the Supervisory Board raised no objections 
to the results and concurred with the auditors’ findings at its meeting 
on March 8, 2016. In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the auditors’ 
reports comply with the legal requirements stipulated in sections 317 
and 321 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The Supervisory Board is satisfied that the consolidated management 
report compiled for KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and KUKA Group is com
plete. The assessments made by the Executive Board in the management 
report are in agreement with its reports to the Supervisory Board, and 
the statements made in the consolidated management report are also 
in agreement with the Supervisory Board’s own evaluations. At the 
conclusion of its review, the Supervisory Board found no cause to raise 
objections to the consolidated management report. 

In its financial statements meeting on March 8, 2016, the Supervisory 
Board therefore approved KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s financial state
ments for fiscal 2015 as prepared by the Executive Board. The annual 
financial statements are thereby adopted. 

The Supervisory Board also approved KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s consoli
dated financial statements and the Corporate Governance report for the 
2015 financial year as prepared by the Executive Board. 

The Executive Board recommended that a dividend of € 0.50 per entitled 
noparvalue share be paid from the balance sheet profit, € 50 million be 
transferred to the other retained earnings and the remaining amount 
be carried forward. We reviewed this recommendation and endorsed it. 

Thanks to the staff
2015 was another very successful year for KUKA. As a result, the dividend 
can be increased once again this year. Industrie 4.0 was not just considered 
strategically, but was already supported through practical applications, 
as was demonstrated at Hannover Messe. The staff made a major con
tribution to this through their extraordinary level of commitment. Not 
just the Executive Board but also the workforce in the entire KUKA Group 
merit our gratitude. 

The Supervisory Board therefore thanks all staff of the KUKA companies for 
their exceptional commitment. They rendered outstanding service to their 
company during 2015. However, the Supervisory Board also extends its 
thanks to the members of the Executive Board, the management boards of 
the Group companies and the employee representatives. All deserve to be 
proud of their service to the company, its shareholders and customers. We 
can be confident of the continuing success of the company in the future.

Augsburg, March 8, 2016
The Supervisory Board

Bernd Minning 
Chairman
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The Executive Board and Supervisory Board report below on corporate 
governance at KUKA in accordance with section 3.10 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code (GCGC). 

Corporate governance refers to the entire system of managing and 
monitoring a company and a group of companies. This includes in 
particular a company’s organization, business policy and guidelines 
as well as internal and external control and monitoring mechanisms. 
Good, responsible corporate governance is one of KUKA’s core principles. 
It creates transparency and confidence in KUKA among shareholders, 
customers and suppliers, the staff, the financial markets and the public.

Also for this reporting year, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft examined the requirements of the GCGC in 
detail in its current version as of May 5, 2015 and issue the following 
declaration of compliance: 

Declaration of Compliance

The declarations of compliance of the Executive Board and the Supervi
sory Board that have been issued for every financial year since 2002 are 
available to the public on the company’s website at www.kukaag.de/en. 

The identical declarations of the Executive Board (dated January 18,2016) 
and the Supervisory Board (dated February 8, 2016) in accordance with 
section 161 para. 1 sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG) and the GCGC read as follows: 

“Since issuing the latest declarations of compliance of the Executive 
Board (January 20, 2015) and of the Supervisory Board (February 6,2015), 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft has complied with, and continues to comply 
with, the recommendations of the Government Commission on the 
German Corporate Governance Code as on June 24, 2014, which were 
published in the Bundesanzeiger (German Federal Gazette) dated Sep
tember 30, 2014, with the exception of the divergences mentioned in 
these declarations of competence. 

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft complies with the recommendations of the 
Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code 
of May 5, 2015, as published in the electronic Federal Gazette of June 12, 
2015, and will also comply with them in the future subject to the following 
exceptions:

1.  KUKA Aktiengesellschaft does not follow the recommendation for the 
Supervisory Board outlined in section 3.8 para. 3 of the GCGC. The 
Group D & O insurance policy does not provide for a deductible for 
members of the Supervisory Board. In KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s view, 
Supervisory Board members do not require a deductible to ensure that 
they properly fulfill their monitoring role.

2.  KUKA Aktiengesellschaft does not at present follow the recommenda
tion for the Executive Board outlined in section 4.2.3 para. 2 sentence 6 
of the GCGC. The reason is that the phantom share programs that 
are still current, and form part of the variable compensation of the 
Executive Board, are not restricted to certain maximum amounts. 
In addition to the maximum limits on the fixed remuneration and 
variable bonus, the employment contracts of the Executive Board 
members now also stipulate a maximum limit for phantom shares 
issued from 2015 onwards and payable from 2018 onwards. This is 
linked to a corresponding cap on the total remuneration. Retroactively 
capping total compensation (for overall salaries and variable payment 
components) would constitute a change in the terms of the contract, 
which cannot be unilaterally implemented by the Supervisory Board. 
Furthermore, it does not appear appropriate given the expected coop
eration based on mutual trust between the Supervisory and Executive 
Boards (which is in fact expected by the GCGC).

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft adheres to almost all the other suggestions 
contained in the Code.”

The identical declarations of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
have been available on the company’s website at www.kukaag.de/en 
since February 12, 2016.

Corporate  
Governance Report

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 Corporate Governance
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Corporate and management structure

KUKA Group consists of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft – the Group’s managing 
holding company – and the divisions Robotics, Systems and Swisslog. 
The Systems division comprises of the engineering and assembly busi
ness as well as the solution business of KUKA Industries (including 
Reis). Apart from the US business, the Group companies are – in most 
cases – 100% held by the management companies of the individual 
divisions directly or indirectly. 

Similarities between the business divisions in terms of product port
folios, markets, customers, and geographic focus are identified, and 
intense efforts are made to further develop these similarities. This is 
an expression of the “One KUKA” approach. However, the divisions are 
responsible for their business and thus also for their earnings. Moreover, 
as in the past, project and risk managers monitor implementation of the 
established targets by focusing intensively on key indicators, as well as 
developing executive staff and maintaining brand strategy. 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board

As a German stock corporation, the statutory rules impose on KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft a dual management system comprising the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board. The Executive Board is responsible for 
managing the company. The members of the Executive Board share 
this responsibility for company management. The Chairman of the 
Executive Board and Chief Executive Officer coordinates the work of 
the entire Board; he is responsible for representing and leading the 
Board in its cooperation with the Supervisory Board and its members. 
The Supervisory Board appoints, monitors and advises the Executive 
Board. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board coordinates the work of 
the Supervisory Board.

Responsible cooperation between the 
 Executive Board and the Supervisory Board

The common goal of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board is to 
sustainably increase shareholder value. To this end, the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board work closely together in the interest of the com
pany. No former members of the Executive Board sit on the Supervisory 
Board. The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory Board regularly, 
in a timely manner, and comprehensively regarding all matters relevant 
to the company with respect to planning, business development, risk 
exposure, risk management and any corresponding action taken. The 
Executive Board also addresses any deviations in the business results 
from the established plans and targets and explains the causes of such 
deviations. The Executive Board and /or Chief Compliance Officer also 
reports to the Supervisory Board regarding corporate compliance. The 
Articles of Association and the Supervisory Board’s rules of procedure 
contain provisions ensuring the right of the Supervisory Board to with
hold its consent on significant transactions. Further information on 
cooperation between the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
can be found in the Supervisory Board Report on pages 6 to 9. 

In fiscal 2015, no consulting or other contracts for work or services 
existed between Supervisory Board members and the company. 

In fiscal 2015, no resolutions were reached on business transactions in 
which any conflicts of interest could have arisen among members of 
the Executive and Supervisory Boards. For other details, please refer to 
the Supervisory Board Report (pages 6 to 9).

Executive Board

The Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft consists of two persons: 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Articles of Association expressly state that 
the Executive Board may consist of two persons (section 6 para. 1 of 
the Articles of Association). 

In fiscal 2015, the responsibilities of the members of the Executive Board 
were assigned as follows:

Dr. Till Reuter, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), is responsible for (i) investor 
relations, (ii) strategic corporate development, (iii) public relations, (iv) 
senior Group executives, (v) internal audit, (vi) personnel and (vii) legal 
affairs /compliance. Dr. Reuter is also director of industrial relations at 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft.

Mr. Peter Mohnen, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), is responsible for (i) 
finances and controlling, which includes the financial accounting, con
trolling, treasury and tax departments, (ii) risk management, (iii) IT and 
(iv) facility management.

The Executive Board members normally convene at least every 14 days, 
and otherwise keep in constant close contact. 

In accordance with the recommendations of the GCGC (section 4.1.5), 
the Executive Board takes diversity into consideration when filling 
managerial positions in the company and, in particular, aims for an 
appropriate consideration of women. The Executive Board sets targets 
for the proportion of women at the two management levels below the 
Board itself (see corporate management declaration as per section 289 a 
of the German Commercial Code (HGB) on the Company’s website at 
www.kukaag.de/en). 

Executive Board compensation
Executive Board compensation is outlined in the Compensation Report 
on page 15.
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Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board is composed in accordance with the German Act 
on Company Codetermination and consists of twelve members as per 
the Articles of Association; six members are elected by the shareholders 
and six by the employees.

The election of employee representatives to the Supervisory Board was 
held on April 18, 2013. The results of the vote were published in the 
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on April 24, 2013. A new election of 
Supervisory Board shareholder representatives was held at the Annual 
General Meeting on June 5, 2013. 

The term of office of the employee and shareholder representatives 
ends upon adjournment of the Annual General Meeting in 2018. This 
also applies to substitute members and other successors of employees 
and shareholders who are subsequently brought on to the Supervisory 
Board. This is because section 10 para. 4 sentence 1 of the Articles of 
Association stipulates that where a Supervisory Board member leaves 
office early, the term of office of the new Supervisory Board member runs 
only for the remaining term of office of the retiring member.

This specifically relates to one employee representative who was 
appointed to the Supervisory Board by order of the Augsburg Local 
Court dated September 10, 2013. It also relates to three members of 
the Supervisory Board representing the shareholders who were elected 
by the Annual General Meeting on June 10, 2015.

The Supervisory Board established the following targets for its future 
makeup to address the requirement regarding diversity in section 5.4.1 of 
the GCGC, which are also to be taken into account when recommending 
candidates to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting:

(i)    At least two Supervisory Board members shall have sectorspecific 
experience.

(ii)    At least one Supervisory Board member shall have considerable 
professional experience abroad.

(iii)  At least two Supervisory Board members to be elected at the Annual 
General Meeting shall be independent in terms of section 5.4.2 of 
the GCGC and shall not be affected by conflicts of interest in terms 
of section 5.5.2 of the GCGC.

(iv)  Normally, Supervisory Board members shall be no younger than 35 
and no older than 73 years of age at the time of their election.

(v)    A member of the Supervisory Board may carry out his or her man
date for up to a maximum of three consecutive periods in office, 
although this limit may be ignored in exceptional cases when it is 
in the company’s interests to do so.

(vi)  In addition, the requirements of the German act to promote equal 
participation of women and men in management positions in the 
private and public sector (FührposGleichberG) of April 24, 2015 and 
the targets set by the full Supervisory Board concerning the number 
of women are to be observed. 

Given the criteria for independence outlined under section 5.4.2 of the 
GCGC, it must be mentioned that Dr. Hubert Lienhard, a member of 
the Supervisory Board, is CEO of Voith GmbH. Voith GmbH is the hold
ing company of Voith Group and is allocated the KUKA shares which 
are directly held by J.M. Voith GmbH & Co. KG. It is also notable that 
Mr. Friedhelm Loh, as a member of the Supervisory Board, is the sole 
shareholder of SWOCTEM GmbH and owner of the Friedhelm Loh Group. 
The KUKA shares directly held by SWOCTEM GmbH are allocated to 
Mr. Loh. It must also be pointed out that companies in KUKA Group have 
business relations with firms in Voith Group as well as the Friedhelm 
Loh group of companies.

In respect of the independence criteria outlined in section 5.4.2 of the 
GCGC, it is also to be reported that the Supervisory Board chairman, 
Mr. Minning, gave notice that he stepped down from his position as 
CEO at Grenzebach Maschinenbau GmbH, which in turn already sold 
its KUKA shares in November 2014. Mr. Minning therefore fulfills the 
independence criteria set out in section 5.4.2 of the GCGC. 

To the extent that members of the Supervisory Board held or hold key 
positions with important business partners, transactions with them 
were subject to the standard terms and conditions for arm’s length 
transactions.

All other members of the Supervisory Board fully comply with the inde
pendence criteria. 

The Supervisory Board formed six committees consisting of Supervisory 
Board members. These are:

(i)   the Mediation Committee as per section 27 para. 3 of the German 
Act on Company Codetermination (MitbestG),

(ii)   the Personnel Committee,
(iii) the Audit Committee (section 5.3.2 GCGC),
(iv) the Nomination Committee (section 5.3.3 GCGC),
(v)  the Strategy and Development Committee, and
(vi) the Technology and Production Committee.

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, 
the Supervisory Board or the Audit Committee dealt with compliance 
issues, and the Executive Board reported to this committee accordingly.

It has been agreed with the independent auditor that the independent 
auditor will immediately report to the Supervisory Board any material 
findings or occurrences related to the Supervisory Board’s work that 
arise in the course of auditing the financial statements. Finally, it was 
also agreed with the independent auditor that the independent auditor 
will inform the Supervisory Board and /or note in its audit report any 
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finding of facts during the performance of the audit indicating that the 
declarations issued by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
with respect to the Code are in any way incorrect (section 7.2.3 GCGC). 
As stipulated in the audit contract, the auditor reviewed the interim 
report as of June 30, 2015.

The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the efficiency of its activities 
(section 5.6 GCGC). It reviewed the “Best Practice Scenarios” presented 
to it in 2014 and decided to have an initial analysis of the situation 
carried out in fiscal 2015. This commenced in fiscal 2015.

Supervisory Board compensation
Supervisory Board compensation is also outlined in the Compensation 
Report on page 19.

Shareholdings

As sole shareholder of SWOCTEM GmbH, Mr. Loh is allocated more than 
1% of the shares in KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. The other members of the 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board hold less than 1% of the shares in 
circulation. The overall investment in KUKA shares held by the remaining 
members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards is also less than 1% 
of the company’s shares in circulation.

Members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards or related parties are 
obliged according to section 15a of the Securities Trading Act (WpHG) 
to disclose the purchase or sale of shares in KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, or 
financial instruments relating thereto, if the value of these transactions 
within one calendar year reaches or exceeds the sum of € 5,000. The 
transactions by persons with management roles or their related parties 
reported to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft in fiscal 2015 were duly published 
and can be examined on the company website at www.kukaag.de/en.

Corporate Compliance

KUKA has always applied a high standard of ethical principles. Essential 
components are strict obedience to the law and valueoriented conduct. 
These form the basis of the Corporate Compliance Program adopted by 
the Executive Board in November 2007 and approved by the Supervi
sory Board in December 2007, which took effect throughout the Group 
on February 1, 2008. The key contents of the Corporate Compliance 
Program are contained in the Corporate Compliance Handbook, which 
comprises several compliancerelated guidelines. The Corporate Com
pliance Handbook was revised and updated in fiscal 2010. It was again 
reviewed and updated in fiscal 2013 and the version now applicable is 
dated April 1, 2013. 

The Executive Board passed a resolution making the CEO ultimately 
responsible for the Corporate Compliance Program. A Compliance Com
mittee consisting of persons employed by the Group was established 
to steer, implement, monitor and develop the Corporate Compliance 
Program. In addition, compliance officers were established at the Group 
companies for the individual divisions and regions under the Compliance 
Committee. The compliance officers are intended to be the employees’ 
direct and (first) point of contact for compliancerelated issues. The 
position of external ombudsman has also been established. 

For KUKA, regular training of its employees and continuous develop
ment of the existing compliance system are key to anchoring our val
uebased standards in the company and avoiding any violations of law. 
For example, since 2011, all KUKA employees have participated in online 
compliance training based on an inhouse elearning program designed 
especially for this purpose. The elearning program was progressively 
expanded to include the foreign Group companies and is currently being 
updated. In 2013, a survey related to the online compliance training was 
issued to measure the acceptance and understanding of the compliance 
program at KUKA Group. The company also held a series of seminars 
on selected topics. 

Annual General Meeting

The 2016 Annual General Meeting will take place in Augsburg on May 27, 
2016.

Each share is entitled to one vote. Noparvalue shares have been issued 
and global certificates created. The shares are bearer shares. The Execu
tive Board makes it easier for shareholders to exercise their voting rights 
at the Annual General Meeting by offering them the right to issue powers 
of attorney to proxies who are appointed by the company and bound 
by the instructions of the shareholder. The proxies appointed by the 
company are also available at the Annual General Meeting to the share
holders who are present. In addition, powers of attorney may be issued 
to financial institutions, shareholder associations or other third parties.
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Accounting and annual audit

Since 2004, the annual financial statements of KUKA Group have been 
prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union. An independent auditor elected at the 
Annual General Meeting audits the annual financial statements and 
the consolidated financial statements. At the recommendation of the 
Supervisory Board, shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting 
chose KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, as auditor for 
the annual financial statements and Group auditor for fiscal 2015 as 
well as for a potential review of the midyear report for fiscal 2015. The 
midyear report for fiscal 2015 was reviewed by the auditor based on 
the aforementioned resolution.

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, the 
Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee reviewed the independence of the 
auditor, commissioned the auditor to carry out the audit, determined 
the key audit points and agreed on the fee.

Opportunity and risk management, 
 controlling

Opportunity and risk management at KUKA Group is described in the risk 
report included in the annual report on pages 53 to 59. In accordance 
with legal requirements, the aim of risk management is early identifi
cation of any risk that could jeopardize the existence of KUKA Group 
and its operating companies as going concerns to enable measures to 
minimize, transfer or avoid risk to be taken. The risk strategy and risk 
policy is guided in particular by business risks, financial risks (including 
currency risks), and the specific risks of the divisions – in each case from 
a short, intermediate and longterm perspective. Controlling in particular 
is an essential tool for efficient risk management at KUKA Group.

KUKA further optimized opportunity and risk management in 2015. The 
Executive Board is tasked with adapting opportunity and risk manage
ment to changes in the business environment on an ongoing basis.

Financial publications

The company informs its shareholders, participants in the capital mar
kets, and the media of its position and of significant business events, in 
particular by publishing quarterly financial reports, a midyear financial 
report, and a business report, holding a financial statements press con
ference on the annual financial statements and conducting the Annual 
General Meeting each year. In addition, it issues adhoc releases under 
section 15 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), notices under 
section 15 a of the WpHG (directors’ dealings), and under section 26 of 
the WpHG (disclosure of notifications by shareholders and holders of 
certain financial instruments), holds conferences with analysts, meets 
with analysts and investors in Germany and abroad, and issues other 
press releases.

All information is published in both German and English and is also 
available on the company’s website from the time of publication. All 
regular financial reporting dates are published in the company’s financial 
calendar, which can be found on the back cover page of the annual report 
and on the website at www.kukaag.de/en.

Declaration regarding  
Corporate Management

The corporate management declaration as per section 289 a of the Ger
man Commercial Code (HGB) is posted on the company’s website at 
www.kukaag.de/en.
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The compensation report summarizes the basic principles used to deter
mine the compensation of the Executive and Supervisory Boards of KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft and describes the structure and compensation of the 
members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards. The compensation 
report is an integral part of the combined management report.

Executive Board compensation

1. Compensation structure
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Executive Board compensation contains 
fixed and variable components. The latter consist of several variable 
compensation elements. The Executive Board compensation system thus 
conforms with section 87 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 
and the requirements of the GCGC regarding sustainable corporate 
performance. The variable components take into consideration both 
positive and negative business developments.

The fixed compensation consists of a base salary and payments in 
kind. The base salary is paid in twelve equal monthly installments. The 
payments in kind made to Executive Board members consist mainly of 
the noncash benefits for the provision and use of a company vehicle.

One half of the variable compensation is based on the achievement of 
personal targets and the other half is dependent on the performance 
of KUKA Group’s key indicators, EBIT and free cash flow. The associated 
details are agreed separately each year. The variable compensation 
component is capped (maximum target achievement of 200%) and 
achievement of the financial targets is linked to business performance 
over several years.

In addition, annual allocation volumes for participation in phantom share 
programs (hereinafter also referred to as the “programs”) are stipulated 
for members of the Executive Board as a further variable compensation 
component designed to provide a longterm incentive. Phantom shares 
are virtual shares that grant the holder the right to a cash payment 
in the amount of the company’s applicable share price. In contrast to 
stock options, the proceeds from phantom shares reflect not only the 
increase in share value, but also the full value of the stock. Moreover, a 
dividend equivalent that mirrors the actual dividend distributed on real 
KUKA shares is paid annually during the life of the plan for each virtual 
share held. There are no voting rights associated with phantom shares.

The programs each run for three calendar years. The allocation volume 
is either already contractually agreed or is set by the Supervisory Board 
before the respective threeyear period commences. The allocation 
volume divided by a reference price for the KUKA share then results in 
a provisional number of phantom shares. The Supervisory Board has cal
culated the provisional number of phantom shares based on the average 
price of the KUKA share (opening price in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange) between January 2, 2015 and March 23, 2015 (the last 
trading day prior to the Supervisory Board’s financial review meeting). 
The relevant price thus determined for the KUKA share is € 65.10. 

The Supervisory Board also establishes an EVA (economic value added) 
for continuing operations (before taxes) at the beginning of the three
year performance period. The EVA is based on the operational planning 
for the first three years of the program, which is geared towards the 
budget for the first financial year of the threeyear period and the pro
jections for the two subsequent financial years. 

The cumulative EVA (actual EVA) for the threeyear performance period 
is divided by the EVA for continuing operations in accordance with the 
operational planning for the three program years in order to determine a 
success factor. The success factor may fluctuate between 0 and 2.0. The 
final number of phantom shares depends on the success factor achieved, 
which is multiplied by the provisional number of phantom shares. The 
upper limit for the final number of phantom shares is capped at twice 
the number of provisional shares, which would constitute a success 
factor of 2.0. Payment is based on the final number of phantom shares 
at the final price of the KUKA share (average price of the KUKA share 
between January 2 of the year subsequent to the three reference years 
(“subsequent year”) and the day prior to the financial review meeting 
of the Supervisory Board in the subsequent year).

Compensation Report

15



In the event that an Executive Board member’s contract is terminated – 
regardless of which party initiates the termination – all phantom shares 
allocated to that member expire. However, this does not apply if an 
Executive Board member uses their right to step down from their place 
on the Board owing to a change of control at the company. In this case, 
a proportionate payment is made in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the phantom share program.

Each Executive Board member is obliged to purchase a certain number 
of KUKA shares from the gross proceeds paid out on the basis of the 
programs, in order to build up a holding volume of 50% of the annual 
base remuneration (fixed annual remuneration) in the year of allocation. 
Until the holding volume has been built up, 25% of the gross amount 
paid out for the relevant year must be spent on purchasing KUKA shares. 
The purchase amount is retained from the net proceeds. The obligation 
ends with the participant’s departure from KUKA Group. 

The Supervisory Board decides each year on the amount of the Exec
utive Board’s equitylinked remuneration, unless such equitylinked 
remuneration has been contractually agreed before. The objective of 
the phantom share program and its configuration is to ensure that every 
member of KUKA’s Executive Board is also a shareholder. The program 
promotes share ownership among members of KUKA’s Executive Board 
and thereby ties the interests of these governing body members more 
closely to the interests of shareholders. The profit targets and compar
ative parameters may not be changed retroactively.

The payment amounts (to be paid out in 2018) for the 2015 – 2017 phan
tom share program were limited for the first time to an amount equal 
to three times the allocation volume. Future phantom share programs 
will also be limited correspondingly, so that the Executive Board com
pensation as of 2018 is therefore limited by the accumulation of caps 
on individual items (fixed annual salary, variable bonuses and payments 
from a phantom share program).

The amounts paid out from the 2013 – 2015 and 2014 – 2016 phantom 
share programs currently still running are not yet subject to a limit. 
For this reason the total compensation of the Executive Board is cur
rently not limited (the Executive and Supervisory Boards reported on 
the resulting divergence from the recommendation as per section 4.2.3 
para. 2 sentence 6 of the GCGC in their joint declarations of compliance).

The employment contracts of Executive Board members contain 
“ severance payment caps”. This means that a restriction is agreed upon 
in the event of the employment contracts being terminated prematurely 
without good cause in relation to potential severance payments. The 
regulations specifically stipulate that the settlement shall not exceed 
the compensation value for the remaining term of the employment 
contract, restricted to twice the annual compensation. 

The employment contracts of Executive Board members additionally 
contain “changeofcontrol” clauses. In the event of a change in control 
within the company (sections 29 para. 2 and 30 WpÜG), the Executive 
Board members are entitled to terminate the employment contract 
within three months of the change in control occurring, subject to a 
notice period of three months. In the event of a termination, the Exec
utive Board members will be entitled to a severance payment, which 
is measured against the compensation due for the remainder of their 
contract, but is restricted to twice the annual compensation at most.

No loans were granted to Executive Board members during the year 
under review. 

2. Compensation for 2015
Executive Board compensation for fiscal 2015 is disclosed for each 
individual member in accordance with the standardized reference 
tables recommended in the GCGC. Following this, the compensation 
is disclosed separately according to “granted benefits” (table 1) and 
“actual inflow” (table 2). The target values (payment for 100% target 
achievement) and the minimum and maximum values achieved are also 
disclosed for the benefits. 

Payments granted to members of the Executive Board – taking into 
account the actual inflow – totaled € 7,911,000 in fiscal 2015. 
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Table 1: Executive Board compensation for 2015 – Overview of benefits

Dr. Till Reuter
CEO

Peter Mohnen
CFO

in € thousands FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2015 
(min)

FY 2015 
(max)

FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2015 
(min)

FY 2015 
(max)

Fixed compensation 568 600 600 600 381 425 425 425

Fringe benefits 1 25 25 25 25 29 31 31 31

Other compensation 2 – 131 131 131 – – – –

Total 593 756 756 756 410 456 456 456

Oneyear variable compensation 3         

Bonus 347 350 0 700 210 225 0 450

Offsetting of other compensation 4 – 131 131 131 – – – –

Multiyear variable compensation         

Company targets bonus for 2014 5 347 – – – 210 – – –

Company targets bonus for 2015 5 – 350 0 700 – 225 0 450

Phantom share program 2014 – 2016 6 426 – – – 296 – – –

Phantom share program 2015 – 2017 6 – 443 0 1,200 – 277 0 750

Total 1,713 1,768 625 3,225 1,126 1,183  456 2,106 

Pension cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total compensation 1,713 1,768 625 3,225 1,126 1,183  456 2,106

1  The fringe benefits include expenses and noncash benefits for the provision of 
company cars and insurance allowances. The premium for D & O insurance is included 
in the fringe benefits because, unlike the accident insurance, it cannot be allocated 
individually, as the company pays a lump sum premium for the insured group of 
persons which goes beyond the members of the Executive Board.

2  Dr. Reuter received compensation of CHF 145,000 in fiscal 2015 as President of the 
Administrative Board of Swisslog Holding AG (Buchs /Switzerland). At an exchange 
rate of € 1 = CHF 1.1022, this is equivalent to € 131,555. This amount is taken into 
account in the overview of benefits. 

 3  Proportion of variable bonus for achieving personal targets (with 100% target 
achievement) in the specified fiscal year (possible target achievement from 0 to 
200%).

4  The employment contracts with the Executive Board members stipulate that compen
sation granted on the basis of a Supervisory Board, Advisory Board or Administrative 
Board mandate in a company affiliated to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft shall be offset 
against the bonus payable to the member of the Executive Board. The compensation 
paid to Dr. Reuter by Swisslog Holding AG amounting to € 131,555 therefore counts 
towards his variable compensation.

 
5   Deferred percentage (50%) of variable bonus (with 100% target achievement) for the 

specified fiscal year.

6   Allocation value on the date the phantom share program was established by the 
Supervisory Board. The price of the KUKA share on this date is multiplied by the 
provisional number of phantom shares. For the phantom share program 2014 – 2016 
the share price was € 42.14 at this time (Xetra closing price on May 28, 2014). For the 
phantom share program 2015 – 2017 the share price was € 72.14 (Xetra closing price 
on March 24, 2015).
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Table 2: Executive Board compensation for 2015 – Overview of inflow

Dr. Till Reuter
CEO

Peter Mohnen
CFO

in € thousands FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2015

Fixed compensation 568 600 381 425

Fringe benefits 1 25 25 29 31

Other compensation 2 0 131 0 0

Total 593 756 410 456

Oneyear variable compensation 3

Bonus 587 640 390 408

Multiyear variable compensation

Company targets bonus for 2012 4 524 – 141 7 –

Company targets bonus for 2013 4 – 610 – 400

Phantom share program 2011 – 2013 5 1,022 – – –

Phantom share program 2012 – 2014 5 – 3,082 – 1,541

Other equitylinked compensation 6 14 11 8 7

Total 2,740 5,099 949 2,812

Pension cost 0 0 0 0

Total compensation 2,740 5,099 949 2,812

1  The fringe benefits include expenses and noncash benefits for the provision of 
company cars and insurance allowances. The premium for D & O insurance is included 
in the fringe benefits because, unlike the accident insurance, it cannot be allocated 
individually, as the company pays a lumpsum premium for the insured group of 
persons which goes beyond the members of the Executive Board.

2  Dr. Reuter received compensation of CHF 145,000 in fiscal 2015 as President of the 
Administrative Board of Swisslog Holding AG (Buchs /Switzerland). At an exchange 
rate of € 1 = CHF 1.1022, this is equivalent to € 131,555. This amount is taken into 
account in the overview of inflow. 

  The employment contracts with the Executive Board members stipulate that compen
sation granted on the basis of a Supervisory Board, Advisory Board or Administrative 
Board mandate in a company affiliated to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft shall be offset 
against the bonus payable to the member of the Executive Board. The compensation 
paid to Dr. Reuter by Swisslog Holding AG amounting to € 131,555 therefore counts 
towards his variable compensation for fiscal 2015 (to be disbursed in April 2016).

3  Variable compensation paid out during the fiscal year.

4   Deferred portion of variable compensation from the 2012 and 2013 fiscal years, which 
was paid out in the 2014 and 2015 fiscal years.

5   Phantom share program 2011 – 2013 payout at a final price of € 35.65 (average KUKA 
share price (opening price in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) between 
January 1, 2014 and March 22, 2014). Phantom share program 2012 – 2014 payout 
at a final price of € 65.10 (average KUKA share price (opening price in Xetra trading 
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) between January 1, 2015 and March 23, 2015). The 
amounts paid out each represent the gross proceeds. The net payout results from 
the gross proceeds less taxes and social contributions, other statutory levies and the 
purchase price for actual KUKA shares. 

6  Payout of dividend equivalents in 2014 of € 0.30 per provisional share from the 
phantom share programs 2012 – 2014, 2013 – 2015, 2014 – 2016 and in 2015 of € 0.40 
per provisional share from the phantom share programs 2013 – 2015, 2014 – 2016, 
2015 – 2017.

7   Only proportionate amount due to commencement of employment during the year 
with effect from August 1, 2012.
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Provisions, which took the total expected expense from the phantom 
share programs into account, were recognized as of December 31, 2015 
for all phantom share programs in effect on that date and that have 
yet to be paid out (i. e. the 2013 – 2015, 2014 – 2016 and 2015 – 2017 
programs).

Apart from a few exceptions, former Executive Board members whose 
terms of office ended no later than 2008 were granted company pension 
benefits that included old age, professional and employment disability, 
widows’ and orphans’ pensions. The sum of the provisions recognized 
in 2015 for current pensions and expected pension benefits for this 
group of persons totaled € 10,018,000 (German Commercial Code) (2014: 
€ 9,846,000).

Supervisory Board compensation

1. Compensation structure
Based on a resolution at the company’s Annual General Meeting on 
January 1, 2006, the Articles of Association were amended to include 
fixed compensation for members of the Supervisory Board. 

In addition to reimbursement of expenses, each member of the Super
visory Board is paid a fixed amount of € 30,000, payable at the end of 
the fiscal year. 

The chair of the Supervisory Board is paid four times that amount, and 
the deputy chair receives double the compensation. Supervisory Board 
members receive additional compensation of € 30,000 for chairing the 
Annual General Meeting, provided this task is not fulfilled by the chair of 
the Supervisory Board, and for membership in one or more committees 
that are not of an interim nature. Committee chairs are paid at most 
one and a half times the annual compensation, even if they chair more 
than one committee or are members of another committee; this does 
not apply to the committee formed pursuant to section 27 para. 3 of 
the German Act on C0determination (MitbestG). 

In addition, for each Supervisory Board meeting (including meetings of 
Supervisory Board committees), each Supervisory Board member has the 
choice of either being reimbursed for expenses or receiving a lump sum 
payment of € 450 per meeting, plus the applicable value added tax. The 
employee representatives on the Supervisory Board who are employed 
by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft or a KUKA Group company are still entitled 
to their regular salaries based on their employment contracts. 
 

2. Compensation for 2014 and 2015
The following table compares the compensation paid to members of the 
Supervisory Board in the 2014 and 2015 financial years:

Table 3: Supervisory Board compensation in 2015

in € thousands Payment in 2015 
for 2014

Payment in 2016 
for 2015 1

Bernd Minning 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
 Chairman of the Personnel Committee,  Strategy 
and Development Committee, Mediation 
 Committee and Nomination Committee 165 165

Michael Leppek 2
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 90 90

Prof. Dr. Dirk Abel 60 60

Dr. Walter Bickel 1 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
(until March 26, 2015) 75 17

Wilfried Eberhardt 30 30

Siegfried Greulich 2 60 60

Thomas Knabel 2 60 60

Armin Kolb 2 60 60

Carola Leitmeir 2 60 60

Dr. Hubert Lienhard 
(from June 10, 2015) 0 34

Friedhelm Loh 
(from June 10, 2015) 0 34

Prof. Dr. Uwe Loos 
Chairman of the Technology and Production 
Committee 75 75

Dr. Michael Proeller 1 

(until June 10, 2015) 60 26

Guy Wyser-Pratte 1 

(until June 10, 2015) 60 26

Hans Ziegler 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
(from June 10, 2015) 0 42

1   Dr. Bickel, Dr. Proeller and Mr. WyserPratte already stepped down from the 
 Supervisory Board as of March 26, 2015 or June 10, 2015. Their proportionate 
 compensation for 2015 was already settled and paid out in 2015.

2  The employee representatives on the Supervisory Board, who are also members of 
IG Metall, have declared that they shall pay their Supervisory Board compensation to 
the Hans Böckler foundation in line with the guidelines of the Federation of German 
Trade Unions. 
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KUKA share –  
better than the MDAX in 2015
In the year under review, the KUKA share price rose by 41% from 
€ 58.98 to € 83.05. The share price thus developed better in the past 
financial year than the MDAX (+23%), having already been the best 
performer of the index in 2014. This positive share price performance 
is attributable, among other factors, to the good financial results of 
the previous year and the high level of interest among investors for 
KUKA as a result of the “Automation”, “Growth in China” and “Indus
trie 4.0” megatrends. The MDAX, on which the 50 mediumsized stocks 
in Germany are listed, improved by 23% in 2015 from 16,935 points 
(yearend 2014) to 20,775 points (yearend 2015). The MDAX benefited 
from the relatively healthy development of the German economy and the 
expansive monetary policy of the European Central Bank as well as the 
improved development in certain European countries in the wake of the 
financial crisis. KUKA also outperformed all but one of the companies in 
its peer group (companies that have a similar business base and are of 
a comparable size). The share prices within the peer group developed 
within the range of 26% to +70%. 

Investor relations

KUKA places a high priority on communicating regularly with the capital 
market. In order to further boost investor confidence in the company, 
it provides transparent, timely reports. The investor relations team 
engages in intensive dialog with the capital markets, reporting on all 
important events which have an impact on the KUKA share. KUKA held 
meetings at the sites in Augsburg and Shanghai and was present at 
international investor conferences and road shows. Activities in Germany 
were primarily centered on the financial centers in Frankfurt am Main 
and Munich. Additional events were held in Berlin, Cologne /Dusseldorf 
and BadenBaden. The focus of communications abroad was on the 
financial centers in New York, London and Zurich /Geneva, which were 
visited on multiple occasions. The company held additional road shows 
at the financial centers of Boston, Lyon, Milan, Paris, Shanghai, Vienna 
and in Scandinavia. All investors can access further details at any time 
on the Internet at www.kukaag.de/en/investor_relations. This is where 
quarterly, midyear and annual reports and corporate presentations are 
published. You can find the financial calendar with the schedule for 2016 
on this website as well as at the end of this financial report.

KUKA and the capital market
The KUKA share is listed on the MDAX, the German stock market segment for midcap companies. Reporting is 
conducted in line with the Prime Standard rules of Deutsche Börse. The company attends international road shows 
and investor conferences on a regular basis. In 2015, the daily trading volume of KUKA shares on the stock exchange 
averaged 156,000 shares and was thus at the same level as the previous year. Market capitalization was more than 
€ 3 billion at the end of 2015. 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Weighted average number of
shares outstanding

millions
of shares 33.43 33.92 33.92 34.17 36.14

Earnings per share € 0.89 1.64 1.72 1.99 2.39

Dividend per share € – 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.50 *

High for the year (closing price) € 20.00 29.02 38.50 62.51 85.59

Low for the year (closing price) € 12.50 14.68 26.40 33.85 56.86

Closing price for the year (closing price) € 14.14 27.67 34.05 58.98 83.05

Change compared to prior year % 14.8 95.7 23.1 73.2 41.0

Market capitalization (Dec. 31) € millions 472 938 1,154 2,106 3,198

Average daily volume No. of shares 132,000 120,000 144,000 157,000 156,000

* Subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on May 27, 2016

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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Shareholder structure

The free float of KUKA’s shares remains unchanged at a relatively high 
level. As of December 31, 2015, the free float, including shares held by 
institutional investors, totaled around 60% of share capital. Compared 
to the end of 2014, however, the free float had declined slightly (Decem
ber 31, 2014: 65%). According to the mandatory disclosures submitted 
to the company, the following investors hold more than 3% of share 
capital (as of December 31, 2015): Voith Group 25.1%, SWOCTEM GmbH 
10.0% and Midea Group 5.4%.

Majority of analysts rate KUKA shares 
“Buy” or “Hold” 

Many investors and banks focused on robotbased automation again in 
2015. The KUKA share was assessed by a total of 24 banks and brokerage 
houses. As was the case in the previous year, most bank analysts rated 
the share as a buy or a hold: at the end of 2015, four were recommending 
a “buy” for the stock (2014: seven). Nine recommended investors to 
“hold” (2014: eleven) and eleven said “sell” (2014: seven). The average 
target price for the share was € 69.83 as of December 31, 2015 (Decem
ber 31, 2014: € 46.52). For further details, please go to www.kukaag.de/
en/investor_relations. 

Syndicated loan refinanced and extended 

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft refinanced its syndicated loan in April 2015. 
The volume of the new loan was increased to € 230 million. The loan 
concluded in 2013 was thus prematurely refinanced. Due to the good 
business development, it was possible to negotiate more favorable terms 
for the refinancing. The interest expenditure will therefore decline over 
the next few years.

The convertible bond (ISIN: DE000A1R09V9) with a volume of € 150 mil
lion and a term lasting up to February 2018 performed extremely well 
up to the end of 2015 and closed at a price of well over € 200. KUKA is 
exercising its right to repay the convertible bond early and has canceled 
the convertible bond with effect from March 24, 2016.

The rating agencies rated KUKA AG as follows: Standard & Poor’s gave 
KUKA AG a rating of “BB+ (outlook: stable)” and Moody’s rated the com
pany at “Ba2 (outlook: positive)”.

KUKA share price performance
January 1 – December 31, 2015 *
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*  December 30, 2014 = 100, stock performance indexed, Xetra stock price
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Group basis

Group structure and business activities 

In the year under review, KUKA Group consisted of KUKA Aktien
gesellschaft and the Robotics, Systems and Swisslog divisions. KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft headquartered in Augsburg is the Group’s holding 
company and is responsible for managing corporate activities within the 
group of companies. The management of the individual divisions coordi
nates the operational business activities in the respective segments. The 
divisions operate globally and are supported by their regional subsidiar
ies in both their sales efforts and their assembly and field service work.

KUKA is one of the world’s leading specialists in automation. As an inter
nationally operating technology corporation, KUKA offers its customers 
everything they need from a single source: from the core component – 
the robot – to cells and turnkey systems. KUKA contributes with its 
advanced automation solutions to increased efficiency and improved 
product quality. Industrie 4.0 is bringing the smart, digital factory and 
flexible manufacturing concepts to the fore.

The Robotics division develops, manufactures and distributes the core 
component for automation – the robot. In addition to the manufacture 
of industrial and service robots, it also focuses on robot control and soft
ware. Robotics additionally offers its customers a wide range of services.

The core competence of the Systems division lies in customized solu
tions for the automation of manufacturing processes. Systems plans 
and implements automated systems for its customers, and upgrades 
existing systems to increase sustainability and efficiency. It focuses on 
largescale automotive and aerospace projects. By acquiring Reis Group, 
KUKA has strengthened its cell business and growth in general indus
try. It bundles this expertise within the KUKA Industries business unit, 
which forms part of the Systems division.

The company Swisslog was acquired at the end of 2014 and integrated 
as a division of KUKA Group during the reporting period. The Healthcare 
Solutions unit provides automation solutions for forwardlooking hos
pitals in order to increase efficiency in a sustained manner and improve 
patient care. In the logistics segment the Warehouse & Distribution 
Solutions unit supplies automated intralogistics systems, covering the 
spectrum from planning to implementation and service.

Robotics division
The core component for automating manufacturing processes is provided 
by the Robotics division: it produces industrial robots together with con
trollers and software. The broad product portfolio covers payload ranges 
from 5 to 1,300 kg. This enables KUKA to meet the various requirements 
of its customers optimally. All robot models are developed and assem
bled in Augsburg. The control cabinets are produced in two Hungarian 
plants, in Taksony and Füzesgyarmat. For the Asian market, KUKA also 
produces robots and control cabinets at its Chinese plant in Shanghai. 
The KUKA Colleges provide technical training courses for customers at 
more than 30 sites worldwide. 

KUKA Robotics is continuously expanding its range of products so as to 
offer customers from all kinds of sectors the solutions that are appro
priate for them and to allow even small and medium enterprises to use 
robots economically. Research and development has an important role 
to play here. KUKA’s new products and technologies open up additional 
markets and create new applications for robotbased automation.

KUKA has smoothed the way for humanrobot collaboration with the 
development of the sensitive lightweight robot LBR iiwa. Intelligent safety 
technologies enable robots to assist human workers in their immediate 
vicinity. The controller has modular and open interfaces so that robots 
can easily be integrated into existing, networked production systems. 
Mobile robots are another means of increasing the flexibility and effi
ciency of production. The KUKA KMR iiwa, launched in the year under 
review, consists of an autonomously navigating platform on which an 
LBR iiwa is mounted. The mobile assistant navigates safely through the 
production facility and optimizes logistics procedures.

Systems division
The Systems division offers its customers tailored complete solutions 
for automating manufacturing processes; it plans, designs and builds 
automated production systems. The range covers the entire valuecre
ation chain of a system: from individual system components, tools and 
fixtures to automated production cells and even complete turnkey sys
tems. The division’s expertise lies in automating individual production 
processes such as welding and joining, processing various materials and 
integrating different production stages to form a fully automatic system.

The Systems division supplies largescale automated lines principally to 
the automotive industry for bodyinwhite production as well as assem
bling engines and transmissions. Markets in Germany and elsewhere in 
Europe are served from Augsburg, while the Greater Detroit area in the 
USA is responsible for the North /South America region and Shanghai 
in China handles the Asian market. Automated assembly lines and test 
rigs for engines and transmissions are designed at and supplied from 
the Systems sites in Bremen, Greater Detroit /USA and Shanghai /China. 
Systems also operates a production plant for the entire body of Chrys
ler’s Jeep Wrangler (KTPO) in Toledo /USA. 

As well as the automotive industry, more and more other sectors are 
coming to rely on the expertise that KUKA Systems has acquired over 
many years in the automation business. A notable example is aircraft 
construction, which offers significant potential for automation in pro
duction. As a result of the acquisition of Alema Automation, KUKA Sys
tems can now operate as an allround supplier for aerospace customers. 
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By acquiring Reis Group, KUKA has strengthened its cell business and 
growth in general industry. KUKA is bundling its cell expertise and 
indepth process knowhow in the resultant new business unit, KUKA 
Industries, for customers from general industry. As part of the Systems 
division, KUKA Industries offers its customers innovative joining and 
machining technologies, laser welding and special welding processes, 
as well as all process steps for the foundry sector and for photovoltaic 
and battery production.
 

Swisslog division
With its Swisslog division, KUKA is opening up the growth markets of 
ecommerce /retail, warehouse logistics and healthcare. Based in Buchs, 
Aarau /Switzerland, Swisslog employs a workforce of 2,500 worldwide 
and serves customers in over 50 countries. From planning and design, 
through to implementation and service over the whole life cycle of the 
solutions, Swisslog provides integrated systems and services from a 
single source.

The Healthcare Solutions unit provides automation solutions for for
wardlooking hospitals in order to increase efficiency in a sustained man
ner and improve patient care. The solutions optimize work procedures in 
the areas of material transport and medication management. This allows 
hospital staff more time for looking after their patients. At the same 
time the probability of errors in medication is reduced to a minimum.

The Warehouse & Distribution Solutions unit implements automation 
solutions for forwardlooking warehouses and distribution centers. With 
automated intralogistics solutions, Swisslog optimizes warehouse logis
tics and assists companies to achieve maximum throughput at minimum 
cost, to handle a large number of Stock Keeping Units efficiently and to 
fulfill supply requirements with a high level of accuracy.

Markets and competitive positions
The automotive industry continues to represent an important pillar in 
KUKA Group's success. Automotive accounted for about 50% of total 
sales revenues during the year under review. This is the market in which 
KUKA has grown over the past 40 years and become established as a 
specialist for robotbased automation solutions. For several years the 
Group has been working successfully to expand its business in sectors 
outside the automotive industry (general industry) so as to achieve a 
greater degree of differentiation in its sales revenues. General industry 
and the automotive industry contributed about equally to overall sales 
revenues during the year under review. In China, the growth market for 
automation, KUKA is broadening its presence energetically in order to 
come still closer to its customers. The robots are shipped to the Asian 
market from the Shanghai production location. 

 

Through intensive research and development, KUKA Robotics brings 
out technologies and products which create new possibilities for the 
use of robots. Ever more sectors are benefiting from the automation 
solutions, for example the consumer goods and electronics industries. 
KUKA Robotics is one of the leading robot manufacturers in the world, 
and is regarded as the market leader for industrial robotics in Europe.

KUKA Systems is a top supplier for bodyinwhite construction activi
ties in the automotive industry and is market leader in North America. 
Systems is also expanding into sectors outside the automotive indus
try, particularly that of aircraft construction. The cell business of KUKA 
Industries in the Systems division focuses predominantly on the energy 
sector, consumer goods industry, agricultural machinery sector and rail 
vehicle construction.

Swisslog Healthcare Solutions is the world’s market leader in the area 
of automated material transport in hospitals (pneumatic tube solu
tions, automated guided vehicles) and an innovative niche supplier in 
the automated management of medication (storage, packaging and 
administration of drugs). Swisslog Warehouse & Distribution Solutions 
is active on a global scale and is one of the few intralogistics suppliers 
that plan, implement and operate complete turnkey solutions for their 
customers as a general contractor. 

Corporate strategy
KUKA moves in a highly dynamic, innovationdriven market environ
ment, which is being continuously redefined. Robotbased automation 
is a global trend. 

Increasing digitization in conjunction with Industrie 4.0 is creating new 
possibilities for the factory of the future. This development also means, 
however, that the company has to face up to a new, tougher competi
tive environment.

In order to guarantee the company’s sustained success and to expand 
its leading global position in automation, KUKA is focusing on profitable 
highgrowth markets. With the slogan “KUKA 2020”, Groupwide meas
ures have been initiated that will provide the company with a strong 
stimulus for development at many levels. 

Global leadership principles enhance cohesion and unity, for instance. 
Furthermore, various aspects of the corporate culture, such as KUKA
wide collaboration and the assurance of innovative capabilities are 
included. This also involves consideration of the knowledge and wide 
range of abilities of the employees. In addition, structures and processes 
are being harmonized throughout the Group.

In order to benefit from global trends and to make optimum use of 
inhouse expertise, the Group is concentrating on expanding its leader
ship in innovation and technology.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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1.  Expanding the leadership in technology and 
 innovation and setting the course for Industrie 4.0

The KUKA brand stands for innovation in automation and is a driver of 
Industrie 4.0. With a new generation of robots that are sensitive and can 
work handinhand with humans, KUKA is setting new trends in robotics. 
Technological innovations such as improved safety, vision and sensor sys
tems enable humans and machines to collaborate. The LBR iiwa, devel
oped by KUKA, is equipped with precisely these properties. Enhanced 
with mobility and autonomous navigation, robots are being transformed 
into flexible production assistants. The trend is towards robots that are 
mobile, easy to program and flexible to deploy. KUKA is gearing itself to 
these trends and is further expanding its own technological expertise 
in the focus sectors.

KUKA sees itself as a driver of Industrie 4.0 and is developing technol
ogies for the intelligent factory of the future. Industrie 4.0 will bring 
about production that increasingly organizes itself with decentralized 
networked systems. This necessitates highspeed data lines and tech
nologies such as cloud computing and software processes for data anal
ysis and information processing.

Here the company is working on entirely new business models that will 
transform not only production in the future, but the value creation pro
cess as a whole. Aspects affecting labor and training markets are taken 
into consideration. Furthermore, KUKA is active in various committees and 
discussion forums working for greater cooperation between the worlds of 
politics, business and science. Digitization will have a major influence not 
only on technological progress, but also on society in general. 

KUKA is concentrating on increasing its own innovative strength and 
also on complementing this with targeted acquisitions. By acquiring Reis 
Group back in 2014, KUKA strengthened its cell business and growth 
in general industry. In the year under review, KUKA bundled this exper
tise in the KUKA Industries business unit, which is part of the KUKA 
Systems division.

Acquisition of the Swiss company Swisslog gave KUKA access to the 
growth markets of warehouse logistics and healthcare. Swisslog’s spe
cific strengths are in the field of software solutions for materials flows. 
The combination of logistics technologies with the technologies, prod
ucts and knowhow of the other divisions in KUKA Group is opening up 
new possibilities in automation.

2.  Diversification of business operations in  
new markets and regions

KUKA is a market leader in the automotive industry. There are also many 
opportunities, however, for growth in markets outside this sector, in 
general industry.

The focus markets addressed by KUKA are especially important because 
their growth and profit potential is high. The degree of automation in 
these sectors is still relatively low. Customers from general industry 
are primarily interested in automation to make their production pro
cesses more efficient, raise their production quantities and, of course, 
improve overall quality. 

KUKA has improved its own market position here with various acquisi
tions. As a result of the takeover of Alema, KUKA Systems can now oper
ate as an allround supplier for aerospace customers and has thereby 
facilitated its access to the market. Through the investment in Reis 
Group, KUKA was able to gain access to new sectors such as the foundry 
industry and solar energy and battery production. 

Through Swisslog, on the other hand, KUKA can access particularly 
attractive growth markets such as warehouse logistics and the health
care sector, and is therefore able to diversify into other customer seg
ments. KUKA has also achieved market presence in the warehouse logis
tics sector, particularly in the USA. 

In 2015, KUKA geared its business even more towards market seg
ments. A total of eight focus markets were defined for strategic fur
ther development:

 ›  Automotive  
Automotive customers have always been of great importance for 
KUKA. For a long time, they were the main customers. Automotive 
remains an important mainstay and currently accounts for about 50% 
of sales. The German premium brands rely heavily on KUKA and are 
important motors of technology and innovation. KUKA will continue 
to grow globally in the automotive segment in the coming years.

 › Aerospace  
KUKA is an allround supplier for the aerospace sector and covers the 
entire manufacturing process for customers, for example the riveting 
of components. One important aerospace customer is Boeing in the 
USA. The goal now is to utilize our expertise in Europe and Asia too 
in order to grow further in these regions.   

 › Electronics  
The 3C market is one of the most important markets of the future. This 
is because the level of automation in this area is still very low. Products 
for the electronics market are currently manufactured predominantly 
manually in Asia. What is required here are customerspecific solu
tions for the manufacture of hightech products. At the same time, 
quality requirements and wage costs in Asia are increasing sharply.   
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 › Consumer Goods  
Robots have been processing, picking, packing, stacking, labeling and 
palletizing successfully and efficiently for many years in the produc
tion of socalled Fast Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG), i. e. everyday 
products. Nowadays, they are used along the process chain from pri
mary packaging through to palletizing and depalletizing, particularly 
in the food and drinks industry, but also in shoe and textile production 
as well as in the manufacture of cosmetics or pharmaceuticals. At the 
start of the chain, robotbased automation is used predominantly due 
to extremely short cycle times of generally half a second, whereas at 
the end of the chain they are primarily used for handling heavy loads.

The next robot generation will gradually open up new fields of appli
cation along the process chain where both humanrobot collaboration 
(HRC) and mobility are in demand. Today’s consumers already want 
to compile and configure their products themselves on the Internet. 
This personalization requires production and IT to be networked and 
will permanently change production processes. As the most flexible 
production element, the robot already collects data in the produc
tion system and supplies the data to the IT system. It serves as the 
arm of IT in the production system; it provides the link. In the future, 
IT systems will process the data and return them to the production 
system via the robot, thereby providing the production system with 
a basis for successively optimizing itself. No other component in the 
production process is currently capable of accomplishing this sup
porting role as effectively as modern industrial robots.   

 › Metal Industry  
KUKA has a vast wealth of experience in the metalworking industry. 
Examples include arc welding and laser welding, but customers from 
the foundry industry and many other fields also benefit from KUKA’s 
expertise.   

 › Energy   
KUKA Industries supplies standard products and individual solutions 
for many different tasks in the production of photovoltaic systems. 
The company offers its customers the right solution for every step 
in the manufacturing process for photovoltaic modules – from brick 
sawing, cell handling and crosssoldering to the framing and pack
aging of the modules.  

 › Healthcare  
Healthcare is currently facing a major challenge. Demographic changes 
and a shortfall in healthcare personnel are making modern technol
ogies indispensable. Automation solutions can provide greater effi
ciency in hospitals and improve work procedures. The workload on 
nursing staff is thus reduced, enabling them to concentrate more on 
patient care in the future. 

Solutions from Swisslog help modern hospitals and healthcare facili
ties to optimize work procedures and costs, for example in the areas 
of efficient material transport and management of medicines, thereby 
increasing patient wellbeing. KUKA also has a long history of products 
for the medical sector. Mobile and sensitive robots open up entirely 
new possibilities for assisting patients in the field of healthcare.   

 › e-commerce  
Electronic commerce results in large quantities of varied goods being 
sent to consumers via goods distribution centers. In the long term, 
the volumes involved can only be managed with automation. This 
creates a market for rack feeders, highbay warehouses and storage 
systems, such as those supplied by Swisslog, but also for robotics. 

KUKA has a strong position in the European market, which it aims to 
secure. The company sees growth potential in the expansion of global 
sites with a key focus on highgrowth regions in Asia and North America. 
The primary focus here is on the potential of the Chinese market. Accord
ing to forecasts of the International Federation of Robotics (IFR), the 
Chinese market is expected to undergo very strong growth in the com
ing years. Worldwide average annual growth of around 12% is expected. 

KUKA has been represented for many years by several subsidiaries in Asia 
and has greatly expanded its presence on the Chinese market in recent 
years. The headquarters for the Asian business is Shanghai, where a hub 
bundling various functions was established in 2016. 

3.  Continuous establishment of sustainable  
and efficient cost structures

In order to support profitable growth and thereby secure longterm 
competitiveness, various measures are being implemented in the field 
of operational excellence.

The “Power ON” program launched by the Executive Board represents a 
key initiative which, over the coming years, will optimize and harmonize 
further procedures, the organizational structure and IT systems and tools 
throughout the Group. The objective of Power ON is to make KUKA fit 
for successful implementation of the KUKA 2020 strategy. In the con
text of this program, standardized Groupwide ERP control (Enterprise 
Resource Planning) is also being introduced. The program covers KUKA’s 
worldwide operations and encompasses all divisions and core functions. 
Initial milestones were achieved in the year under review. 

According to the holistic business model, a new organizational manage
ment model is being drafted for the strategic realignment of the Group 
in the future. Furthermore, a business process management organiza
tion is being introduced to draw up global definitions of core processes, 
such as product portfolio development and procurement. For this pur
pose, process managers have been appointed at the global level for the 
relevant areas. Local adaptations will follow in the course of the project. 
A worldwide hub concept has also been developed to bundle the admin
istrative functions of the individual companies in shared service centers. 
There will be a shared service center in Augsburg for the Europe region 
and others in China and the USA. This will make it possible to modernize 
processes and increase efficiency by pooling activities of the same kind.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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Financial control system and objectives
The Group’s strategy is aimed at sustainably increasing the enterprise 
value. Various key financial performance indicators are used as part of 
Group management and to monitor the business performance and posi
tion of the Group. KUKA Group’s financial targets are key performance 
indicators (KPIs) that track the enterprise value of the company. The 
most important KPIs for KUKA Group are revenues, EBIT, ROCE and free 
cash flow. The development of these variables is presented in the “Busi
ness performance” section starting on page 33 and under “Financial 
position and performance” from page 36 on. Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) are compared to sales revenues to determine return 
on sales, which results in the EBIT margin. EBIT is compared to aver
age capital employed to determine the return on capital employed, or 
ROCE. EBIT and ROCE are determined for KUKA Group and the divisions. 
Free cash flow – cash flow from operating and investment activities less 
capital spending – shows whether the investments can be funded from 
cash flow, and how much cash is available to pay a dividend and service 
debt. These key indicators are components of the target and remuner
ation system in place at KUKA Group and are published. This ensures 
that all employees share the same goals. See the glossary that begins 
on page 128 for definitions of key performance indicators.

Medium term, i. e. between three and five years, the EBIT target mar
gin is at least 12% for the Robotics division and at least 6% for Sys
tems. Currently, the largest share of revenues of over 50% is generated 
in Europe. KUKA plans to further expand activities in Asia and expects 
about 30% of revenues to be generated here in the medium term. The 
ability to reach these targets is largely dependent on the expertise and 
dedication of our employees. This is another reason why it is essential 
for KUKA to be an attractive employer globally.

An important early indicator of business performance for mechanical 
and systems engineering companies is orders received. Order backlog 
for a certain period is determined by subtracting sales revenues from 
orders received during that time. Order backlog is a key indicator of the 
expected utilization of operational capacities in the coming months. 
Orders received and order backlog are determined for KUKA Group and 
for the divisions.

All key indicators are continuously tracked and reviewed by KUKA 
Group’s management companies and its corporate accounting and con
trolling departments. Management analyzes any deviations from plan 
and decides on the necessary corrective actions required to achieve 
the targets.

Key performance indicators for KUKA Group over 5-year period

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5 2,095.7 2,965.9 *

EBIT 72.6 109.8 120.4 141.8 135.6

ROCE (in %) 21.8 32.3 36.9 28.9 20.0

Free cash 
flow 6.5 77.1 95.4 172.2 95.7

* including € 620.8 million from Swisslog

Achievement of targets 
In the year under review, 2015, KUKA Group reached its financial targets 
and continued its profitable growth. In its outlook in the 2014 annual 
report and at the annual results press conference on March 25, 2015, the 
Executive Board predicted sales revenues for 2015 of around € 2.8 bil
lion and an EBIT margin of approximately 5.5% before PPA (purchase 
price allocation) for Swisslog. The target value for the EBIT margin took 
into consideration the integration and restructuring costs for Swisslog. 
Furthermore, investment for growth in new industries, in the Chinese 
market and in global process and IT structures was expected to have a 
negative impact on the EBIT margin.

Revenue development at Group level was anticipated to profit from the 
firsttime consolidation of Swisslog. In addition, it was forecast that 
both customer segments – general industry and automotive – and from 
a regional viewpoint, China and North America, would make a positive 
contribution to sales development.

When reporting the firsthalf results for 2015, the Executive Board raised 
the targets to around € 2.9 billion for sales revenues and 6.5 to 7.0% 
for the EBIT margin before purchase price allocation for Swisslog. The 
reason for this adjustment was the positive business development and 
positive effects from the sale of the Tools and Dies business unit and 
HLS Engineering Group.

The following statements were made regarding targets during the year:

2015 target values Sales revenues EBIT margin

First quarter 2015 ~ € 2.8 billion ~ 5.5%*

Second quarter 2015 ~ € 2.9 billion 6.5 – 7.0%*

Third quarter 2015 ~ € 2.9 billion 6.5 – 7.0%*

* before PPA (purchase price allocation) for Swisslog

In the year under review, the target value forecast for sales revenues was 
met. The Group achieved sales revenues of € 2,965.9 million. Adjusted 
for the effects of the purchase price allocation for Swisslog, the EBIT 
margin was 6.6%.

The Robotics division’s EBIT margin of 11.0% was slightly above that 
of 2014 (10.7%). The stable automotive business and strong growth in 
general industry and service, as well as regionally in China, contributed 
to the positive development of profitability.

At Systems, the EBIT margin rose by 1.6 percentage points to 7.8% (2014: 
6.2%). This increase is primarily attributable to the further improve
ment in process structures, systematic focusing on the cost structure 
and high capacity utilization due to strong demand, particularly from 
North America. However, the profit from the sale of the Tools and Dies 
business unit and HLS Engineering Group also had a positive effect on 
the division’s overall margin.

KUKA achieved a net profit of € 86.3 million (2014: € 68.1 million) in the 
year under review.
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Investments totaled € 107.0 million, exceeding the € 94.3 million expend
iture in 2014 as planned. This was due primarily to investment in R&D 
and on tangible assets as well as on building the new Development and 
Technology Center in Augsburg.

A free cash flow in the middoubledigit million range, excluding financial 
investments, was forecast for the 2015 financial year. The actual result 
was a positive free cash flow of € 95.7 million. In the previous year, par
ticularly as a result of the acquisition of Swisslog Group, the free cash 
flow was significantly negative at € 172.2 million. 

For detailed information, please refer to the chapter “Financial position 
and performance” from page 36 onwards.

Research and development
The area of research and development (R&D) is of strategic importance 
for KUKA. It ensures the innovative and technological strength of the 
Group. In the year under review, the company invested heavily in this 
area. Research and development expenditure amounted to € 105.4 mil
lion in 2015, substantially higher than the value for the previous year 
(2014: € 78.2 million). This includes Swisslog, which has been fully con
solidated since December 31, 2015.

KUKA was quick to gear its activities towards Industrie 4.0 and is invest
ing accordingly. Furthermore, development activities are becoming more 
international. An IT facility has been founded in Austin, Texas /USA, for 
example, to concentrate on the further development of software appli
cations as well as data analysis. KUKA has also continued to exploit 
opportunities for external growth by taking stakes in companies that 
can strengthen the market position with regard to Industrie 4.0. 

R&D expenditure is attributable predominantly to the Robotics divi
sion, which applied for a total of 168 patents in the year under review; 
of these, 117 were granted. Systems conducts most of its research and 
development in conjunction with customer projects. A total of 100 pat
ent applications were filed in 2015, of which 62 were granted.

In the year under review, KUKA focused on expanding and improving 
the existing product portfolio and developing applications for Indus
trie 4.0. This also includes key technologies, such as humanrobot col
laboration, mobility and smart platforms. KUKA presented these focal 
topics  in the factory of the future at Hannover Messe under the banner 
of “Hello Industrie 4.0”. 

Robotics division

In November 2015, KUKA Robotics presented the new KR CYBERTECH 
nano series in China, the world’s largest and fastest growing robot mar
ket. These new handling and welding robots are redefining the perfor
mance parameters of the low payload category and supplementing the 
robot portfolio with payload capacities of six, eight and ten kilograms. 
Under the slogan “Performance. Reinvented.” KUKA unveiled the new 
robots at the “Robotics Show” held during the China International Indus
trial Fair (CIIF) in Shanghai.

With the KMR iiwa (KMR standing for “KUKA Mobile Robot”), KUKA com
bines the strengths of the sensitive lightweight robot LBR iiwa with an 
autonomously navigating platform on which the LBR iiwa is mounted. 
The robot thus becomes a mobile, highly flexible production assistant – 
an important prerequisite for production of the future. The integrated 
KUKA Navigation Solution, combined with safety laser scanners, ena
bles it to detect obstacles early on and thus to share common paths 
with people and logistics trains.

Shorter assembly times and effective deployment of the workforce in 
the manufacture of satellites are the goals of the “Tomorrow’s factory” 
project being implemented jointly with the French company Thales Ale
nia Space. An LBR iiwa collects component parts from various storage 
bins to make up a parts kit in preparation for the next operation. The 
KMR iiwa brings the finished kit of parts to the satellite assembly sta
tion. Also planned is use of the KMP omniMove transport platform (KMP 
standing for “KUKA Mobile Platforms”) for autonomous transportation 
of the finished satellites within the production shop.

The KR AGILUS HM (Hygienic Machine), a hygienic robot for the food and 
pharmaceuticals industries, rounds off the portfolio of the  KR AGILUS 
small robot series.

The KR 120 R2100 nano F exclusive was unveiled at the foundry trade 
fair GIFA 2015. It is optimized for the extreme working conditions in 
cleaning systems and medium or largesized washing cells and is a 
new compact addition to the KR QUANTEC range of special robots for 
foundries. 

For applications requiring utmost precision, KUKA has developed the 
extremely accurate KR 300 R2500 ultra SE. It is characterized by a posi
tioning accuracy of less than 0.3 millimeters. The robot was presented 
at EMO 2015 in Milan, the international flagship show for machine 
tools and metal working.

Also in 2015, the new generation of the KUKA Coaster – an amusement 
ride based on a KUKA industrial robot – was presented at the IAAPA 
entertainment trade fair in Orlando, Florida /USA. The new generation 
enables simple boarding at ground level and is operated using a control 
panel with a touch screen.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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Systems division

The flexFELLOW is a mobile robot unit on which an LBR iiwa is installed. 
It can be manually moved to its place of use and put into operation there 
extremely quickly. This allows an entirely new degree of flexibility when 
planning systems as well as fluid variation in terms of the degree of auto
mation. The combinability of manual and automated tasks means that 
production can be optimally adapted to the required capacity utilization. 
This enables humans and robots to work together safely. 

Energy efficiency in systems engineering
Following the development of a software tool for the energyefficient 
design of manufacturing systems in the previous year, 2015 saw the 
measures being investigated for effectiveness, impact on production 
systems and possible additional costs. The systems developed by KUKA 
Systems are intended not only to save resources in theory, but also to 
contribute to sustainable production in practice. For this, consumption 
must be checked continuously. The solutions from KUKA Systems enable 
energy consumption to be recorded both during planning and then dur
ing subsequent operation. In combination with the visualization stand
ard, the performance curve can be displayed and archived if required. 
A “traffic light” system on the control panel indicates to the operator 
whether the current energy consumption corresponds to the specifica
tions. This enables a quick response and countermeasures. 

Research for the body-in-white production of the future
In the year under review, KUKA Systems worked intensively on concepts 
for the next generation of bodyinwhite production. Increasingly, the 
challenge in this sector is to produce a growing number of different vehi
cle models with ever smaller batch sizes. Since the start of 2014, KUKA 
Systems has been involved in the research factory for bodyinwhite pro
duction, and since the end of 2014 has been a member of the ARENA 
2036 research association.

The “Matrix bodyshop” concept has been developed for versatile body
inwhite production in which the individual process steps are performed 
in standardized cells. The concept ensures versatile, networked manu
facturing and thus a decisive competitive edge in modern industrial pro
duction. The basic cells are served by AGVs (Automated Guided Vehicles) 
which deliver the required production and clamping tools so that various 
different types and derivatives can be manufactured on a single line. The 
AGVs also perform the component logistics activities. This makes it pos
sible to manufacture small series while retaining the economical advan
tages of a large series. The concept is suitable not only for the automo
tive industry, but also for small series with large numbers of variants, as 
the cycle times are very short.

KUKA Industries
In 2015, the Reis SEP range of presses for trimming stamped parts was 
expanded to include additional sizes. This new range is characterized 
by systematic modularization, offering the customer a wide spectrum 
of different variants, without sacrificing the concept of standardization. 
In conjunction with the Dialog IV control system, the SEP range offers 
the customer new functions, a userfriendly, intuitive operator interface 
and powerful interfaces for control and data transfer in an Industrie 4.0 
environment.

KRC ROBOTstar is the new robot controller from KUKA Industries. The 
ROBOTstarVI robot controller from Reis has been seamlessly integrated 
into the control platform of the KUKA KR C4. Operation and program
ming are performed using the reisPAD touch control panel. The KRC 
ROBOTstar is an open system for digital communication with other net
work devices and thus forms the ideal basis for future Industrie 4.0 
applications.

At GIFA 2015, KUKA Industries presented complete solutions for perma
nent mold and diecasting automation. Here, KUKA Industries combines 
automation expertise with process knowhow.

Swisslog division

KUKA exhibited the automated “CarryPick” goodstoperson system at 
Hannover Messe, as the first joint application with Swisslog. “CarryPick” 
consists of mobile racks, AGVs (Automated Guided Vehicles), multifunc
tional “ProPick” workstations and Swisslog’s WM6 warehouse manage
ment system. Within a defined warehouse area, AGVs drive underneath 
mobile racks stocked with goods, lift them and transport them to picking 
workstations. There, the sensitive LBR iiwa lightweight robot assists the 
human operator. It too receives orders from a system. With the aid of a 
2D vision system, it selects the ordered goods from passing containers 
and picks them up using suction grippers.

Together with a longstanding customer, KUKA developed an automatic 
palletizing station. One of the central tasks in intralogistics is the auto
matic loading of mixed pallets. Depending on the packaging form and 
sequencing criteria, the requirements on the system can be extremely 
high. 

Awards for KUKA products and technologies
In March 2015, the KUKA LBR iiwa lightweight robot won the German 
Business Innovation Award in the “Large Company” category. This prize 
recognizes the most significant scientific, technical, entrepreneurial and 
intellectual innovations in German business. 
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In the first quarter of 2015, KUKA also received the prestigious  euRobotics 
Technology Transfer Award. KUKA was awarded this prize jointly with the 
Albert Ludwig University of Freiburg for a successful technology trans
fer project entitled “Flexible Autonomous Navigation for the Industrial 
Shop Floor”. The technology transfer project included various processes 
for autonomous navigation, enabling the implementation of new pro
duction and logistics concepts in the aerospace and general industry 
sectors using heavyduty KUKA omniMove platforms. 

The KUKA Genius friction welding machine won the Red Dot Design 
Award in the “Product Design” category. It scored highly for its attrac
tive design, high functionality and simple ergonomic operation. KUKA 
Genius can be installed easily, is spacesaving and can be configured for 
individual welding tasks.

KUKA won the International Design Excellence Award (IDEA) for the 
design of the KR AGILUS small robot series at the 50th anniversary inter
national conference of the Industrial Designers Society of America. The 
design conveys the technical properties of the KR AGILUS – dynamic per
formance, high speed, exact precision and maximum flexibility. The robot 
is designed to save on materials with the aim of maximizing its agility. 

Procurement
After the takeover of Swisslog, the prices and delivery conditions for 
joint suppliers of KUKA companies were optimized. Particularly with 
regard to indirect purchasing, the savings potential in the midsingle
digit million euro range targeted in the previous year by the Robotics 
and Systems divisions in a Groupwide project was achieved to the full. 
The focus here was on finetuning the interfaces between purchasing 
and the consumers. Furthermore, new negotiation tools are being used 
throughout. 

In respect of purchasing production parts, Swisslog is investigating the 
manufacturing locations of KUKA Romania and REIS Czech Republic for 
makeorbuy considerations. 

For the processing of indirect materials, Swisslog launched a project 
together with the other KUKA companies in July 2015 with the objec
tive of facilitating close cooperation in the future procurement of these 
materials and services. Further savings will be achieved in 2016 and 
2017 by bundling volumes and suppliers. Moreover, material group 
management at Robotics, Systems and Swisslog has been more closely 
coordinated.

Procurement at Robotics

Overall, the favorable raw material prices enabled Robotics to achieve 
purchasing savings in the doubledigit million euro range. Furthermore, 
it was also possible to significantly increase localization in China and 
considerably expand the supplier base. 

Procurement at Systems

The purchasing interfaces and processes were analyzed and finetuned 
in an optimization project. Preconditions for applying purchasing lev
erage more effectively have been established and mapped to the inter
face partners and purchasers, and new reporting structures have been 
set up. The purchasing organization has also been realigned in order to 
be able to steer contracting strategies and preconditions better in the 
future. This will enable more proactive purchasing, further strengthen
ing frontloading and increasing savings substantially. 

For KUKA Industries in Obernburg, purchasing processes, methods and 
tools have also been improved by means of an optimization project. An 
important feature here is involvement of the Purchasing department at 
an earlier stage in all procurements. Material group management and 
steering indicators have also been implemented using Qlik View. In the 
second part of the project, measures for additional savings potential 
were identified for further implementation in 2016.

Procurement at Swisslog

The switch to direct reporting lines from local purchasing managers to 
the strategic purchasing manager in the Warehouse & Distribution Solu
tions division has further harmonized purchasing processes and tools. 
Expansion of strategic procurement has led to closer coordination of 
material group management with KUKA Robotics and KUKA Systems. 
The savings targets for project business were exceeded.

SAP has been introduced at further Swisslog locations. The rollout pro
cess will be completed in 2017. This will harmonize procurement pro
cesses and enable improved transparency of procurement data. 
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Economic report

Macroeconomic and industry conditions
 
IMF – global economy set to grow by 3.1% in 2016 
 despite difficult general conditions

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) presented its outlook for the 
world economy in 2016 and 2017 at the start of the current year. It fore
casts global economic growth of 3.1% in the current year and 3.4% in 
the following year. This is a 0.2 percentage point decline from each of 
its forecasts in autumn 2015. One of the main drivers of these revisions 
is the lower oil price, which is likely to have a significantly negative 
impact on economic growth in countries with high rates of oil produc
tion. The experts also foresee risks in developing and emerging mar
kets which in past years accounted for the largest share of worldwide 
economic growth. These countries in particular have based their bor
rowing primarily on the US dollar. The Federal Reserve’s revised interest 
policy, which may lead to an appreciation of the US dollar, will increase 
the burdens on these countries’ budgets and thus heighten the risk of 
default. For China in particular, the IMF still expects substantial growth, 
but at a slower pace compared with the high growth rates of previous 
years. In real terms, the experts are anticipating 6.3% growth in China 
in 2016 and 6.0% in 2017. The IMF expects the countries of the euro
zone to undergo positive development even in face of the continuing 
pressure from low rates of inflation. Growth rates of 1.7% are expected 
for the eurozone in 2016 and 2017. Germany is predicted to grow at the 
same pace. For Germany, the IMF has raised its forecast for this year 
by 0.1 points and even by 0.2 points for the coming year. It is difficult 
to calculate the economic and financial impact of the refugee crisis. 
The countries affected are likely to face additional expenses and will 
also have to address challenges on their employment markets. The IMF 
experts anticipate strongly positive performance in the USA with, how
ever, slightly reduced expectations for 2016. Weak productivity figures, 
amongst other factors, indicate a lack of investment, which may in the 
long term be associated with risks. In addition, the altered interest pol
icy involves risks for consumer behavior and companies’ willingness to 
invest. The IMF has therefore slightly reduced its growth forecasts for 
the USA to 2.6% for both this and next year.

Record investments by car manufacturers in 2015

According to a survey by the Ernst & Young consultancy, the 16 largest 
auto manufacturers invested about € 52 billion in expanding and renew
ing their factories in 2015. Compared with the previous year, this repre
sents an increase of over 45%. The reasons for the high level of invest
ment include the good sales figures of the manufacturers, which set 
new records in the USA and China for instance. To a certain extent, there 
was also a shift of production to countries offering lower manufacturing 
costs. The USA occupied the top position with an investment volume of 
€ 13.5 billion, followed by Germany (€ 12 billion), Mexico (€ 4.9 billion), 
China (€ 4.5 billion) and Spain (€ 4.2 billion). 
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Investment by car manufacturers in 2015 
in €  billions
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Car markets in USA and China take the lead –  
growth in Western Europe

According to the German Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA), 
5.7 million new cars were manufactured in Germany during the year 
under review. Compared to production in 2014, this represents an 
increase of more than 2%. There was a rise in domestic orders received 
(+7%) and those from abroad (+3%). In 2015, car sales records were set 
in the USA and China, whilst Western Europe also increased its sales to 
reach the highest level of the past five years.

The VDA sees the United States as a dynamic engine for growth and an 
important market for German car manufacturers. New registrations of 
light vehicles (passenger cars and light trucks) rose by 6% to 17.4 mil
lion units with light trucks in particular driving growth. German manu
facturers saw their US sales rise by 2%, setting a fresh record. Overall, 
their market share was about 8%. The value of exports rose to a peak 
level of over € 24 billion in 2015. To German manufacturers the USA is 
not just a valuable sales market but also a production location. Accord
ing to the VDA, German companies increased their production output 
at US sites by 13% to 810,000 cars in 2014. German car manufacturers 
also increased their sales of electric vehicles in the United States. Every 
fifth electric car sold in the USA during 2015 came from a German maker. 

Besides the USA, the VDA also reports growth in Western Europe and 
China. The Western European market saw the number of new registra
tions rise by 9% to 13.2 million cars. In total, the recovery covered a broad 
front: Germany grew 6%, Spain 21%, Italy 16% and France 7%. Sales in 
China increased by almost 9% to 20.0 million units. Trends on the Rus
sian (36%) and Brazilian (26%) markets were negative.

2015 car sales by region /country 
change yearonyear in %

+9.1 +9.2
+6.0 +5.8

+2.2 -25.6 -35.7

Ch
in

a

Eu
ro

pe

G
er

m
an

y

U
SA

W
or

ld

Br
az

il

Ru
ss

ia

Pioneering robots open up new areas of application

The worldwide trend to robotbased automation of manufacturing pro
cesses continued unabated in 2015. Research and development is plac
ing pioneering technologies and products on the market, leading to 
new fields of application. Ever more process stages can now be auto
mated where until recently it was hard to imagine robots being used 
at all, and if so with great difficulty. The topic of automation is attract
ing broader interest and enables enterprises in a variety of sectors and 
sizes to structure their production so as to be more efficient. This trend 
is driven by topics such as Industrie 4.0, safe humanrobot collabora
tion and mobile robotics.

As well as the safety factor, intuitive operation and increased use of 
software are playing an important role. Particularly the increased use 
of software applications and the utilization of data generated during 
production are enabling new growth potential to be tapped and form 
the basis of Industrie 4.0. China also offers enormous sales potential 
for robots, systems and logistics solutions. The reasons for this are the 
rising wage costs, growing demands for quality and the key issue of 
raising efficiency. The International Federation of Robotics (IFR) pre
dicted for the past year worldwide sales of 264,000 industrial robots, 
with 75,000 of these in China. This corresponds to a global increase of 
15% compared with the 229,000 industrial robots sold in 2014. For 2016 
to 2017 the IFR forecasts annual average growth worldwide of 12%, 
and even 26% in China. At the end of 2018 about 2.3 million industrial 
robots are expected to be deployed in factories throughout the world, 
with an estimated 610,000 in China – primarily in the automotive and 
electronics sectors.

Global sales of industrial robots
in thousands of units
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Source: VDA and LMC Automotive
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Business performance
Orders received

KUKA Group posted orders received amounting to € 2,838.9 million in 
the year under review – a significant increase over the previous year’s 
level (2014: € 2,229.0 million). Following initial consolidation at the end 
of 2014, Swisslog Group contributed € 551.8 million to this result. This 
meant that KUKA was also able to significantly top the previous year’s 
record value on an organic basis in 2015 with a result of € 2,287.1 million. 
The increase of 10.6% in the Robotics division to € 891.2 million was a 
particularly welcome aspect. In the Systems division too, an excellent 
result of € 1,428.1 million was achieved which was only 1.9% lower than 
in the record year of 2014.

KUKA Robotics again raised the record level of orders received in 2014 
of € 805.5 million to € 891.2 million in 2015. The systematic orientation of 
sales in the previous year to the divisions (Automotive, General Industry 
with Consumer Goods, Electronics, Machine Automation and Metal & Arc 
Welding) also contributed to this. The anticipated success is already 
evident. All three segments (Automotive, General Industry and Service) 
recorded an increase in orders received. Additional measures have been 
taken to enhance market penetration – for example, reducing delivery 
times and developing new products specifically for selected customer 
and market segments. The orders from the automotive industry totaled 
€ 339.6 million in 2015 (2014: € 327.9 million), representing an increase 
of 3.6%. Orders received in general industry were well above the previ
ous year (€ 315.0 million) at € 374.2 million, an increase of 18.8%. These 
were mainly smaller orders which tended to offer higher margins and 
came from different sectors. Further expansion of business in general 
industry has therefore been one of the main strategic objectives of the 
Robotics division for some time. The service business registered further 
growth compared to the previous year mainly due to the higher number 
of robots installed, achieving a total of € 177.4 million, which represents 
another increase of 9.1% on the value of € 162.6 million recorded in 2014.

KUKA Systems was able to maintain its order situation at about the 
same high level of the previous year with orders received amounting to 
€ 1,428.1 million (2014: € 1,456.0 million). This is all the more remarkable 
in view of the fact that HLS Group and the Tools and Dies business unit 
were divested in the course of 2015, resulting in a decline of around 
€ 28 million in orders received compared with the previous year. This was 
overcompensated particularly by the excellent performance of the Body 
Structure segment where, owing mainly to the positive development 
on the US automotive market, new orders were posted with a value of 
€ 729.1 million, 12.0% up on the previous year. However, other segments 
of Systems, for example Assembly & Test, Pay on Production and KUKA 
Industries, also contributed to the positive trend. In the Aerospace divi
sion, however, KUKA was not quite able to reach the outstanding level of 
the previous year, which was significantly influenced by a single major 
contract. Here orders valued at € 124.0 million were received. 

Swisslog won orders totaling € 551.8 million during the past financial 
year. These orders received are distributed over the Warehouse & Distri
bution Solutions division (warehouse logistics) with € 339.4 million and 
the Healthcare Solutions division (hospital logistics) with € 213.0 mil
lion, before taking consolidation effects into account. Whilst Health
care Solutions does most of its business in North America with 59.7% 
of orders received, Warehouse & Distribution Solutions historically has 
a strong base in Europe, obtaining 80.8% of its orders there during 
the financial year. Moreover, to broaden the geographical basis of the 
warehouse logistics business, Forte Industrial Equipment Systems Inc., 
Mason, Ohio, USA was acquired in 2015. The new subsidiary already con
tributed € 16.2 million to orders received in this division during 2015. 

Orders received
KUKA Group, Robotics, Systems,  Swisslog in €  millions

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Group
Robotics

Systems
 Swisslog  

654.4

1,889.6

793.5

805.5

891.2

916.6

1,111.1

1,111.6

1,456.0

1,428.1 551.8

1,553.0

803.1

1,881.9

2,838.9

2,229.0

Orders received Robotics
Auto, General Industry, Service in €  millions

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Auto
General Industry
Service

275.0

371.0

318.3

327.9

339.6

257.9

294.9

330.9

315.0

374.2

121.5

137.2

144.3

162.6

177.4
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Sales revenues

The sales revenues of KUKA Group benefited from the high levels of 
orders received in the previous quarters. Sales revenues increased to a 
total of € 2,965.9 million, thus almost reaching the three billion mark 
after only just passing the two billion mark in the previous year with 
€ 2,095.7 million. The acquisition of Swisslog Group at the end of 2014 
contributed € 620.8 million to revenues, which means that sales also 
reached an alltime high at € 2,345.1 million in organic terms, and the 
previous year’s benchmark was again surpassed with a twodigit per
centage increase (+11.9%; 2014: +18.1%). Both Robotics and Systems 
contributed to this development with fresh record figures. 

KUKA Robotics was again able to increase its sales revenues to the cur
rent level of € 909.6 million. Compared to the previous year, revenues 
rose by 9.0% (2014: € 834.6 million). This meant that KUKA Robotics 
reported an increase in revenues for the sixth year in succession. The 
average annual growth rate since 2011 has been 8.1%. Growth was even 
stronger in Asia, particularly in China. KUKA’s focus on the Asian mar
ket with its own production facility in Shanghai also laid the founda
tion for sales in China to grow again in 2015 by € 92.7 million to currently 
€ 316.3 million. Production in China is running at such a high level that 
KUKA’s management is already considering a possible expansion of man
ufacturing capacities there.

KUKA Systems posted sales revenues exceeding € 300 million in each 
quarter of 2015 for the second year in succession. For the full year, the 
division registered total sales revenues of € 1,471.7 million, representing 
a significant increase of 14.5% on the previous year (2014: € 1,285.6 mil
lion). Systems achieved the largest single sale of the year with a North 
American aircraft construction company. However, the automotive seg
ment also won significant individual sales contracts.

The Swisslog division reported revenues totaling € 620.8 million, with 
about two thirds in warehouse logistics and one third in hospital 
logistics.

Sales revenues
KUKA Group, Robotics, Systems,  Swisslog in €  millions

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

616.3

742.6

754.1

2,095.7

2,965.9

850.7

1,025.3

1,045.9

1,285.6

1,471.7 620.8

Group
Robotics

Systems
 Swisslog

1,435.6

1,739.2

1,774.5

834.6

909.6

Book-to-bill ratio and order backlog

The booktobill ratio, in other words the ratio of orders received to 
sales revenues, came in at 0.96 at Group level (2014: 1.06). Values of 
about 1 represent good capacity utilization and values above 1 signify 
an increased volume of business. The ratio in the Robotics division at 
0.98 was similar to the previous year (0.97). The Systems division has a 
booktobill ratio of 0.97 (2014: 1.13), this being primarily attributable 
to the delay in placing orders for some larger batches during the final 
quarter of 2015. Swisslog is currently still reporting a low booktobill 
ratio of 0.89 for the year. However, there is a clear improvement of this 
ratio in the individual quarters, rising from 0.75 in the first quarter to 
1.26 in the final quarter of 2015.

Orders 
received

Sales 
revenues

Bookto
bill ratio

Orders 
received

Sales 
revenues

Bookto
bill ratio

in €  millions 2014 2014 2014 2015 2015 2015

Group 2,229.0 2,095.7 1.06 2,838.9 2,965.9 0.96

Group excl. 
Swisslog 2,229.0 2,095.7 1.06 2,287.1 2,345.1 0.98

Robotics 805.5 834.6 0.97 891.2 909.6 0.98

Systems 1,456.0 1,285.6 1.13 1,428.1 1,471.7 0.97

Swisslog – – – 551.8 620.8 0.89

KUKA Group’s order backlog amounted to € 1,639.0 million at yearend 
2015. Compared to the value on the reporting date of the previous year, 
the order backlog decreased by 3.7% (2014: € 1,702.5 million). The per
sistent high order backlog represents over 50% of annual sales revenue 
and thus ensures a high degree of capacity utilization during fiscal 2016 
and to some extent also for 2017 thanks to longterm orders.

KUKA Robotics had an order backlog (without taking framework agree
ments from the automotive industry into account) of € 233.4 million at 
the end of the year (2014: € 241.5 million). 

Order backlog
KUKA Group, Robotics, Systems,  Swisslog in €  millions

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

184.4

248.7

991.6

241.5

233.4

545.0

666.1

714.4

955.4

923.2 491.0

Group
Robotics

Systems
 Swisslog

724.0

909.4

280.7

1,702.5

1,639.0
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The order backlog at KUKA Systems reached a yearend level of € 923.2 mil
lion, a slight decline from the corresponding figure of € 955.4 million in 
the previous year. The order backlogs will not be reflected in sales reve
nues until 2016 and to some extent 2017 due to the customary time lapse 
in project business between receiving orders and generating revenues.

Swisslog recorded an order backlog of € 491.0 million at the end of the 
year (2014: € 517.2 million).

EBIT and EBITDA

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) of KUKA Group were € 135.6 mil
lion and, as expected, € 6.2 million lower than the previous year’s value of 
€ 141.8 million. The consolidation of Swisslog Group had an adverse effect 
on EBIT. Swisslog’s EBIT is still significantly negative at € 45.9 million, 
particularly as a result of the writedowns amounting to € 58.7 million 
on intangible assets capitalized in the context of purchase price allo
cation. Without these effects, KUKA’s EBIT is € 181.5 million – a record 
high once again. The EBIT margin came in at 4.6% (2014: 6.8%). Exclud
ing Swisslog, the EBIT margin of 7.7% was significantly higher than in 
the previous year. Eliminating only the effects of purchase price alloca
tion, KUKA Group achieved an EBIT margin of 6.6%. This gratifying rise 
is attributable to economies of scale as well as to the measures taken 
to increase efficiency over a sustained period of time not only in pro
duction but also in sales and risk management. If KUKA Group’s profit 
from the sale of the Tools and Dies business unit and HLS Group is also 
excluded, an EBIT margin of 4.1% is obtained.

EBITDA, in other words earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization, totaled € 259.1 million, after € 185.3 million in the pre
vious year excluding Swisslog. Excluding Swisslog EBITDA amounts to 
€ 234.6 million. The EBITDA margin in 2015 is thus 8.7% (2014: 8.9%), or 
excluding Swisslog 10.0%. After adjustment for the capital gains on the 
disposal of the Tools and Dies business unit and HLS Group, the EBITDA 
margin of KUKA Group amounts to 8.3%.

With an EBIT of € 100.2 million, KUKA Robotics surpassed the € 100 mil
lion mark for the first time. This is an increase of € 11.3 million on the pre
vious year (2014: € 88.9 million). The EBIT margin of 11.0% is also slightly 
higher than the previous year’s figure (2014: 10.7%). The EBITDA of 
 Robotics increased in line with the development of EBIT from € 112.0 mil
lion in 2014 to the new record high of € 126.1 million in the period under 
review. The EBITDA margin of 13.9% is well above the previous year’s 
figure of 13.4%.

KUKA Systems performed very positively and also generated an EBIT 
in excess of € 100 million for the first time. In fiscal 2015, it amounted 
to € 114.7 million and was therefore considerably above the previous 
year’s value of € 80.2 million. This applies even if the proceeds from the 
sale of HLS Group and the Tools and Dies business unit are excluded. 
The EBIT margin reached 7.8% – an increase of 1.6 percentage points 
on the previous year (6.2%). This is primarily attributable to the further 
improvement in processes, systematic focusing on the cost structure 
and high capacity utilization due to strong demand. However, the sale 
of the Tools and Dies business unit and HLS Group, which both tended 
to have lower margins, also had a positive effect on the overall margin 
of the division. The EBITDA of Systems increased in parallel with the 

development of EBIT from € 97.4 million in 2014 to the new record fig
ure of € 135.6 million in the period under review. The EBITDA margin of 
this division increased from 7.6% in 2014 to 9.2% in 2015.

As anticipated, Swisslog registered a negative EBIT for the year (€ 45.9 mil
lion). This was predominantly due to depreciation in connection with the 
purchase price allocation (€ 58.7 million) as described above. Swisslog 
was also burdened by special expenses of € 8.1 million for optimizing 
the business structure and integrating into KUKA Group. This concerns 
such costs as those for external consultancy, relocation of sites, and 
adjustment of staff and management structures. Elimination of both 
these expense items totaling € 66.8 million results in a positive EBIT of 
€ 20.9 million and an EBIT margin of 3.4%. This is actually higher than 
the comparable EBIT margin of 2.2% for Swisslog Group, an entity which 
was still independent in 2014. EBITDA amounts to € 24.5 million and the 
EBITDA margin is 3.9% or, when adjusted for special expenses, 5.3%.

EBIT and EBITDA (Group, Robotics, Systems,  Swisslog)

EBIT

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Group 72.6 109.8 120.4 141.8 135.6

in % of sales revenues 5.1 6.3 6.8 6.8 4.6

Group excl. Swisslog 72.6 109.8 120.4 141.8 181.5

in % of sales revenues 5.1 6.3 6.8 6.8 7.7

Robotics 51.0 80.2 77.1 88.9 100.2

in % of sales revenues 8.3 10.8 10.2 10.7 11.0

Systems 33.7 47.7 60.8 80.2 114.7

in % of sales revenues 4.0 4.7 5.8 6.2 7.8

Swisslog – – – – 45.9

in % of sales revenues – – – – 7.4

 

EBITDA

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Group 98.7 138.5 158.4 185.3 259.1

in % of sales revenues 6.9 8.0 8.9 8.9 8.7

Group excl. Swisslog 98.7 138.5 158.4 185.3 234.6

in % of sales revenues 6.9 8.0 8.9 8.9 10.0

Robotics 64.5 95.9 101.9 112.0 126.1

in % of sales revenues 10.5 12.9 13.5 13.4 13.9

Systems 43.0 57.8 71.0 97.4 135.6

in % of sales revenues 5.1 5.6 6.8 7.6 9.2

Swisslog – – – – 24.5

in % of sales revenues – – – – 3.9
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Financial position and performance
Summary

2015 was another highly successful year for KUKA. In terms of major 
performance indicators, the company also achieved impressive results 
without including the respective contributions of Swisslog Group, which 
was acquired at the end of 2014. The Systems and Robotics divisions 
achieved new record figures for sales revenues alongside a sustained 
high level of orders received. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
were at an alltime peak level, and exceeded € 100 million for the first 
time in both divisions. Swisslog is also developing altogether positively, 
so that fiscal 2015 as a whole can be rated as unreservedly positive for 
KUKA Group.

*  The order backlog of the previous year already included a sum of € 517.2 million for 
Swisslog; in this respect there is thus no organic change in 2015.

**   Figures for employees are based on the fulltime equivalent throughout the annual 
report.

Presentation of the financial statements 

In the reporting process for KUKA Group, minor changes have been 
made to the presentation of the income statement and the cash flow 
statement compared to the previous year. These are intended to further 
increase the informational value of the financial statements. The infor
mation for the previous year has been adapted accordingly to provide a 
correct basis for comparison. Further details can be found in the notes 
to the changes in accounting policies and reporting. 

In order to allow a comparison of Group figures with those of the previ
ous year, the effects of the acquisition of Swisslog Group (initially con
solidated in December 2014) have been shown separately.

Earnings

KUKA Group posted orders received amounting to € 2,838.9 million in 
the year under review – a significant increase over the previous year’s 
level (2014: € 2,229.0 million). Swisslog contributed € 551.8 million to this 
result. This meant that with a corresponding amount of € 2,287.1 mil
lion in 2015 KUKA was able to exceed the previous year’s record value 
even excluding Swisslog. 

Record sales revenues 
Revenues increased to a total of € 2,965.9 million. This not only topped 
the figure of € 2,095.7 million for 2014, but also means that the issued 
guidance of about € 2.9 billion was fulfilled. Swisslog generated revenues 
of € 620.8 million. This means that a new alltime high of € 2,345.1 million 
was also attained for revenues excluding Swisslog. The comparable value 
for the previous year was exceeded by € 870.2 million overall (excluding 
Swisslog: € 249.4 million) or 41.5% (excluding Swisslog: 11.9%). 

Key figures KUKA Group

Group Swisslog Organic

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 2015

Orders received 1,553.0 1,889.6 1,881.9 2,229.0 2,838.9 551.8 2,287.1

Order backlog 724.0 909.4 991.6 1,702.5 1,639.0 491.0 – *

Sales revenues 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5 2,095.7 2,965.9 620.8 2,345.1

EBIT 72.6 109.8 120.4 141.8 135.6 45.9 181.5

in % of revenues 5.1 6.3 6.8 6.8 4.6 7.4 7.7

in % of capital employed (ROCE) 21.8 32.3 36.9 28.8 20.0 14.5 50.3

EBITDA 98.7 138.5 158.4 185.3 259.1 24.5 234.6

in % of revenues 6.9 8.0 8.9 8.9 8.7 3.9 10.0

(Average) capital employed 332.9 339.8 326.2 492.0 676.8 315.9 360.9

Employees (Dec. 31)** 6,589 7,264 7,990 12,102 12,300 2,555 9,745
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Since 2009, the Robotics division has reported annual increases in sales 
revenues – this trend continued in 2015. It was possible to achieve a 
further 9.0% increase on the very high level of the previous year from 
€ 834.6 million to € 909.6 million. KUKA fosters this trend by, for instance, 
systematically orienting sales to particular market segments (Automotive 
and General Industry) and increasing the focus on its service business. 
Measures such as the development of products specially designed for par
ticular geographical markets or customer groups have been implemented 
or initiated. This means that the orders received have increased in all three 
divisions compared with the previous year and now total € 891.2 million 
(2014: € 805.5 million). This is also evident in the sales revenues, which in 
the Automotive division stayed at about the same high level as the pre
vious year (2015: € 337.5 million; 2014: € 345.3 million), whereas General 
Industry (2015: € 396.2 million; 2014: € 334.3 million) and Service (2015: 
€ 175.9 million; 2014: € 155.0 million) recorded substantial increases of 
18.5% and 13.5% respectively. 

The Systems division also achieved a record high in revenues once again. 
The division generated sales revenues of € 1,471.7 million, represent
ing a further significant increase of 14.5% on the previous year (2014: 
€ 1,285.6 million). The strong economic development in North America 
in particular was a major contributory factor. This is also reflected in the 
regional breakdown of sales revenues – whereas in 2014 under 40% of seg
ment revenues were generated in North America, this figure was already 
well over 50% in 2015. The order situation in this division – with orders 
received amounting to € 1,428.1 million (2014: € 1,456.0 million) – is still 
as positive as before. The order backlog at the end of the year totaled 
€ 923.2 million (2014: € 955.4 million). The order backlog is thus theoreti
cally equivalent to about 62.7% (2014: about 74.3%) of annual revenues 
and allows a high level of capacity utilization to be anticipated for 2016 
as well.

The Swisslog division achieved revenues amounting to € 620.8 million, 
with about two thirds in Warehouse & Distribution Solutions and one 
third in Healthcare Solutions.

Compared to the already significant increase in revenues excluding 
Swisslog (+11.9%) KUKA Group’s gross profit, i. e. revenues less cost of 
sales, rose disproportionately from € 520.2 million (2014) to € 600.3 mil
lion (2015) excluding Swisslog – representing growth of 15.4%. With the 
inclusion of Swisslog, the gross profit rose by 34.2% to € 698.0 million.

The Group gross margin, i. e. gross profit in relation to revenues, is there
fore 23.5% (2014: 24.8%), or 25.6% excluding Swisslog. Both Robotics and 
Systems contributed to the rise in the gross margin excluding Swisslog.

The Robotics division generated gross profit of € 345.8 million and thus 
recorded an increase of € 42.6 million over the previous year (2014: 
€ 303.2 million). At the same time the gross margin increased again year
onyear to 38.0% (2014: 36.3%). The improvement was due to material 
usage being about 2.5 percentage points lower than the previous year; 
among other things this can be attributed to the increase in production 
efficiency (focal topic: Production Excellence), advantages of regional 
production (focal topic: China) and a higher proportion of sales for the 
Service division. The share of personnel expenditure in production costs 
measured in relation to revenues was at approximately the same level as 
the previous year. 

Key figures KUKA Robotics

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Orders received 654.4 803.1 793.5 805.5 891.2

Order backlog 184.4 248.7 280.7 241.5 233.4

Sales revenues 616.3 742.6 754.1 834.6 909.6

EBIT 51.0 80.2 77.1 88.9 100.2

in % of revenues 8.3 10.8 10.2 10.7 11.0

in % of capital employed (ROCE) 38.3 57.2 49.6 53.1 56.6

EBITDA 64.5 95.9 101.9 112.0 126.1

in % of revenues 10.5 12.9 13.5 13.4 13.9

Capital employed 133.2 140.2 155.6 167.3 177.1

Employees (Dec. 31) 2,753 3,180 3,416 3,644 4,232

The Systems division generated an increase in gross profit of € 39.9 mil
lion, or 18.7%, yearonyear from € 213.8 million to € 253.7 million. With 
economies of scale and a reduction in the proportionate personnel costs 
in the production costs, Systems was able to more than compensate for 
the cost of materials, which had risen by about two percentage points. 
As a result, the gross margin improved again compared with the previ
ous year and is now 17.2% (2014: 16.6%). 

Key figures KUKA Systems

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Orders received 916.6 1,115.1 1,111.6 1,456.0 1,428.1

Order backlog 545.0 666.1 714.4 955.4 923.2

Sales revenues 850.7 1,025.3 1,045.9 1,285.6 1,471.7

EBIT 33.7 47.7 60.8 80.2 114.7

in % of revenues 4.0 4.7 5.8 6.2 7.8

in % of capital employed (ROCE) 16.1 23.8 43.0 67.9 87.9

EBITDA 43.0 57.8 71.0 97.4 135.6

in % of revenues 5.1 5.6 6.8 7.6 9.2

Capital employed 209.6 200.5 141.5 118.1 130.5

Employees (Dec. 31) 3,643 3,902 4,362 5,810 5,146
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Swisslog also contributed € 97.7 million to the gross profit of KUKA 
Group. In fiscal 2015, the gross margin from Healthcare Solutions was 
about 10% higher than the gross margin from Warehouse & Distribu
tion Solutions, as in the longterm average. Overall, the gross margin 
for Swisslog was 15.7%. 

Key figures   Swisslog

in €  millions 2014 * 2015

Orders received – 551.8

Order backlog 517.2 491.0

Sales revenues – 620.8

EBIT – 45.9

in % of revenues – 7.4

in % of capital employed (ROCE) – 14.5

EBITDA – 24.5

in % of revenues – 3.9

Capital employed 154.6 315.9

Employees (Dec. 31) 2,369 2,555

* Swisslog was consolidated for the first time as of December 31, 2014

KUKA Group’s functional costs – the costs of administration and sales as 
well as research and development – rose yearonyear from € 372.7 mil
lion (2014) to € 569.7 million (2015). Functional costs are thus equivalent 
to 19.2% (2014: 17.8%) of revenues. The operating costs in organic terms 
amount to € 428.1 million, or 18.3% of the cost of sales. The increase 
in selling expenses in both absolute terms (2014: € 161.0 million; 2015: 
€ 251.2 million) and relative terms (2014: 7.7%; 2015: 8.5%) is partly 
attributable to the strengthening of the sales team. KUKA had 1,394 
employees in sales as at December 31, 2015, 13.2% more than at the 
previous yearend, when the number was 1,231. Swisslog also contrib
uted disproportionately to the rise in selling expenses. Swisslog’s selling 
expenses ratio amounts to 10.0%. 

The research and development costs realized in the income statement 
rose to € 105.4 million in 2015, up € 27.2 million from the prior year’s fig
ure of € 78.2 million. Swisslog contributed € 6.1 million to this amount. 
Based on the crossdivisional strategy that has been developed and the 
Group’s sustained focus on technology, investments are being actively 
promoted in ongoing developments and in new and future technologies. 
Development is always concentrated in the division with the greatest 
relevant expertise for the topic concerned, but the consistent goal is to 
develop products and solutions of maximum benefit for the Group as 
a whole. During the financial year, KUKA pursued a number of different 
innovations and in particular the following key topics:

Robotics:
 ›  KR CYBERTECH nano series – new handling and welding robots for 

low payloads
 › Combination of LBR iiwa with mobile platforms

Systems:
 ›  flexFELLOW – a solution for integrating mobile robot units into the 

planning of systems
  
Swisslog:
 › CarryPick – an automatic goodstoperson system
 › Continued development of solutions in the field of automated 

palletizing

Please refer to the “Research and development” section of this manage
ment report for further information.

Activities to promote project diversity and develop marketable products 
in good time have included an increase in the number of staff involved 
in research and development to 729 employees as of December 31, 2015 
(December 31, 2014: 549). The additional 180 employees are evidence 
that KUKA is perceived as an attractive, technologically leading employer 
and is thus able to attract skilled workers even in this narrow and highly 
specialized employment segment. 

Development expenditure of € 18.9 million was capitalized in the finan
cial year (2014: € 6.8 million). Swisslog contributed an amount of 
€ 11.0 million, so the increase in capitalization excluding Swisslog comes 
to € 1.1 million. Depreciation included in the research and development 
expenses totaled € 16.6 million and is therefore € 7.0 million higher than 
the figure for the previous year (2014: € 9.6 million). In addition to its 
own development work, KUKA is intensifying its collaboration with other 
companies. Following its participation in KBee AG, Munich, in 2014, 
KUKA took a stake of 25.1% in RoboCeption GmbH, Munich, and of 
30.0% in Barrett Technology, LLC, Newton, Massachusetts /USA during 
fiscal 2015. RoboCeption specializes in the development, manufacture 
and distribution of software and hardware products for environmental 
perception, navigation and action planning for robotic and mobile sys
tems. Barrett Technology focuses on robotbased rehabilitation meas
ures for the upper body. The applications are already undergoing initial 
medical studies.

The administrative expenses amounted to € 213.1 million and therefore 
equate to 7.2% (2014: 6.4%) of revenues. The significant increase is par
ticularly due to Swisslog, which structurally still has a higher adminis
tration expense ratio. Optimization measures have been initiated and 
are already recognized in the financial year with a total of € 8.1 million, 
of which € 4.8 million represents administrative expenses. Excluding 
Swisslog, the administrative expenses at € 139.9 million were maintained 
almost at the level of the previous year (€ 133.5 million); the adminis
trative expense ratio excluding Swisslog is 6.0%. 

Other expenses and income amounted to a balance of € 8.2 million (2014: 
€ 6.3 million). They include expenses for other taxes (2015: € 5.9 million; 
2014: € 4.8 million), income from subsidies (2015: € 2.0 million; 2014: 
€ 1.1 million) and the proceeds from the sale of HLS Group and the Tools 
and Dies business unit. 
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EBIT margin in line with guidance
The (organic) development described above, especially the higher gross 
profit of KUKA Group, is reflected directly in earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT). EBIT amounted to € 135.6 million and, as expected, was 
therefore € 6.2 million lower than the previous year’s value of € 141.8 mil
lion. Without the earnings contribution of Swisslog (€ 45.9 million), 
which was impacted particularly by the scheduled depreciation from 
the purchase price allocation of € 58.7 million and by special expenses 
of € 8.1 million, the EBIT at € 181.5 million was 28.0%, or € 39.7 million, 
above the previous year’s figure. Taking account of the purchase price 
allocation for Swisslog results in a Group EBIT of € 194.3 million and an 
EBIT margin of 6.6%.

In the latest guidance for fiscal 2015, KUKA’s Executive Board forecast 
sales revenues of about € 2.9 billion and an EBIT margin of 6.5 – 7.0% 
before purchase price allocation for Swisslog and including the positive 
effects of the sale of HLS Group and the Tools and Dies business unit. 
With revenues of € 2,965.9 and an EBIT margin of 6.6% (before pur
chase price allocation and including the sales effects) KUKA has thus 
remained true to its forecast. 

The Robotics division achieved an EBIT of € 100.2 million in 2015, exceed
ing the previous year’s level of € 88.9 million by 12.7% and topping the 
€ 100 million mark for the first time. The EBIT margin was 11.0% in 
every quarter of 2015 and therefore also higher than each of the previ
ous year’s quarterly values (Q1 /14: 10.0%; Q2 /14: 10.4%; Q3 /14: 10.8%; 
Q4 /14: 10.7%).

With an EBIT of € 114.7 million (2014: € 80.2 million) Systems also sur
passed the € 100 million mark for the first time. The EBIT margin of this 
division increased from 6.2% in 2014 to 7.8% in 2015. After adjustment 
for the capital gains on the disposal of the Tools and Dies business unit 
and HLS Group, the EBIT margin amounts to 6.9%.

Swisslog still has a negative EBIT of € 45.9 million owing to the impact 
of the purchase price allocation and the integration expenses. If adjust
ments are made for these effects, EBIT then rises to € 20.9 million. This 
corresponds to an EBIT margin of 3.4%.

In keeping with the development of EBIT, Group EBITDA (earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) also increased 
to € 259.1 million (2014: € 185.3 million) and has therefore also reached 
a new record high. Writedowns totaling € 123.5 million were posted 
in the period under review (2014: € 43.5 million). € 25.9 million of this 
(2014: € 23.1 million) was attributable to Robotics, € 21.0 million (2014: 
€ 17.1 million) to Systems, € 70.4 million (of which € 58.7 million from pur
chase price allocation) to Swisslog and € 6.2 million (2014: € 3.3 million) 
to other areas. There was therefore a considerable increase in EBITDA 
for both the Robotics division with € 126.1 million (2014: € 112.0 mil
lion) and the Systems division with € 135.6 million (2014: € 97.4 million) 
compared to the previous year. The Group EBITDA margin amounted to 
8.7% (2014: 8.9%), or 10.0% excluding Swisslog. The EBITDA margin for 
Robotics was 13.9% (2014: 13.4%), for Systems 9.2% (2014: 7.6%) and 
for Swisslog 3.9%. After adjustment for the capital gains on the disposal 
of the Tools and Dies business unit and HLS Group, the EBITDA margin of 
KUKA Group amounts to 8.3% and the EBITDA margin of Systems to 8.4%.

Current financial result optimized further
The current financial result improved compared to the previous year 
from € 7.2 million in 2014 to € 4.2 million in 2015. 

in €  millions 2014 2015

Interest income from finance lease 6.2 6.9

Remaining interest and similar income 2.5 1.4

Other interest and similar income 8.7 8.3

Interest component for allocations to pension 
provisions 2.7 2.5

Guarantee commissions 0.7 0.7

Interest expense for the convertible bond 6.8 6.2

Interest expense for the promissory note loan – 0.8

Interest expense for the corporate bond 5.6 –

Financing costs reclassified to operating  
results and capitalized 3.5 2.9

Foreign currency gains and losses 0.4 0.3

Remaining interest and similar expenses 3.2 4.9

Other interest and similar expenses 15.9 12.5

Current financial result -7.2 -4.2

Oneoff charge on Syndicated Senior Facilities 
Agreement 0.4 1.3

Interest hedge for the promissory note loan – 1.9

Interest expense from the repurchase  
of corporate bond shares 17.7 –

Financial result -25.3 -7.4

Net interest income amounted to € 8.3 million (2014: € 8.7 million) and 
mainly included income from bank deposits, income from shortterm 
liquid assets invested in commercial papers and income from finance 
leases.

Optimization of the longterm financing structure of KUKA had a posi
tive effect on the current financial result in 2015, as had been expected. 
In 2014, current interest expenses of € 12.4 million were posted for the 
convertible and corporate bonds; in 2015, the comparable figure for the 
convertible bond and promissory note loan only amounted to € 7.0 mil
lion. The previous year was burdened with the early repurchase of the 
corporate bond in May 2014 with a oneoff interest expense of € 17.7 mil
lion. A nonrecurrent expense of € 1.9 million for the interest rate hedge 
of the promissory note loan was incurred in fiscal 2015. Further details 
on this can be found in the following notes on the financial position.

A total of € 0.7 million was attributable to guarantee commissions in 
2015, as in the previous year. Due to accounting regulations, finance 
charges amounting to € 2.9 million (2014: € 3.5 million) had to be reclas
sified from net interest income to operating profit and recognized under 
internally generated intangible assets. The net interest expenses for pen
sions amounted to € 2.5 million (2014: € 2.7 million). Foreign currency 
effects from financial assets and liabilities are reported in the net inter
est income from this financial year onwards. A total expense of € 0.3 mil
lion is incurred here; the previous year’s value was € 0.4 million.
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Earnings before taxes (EBT) were € 125.6 million (2014: € 113.3 million). 
The tax expense of KUKA Group totaled € 39.3 million in 2015 (2014: 
€ 45.2 million). The tax rate amounted to 31.3% and was thus well below 
the previous year (2014: 39.9%). The decrease in the tax rate was due to 
several oneoff effects in the year under review such as the tax exempt 
sale of HLS Group, foreign tax income relating to other periods and 
subsidies for R&D work in the USA. A much higher tax rate is expected 
for the coming year since, also on account of the successful business 
in the USA with a nominal tax rate of about 38%, the high share of the 
US companies in the overall result of the Group will have a substantial 
impact on the tax rate.

Dividend increased to € 0.50 per share
Earnings after taxes were positive for the fifth year in a row and once 
again rose by 26.7% to € 86.3 million (2014: € 68.1 million). This result 
is particularly remarkable – also from the aspect of the effects of the 
purchase of Swisslog Group, which in 2015 still had a strong negative 
impact. Earnings per share increased accordingly from € 1.99 (2014) to 
€ 2.39 (2015). This is a further rise of 20.1%, after an increase of 15.7% 
in 2014 compared with 2013. As a result of the conversions effected dur
ing the final quarter of 2015, 2.8 million new shares were created. This 
increased the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the financial year from about 34.2 million to 36.1 million. Correspond
ingly the earnings per share decreased by € 0.14. The share price was 
higher than the conversion price of the convertible bond on the bal
ance sheet date as well, with the effect that a further 1.3 million con
tingent shares exist. This resulted in diluted earnings per share of € 2.35 
(2014: € 1.90). 

Due to this positive development, the Executive Board is proposing to 
the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of € 0.50 per share be paid 
for fiscal 2015. KUKA paid a dividend of € 0.40 per share for 2014. 
 

Consolidated income statement (condensed)

Group   Swisslog Excl. Swisslog

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 2015

Sales revenues 1,435.6 1,739.2 1,774.5 2,095.7 2,965.9 620.8 2,345.1

EBIT 72.6 109.8 120.4 141.8 135.6 45.9 181.5

EBITDA 98.7 138.5 158.4 185.3 259.1 24.5 234.6

Financial result 18.2 12.8 20.0 25.3 7.4 2.9 4.5

Taxes on income 16.1 34.1 35.4 45.2 39.3 12.0 51.3

Earnings after taxes 29.9 55.6 58.3 68.1 86.3 36.8 123.1

Financial position

Principles and goals of financial management
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft is responsible for the central financial man
agement of all KUKA Group companies. Acquired companies are suc
cessively included in the Group’s financial management. The integration 
of the Swisslog Group companies was the focal point of the year. Group 
financing and interest rate and currency risk management are controlled 
centrally via KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. The financing and investment 
needs of Group companies and hedges as part of interest rate and cur
rency management are bundled by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, which con
cludes the necessary internal and external financial transactions with 
Group companies and banks. KUKA Aktiengesellschaft performs these 
tasks on the basis of a uniform planning and reporting system in which 
risks related to credit, liquidity, interest rates and exchange rates are 
recorded. The objective of interest rate and currency management is to 
minimize the risks involved. Only standard derivative financial instru
ments are used to hedge risk. The hedging transactions are concluded 
exclusively on the basis of the hedged item or expected transactions. 
KUKA has issued a standard set of guidelines for all Group companies 
for the purpose of managing financing risk. As in previous years, the 
guidelines were continuously reviewed and optimized during the finan
cial year to ensure that they remained up to date and also transferred 
to the acquired companies.

Group financing and cash pooling
The Group’s financing policy is aimed at securing not only sufficient 
liquidity reserves in the form of liquid assets and nonutilized, commit
ted longterm credit lines but also sufficient guarantee facilities at all 
times to be able to ensure the operating and strategic financing require
ments of the Group companies and also to have sufficient reserves as 
a buffer against unforeseen events. The financing requirements of the 
Group companies are calculated on the basis of the multiyear budget and 
financial projections and monthly rolling liquidity forecasts over twelve 
months, each of which includes all the relevant companies consolidated 
in the Group accounts. 
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Payments received on the basis of operating activities of Group com
panies represent the Group’s most important source of liquidity. KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft’s cash management uses the liquidity surpluses of 
individual Group companies to meet the liquidity requirements of other 
Group companies. This central, intraGroup cash pooling optimizes 
the Group’s liquidity position and has a positive impact on net inter
est income. 

Additional enhancements to the financing structure
KUKA Group took additional steps in the financial year to successfully 
optimize the financing structure. 

Promissory note loan successfully issued
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued an unsecured promissory note loan 
with a total volume of € 250.0 million on October 9, 2015. The originally 
planned volume of € 150.0 million was increased because the issue was 
heavily oversubscribed. The additional funds are being used to finance 
the increasing working capital requirements and to support the growth 
strategy of KUKA Group. 

The total volume of the loan was placed in two separate tranches. 
Tranche 1 has a volume of € 142.5 million with a term to maturity of 
five years; tranche 2 has a volume of € 107.5 million and a term to matu
rity of seven years. The issue price was 100.0% with a denomination per 
unit of at least € 0.5 million or a multiple thereof. Repayment shall occur 
at 100.0%, payable in one sum on maturity of each fixedterm tranche. 
The promissory note loan carries interest coupons of 1.15% for tranche 
1 and 1.61% for tranche 2. 

Syndicated loan for KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
In April, the new syndicated loan agreement took effect with a term 
ending on March 30, 2020. The term can be extended twice by one year 
at a time on the basis of extension options. This allowed KUKA to pre
maturely refinance the syndicated loan agreement concluded in Decem
ber 2013 and at the same time to take account of the altered structures 
and requirements due to growth and the integration of Swisslog. In this 
context, it was possible, amongst other things, to redeem the exist
ing syndicated senior facilities agreement of Swisslog Holding AG. The 
new contract provides for a surety and guarantee line in the amount of 
€ 140.0 million and a working capital line, which can also be used for 
sureties and guarantees, in the amount of € 90.0 million. This results 
in a volume € 70.0 million higher than with KUKA’s previous contract. 

The new syndicated loan agreement is unsecured and contains only the 
customary equal treatment clauses and negative pledges. Moreover, it 
was possible to benefit from the improved market situation to obtain 
significantly improved terms.

Convertible bond
The convertible bond issued in two tranches in 2013 also benefited from 
the excellent business development and credit rating of KUKA Group 
in 2015. The market price of 216.05% at yearend (December 31, 2014: 
164.34%) significantly exceeded the issue price.

Numerous bondholders made use of their conversion rights during the 
fourth quarter. A total nominal volume of € 102.8 million was converted 
into 2.8 million new KUKA shares. A nominal volume of € 47.2 million 
was thus outstanding as at December 31, 2015.

The new shares are already entitled to a dividend in 2016. As a result 
of the conversions, KUKA’s equity capital increased by € 96.1 million.

In addition to the guaranteed credit line from the syndicated loan, the 
Group still had additional guarantee facilities in 2015 via bilateral agree
ments with various surety companies for the purpose of supporting 
operating activities. Overall, KUKA has access to external guarantee facil
ities totaling € 319.0 million as of December 31, 2015 (2014: € 199.0 mil
lion, excluding Swisslog). These have been utilized in the amount of 
€ 148.0 million (2014: € 90.4 million). 

KUKA Group’s financing requirements are primarily covered by the fol
lowing available elements:

1)  The € 230.0 million syndicated loan agreement signed in April 2015 
with a term extending to March 2020. Cash advances up to a volume 
of € 90.0 million are possible with this agreement. 

2)  Bilateral guarantee facility agreements with banks and surety com
panies in the amount of € 89.0 million (as of December 31, 2015).

3)  The € 250.0 million facevalue promissory note loan issued in 2015 
with terms extending to October 2020 and October 2022.

4)  The € 150.0 million convertible bond issued in 2013; following the 
conversions which took place during the final quarter of 2015, there 
is an outstanding nominal volume of € 47.2 million.

From the perspective of the Executive Board, the measures taken ensure 
that KUKA Group has appropriate longterm financing and the necessary 
leeway to quickly implement important strategic decisions. 
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Further improved assessment by rating agencies
The stable financial situation is also reflected in the fact that the two 
rating agencies Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s have raised the credit 
rating once again. Having already raised the rating three times in 2013 
and 2014, Moody’s gave its Ba2 rating a positive outlook in June 2015. 
In acknowledgement of the further improvement in key financial indi
cators, and in particular also the notable diversification in market devel
opment leading to a greater share in general industry (logistics, aero
space, healthcare) as a consequence of the integration of acquisitions 
in 2015, Standard & Poor’s raised its rating from BB to BB+ while retain
ing the stable outlook.

Consolidated cash flow statement (condensed)

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Cash earnings 65.9 92.4 115.3 181.3 260.8

Cash flow from current 
 business operations 36.4 117.9 221.0 184.7 169.2

Cash flow from investment 
activities 29.9 40.8 125.6 356.9 73.5

Free cash flow 6.5 77.1 95.4 172.2 95.7

Cash earnings up significantly again
The cash earnings, consisting of earnings after taxes adjusted for income 
taxes and net interest as well as for cashneutral depreciation and write
downs of property, plant and equipment, and amortization and write
downs of intangible assets as well as other noncash expenses and 
income, again improved significantly. The positive value of € 181.3 million 
reported in 2014 was increased substantially by 43.8% to € 260.8 million 
during the financial year. This effect is mainly attributable to the increase 
in earnings after taxes (2015: € 86.3 million; 2014: € 68.1 million) and 
the sharp rise in amortization of intangible assets, mainly due to write
downs connected with the purchase price allocation for Swisslog Group.

Cash flow from current business operations of KUKA Group declined 
slightly to € 169.2 million (2014: € 184.7 million). Higher tax payments 
and also the result from the disposal of fixed assets contributed to this. 
The trade working capital decreased by about € 20 million compared with 
the previous year and was as follows at the end of the reporting period: 
 

Trade Working Capital

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Inventories less advance 
payments 128.3 126.9 133.9 194.1 225.3

Trade receivables and re
ceivables from construction 
contracts 339.8 340.6 348.6 612.9 658.3

Trade payables and liabilities 
from construction contracts 260.6 231.7 304.4 522.2 619.0

Trade working capital 207.5 235.8 178.1 284.8 264.6

Overall, trade working capital declined by € 20.2 million to € 264.6 mil
lion. Inventories less advance payments received were higher yearon
year (+€ 31.2 million). This is partly attributable to the Robotics division’s 
advance production for shipments due in early 2016 in addition to the 
higher inventories required for the current volume of business. Trade 
receivables and receivables from construction contracts increased by 
€ 45.4 million to € 658.3 million, while trade payables and liabilities from 
construction contracts rose by € 96.8 million to € 619.0 million.

High level of investment continues
During the 2015 financial year, KUKA again made high investments in 
the future. In total, the volume of investment amounted to € 107.0 mil
lion (2014: € 94.3 million). This included major capital expenditure in the 
research and development sector and increased investment in tangible 
assets. The carrying amount of the company’s own development work 
and internally generated intangible assets totaled € 38.1 million (2014: 
€ 30.3 million). (For information on the development focuses, see the 
“Research and development” section, page 28 et seq.).

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Group 30.3 42.8 74.7 94.3 107.0

of which Robotics 20.1 30.1 30.8 30.4 39.4

of which Systems 8.2 9.6 15.2 28.7 23.5

of which Swisslog – – – – 22.2

of which other * 2.0 3.1 28.7 35.2 21.9

* incl. consolidations

Investments in tangible assets amounted to € 76.3 million in the year 
under review (2014: € 78.4 million) and were attributable to technical 
equipment and machinery (2015: € 19.1 million, 2014: € 12.2 million), 
other assets /operating and office equipment (2015: € 30.1 million, 2014: 
€ 13.4 million) and advances paid and construction in progress (2015: 
€ 15.9 million; 2014: € 41.3 million).
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Broken down by division, capital expenditure was as follows in 2015: in 
the Robotics division, the corresponding figure was € 39.4 million (2014: 
€ 30.4 million). In addition to the capitalized development work, most of 
the investments were made in technical equipment and machinery, par
ticularly for the optimization of production, but also for operating and 
office equipment. The Systems division registered additions of € 23.5 mil
lion (2014: € 28.7 million). These additions related to such items as pro
duction machinery and extensions to buildings in the USA and France. 
Swisslog mainly invested in IT structures designed to improve the inter
nal processes and to connect customers, and in customer applications. 
The capital expenditure of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft (after consolida
tions) amounted to € 21.9 million (2014: € 35.2 million) and consisted 
mainly of the Development and Technology Center (DTC) completed in 
Augsburg in 2015, including the necessary fixtures and fittings. At year
end the carrying amount for the DTC was € 63.8 million.

Payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies and other busi
ness units totaled € 44.4 million (2014: € 284.6 million) and are primarily 
attributable to the acquisition of the outstanding shares in Swisslog Group. 

in €  millions 2014 2015

Company acquisitions  

Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs (AG) /Switzerland 265.8 17.5

Forte Industrial Equipment Systems Inc., 
Mason, Ohio /USA – 11.4

UTICA Enterprises, Shelby Township,  
Michigan /USA 1.4 6.7

Alema Automation SAS, Bordeaux /France 11.4 –

Other 0.2 3.1

Total 278.8 38.7

 

Investments accounted for at equity

Barrett Technology, LLC, Newton, 
 Massachusetts /USA – 2.7

KBee AG, Munich 3.3 3.0

Yawei Reis Robot Manufacturing  
(Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. /China 2.5 –

Total 5.8 5.7

   

Total payments 284.6 44.4

The sale of business units in the context of optimizing the investment 
structure brought KUKA total funds of € 47.2 million.

Positive free cash flow 
Cash flow from investment activities (2015: € 73.5 million; 2014: 
€ 356.9 million) along with cash flow from current business operations 
resulted in a positive value for free cash flow of € 95.7 million. In the pre
vious year, free cash flow was still clearly negative, at € 172.2 million; this 
was particularly due to the acquisition of Swisslog Group. 

High cash flow from financing activities
At yearend KUKA shows a positive cash flow from financing activities 
amounting to € 204.1 million. In the previous year, it was still clearly 
negative with a figure of € 140.3 million. This is attributable to several 
oneoff effects. On the one hand, KUKA repaid its highinterest bond 
in 2014. This caused cash outflows of € 173.0 million and high oneoff 
interest payments amounting to € 30.4 million. In 2015, KUKA placed a 
promissory note loan of nominally € 250.0 million at effective interest 
rates of 1.24% (5year tranche) and 1.67% (7year tranche). Through the 
improvement in the financing structure, the interest payments were 
reduced by € 20.3 million to € 10.1 million. 
 
Consolidated net liquidity

in €  millions 2014 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 192.1 496.2

Current financial liabilities 22.5 2.1

Noncurrent financial liabilities 137.0 294.2

Consolidated net liquidity 32.6 199.9

Cash and guarantee facilities from Syndicated 
Senior Facilities Agreement 268.1 230.0

Guarantee facility from banks and surety 
companies 89.0 89.0

ABS program line 25.0 25.0

Due to the positive business development and reduction of the converti
ble bond through conversion to shares, KUKA posted a net liquidity (the 
balance of liquid assets and current and noncurrent financial liabilities) 
at the end of the financial year amounting to € 199.9 million (2014: net 
liquidity of € 32.6 million). The cash and cash equivalents available to 
KUKA Group as of December 31, 2015 totaled € 496.2 million (Decem
ber 31, 2014: € 192.1 million). 

Net worth

On the assets side, noncurrent assets rose to € 823.3 million as of Decem
ber 31, 2014 (December 31, 2014: € 798.0 million). This increase is mainly 
due to the investments made during the financial year (please refer to 
notes on the financial position). In contrast, there was amortization of 
€ 58.7 million on intangible assets taken over during the acquisition of 
Swisslog, particularly knowhow and technology. A value of € 254.9 mil
lion was recorded for goodwill (2014: € 225.9 million). The increase of 
€ 29.0 million stems not just from initial recognition of goodwill of 
€ 8.8 million resulting from the purchase of Forte Industrial Equipment 
Systems Inc., Mason, Ohio /USA but mainly from exchange rate effects. 
The increase in tangible assets amounted to € 25.2 million. The majority 
of this amount is attributable to the construction of the Development 
and Technology Center in Augsburg which was completed on schedule 
in 2015, and to investments in technical equipment and machinery. The 
rise in financial investment is the result of KUKA’s investment in sev
eral startup companies and the issuance of a vendor loan in connection 
with the divestment of HLS Group. The reported figure for investments 
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accounted for at equity (2015: € 6.6 million; 2014: € 5.6 million) relates 
to KBee AG, Munich, the joint venture Yawei Reis Robot Manufactur
ing Co., Ltd., Jiangsu, China and the stake in Barrett Technology, LLC, 
Newton, Massachusetts, USA acquired in December 2015. Deferred tax 
assets amounted to € 49.2 million (2014: € 48.2 million), with € 11.2 mil
lion being attributable to losses carried forward (2014: € 11.1 million).

Group net worth

in €  millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Balance sheet total 1,078.0 1,137.4 1,377.1 1,979.5 2,381.7

Equity 252.4 297.5 379.1 541.1 732.5

in % of balance sheet total 23.4 26.2 27.5 27.3 30.8

Net liquidity /debt 32.6 42.8 146.5 32.6 199.9

Assetside trade working capital, which is the sum of inventories, trade 
receivables and receivables from construction contracts, increased by 
€ 70.8 million. The value of the current assets as of December 31, 2015 
was € 1,558.4 million, a considerable increase from the previous year’s fig
ure of € 1,181.5 million. In addition to the rise in assetside trade working 
capital resulting from business activities, the increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (+€ 304.1 million) as a consequence of the positive devel
opment of business and the placement of the promissory note loan are 
particularly noteworthy. The items “Assets available for sale” and “Liabil
ities from assets held for sale” related to HLS Group in the previous year.

The balance sheet total of KUKA Group rose by € 402.2 million from 
€ 1,979.5 million as of December 31, 2014 to € 2,381.7 million as of Decem
ber 31, 2015.

Marked increase in equity ratio to over 30%
Despite the 20.3% growth of the balance sheet total, KUKA achieved an 
increase in the equity ratio from 27.3% in the previous year to 30.8%. As 
well as the high net income figure of € 86.3 million (2014: € 68.1 million), 
the conversion of units in the convertible bond into 2.8 million new KUKA 
shares also contributed to this development. The conversions resulted 
in an increase in equity of € 96.1 million. Differences due to currency 
translation, particularly from the Swiss franc, US dollar and Chinese ren
minbi, have also had a positive effect of € 43.3 million on equity. Actuar
ial gains from pension accounting totaled € 2.0 million. Payment of the 
2014 dividend to the shareholders of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft reduced 
equity by € 14.3 million. Minority interests were reduced by € 16.8 million 
to € 0.5 million primarily due to the purchase of the remaining shares in 
Swisslog. Overall, equity rose by € 191.4 million or 35.4% to € 732.5 mil
lion as of December 31, 2015. 

Noncurrent financial liabilities mainly relate to the promissory note loan 
of nominally € 250.0 million placed in October 2015 and the outstand
ing units of the convertible bond amounting to nominally € 47.2 million 
(2014: nominally € 150.0 million). The figure for the previous year also 
contained a share in the corporate bond which was redeemed in May 
2015. Current financial liabilities included the utilization of cash lines 
on the part of a foreign subsidiary and interest accruals for the convert
ible bond and promissory note loan (in the previous year an availment 
by Swisslog under its syndicated senior facilities agreement was addi
tionally recorded here). 

Current liabilities increased from € 1,096.2 million as of December 31, 
2014 to € 1,160.6 million as of December 31, 2015. The change in the lia
bilityside trade working capital referred to above (+€ 91.0 million) was 
the main reason for this. The other provisions (€ 7.1 million) and the 
other liabilities and accruals (€ 0.2 million) are at approximately the 
same level as the previous year. The other liabilities include liabilities 
in the personnel sector of € 134.6 million (2014: € 135.0 million) and the 
contingent purchase price liabilities for Reis Group inter alia amounting 
to € 58.5 million (2014: € 59.0 million). 

Increase in working capital and capital employed due to business 
performance 
During fiscal 2015 the focus of KUKA Group was again on active manage
ment of the working capital and further optimization of supplierside 
payment terms. However, the successes attained were insufficient to 
compensate for the decrease in negative working capital as a result of 
business development, with the effect that the working capital rose by 
€ 5.8 million overall to € 63.6 million (2014: € 69.4 million). This meant 
that in the financial year under review the current business operations 
could again largely be financed from customer prepayments and supplier 
liabilities. In terms of the individual divisions, as also in previous years, 
working capital was negative or balanced at Systems and Swisslog (2015: 
€ 124.5 million and € +5.3 million, 2014: € 139.8 million and € 7.8 mil
lion) and positive at Robotics (2015: € 86.9 million; 2014: € 97.8 million). 

An important key figure of KUKA Group is the return on capital employed 
(ROCE). The capital employed is calculated as the average of capital 
employed at the beginning and end of the financial year. On aver
age, KUKA Group’s capital employed in 2015 and 2014 amounted to 
€ 676.8 million and € 492.0 million respectively. This significant increase 
is mainly the result of the addition of Swisslog Group. On account of 
the date of initial consolidation at the end of the 2014 financial year, the 
average value for the previous year is distorted. Conversely, with regard 
to the singleperiod capital employed at the respective yearend, there 
is only an increase of € 13.5 million to currently € 683.6 million from 2014 
to 2015. Swisslog Group also did not make any earnings contribution 
in the previous year due to the initial consolidation date. Consequently 
there is also a distortion in the return on capital employed (ROCE) com
pared with the previous year. The ROCE declined from 28.8% in 2014 to 
20.0% in 2015. 
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Of more relevance in a yearonyear comparison is the ROCE for the respec
tive divisions. With average capital employed of € 177.1 million (2014: 
€ 167.3 million), the Robotics division generated a ROCE of 56.6%, thus 
improving on the previous year’s figure of 53.1%. The Systems division was 
able to report a significant improvement in ROCE to 87.9% (2014: 67.9%) 
with average capital employed of € 130.5 million (2014: € 118.1 million). 
After adjustment for the capital gains on the disposal of the Tools and 
Dies business unit and HLS Group, the rate of return amounts to 78.2%. 
The ROCE in the Swisslog division remained negative in 2015 owing to 
the high amortization of the purchase price allocation (14.5%). If this is 
excluded, Swisslog had a positive ROCE of 4.1%.

Group assets and financial structure

in €  millions 2014 2015

Current assets 1,181.5 1,558.4

Noncurrent assets 798.0 823.3

Assets 1,979.5 2,381.7

Current liabilities 1096.2 1,160.6

Noncurrent liabilities 342.2 488.6

Equity 541.1 732.5

Liabilities 1,979.5 2,381.7

Group assets and financial structure
in €  millions

Non-current assets
Current assets

Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

798.0

541.1

823.3

732.5

1,181.5

342.2

1,558.4

488.6

1,096.2

1,160.6

Assets

14

Equity 
and 

liabilities

Assets

14

Equity 
and 

liabilities

Notes to the financial statements  
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft acts as the Group’s management holding com
pany with central management responsibilities such as accounting and 
controlling, financing, human resources, legal and financial communica
tions. Its financial position is determined primarily by the activities of its 
subsidiaries, as illustrated by the direct allocation of the management 
companies of the Robotics division (KUKA Roboter GmbH), Systems divi
sion (KUKA Systems GmbH) and Swisslog division (Swisslog Holding AG).

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft prepares its annual financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

The financial statements of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft are published in 
the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and are also available 
on the company’s website www.kuka.com.

Income statement of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft (HGB)

in €  millions 2014 2015

Other companyproduced and capitalized assets 0.1 1.2

Other operating income 55.1 108.9

Personnel expense 32.7 38.8

Depreciation and amortization of tangible  
and intangible assets 3.3 6.3

Other operating expenses 44.2 86.8

Income from participations 137.0 149.7

Income from other securities 0.9 0.0

Other interest and similar income 8.3 5.2

Depreciation and amortization of financial 
assets and shortterm securities 15.8 0.0

Interest and similar expenses 24.7 9.1

Income from ordinary activities 80.7 124.0

Taxes on income 15.0 8.2

Net profit 65.7 115.8

Profit carryforward from the previous year 24.4 43.0

Transfer to retained earnings 32.8 57.9

Balance sheet profit 57.3 100.9
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KUKA Aktiengesellschaft balance sheet (HGB)

Assets
in €  millions 

2014 2015

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 2.2 2.1

Tangible assets 72.9 88.4

Financial investments 435.0 469.3

 510.1 559.8

Current assets   

Inventories 0.0 0.0

Receivables from affiliated companies 225.4 233.8

Other receivables and assets 5.8 5.6

Securities 10.0 –

 241.2 239.4

Cash and cash equivalents 71.6 330.2

 312.8 569.6

Prepaid expenses 0.5 0.6

823.4 1,130.0

Liabilities
in €  millions 

2014 2015

Equity

Subscribed capital 92.8 100.1

Capital reserve 166.7 262.2

Other retained earnings 90.3 148.2

Balance sheet profit 57.3 100.9

 407.1 611.4

Provisions   

Pension provisions 11.6 11.7

Provision for taxes 12.6 15.0

Other provisions 29.9 31.2

 54.1 57.9

Liabilities   

Bonds 150.0 47.2

Liabilities due to banks 1.1 251.1

Trade payables 7.7 11.1

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 199.8 147.4

Liabilities to provident funds 2.6 2.6

Other liabilities 1.0 1.3

362.2 460.7

823.4 1,130.0

Results of operations of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

The earnings of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft are determined primarily by 
the earnings of its subsidiaries, its financing activities and the expenses 
and income relating to the company’s holding function. Income from 
ordinary business activities amounted to € 124.0 million and was there
fore considerably above the previous year’s result (2014: € 80.7 million).

Other operating income mainly related to cost allocations (2015: 
€ 40.1 million; 2014: € 28.9 million), direct costs passed on, for exam
ple from facility management (2015: € 13.0 million; 2014: € 12.8 mil
lion), and income from the rental of buildings to KUKA Group compa
nies (2015:  € 5.5 million; 2014: € 4.6 million). Currency translation gains, 
primarily from USD, CHF and BRL, amounting to € 34.7 million (2014: 
€ 7.1 million) were accounted for. Additionally an impairment loss of 
€ 13.7 million applied to an equity investment in the previous year was 
reversed in full. The rise in other operating expenses was driven by var
ious factors including expenses not eligible for capitalization in relation 
to the construction of the new Development and Technology Center 
in Augsburg and in particular the currency translation losses which 
amounted to €  34.2 million (2014: € 6.3 million).

The increase in personnel expenditure from € 32.7 million to € 38.8 mil
lion is attributable not only to the increase in the number of employ
ees but also to higher expenses for variable remuneration components, 
partly as a result of the increase in the share price. The company had 352 
employees on the balance sheet date (2014: 279 employees).

Income from participations amounted to € 149.7 million (2014: 
€ 137.0 million) and was again above the previous year’s value. This is in 
particular due to the higher dividend payment of the US subsidiary in 
the year under review (2015: € 40.6 million; 2014: € 24.4 million). Earnings 
contributions from the German companies allocated to KUKA Aktien
gesellschaft via the profit and loss transfer agreements are € 109.1 mil
lion (2014: € 112.6 million). 

The net interest result was € 3.9 million, which was well below the pre
vious year’s level (€ 16.4 million). In the previous year the net interest 
result was impacted by the oneoff effects of repurchasing the corporate 
bond. Due to the decrease in market interest rates, finance charges cred
ited or charged by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft to subsidiaries were signif
icantly lower compared to the previous year. In the previous year KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft and its associated companies posted net interest 
income of € 7.1 million – the value this financial year was € 4.5 million. 

The amortization of financial assets primarily relates to the valuation 
of Swisslog shares at the stock exchange price on the last trading day 
of 2014 amounting to CHF 1.31. During the reporting period, the corre
sponding amount is included in other operating income as a writeup.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft as the controlling company of the German con
solidated tax group recognizes the income taxes of the tax group on the 
income statement as € 8.2 million (2014: € 15.0 million). 
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Overall, net income of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft amounted to € 115.8 mil
lion (2014: € 65.7 million). Deducting the transfer to revenue reserves and 
offsetting against the profit carried forward results in a balance sheet 
profit of € 100.9 million for fiscal 2015 (2014: € 57.3 million).

Financial position of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

One of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s most important tasks is to provide 
funds and guarantees for its subsidiaries’ current operations. KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft obtained external financing by placing a € 150.0 mil
lion convertible bond on the capital market in February and July 2013. 
In the fourth quarter of 2015, bondholders took advantage of the con
version option and converted a nominal amount of € 102.8 million into 
2.8 million new KUKA shares. This increased the subscribed capital 
by € 7.3 million and the capital reserve by € 95.5 million. The liability 
resulting from the convertible bond was correspondingly reduced to 
€ 47.2 million. 

A further element in its external financing was KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s 
placement of a € 250.0 million promissory note loan in October. The total 
volume is divided into two tranches, the first of which is for € 142.5 mil
lion with a term of five years and the second is for € 107.5 million with 
a term of seven years. The promissory note loan is reported in liabili
ties due to banks.

In addition, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft prematurely refinanced the syndi
cated loan in April 2015 that it had concluded in December 2013, and at 
the same time redeemed the existing Swisslog Holding AG syndicated 
senior facilities agreement. The new contract provides for a surety and 
guarantee line in the amount of € 140.0 million and a working capital 
line, which can also be used for sureties and guarantees, in the amount 
of € 90.0 million. (For further details, see “KUKA Group financial posi
tion” and the notes (26)). 

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s financing role is reflected in its receivables 
from and liabilities to affiliated companies, which are predominantly 
the result of cash pooling accounts with subsidiaries and loans pro
vided. The balance of these receivables and liabilities was net receivables 
of € 86.4 million (2014: € 25.6 million). This increase in the subsidiaries’ 
liquidity requirements was mainly the result of profit transfers during 
the financial year and the incorporation of Swisslog Group. This devel
opment was offset by the continued good active management of the 
working capital of the subsidiaries involved in cash pooling.

Overall, the liquid assets of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft increased 
from € 71.6 million to € 330.2 million and the financial liabilities from 
€ 151.1 million to € 298.3 million as a result of the measures described.

Net assets of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

The net assets of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft are impacted by the man
agement of its equity investments as well as the way in which it exe
cutes its management function for the companies in KUKA Group. For 
information on receivables from and liabilities to affiliated companies 
and financial items, please refer to the information on KUKA Aktien
gesellschaft’s financial position.

Capital expenditure for intangible and tangible fixed assets amounting 
to € 22.6 million (2014: € 35.4 million) was offset by depreciation, amor
tization and writedowns amounting to € 6.5 million (2014: € 3.4 million). 
Capital expenditure in the financial year notably included the Develop
ment and Technology Center in Augsburg, which has now been com
pleted. KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s direct equity investments in its sub
sidiaries are reported under financial assets. The additions during the 
financial year primarily relate to the purchase of outstanding shares in 
Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs /Switzerland, and further milestonebased 
payments to KBee AG, Munich. 

Shortterm securities in the previous year (€ 10.0 million) related to freely 
available funds invested as part of corporate liquidity management with 
a term of four months.

Earnings for the financial year are reflected in the changes in equity as 
well as the convertible bond conversion described above. Dividend pay
ments totaling € 14.3 million for the 2014 financial year had the effect of 
reducing equity. The equity ratio of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft amounted 
to 54.1% as of December 31, 2015 (2014: 49.4%).

The net impact of these changes on the total assets of KUKA Aktien
gesellschaft was an increase of € 306.6 million to € 1,130.0 million com
pared to the reporting date of the previous year. 

Non-financial key performance indicators
 
Sustainability

Sustainability – a continuous process 
At KUKA, sustainability is synonymous with responsible business prac
tices combined with protection of the environment and resources. In 
order to face up to its responsibility towards employees, customers, 
investors, society and the environment, it is important for the company 
to develop continuously and remain successful worldwide. In the year 
under review, the company pursued a number of projects.

A good working environment is good for health
Employee health is of great importance for KUKA. The increase in com
petitive pressure and high requirements in terms of quality and speed 
lead to rising demands on staff. It is thus important for KUKA to create a 
work environment that encourages flexibility and promotes health. As a 
technology group which is experiencing growth on a global scale, KUKA 
is reliant on a qualified, committed and efficient workforce. 
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KUKA offers a human resources policy adapted to accommodate the 
stage of life reached by its employees and to make it easier to combine 
work and family life. Maximum flexibility is important in this context. 
KUKA strives to achieve this by implementing a variety of measures, 
including flexitime work, telecommuting, the daycare center at its Augs
burg site, sponsored by the nonprofit association Orange Care e. V., a 
kid’s holiday club and other benefits such as a laundry service. 

Each year, KUKA’s health management program for employees is devoted 
to particular topics concerning occupational healthcare. The main ele
ments are chosen especially to counteract the main causes of various 
failings of modern society, such as physical inactivity, poor nutrition, 
excess weight and stress. In the year under review, the focus was on 
nutrition. Presentations were held, for example, on the subject of nutri
tion and how it can affect health. A KUKA health day was also organized 
at which employees could inform themselves on the topics of nutrition, 
drinking water and movement as well as trying out various sports and 
relaxation methods. The central focus of the health day was on colon 
cancer prevention. Skin screening was also offered. 

Key social figures

2014 2015

Number of employees (Dec. 31) 12,102 12,300

of which apprentices 372 348

Average length of service (years) 8.8 7.6

Sick leave ratio in % 3.0 3.2

Fluctuation in % 11.2 9.6

Accidents per 1,000 employees (Germany) 10.2 9.8 *

* Not including Obernburg

In the year under review, the Groupwide absenteeism rate due to sick 
leave remained at a low level of 3.2% compared to other companies in 
the same sector. The average length of service in 2015 was 7.6 years. 
This represents a slight drop on the previous year and is similar to that 
found in other companies.

At 9.6%, staff turnover (fluctuation) is down on the previous year’s fig
ure of 11.2%. This rate appears to be relatively high for industry stand
ards. However, this figure includes not only those leaving the company 
for other employment but also all internal transfers among the com
panies of KUKA Group.

Even though the workload at KUKA is high in comparison with other 
companies in the sector, the number of accidents reported is very low. 
In 2015, 9.8 accidents were recorded for every 1,000 employees. KUKA 
constantly endeavors to improve work safety so as to reduce the num
ber of accidents further.

Details of the workforce and human resources policy can be found in 
the “Employees” section from page 51 on.

Orange Care e. V. – KUKA colleagues get involved 
KUKA employees are quick to seize the initiative and become involved 
in social matters. Orange Care e. V., an association founded in 2012 by 
KUKA employees, has set itself the task of supporting people in need 
and in particular young people and families. KUKA employees supported 
Orange Care e. V. in the year under review with donations enabling the 
association to shoulder the costs of toys for the Orange Care daycare 
center. The association also got involved with refugees and supported 
two refugee hostels in Augsburg with material donations. Furthermore, 
the association was also able to help the family of a KUKA employee 
who was in a difficult situation.

Apprentices demonstrate social commitment
In the year under review, KUKA apprentices helped people affected 
by the tornado that left a trail of destruction in the Augsburg region. 
They organized a collection for the victims in a village near Augsburg to 
assist them financially with the rebuilding of their destroyed houses. 
The Christmas parcel campaign "Geschenk mit Herz" (“A gift from the 
heart”) run by the charity Humedica e. V. was organized at the Augsburg 
site by the apprentices. Moreover, the KUKA training workshop has also 
offered internships for refugees. The internship provides insights into 
the world of everyday work and is a useful source of career guidance. 

KUKA is a member of Blue Competence
Blue Competence is the sustainability initiative of the German engineer
ing association VDMA (Verband Deutscher Maschinen und Anlagen bau) 
and the European engineering platform for issues relating to sustaina
bility. KUKA has committed itself to compliance with the Blue Compe
tence codex. In the year under review, the initiative organized a com
petition for apprentices with the slogan “Sustainability is a business 
model”. KUKA participated with a film.

KUKA is also a member of the Chamber of Industry and Commerce and 
the International Federation of Robotics (IFR). Both organizations have 
special working groups dealing with the topics of energy efficiency and 
sustainability.

Ergonomic and effective
The demographic shift and the changes in the working and living envi
ronment have an impact on employee performance; this calls for for
wardlooking and sustainable solutions that help maintain health. In 
the year under review, the work processes started in 2014 were further 
improved. This included the automation of nonergonomic tasks with the 
aim of reducing the physical demands placed on employees in produc
tion. The handling and joining of heavy components (base frame, gear 
units, rotating column) were automated, as was the screw fastening of 
components – a task that required great physical exertion. Additional 
ergonomic workstations with lifting tables were set up. These enable 
production staff to adjust their workstations to their individual needs 
so that they can work in an upright position with less strain on the back 
and with less effort being required. Certain logistics tasks, such as screw 
logistics, have also been automated to relieve employees of simple and 
monotonous activities, allowing them to work more effectively on more 
challenging tasks. Production employees are supported by a KMR iiwa – 
an autonomously navigating platform on which an LBR iiwa is installed. 
KMR iiwa moves autonomously between the central warehouse and 
the target rack, which it loads with the corresponding boxes of screws.
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Sustainable construction concepts at Augsburg
The Development and Technology Center (DTC) at the KUKA site in Augs
burg was completed in 2015 and work was also stepped up on the con
version of the robot assembly line.

In all major building works in the year under review, KUKA undercut the 
legal requirements of the current standards laid down in the EEG & EnEV 
(Renewable Energies Act and Energy Saving Ordinance) by up to 30%, 
as is already evident in the insulation of the facade, windows and doors. 
Moreover, the choice of materials will make it possible to dismantle 
and recycle these building components later in an ecologically com
patible manner.

KUKA already implements innovative environmental concepts for all 
new construction, expansion and modernization projects at the site 
in Augsburg. Rainwater falling on the roofs of these buildings runs off 
via culverts without affecting the groundwater and is not diverted into 
the sewer system. To enable the DTC to meet the latest energy supply 
standards, the temperature in the offices is automatically regulated via 
heating and cooling sails on the ceiling. In addition, the building and the 
computing center are cooled by means of well water or, at peak times, 
a compression chiller mounted on the roof. The production shops are 
heated using ceiling sails.

To reduce energy consumption and thus the CO2 emissions harmful to 
the climate, KUKA uses the most ecofriendly energy supply solution 
available to it. That is why the entire Augsburg site has now been con
verted to district heating and the DTC has been connected to the site’s 
local heating supply.

Promoting excellence in technology and sports
KUKA promotes top performance in technology and sports. This raises 
brand awareness for KUKA and is also a way for KUKA to take social 
responsibility. KUKA concentrates on local projects at its own sites. For 
instance, KUKA has supported the Bundesliga soccer team FC Augsburg 
and the firstdivision hockey team Augsburg Panthers for years. 

Sustainable and energy-efficient – the MagnetAr 620A power source
In the further development of the MagnetArc welding technique aimed 
at improving the process and quality, the components for automation are 
also being continuously enhanced. KUKA is paying special attention to 
the core component, the power source, in order to expand the technology 
and so improve efficiency. Compared with the conventional MagnetArc 
power source, the new MagnetAr 620A uses up to 20% less energy. Fur
thermore, the new source is much smaller and 85% lighter, saving costs 
and production space. In the year under review, the new power source 
was already put into operation for energyefficient production at the 
plants of three customers.

Research partnerships to promote sustainability
KUKA is a partner in EUfunded projects that promote research activi
ties in the field of sustainable, innovative technologies:

AREUS, an EU-funded project
KUKA is a partner in the European combined research project “AREUS – 
Automation and Robotics for EUropean Sustainable manufacturing”. 
Together with research partners from industry and science, KUKA is 
advancing the development of energyefficient robotbased solutions for 

the factories of the future. Optimized processes for robot movement are 
being developed, affecting both the individual robot and groups formed 
of several robots. The power supply for the robotbased test installations 
is being converted to direct current as a prototype development in order 
to collect initial experience for future regenerative power supplies and 
to allow the energy requirement in a system to be distributed better 
and to recover braking energy. The new concepts are being tested in a 
real production scenario and will be presented, on completion of this 
project, at two trade fairs this year (ICRA and Automatica). 

euRobotics AISBL
euRobotics AISBL (association internationale sans but lucratif), a Euro
pean nonprofit organization, entered into a publicprivate partnership 
(PPP) with the European Commission for “robotics in Europe”, whose 
research and innovation program will receive over € 700 million in fund
ing over the next seven years and includes sustainability targets outlined 
in a joint road map. The development of sustainable industrial produc
tion methods is one of the objectives. See the “Research and develop
ment” section starting on page 28 for more information.

EFFRA
KUKA is also involved in a partnership with EFFRA (European Factories 
of the Future Research Association). Members make important contri
butions that influence the development of sustainable production and 
manufacturing processes, for example. KUKA’s role is to advance key 
topics in robotbased automation.

KUKA showcases multi-functional cell at Augsburg Innovation Park
With reference to sustainability, lightweight construction is a key topic 
for the future of industrial manufacturing. Within the scope of a project 
at the Augsburg Innovation Park, experts from industry and the scientific 
community work together on the industrialization of carbonreinforced 
components and on taking humanrobot interaction to the next level.

In collaboration with the German Aerospace Center (DLR), KUKA has 
been involved for years in researching and developing innovative pro
cesses and automation solutions. Industrialscale production processes 
with lightweight materials are developed at the new location for aero
space applications. KUKA and the DLR installed a multifunctional cell 
(MFC) together that is 32.5 m long and 16 m wide. The frame is made 
from a steel construction that weighs several tonnes. Due to its size and 
unique technology, the cell forms the heart of the center. It is equipped 
with KUKA robots of the QUANTEC generation in order to conduct indus
trialscale research.

KUKA partners with MAI Carbon
KUKA is active in the leadingedge cluster MAI Carbon. The cluster in the 
MunichAugsburgIngolstadt triangle is directing its efforts toward devel
oping carbon fiberreinforced plastics (CFRP) technology for a variety 
of sectors in Germany by the year 2020. One of the focus topics here is 
the representation of an integrated process chain and precise machin
ing with industrial robots. 

Green Carbody Technologies
In view of the challenges surrounding the growing world population 
and ever scarcer resources, one important focus of future systems lies 
in ensuring the efficient use of energy and resources in manufacturing. 
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The Green Carbody Technologies project (InnoCaT) set itself the target 
of developing systems that use energy and resources efficiently. A total 
of 60 companies are involved in the project that is being promoted by 
the Federal Ministry of Education and Research. As a member, KUKA 
Systems has contributed necessary knowhow and tools with which 
the energy consumption of a system can be virtually measured, ana
lyzed and optimized already at the planning stage. In this way, KUKA 
has helped its customers to implement sustainable production. The pro
ject was completed in 2014. The results were summarized at KUKA in a 
catalog of measures for energyefficient production that has been used 
for new systems ever since. We have also managed to win a project in 
which our trained specialists are optimizing an existing system on the 
basis of this catalog of measures for the first time. 

Energy efficiency in systems engineering
Following the development of a software tool for the energyefficient 
design of manufacturing systems in the previous year, 2015 saw the 
measures being investigated for effectiveness, impact on production 
systems and possible additional costs. The systems developed by KUKA 
Systems are intended not only to save resources in theory, but also to 
contribute to sustainable production in practice. For this, consumption 
must be checked continuously. The solutions from KUKA Systems enable 
energy consumption to be recorded both during planning and then dur
ing subsequent operation. In combination with the visualization stand
ard, the performance curve can be displayed and archived if required. 
A “traffic light” system on the control panel indicates to the operator 
whether the current energy consumption corresponds to the specifica
tions. This enables a quick response and countermeasures.

Recycling and retooling
The recycling concept for KUKA robots comprises a number of different 
aspects including proper disposal and sustainable utilization. KUKA also 
focuses on recyclable materials as early as the parts selection phase.

KUKA offers customers refurbishing services for used robots, which can 
then be returned to customers for productive use (retooling). Ideas for 
replacing or optimizing components or giving robots a new coat of paint 
are discussed with the customer on a casebycase basis. It is also pos
sible to rent robots in order to test them or for shortterm operation.

KUKA offers its customers a return program for robots that are no longer 
in use. The used robots are refurbished or retooled to meet new require
ments. Then they are available again for purchase as used robots. KUKA 
uses environmentally compatible methods to disassemble and dispose 
of robots that can no longer be refurbished. All of KUKA’s recycling part
ners must undergo a strict confirmation process. 

KUKA has converted to district heating
In the year under review, CO2 emissions dropped by around 18% com
pared with the previous year. This is due primarily to the conversion 
to district heating at the Augsburg site in September 2015. Absolute 
consumption of heating energy was 12,448 MWh, which only consti
tuted a slight rise on the previous year (2014: 11,274 MWh). Following 
the changeover to district heating, consumption of heating energy is 
expected to fall in the future. Absolute electricity consumption remained 
virtually constant at 13,651 MWh (2014: 13,095 MWh). Water consump
tion is relatively low overall and plays a less important role here because 
water is only available for normal daily use, with production only requir
ing a fraction of all the water consumed. Despite the construction of the 
new Development and Technology Center at the Augsburg site, water 
consumption remained virtually unchanged at 26,698 m3 in the year 
under review (2014: 26,368 m3). 

In switching over to district heating at the Augsburg site, the stage has 
been set for an energyefficient, environmentally friendly and future
proof energy supply. As the plant was only converted in September 2015, 
the savings in heating energy and the reductions in CO2 emissions will 
only be noticeable in the future. In addition to the significant decline in 
CO2 consumption, the primary energy factor will be decreased from 1.1 
to 0.32. This means that the environmental impact of the increased use 
of the site is being steadily reduced and the requirements of the latest 
version of the Energy Saving Ordinance (EnEV) for energy efficiency in 
the case of new and existing structures have been fulfilled. 

Key ecology figures

2014 2015

Number of locations worldwide 53 66

of which ISO 9001 certified 24 39

of which ISO 14011 certified 11 13

Consumption (Augsburg only)

Electric power (MWh) 13,095 13,651

Heat (MWh) 11,274 8,004 *

Heat (MWh) – district heating from 
 September 2015 onwards 4,444

Water (m3) 26,368 26,698

CO2 (t) 9,736 7,966

* Until September 2015
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KUKA is certified in accordance with VDA 6.4 at the relevant sites
As a supplier to the automotive industry, product reliability and safety 
are the number one priority. The VDA 6.4 certification documents that 
processes have been implemented in the company to ensure that cus
tomers can rely on the high quality of their machines, systems, tools 
or inspection equipment from KUKA. One important aspect here is the 
efficiency of processes. The certificate is a supplement to ISO 9001.

KUKA participates in Carbon Disclosure Project
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft has been part of the Carbon Disclosure Pro
ject since 2008. This organization publishes information on the lifecycle 
assessments of listed companies and on business prospects for sustain
able products once a year. The Carbon Disclosure Project is supported by 
a number of investor groups (www.cdproject.net). In 2015, KUKA showed 
a trend to improvement in the overall result. KUKA also participated in 
various ratings on the subject of sustainability, one of them conducted 
by the Vigeo agency. Interested parties can request a copy of the results 
by sending an email to contact@vigeobelgium.com. Information is avail
able on corporate governance, human resources and the environment.

Employees

Internationalization within KUKA Group
KUKA continues to grow worldwide. The number of employees increased 
in the year under review, primarily due to growth in the strategically 
important regions of China and North America. Personnel was also 
stocked up in the area of research and development in order to extend 
technological leadership in the dynamic, international competitive envi
ronment characterized by Industrie 4.0. As the Group has seen strong 
international growth in recent years, measures have been taken to estab
lish a uniform, Groupwide management culture. The aim is to introduce 
a common understanding of values and principles among all employees 
worldwide. For this reason, the leadership principles for the Group as a 
whole were rolled out internationally in the year under review. Addition
ally, the New Manager Program has been introduced to help young man
agers worldwide to develop their own leadership style, to provide them 
with a shared understanding of management and familiarize them with 
basic knowledge for successful management according to the leader
ship principles. KUKA is continuing to make itself more attractive as an 
employer by means of employer branding measures, as well as offering 
highquality vocational training and a wide range of continuous profes
sional development courses and cooperating with renowned universi
ties. Work /life balance initiatives and the corporate health management 
scheme are also being enhanced.

Personnel growth in strategically important areas
In the year under review, KUKA continued to diversify into new industries 
and regions and to extend its presence in the Asian market. Personnel 
has been increased, particularly in the strategically important regions 
of China and North America and in the field of research and develop
ment. The Group’s workforce has risen from a total of 12,102 at the end 
of 2014 to 12,300 at the end of 2015. The Robotics division recorded 
the greatest growth with a rise of 16.1% to 4,232 employees (2014: 
3,644). The expansion here was carried out in all customer segments, 

i. e. automotive, general industry, service, and research and develop
ment; in terms of regions it involved primarily Germany and China. The 
number of employees at Systems fell in the year under review by 11.4% 
from 5,810 to 5,146. This was attributable to the sale of the Tools and 
Dies business unit and HLS Engineering Group. Swisslog increased its 
workforce by 186 from 2,369 (2014) to 2,555 (2015).

Stable age structure
At 40.7 years, the average employee age throughout the Group was 
around the level of the previous year (2014: 40.8 years). 71 employees 
were honored for 25 years of service during the year under review, while 
three employees celebrated their 40th anniversary.

Employees 
by division (Dec. 31)

3,644

4,232

5,810

5,146 2,555

2014

2015

2,369

Robotics
Systems
 Swisslog 
AG /other

279

367

Employees 
by region (Dec. 31)

4,739 1,698
2014

2015

4,533

Germany 
North America

Rest of Europe
Asia /other regions

1,132

4,546 2,486 3,506 1,762
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Vocational training at a high level
At the end of December 2015, KUKA Group was employing a total of 
348 apprentices (FTE) (2014: 372). The decline is due to the sale of the 
Tools and Dies business unit. The process of centralizing apprentice 
training at KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, which was carried out in 2013, has 
proven to be a success. This ensures that apprentices are given more 
opportunities for their own development and teaches them to think and 
act globally on a Groupwide scale. KUKA attaches great importance to 
familiarizing apprentices with the internationalization strategy of the 
Group at an early stage. Apprentices gain experience abroad at other 
KUKA locations each year such as, for example, company sites in China 
and the USA. KUKA continues to maintain a high standard in the qual
ity of training and the level of performance. This is repeatedly demon
strated by KUKA graduates finishing best in their year in their respective 
training occupation. In the year under review, the Swabian Chamber of 
Industry and Commerce honored Markus Hörmann as the best in his 
year for the trade of electronics technician for automation technology. 
Christoph Berthold not only completed his apprenticeship with flying 
colors, but also passed his high school diploma with the highest possi
ble grade of 1.0. Ten apprentices completed their examinations prema
turely in summer 2015 – with an average grade of 1.55.

Wide range of training and further education options
KUKA Group offers a variety of training programs covering both technical 
and commercial occupations:

 › Industrial mechanic and lathe /milling machine operator
 › Mechatronics technician 
 › Electronics technician for automation technology
 › Industrial clerk
 › IT specialist
 › Technical product designer
 › Warehouse logistics specialist
 › Specialist for forwarding and logistics services

The share of female apprentices in technical professions has remained 
constant over the last few years at around 20%. This percentage is 
expected to increase, in particular thanks to the company’s participa
tion in the annual Girls’ Day program, the offer of introductory appren
ticeships for girls and cooperative partnerships with girls’ schools. Dur
ing the year under review, the company also intensified its contacts with 
schools in the region. Students at all forms of secondary schools can 
now learn more about work life at KUKA in a weeklong work experience 
placement. Around 130 students took advantage of this opportunity at 
the company’s site in Augsburg in 2015. Students were also given the 
chance to learn more about the company’s training center on tours of 
the plant and during many other regional activity days.

In addition to the traditional apprenticeships, KUKA offers a dual, train
ingintegrated degree course at the University of Augsburg with the aim 
of gaining a Bachelor’s degree. In addition to the dual integrated study 
course for mechanical engineering, mechatronics and electrical engi
neering, the disciplines of business administration, information technol
ogy and business information systems are also available to choose from.

KUKA places great importance on the continuous professional develop
ment of its employees with internal training measures. A major element 
of this is the KUKA Academy at the company’s site in Augsburg. Courses 
on offer include computer and language courses, specific professional 
courses from the fields of sales, purchasing, business administration 
and project management, as well as seminars for soft skills, and are in 
great demand from employees. In 2015, 1,798 employees took part in 
a total of 103 seminars and 50 language groups (English and Spanish) 
at the Augsburg location. In order to make courses more accessible to 
employees and make the administration more efficient, intensive work 
was carried out in the year under review on implementing a modern, 
userfriendly learning management system. The system is available to 
employees with effect from the start of 2016.

Cooperative partnerships with universities around the world
KUKA has partnerships with universities from around the world, including 
Tongji University in Shanghai and TU Munich, and works together with 
renowned universities on a number of international research and devel
opment projects. The company also has close contacts in the region with 
the universities in Augsburg and Kempten. During the year under review, 
KUKA attended numerous university contact fairs and was the princi
pal sponsor of the “Pyramid” fair in Augsburg. “Pyramid” is designed to 
establish contacts between companies and young professionals. KUKA 
also took part in Academica’s “Career Day” in Augsburg.

Leadership principles and New Manager Program
As the Group is undergoing strong international growth, measures have 
been taken to establish a uniform, Groupwide management culture. 
The aim is to nurture a common understanding of values and principles 
among all employees worldwide. In 2014, with international cooperation, 
a set of leadership principles was drafted. Rollout in the companies and 
regions commenced in the year under review.

The year under review also saw the creation and introduction of the 
Groupwide New Manager Program. It helps young managers world
wide to develop their own leadership style, familiarizes them with basic 
knowledge for successful management, and provides them with a shared 
understanding in accordance with the leadership principles. Regular 
workshops are held at the Augsburg, Detroit and Shanghai locations, 
in combination with individual practical phases in everyday work, for 
optimal development of those taking part. During a Leadership Meet
ing, work was also carried out with Senior Management on the imple
mentation of the corporate strategy.

Promoting diversity 
KUKA employees introduced a diversity initiative during the year under 
review. Targets and measures were developed in workshops under the 
patronage of Jurate Keblyte, CFO at KUKA Robotics GmbH, to promote 
diversity within the Group. The initiative gave rise to the orangeWIN net
work (where “WIN” stands for “Women In Network”). All female KUKA 
employees can join this network, which has the objective of support
ing women, particularly in the MINT professions, and helping them to 
acquire qualifications, for example in management roles. The first activ
ities of the initiative include a special mentoring program, continuous 
professional development measures and network meetings. 
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Strong employer brand
The largescale employer branding campaign introduced in 2013 for dif
ferent target groups will continue to be pursued in order to enhance the 
public perception of KUKA as an attractive employer. The appeal of the 
work environment at KUKA is reflected in external reviews. In the 2015 
trendence Graduate Barometer, which is based on a survey conducted 
among pupils, students and young professionals about their preferred 
employer, KUKA was ranked 32nd in the Engineering Edition and 53rd in 
the IT Edition. In the Universum study of the top employers for young 
professionals, KUKA rose to 26th place. The number of applications for 
advertised positions increased from around 12,000 in 2014 to over 17,000 
in 2015. In addition, KUKA supported the “Fair Company” initiative in 
the year under review, which promotes fair internships and real oppor
tunities for university graduates. This means, for example, that KUKA 
primarily offers internships geared towards providing career orientation 
and does not propose internships as alternatives to graduates seeking 
permanent employment. 

Employee share program 
KUKA employees identify with the company’s success and show great 
interest in the employee share program. 414 employees participated in 
the program during the year under review. 69,105 shares were trans
ferred to employees.

Events after the balance sheet date

Cancelation of the convertible bond
In an announcement on February 18, 2016 KUKA Aktiengesellschaft irrev
ocably canceled the 2013 convertible bonds as of March 24, 2016. Unless 
the holders of the convertible bonds convert their units into shares in 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft by this date, the units still existing at this date 
will be repaid to the holders at a rate of 100%. Since repayment at 100% 
is not financially attractive to the investors, it may be assumed that 
the vast majority of the units still existing will be converted into shares 
before the redemption date. Even before this announcement, further 
conversions had already taken place in fiscal 2016.

Apart from this there have been no events subject to reporting require
ments that had an impact on the financial position and performance of 
the company since the balance sheet reporting date.

Forecast, opportunities and risk report
 
Opportunities and risk report

Basic principles

KUKA Group is a global enterprise with international operations. Any 
entrepreneurial activity provides new business opportunities, but also 
involves many risks, especially technical ones. The Executive Board of 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft aims to systematically and sustainably improve 
the value of the company for all stakeholders and shareholders by seiz
ing potential opportunities and minimizing said risks.

To achieve this objective, the Executive Board has implemented a com
prehensive corporate risk management system to systematically and 
consistently identify, evaluate, manage, monitor and report the internal 
and external risks to which its divisions and subsidiaries are exposed. 

Group management regularly assesses the likelihood that identified risks 
will occur and their potential impact on expected earnings (EBIT). Risks 
are categorized according to worst, medium and best case scenarios 
including the expected impact of the occurrence of an event. Accruals 
and writedowns associated with these risks are recognized in the annual 
financial statements in accordance with applicable accounting princi
ples. The unsecured residual risks, i. e. risks according to risk mitigation 
measures (net assessment), are therefore depicted as risks.

The risk management system is subject to a monthly reporting process 
(risk inventory) which involves identifying new risks and carrying out a 
followup assessment of existing risks. The information that has been 
collected in this way is summarized in a risk report that is also prepared 
each month and addressed to the Executive Board of KUKA Group. This 
report contains a top 10 risk assessment and a risk exposure assessment 
(overall risk situation) for the divisions, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft as the 
holding company and KUKA Group. The top 10 risks are also a fixed part 
of internal monthly management reporting and are discussed at monthly 
results discussions between the Executive Board of KUKA Group and the 
management of the divisions. The identified risks are additionally pre
sented and explained in more detail to the Executive Board each quarter 
by the Risk Management Committee. The committee also determines 
whether any measures already implemented to minimize risk are ade
quate or whether further steps need to be initiated. These plenums also 
assess the plausibility of the reported risks and determine how to avoid 
similar risks in future. The risk report is also reviewed during Executive 
and Supervisory Board meetings, especially by the Audit Committee.

53



The managers of the divisions and subsidiaries are directly responsible 
for the early identification, control and communication of risks. Risk 
managers in the central and decentralized business units ensure that 
the reporting process is uniform with clearly defined reporting channels 
and reporting thresholds that are in line with the size of the company. 
Internal ad hoc announcements are mandatory whenever risks exceed 
the Group’s defined reporting thresholds. The standard risk manage
ment procedures applied throughout the Group are efficient and effec
tive. The head of risk management coordinates the risk management 
system. He compiles, communicates and monitors the individual risks 
identified and determines the aforementioned top 10 risk overviews or 
risk exposure overviews. The head of risk management resides within 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Group controlling department, which reports 
directly to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s CFO. This ensures that risk man
agement is an integral component of KUKA Group’s overall planning, 
control and reporting process.

The Group’s risk management system enables the Executive Board to 
identify material risks at an early stage, initiates appropriate steps to 
counter these risks and monitor implementation of the steps. The inter
nal audit department regularly monitors compliance with the risk man
agement guideline of KUKA Group and therefore whether existing pro
cedures and tools are effective. It also audits those responsible for the 
risks if this is relevant. The internal audit department also regularly 
audits the risk management process to ensure efficiency and continu
ous improvement. Furthermore, external auditors check that the early 
risk identification system is suitable for early identification of risks that 
could threaten the existence of the company as a going concern. 

In addition to the risk management system, KUKA Group has an inter
nal control system (see management report, “Internal control and risk 
management system” section, page 62 et seq.) above and beyond the 
risk management system, which it uses to continuously monitor the 
appropriateness of the corporation’s business and accounting processes 
and identify potential improvements.

Strategic risks and opportunities

KUKA’s business divisions aim to be among the technology and market 
leaders in their target markets. The key to achieving this is to consist
ently enhance their core technologies on the basis of coordinated inno
vation programs. One important task is to identify opportunities and 
risks associated with technical innovations early and to evaluate the 
innovations’ manufacturability. The company mitigates the impact of 
faulty market assessments by conducting regular market and compet
itor analyses, some of which are decentralized. The risk of developing 
nonmarketable products and systems is reduced through application 
oriented development, partnerships with system integrators and alli
ances and cooperative research projects with, for example, the German 
Aerospace Center (DLR) in Wessling near Munich, the RWTH technical 
college in Aachen and several institutes of the Fraunhofer Society. Stra
tegic risks and opportunities are not quantified.

Operational risks and opportunities

KUKA Group
KUKA Group’s opportunities and riskrelated controlling process ensures 
that the company’s managers take both opportunities and risks into 
consideration. The Group’s risk exposure, based upon evaluating oper
ating risks according to the procedure outlined in the “Basic principles” 
section, is described below. The report includes the total aggregated 
maximum risk (worst case) and expected risk value, which are calcu
lated on the basis of the various weighted scenarios and their respec
tive likelihood of occurrence.

Opportunities are evaluated by the individual divisions and are not fur
ther aggregated. For this reason, the opportunities are dealt with in 
greater detail in the following sections on the divisions (Robotics, Sys
tems, Swisslog).

Group risk exposure

Worst case Expected risk value

in €  millions 2014 2015 2014 2015

Legal risks 15.2 6.5 2.9 0.4

Economic risks 16.8 51.2 1.7 2.8

Total for the Group 32.0 57.7 4.6 3.2

Legal and economic risks occur primarily as a result of the activities of 
the Robotics, Systems and Swisslog divisions. The changes on the pre
vious year can be explained in part by the acquisition of Swisslog Group 
and also by the expansion of the business activities of the existing divi
sions (Robotics, Systems). 

More detailed explanations of legal and economic risks can be found 
in this section with regard to crossdivision risks that are managed at 
Group level or in the following sections with regard to the individual 
divisions (Robotics, Systems, Swisslog). We also evaluate the potential 
worstcase damage that could be caused by the individual risks and the 
likelihood that they will occur, categorized as follows:

Maximum loss Likelihood of 
occurrence

Low to € 5 million to 10%

Medium € 5 to 10million 10 to 25%

High € 10 to 20million 25 to 40%

Very high over € 20 million over 40%

Please refer to the notes, starting on page 76, for details regarding the 
precautionary balance sheet measures for the identified risks.

Crossdivision opportunities and risks such as financing, personnel and 
IT are analyzed and managed at Group level, not by the individual divi
sions, which is why said risks are only addressed from the Group per
spective in the opportunity and risk report.
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Risk management organization

Risk management  
at the subsidiaries

Identification
Evaluation

Management
Monitoring of individual risks

Supervisory Board

Executive Board

Risk management committee

Central risk management 

Risk management  
in the divisions

Specifies standardized
procedures

Ensures efficiency and
effectiveness

Coordination
Plausibility
Monitoring

Reporting

Internal and external auditors check the risk management system and the risk early detection system

Legal and economic risks KUKA AG /Holding
Since KUKA conducts business around the world, it is obliged to com
ply with many international and countryspecific laws and regulations 
issued by, for example, tax authorities. The company employs special
ists familiar with the respective countries’ laws on a casebycase basis. 
Opportunities and risks arise as a result of changes to legal frameworks. 
For example, tax audits discovering noncompliance issues could neg
atively impact the Group in the form of payment of interest charges, 
penalties and back taxes. At the present time, there are no foresee
able tax or legal issues that could have a significant negative impact on 
KUKA Group. Appropriate provisions have been recognized for tax risks 
based on experience. 

Standard general contracts are used whenever possible to cap legal risks. 
The Group’s legal department supports the operating companies to help 
limit risks associated with inhouse contracts, warranty obligations and 
guarantees as well as countryspecific risks such as the lack of patent 
and brand protection in Asia. KUKA has developed an independent strat
egy to safeguard its intellectual property, which is primarily secured by 
patents and trademark rights.

In addition, Groupwide Directors’ and Officers’ (D&O) liability insur
ance policies are in place that cover the managing bodies (Executive 
Board and managing directors) and supervisory bodies (Supervisory 
Board, administrative and advisory boards) of the German and foreign 
subsidiaries. Existing insurance policies are reviewed annually in order 
to weigh the relationship between the insurance protection and deduct
ible amount versus the risk premium.

Risk exposure KUKA AG /Holding

in €  millions Worst case Expected risk 
value

Legal risks 0.7 0.4

Economic risks 0.0 0.0

Total for KUKA AG /Holding 0.7 0.4

The assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is 
low (to € 5.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is low to high (to 
40.0%).
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Operational risks and opportunities in the divisions

KUKA is exposed to the cyclic investment behavior of its customers in the 
various market subsectors. A major portion of the Systems, Robotics  and 
Swisslog divisions’ business volume is in the automotive sector where 
oligopolitical structures and constant price pressure are ongoing con
cerns. Fluctuations in the industry’s capital spending plans are also con
sidered in the respective strategic and operative plans by analyzing pub
lic announcements and disclosures. The company continuously strives 
to be as flexible as possible with its own capacities and cost structure 
to address the cyclic nature of the business.

KUKA benefited from significant investment activities in both the auto
motive industry and the aircraft industry and general machinery and 
systems engineering sector throughout 2015. Additional opportunities 
arose because KUKA Group’s key automotive customers enjoy an excel
lent competitive position in their markets. In comparison to its own 
competitors, KUKA Group sees business growth opportunities due to 
its customer portfolio, particularly with respect to the growth of its 
customers’ market shares. Further opportunities arise due to the gen
eral trend toward greater automation in nonindustrial sectors, such as 
the longterm prospects associated with assisting an aging society. The 
acquisition of Swisslog Group in December 2014 reduced dependency 
on the cyclical automotive industry, as Swisslog implements automation 
solutions for hospitals, warehouses and distribution centers.

KUKA works with suppliers that focus on quality, innovative strength, 
continuous improvement and reliability so that it can supply its own 
customers with products of the highest possible quality. Generally, KUKA 
sources product components from several suppliers in order to minimize 
the risk of sharp price rises for key raw materials, but in a few cases, 
due to a lack of alternative sources, is dependent on single suppliers 
that dominate their markets.

KUKA Robotics
Demands for continuous product innovation from international cus
tomers and unrelenting cost awareness are the key challenges for this 
division’s product portfolio; especially when it comes to the automotive 
industry and its subsuppliers. The result is permanent price pressure and 
potentially longer life cycles for the robotic applications combined with 
demands for everimproving quality and longer warranties. 

KUKA Robotics responds to such trends by continually developing new 
products and applications that offer customers in existing markets 
quantifiable financial benefits driven by quick paybacks. Launching 
new products goes hand in hand with product performance risks and 
quality guarantees, which could generate additional costs if rework is 
required. KUKA employs a comprehensive quality management system 
that includes extensive validation and test processes to manage such 
risks or avoid them altogether.

KUKA sees an opportunity to continuously expand its customer base 
in general industry. One of the corporation’s key strategic thrusts is 
to penetrate new, nonautomotive markets. The aim is to penetrate 
the healthcare sector and other consumerrelated markets in which 
humanmachine collaboration will in future be essential. Systems used 
for humanmachine collaboration can operate without protective barri
ers or similar safety measures. One of the division’s sections, Advanced 
Robotics, focuses on developing and implementing the technology for 
such innovative products and applications. The company’s profitability 
will become less and less dependent on exchangerate fluctuations as 
it increasingly spreads its value added across different local currencies.

Robotics risk exposure

in €  millions Worst case Expected risk 
value

Legal risks 0.0 0.0

Economic risks 20.0 0.0

Total for Robotics 20.0 0.0

The assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is 
low (to € 5.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is low to very 
high (over 40.0%).

KUKA Systems
This division’s sales and profits are subject to general business risks due 
to the length in time it takes to process project orders, the revisions to 
the specifications that are often necessary while already processing the 
orders, the infrequency of the orders received and the price and compet
itive pressures. Other risks associated with these projects include inac
curate prediction of the actual costs as well as penalties for late deliver
ies. The division therefore uses appropriate risk checklists for individual 
orders in order to assess the associated legal, economic and technolog
ical risks prior to preparing a quotation or accepting a contract. One of 
the components of project execution is to monitor and track solvency 
risks and mitigate them using a strict project and receivables manage
ment process. Other risks are continuously monitored and if necessary 
accounted for by way of accruals or writedowns. Opportunities asso
ciated with the project business arise mainly when parts can be pur
chased at a lower cost than originally estimated and by invoicing the 
customer for any change orders received over the course of the project.

Major automakers throughout the world are currently feverishly expand
ing their global manufacturing capacities. KUKA increasingly works 
together with internal partners, whereby several of the division’s regional 
subsidiaries collaborate on a project, especially in South America and 
Asia. In these situations, risks involve information exchange, the val
ueadded process and the ITbased master project management sys
tem. There are also organizational risks associated with extraordinarily 
rapid and strong growth in business volume, particularly in emerging 
markets. KUKA mitigates these risks by harmonizing its global IT sys
tems and deploying experienced internal and contract employees when 
establishing and expanding the local organizations. 
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The increasing variety of models offered by the automotive industry has 
a positive impact on the potential market volume, since this generates 
increasing demand for flexible manufacturing systems, which in turn 
spurs demand for new or revamped assembly lines. This creates new 
business opportunities for system providers and subsuppliers. Scarce 
resources are driving demand for smaller and more fuelefficient vehi
cles that will use alternative energy sources. This means automakers, 
especially American manufacturers, will soon have to invest in new pro
duction lines or upgrade their existing assembly lines.

Payonproduction contracts such as KTPO’s (KUKA Toledo Production 
Operations) offer additional opportunities, but also risks. The Jeep Wran
gler brand continues to promise aboveaverage growth prospects com
pared to other American car models. KUKA participated in this growth 
again in 2015. Here risks involve greater dependence on the volumes 
produced for the American car market.

Thorough market analyses have shown that KUKA Systems also has long
term business opportunities outside the automotive industry; namely, 
in general industry. Current examples are to be found in the aerospace 
industry, from which new orders were again received in 2015. Although 
this represents an opportunity to penetrate new markets, it also entails 
risk, above all in relation to technical requirements, since customers in 
these sectors often have no experience with automated systems. The 
aforementioned checklists to review the technical risks associated with 
applying new automation techniques are therefore an especially impor
tant tool for mitigating risks.

Systems risk exposure

in €  millions Worst case Expected risk 
value

Legal risks 4.6 0.0

Economic risks 19.2 0.3

Total for Systems 23.8 -0.3

The assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is 
low to medium (to € 10.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is 
low to medium (to 25%).

  Swisslog
The division is subject to longterm investment cycles spread over  various 
industries, such as hospitals, pharmaceuticals, food and ecommerce. 
The competition and the associated pressure on prices vary from one 
region to another. High investments in its own products to expand its 
range of solutions serve to strengthen the company’s competitive posi
tion considerably. In addition to synergy effects, integration into KUKA 
enables expansion of the range of solutions by making it possible  to offer 
customers integrated automation and robotics solutions.

In some cases, projects for the automation of warehouse and distri
bution centers are subject to long lead times which can give rise to 
financial risks resulting from miscalculations, failure to meet accept
ance specifications or late deliveries. To counter this, regular project 
risk assessments are carried out at different stages of the projects by 
those responsible for project implementation in the relevant countries. 
Potential risks are regularly checked, new ones are added or existing 

ones eliminated, and measures for risk reduction are introduced and 
their progress documented. Projects requiring particular management 
attention are classified as “top attention projects” and their status is 
communicated monthly to the higher management levels.

Market data indicate that the increasing pressure on costs and the strict 
safety requirements for hospital logistics offer high growth potential for 
automation. Furthermore, consolidated service centers, in which hospi
tals standardize their logistics processes and achieve cost advantages, 
generate greater demand for automation solutions.

Swisslog risk exposure

in €  millions Worst case Expected risk 
value

Legal risks 1.2 0.0

Economic risks 12.0 3.1

Total for Swisslog 13.2 3.1

The assessed potential damage associated with all individual risks is 
low (to € 5.0 million) and the likelihood of occurrence is low to high (to 
40.0 %). 

Financial risks

One of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s primary tasks is to coordinate and 
control the Group’s financing requirements and to ensure that KUKA 
remains financially independent. With this goal in mind, the holding 
company optimizes the Group’s financing and limits its financial risk via 
the Group’s standard treasury reporting system. In addition, liquidity risk 
is reduced for the Group as a whole by closely monitoring the Group’s 
companies and their management of payment flows.

Over the course of the past few years, several measures have been 
implemented to strengthen KUKA Group’s solvency. One of these was to 
restructure the company’s debt with respect to time to maturity and the 
type of financing instruments used. In 2015, these include the conclu
sion of an extended syndicated loan, initial conversions of the convert
ible bond and the new issue of a promissory note loan in two tranches. 
Please refer to the “Explanantion of items in the financial statements”, 
“Financing”, page 107, for further details.

The syndicated senior facilities agreement, which runs until 2020, con
tains the usual covenants. A fundamental risk associated with this type 
of covenantbased financing exists when business performance is sig
nificantly below plan and the resulting earnings and financial situation 
precludes adherence to the defined limits. KUKA monitors adherence 
to these covenants monthly. The company complied with all covenants 
during the course of fiscal 2015. As of December 31, 2015, all ratios reg
ulated by covenants were well within the contractually defined limits. 
Please refer to the “Explanantion of items in the financial statements”, 
“Financing”, page 108, for comprehensive details about the syndicated 
loan and the extent to which the agreed credit lines have been utilized.
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One risk that will also impact business performance after 2015 is the 
increasing fluctuation in currency exchange rates, especially in the case 
of the Japanese yen, the US dollar, the Chinese yuan, the Hungarian 
forint and the Swiss franc; for example, the evident devaluation of the 
yen in relation to the euro gives Japanese competitors an advantage. 
Transactionrelated currency exchange risks are hedged using forward 
foreign exchange contracts. Details on the central currency management 
process are provided under “Financial risk management and financial 
derivatives” starting on page 109 in the Group notes. Currency transla
tion risks, i. e. measurement risks associated with balance sheet items 
whose value has been converted from a foreign currency, are not hedged, 
but are continuously monitored. The risk associated with the volatility 
of leading currencies and the resulting economic exchange risk (com
petitive risk) is mitigated by having production facilities in several coun
tries (natural hedging). Internal guidelines govern the use of derivatives, 
which are subject to continuous internal risk monitoring.

Personnel risks and opportunities

The success of KUKA Group, a hightech enterprise, depends to a great 
degree on having qualified technical and management staff. Personnel 
risks arise mainly from employee turnover in key positions within the 
Group. Improvements in both business and economic prospects enable 
the company to strengthen the loyalty of its core personnel, train new, 
highly skilled employees and entice new recruits to join the Group. This 
applies to the traditional markets in Europe and the United States, but 
especially to recruiting employees in growth markets, where the need 
for skilled employees is growing steadily. Last but not least, inhouse 
continuing education programs such as those offered by KUKA Acad
emy or employee suggestion programs generate opportunities result
ing from the improved motivation and qualification of the workforce.

IT risks and opportunities

IT risks have risen over the past number of years, not least because of 
the importance of IT to business processes. These risks relate to both the 
frequency of viruses or hacking and the damage they could potentially 
cause. The existing IT security and business continuity management sys
tems as well as guidelines and organizational structures are continuously 
optimized and reviewed in an effort to predict and minimize possible 
ITrelated risks such as failure of computer centers or other IT systems. 
One way this is addressed is by continuously upgrading hardware and 
software. Furthermore, KUKA has launched several transformation pro
jects which are currently running with the objective of harmonizing pro
cesses and the supporting IT application system architecture throughout 
the Group. This will generate longterm cost reduction potential and lead 
to continuous quality improvements. By systematically monitoring the 
processes concerned, the company reduces the risks associated with 
an increasing number of external threats as well as dependence on the 
everexpanding digitization of business processes.

Compliance risks

Compliance violations may lead to fines, sanctions, judicial orders 
regarding future conduct, forfeiture of profits, exclusion from certain 
transactions, loss of trade licenses or other restrictions. Furthermore, 
involvement in potential corruption proceedings could harm the overall 
reputation of KUKA Group and could have a negative impact on efforts 
to compete for business in both the public and private sectors. Such 
proceedings could also have a negative impact on the relationship KUKA 
Group has with business partners upon which it depends as well as its 
ability to find new business partners. They could furthermore negatively 
impact the company’s ability to pursue strategic projects and transac
tions of potential importance for the business, such as joint ventures or 
other forms of cooperation. Ongoing or future proceedings could lead 
to the suspension of some existing contracts, and third parties, includ
ing competitors, could initiate legal proceedings against KUKA Group 
for substantial sums of money.

KUKA therefore rolled out a Corporate Compliance Program in early 
2008 to make such risks transparent and controllable. The Compliance 
Committee established through this program meets at regular intervals 
and ad hoc and reports to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s CEO, who in turn 
reports directly to the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. The CEO 
is ultimately responsible for the Corporate Compliance Program, which 
is regularly updated and subject to strict internal controls. The program 
did not uncover any substantial risks in 2015 due to the active counter
measures taken to mitigate risk at an early stage and to eliminate risk 
sources, e. g. by realigning business processes.

Other risks

KUKA Group continuously monitors other risks and mitigates these to 
the greatest extent possible. There is no evidence of environmental risks 
from operational activities, since the company does not use hazard
ous materials. The Group makes use of buildings and properties for its 
business operations, some of which it owns. As a result, the company 
is exposed to risks associated with any residual pollution, soil contam
ination or other damaging substances that may be discovered on its 
properties. There is currently no evidence of any situations that would 
have a negative impact on the measurement of balance sheet items. 
However, it cannot be ruled out that any such situations, which could, 
for example, require costly cleanup operations to be undertaken, will 
occur in the future.

Please refer to page 68 for information about material agreements sub
ject to conditions related to a change of control. The shareholder struc
ture is periodically analyzed to assess the possibility of a takeover of 
the company.
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Summary

Overall, KUKA Group’s named risks relate to the business performance of 
the divisions and financial risks associated with currency exchange rate 
fluctuations and corporate financing. The Executive Board is not aware 
of any individual or aggregated risks that could threaten the company’s 
existence. Strategically and financially, the company is positioned to be 
able to take advantage of business opportunities.

Forecast
 
General economic environment

In recent years, development among the major global economies has 
been only moderate, and in some cases has even declined. According to 
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) the world economy grew 3.1% in 
2015. Compared with growth in 2014 this represents a slightly weaker 
trend (2014: 3.4%). The IMF sees the reasons for this decline mainly in 
the development of China, which is now concentrating more on con
sumption and services rather than growth driven through investment 
and production. In addition, the lower oil prices and initiation of a more 
rigid monetary policy in the USA have slowed down global growth. As 
in previous years, it is mainly the emerging and developing economies 
which have been the drivers of growth. The IMF expects the world econ
omy to expand again more rapidly in 2016 and has forecast economic 
growth of 3.4%. Compared with earlier forecasts, this figure has been 
cut slightly by 0.2 percentage points.

The overall economy of Europe could probably benefit from the improved 
development of various countries once they have implemented meas
ures to combat the financial crisis successfully. Also, the relatively low oil 
price in Europe and the expansive monetary policy of the European Cen
tral Bank should have a positive impact. Accordingly, experts anticipate 
stronger growth in 2016 than in 2015. For Germany, the most important 
single market for KUKA Group, the IMF is predicting a slightly higher 
growth rate of 1.7% for the current year. VDMA, the German Engineer
ing Association, has also published a forecast for 2016 and expects zero 
growth of new orders in the engineering sector overall. The robotics 
and automation segment is forecast by VDMA to develop much better 
with a rise of 5%. For the USA, the IMF has slightly reduced its growth 
forecast for 2015. It is in particular the low oil price and altered mon
etary policy with the expected strengthening of the US dollar that are 
likely to affect general growth. In actual figures, the IMF is forecasting 
US growth of 2.6% for 2016. The North American market is the second 
largest sales market worldwide for KUKA Group. Among the larger eco
nomic markets, the IMF still regards China as likely to exhibit the highest 
rate of growth during 2016. However, in comparison to the year before, 
the pace of growth is anticipated to diminish further. The reasons lie 
in lower investment and the transition from an exportdriven economy 
to demand supported to a greater extent by the domestic market. The 
IMF forecasts growth of 6.3% for China in 2016. China is KUKA’s third 
largest single market worldwide.
 

IMF expectations for the most significant global markets from KUKA’s 
viewpoint:

Economic growth 

in % 2014 2015 2016

Germany 1.6 1.5 1.7

Eurozone 0.9 1.5 1.7

USA 2.4 2.5 2.6

China 7.3 6.9 6.3

Developing /emerging economies 4.6 4.0 4.3

World 3.4 3.1 3.4

Source: IMF (January 2016)

Global drivers of growth in robot-based automation

Investment in automation continues at a high level. In its most recent 
study, the International Federation of Robotics (IFR) forecast corre
sponding expansion of the global robot market. Efficiency increases, 
improved product quality, higher unit quantities, greater product diver
sity and flexibility in particular are decisive factors for manufacturing 
companies continuing to raise the level of automation.

Growth opportunities for KUKA
 
1) General Industry
Compared with the automotive industry, the robot density (number of 
robots per 10,000 employees) in general industry is still relatively low 
(see graphic on page 61). On average, the automotive industry’s robot 
density is roughly eight times that found in general industry. Above all, it 
is high cost pressure, rapidly changing markets and customers’ require
ments as well as growing demands for quality which necessitate produc
tion that is flexible and efficient for companies to remain competitive.
This is why the sales potential of the automation sector is very high. For 
the electrical (3C), consumer goods, logistics, metal, machine tool and 
aircraft construction industries in particular we are expecting a signifi
cant increase in investment in automation solutions and robots in the 
coming years. KUKA is pursuing the strategy of expanding its market 
share in general industry overall and pushing expansion specifically in 
the sectors referred to above. With this in mind, the following customer 
segments are being specifically targeted for investment: 
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1) new products that satisfy specific customer needs, 
2)  building up manpower with specific expertise in the focal markets 

in general industry, 
3)  developing a sales structure supporting expansion in general indus

try, and 
4)  partnerships and cooperation agreements to strengthen our market 

position. The KR AGILUS family of robots is steadily being expanded 
in terms of reach, weight classes and capabilities so that these prod
ucts can now also be offered to new customers from general industry 
and to existing customers for use in an extended range of applica
tions. In the future, KUKA is for example planning to introduce new 
automation solutions and robot technologies in the logistics sector 
in order to help customers orient their logistics departments even 
better to the challenges posed by ecommerce.

2) Automotive 
The international automotive industry has a decisive impact on robot 
sales development, as it accounts for around 35 to 40% of the articu
lated robots sold annually for industrial use. In the mature manufac
turing regions such as Europe, the United States and Japan, growth 
potential is driven mainly by the need to modernize or upgrade exist
ing production systems. Increasingly, however, production operations 
and processing stages are changing where at present there are rela
tively low numbers of robots being employed. Car manufacturing and 
sales volumes will continue to rise worldwide. According to estimates 
released in January 2016 by IHS Automotive, the number of cars man
ufactured across the globe will rise to 89.8 million vehicles in 2016 and 
to over 100 million vehicles per year by the end of the decade. KUKA is 
not directly dependent on the number of vehicles built, yet the range 
of models of the manufacturers is increasing with car sales. The man
ufacturers must accordingly invest in new production systems and in 
the flexibility of existing facilities in order to allow this growth to be 
generated in the most efficient way possible. KUKA is therefore expect
ing, as predicted by the IFR, that the investments of the carmakers in 
automation will rise further, but accompanied by lower growth rates 
than in general industry. In addition to the continuing increase in model 
diversity, the drivers of this trend are the decrease in product life cycles 
of existing vehicle types and an increase in model platforms without 
the risk of forfeiting efficiency. Moreover, local car manufacturers from 
emerging and developing economies are increasingly investing in auto
mation in order to raise the quality of their vehicles and so further their 
exports to the industrialized countries.

3) Industrie 4.0
Industrie 4.0 is the next stage of industrialization, in which automated 
production technologies, mechanical engineering and intelligent IT sys
tems are networked. This networking will lead to a smart factory, char
acterized by versatility, resource efficiency, ergonomic design and the 
integration of customers and business partners in business and value 
creation processes. As an automation company, KUKA is playing a cen
tral role in the practical implementation of Industrie 4.0. It is all about 
the interoperability of systems, one of KUKA’s strengths: hardware and 
software all from one source. This is an important competitive advan
tage for our customers since production sequences can be better coor
dinated by networking. 

KUKA recognizes Industrie 4.0 as a trend development that will see 
smart automation concepts for the future come into being – the smart 
factory. The robot is to serve as the link between IT and production and 
between humans and technology. Humans are at the heart of the factory 
of the future. The robot will assist them and take over the monotonous 
work, while the humans will perform the highervalue tasks. 

KUKA geared its activities early on to Industrie 4.0 and invested accord
ingly. One particular focus of this is the investment in KUKA Sunrise, its 
new software platform, which provides the basis for new applications. 
Moreover, a new IT site was established in Austin, Texas /USA, which is 
to focus on the further development of our software applications, data 
analysis and Industrie 4.0. We are continuing to analyze the possibilities 
for external growth through acquisition of or participation in companies 
that are capable of strengthening our market position in Industrie 4.0. 
 
4) Developing and emerging economies
Robot density, and thus the degree of automation, is much higher in 
industrial countries than in the developing and emerging economies. 
The growth potentials in the developing and emerging markets affect 
the automotive sector as well as the various segments of general indus
try. The international automotive industry is investing predominantly 
in these countries in order to profit from lower wage costs, but also in 
order to be able to react flexibly to local customer requirements. Robot
based automation is an important element in this context because for 
decades it has been the standard for some production stages – bodyin
white manufacture, for example. Local car manufacturers in the devel
oping and emerging markets are also investing in automation in order 
to match up to the rising quality requirements and to enable them to 
export more of their vehicles in the mediumterm future. At the same 
time, wages and salaries are rising in some instances at a doubledigit 
rate each year in the developing and emerging countries, which poses 
great challenges to companies that manufacture locally. Automation 
solutions can assist in cushioning against this rise in costs. The growth 
of automation in general industry benefits from the same factors as the 
automotive industry: increasing cost pressure with simultaneously ris
ing product quality requirements.

In recent years the Chinese robot market grew disproportionately and 
is now already the world’s largest sales market. According to the cur
rent study by the IFR, the number of robots sold per year has risen 
from just under 8,000 in 2008 to approximately 75,000 in 2015. The 
robots installed in China are made almost exclusively by nonChinese 
manufacturers. But according to the IFR, Chinese robot suppliers will 
become increasingly important and will increase their sales output in 
the coming years. The new market players are also supported by gov
ernment programs.
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KUKA sees the Chinese robot and automation market as a core element 
of its future growth strategy and has therefore expanded its market pres
ence in China. At the end of 2013, a robot assembly plant was opened 
in the Greater Shanghai area, with production there already meeting 
a large proportion of local demand in 2015. In addition, KUKA Group’s 
workforce in China rose from 696 employees (December 31, 2014) to 
over 1,000 (December 31, 2015). This has afforded KUKA greater local 
presence, increasing its proximity to the customer and allowing it to act 
with greater flexibility. The customers profit from much shorter delivery 
times and faster response times. KUKA will also focus on investments 
in China in the coming years through the expansion and equipment of 
its local sites with the appropriate resources.

 
Company-specific factors

Summary
Given the current economic forecasts and general conditions, KUKA 
expects good demand in the 2016 financial year, particularly from the 
North America and Asia regions, and here especially from China. Demand 
in Europe is expected to remain relatively stable overall. From a sector 
perspective, general industry growth is expected to be positive. This is 
due in part to the low penetration rate of robotbased automation in 
some areas and in part to new robot types and technologies enabling 
the efficiency of production stages previously characterized by a low 
degree of automation to be improved.

Robot density in automotive and general industry 
Robots per 10,000 employees

Japan

 Germany

USA

UK

China

India

Automotive  Source: IFR World Robotics 2014
General Industry  (published September 2015)

1,414

1,149

1,141

734

58

211

161

89

31

1

17305

Automotive customers have already significantly increased investments 
over the past few years. Demand in 2016 should therefore develop rela
tively stably altogether, with positive development in China and the USA. 
There is a detailed report on the currency influences in the notes, start
ing on page 76. In the case of Systems, a higher US dollar /euro exchange 
rate has a positive impact on the financial results because the North 
American sales market is very important for this business segment. For 
Robotics, the development of the yen /euro exchange rate is particu
larly important. A weaker yen /euro exchange rate has overall a negative 
effect on Robotics because the main competitors predominantly man
ufacture in Japan. For Swisslog, the appreciation of the Swiss franc will 
have a slightly adverse effect on operations, because the cost share of 
this division in Switzerland is slightly higher than the revenue share.

Anticipated business development at KUKA

Summary 2015 result 2016 outlook

Sales revenues € 2,965.9 million > € 3.0 billion

EBITDA margin 8.7 % declining

EBIT margin 6.6 % * /6.1% *** > 5.5 % *

Net income for the year € 86.3 million rising

Investments ** € 107.0 million rising

Free cash flow € 95.7 million middoubledigit  
million range

Dividend per share € 0.50 constant to rising

* Before purchase price allocation for Swisslog
** Excluding financial investments
***  Before purchase price allocation for Swisslog and excluding book profits from the sale 

of HLS and the Tools and Dies business unit

Definitions:
rising slightly /declining slightly: absolute change compared to prior year <10%
declining /rising: absolute change compared to prior year >10%

Sales and EBIT margin
On the basis of the current general conditions and exchange rates, 
KUKA is expecting sales revenues of more than € 3.0 billion in 2016. 
Both customer segments – general industry and automotive – and from 
a regional viewpoint, China and North America, should make a positive 
contribution to sales development. Given the current economic envi
ronment and anticipated sales development, KUKA Group expects to 
achieve an EBIT margin of more than 5.5% before PPA (purchase price 
allocation) for Swisslog. Compared with the EBIT margin before PPA 
for Swisslog in 2015 (6.6%), at present no book profits are scheduled 
from divestments, which in 2015 contributed about 50 basis points to 
the development of the margin. In 2016, the EBIT margin is likely to be 
affected by growth investment in the Groupwide development of solu
tions for Industrie 4.0, in general industry and in China. We are addi
tionally expecting higher costs related to the development and launch 
of new products. The introduction of project lifecycle management soft
ware at Systems and ERP software to be used throughout the Group will 
result in similar costs in 2016 to those during 2015, but in subsequent 
years these will help make a considerable improvement in efficiency. 
The expenditure for PPA at Swisslog should amount to about € 10 mil
lion in 2016 and thus be significantly lower than in the previous year.
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Net income
In the 2015 fiscal year, KUKA Group generated net income for the year of 
€ 86.3 million. In 2016, the rise in sales and lower PPA expenditure should 
have a positive effect on net income. KUKA is therefore expecting an 
increase in net income for 2016. Adjusted for the PPA effect, KUKA also 
anticipates a rise in net income compared with the previous year. KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft’s result depends primarily on the profit transfers of 
the German subsidiaries and on dividends from subsidiaries. Altogether 
we are expecting KUKA Aktiengesellschaft to achieve a result at approx
imately the same level as the previous year.

Research and development /investments
The total expenditure on research and development can be attributed 
mainly to the Robotics division, since Systems conducts its R&D activi
ties primarily in conjunction with customer projects. The high demand 
for KUKA robots and solutions is principally based on their competitive 
advantages in terms of innovation and quality. To safeguard and expand 
these competitive advantages sustainably, the spending on research and 
development will rise in 2016. Overall, KUKA plans to strengthen the 
R&D segment regionally. Correspondingly, new sites are being opened 
and existing sites expanded (e. g. Austin /USA and Budapest /Hungary). 
Spending by the Robotics division will mainly focus on Industrie 4.0, 
expanding the product portfolio, developing applications, new soft
ware solutions and measures to boost the efficiency of existing prod
ucts. Overall, KUKA Group is budgeting for around € 120 million (2015: 
€ 105.4 million) to be spent on research and development in 2016. Around 
20 – 25% is to be capitalized and written down to schedule over three to 
five years. The capitalization ratio depends on the content of the R&D 
projects and may vary accordingly. While research projects are not per
mitted to be capitalized, projects with the main focus on development – 
if certain conditions arise – are to be capitalized in accordance with the 
applicable accounting rules. At the same time, Systems is planning to 
invest increasing amounts in solutions and technologies in order for the 
division to make a key contribution to defining the standards of future 
production technologies. In 2016, Swisslog will focus on developing its 
own products and press on with its collaboration with the rest of KUKA 
Group. KUKA Group is planning to increase overall investment in 2016. 
This will largely concern investments for the preservation of existing 
assets, the building of new facilities for promoting growth in general 
industry and the expansion of capacity.

Free cash flow
KUKA Group’s free cash flow is primarily generated from operating prof
its and the development of working capital in the Robotics, Systems 
and Swisslog divisions. Based on the current general conditions and the 
budgeted sales growth, KUKA Group expects a free cash flow exclud
ing financial investments in the middoubledigit million range in 2016.

Dividend
The Executive and Supervisory Boards will recommend to sharehold
ers at the Annual General Meeting on May 27, 2016 that a dividend of 
€ 0.50 per share be paid for 2015. KUKA’s dividend policy is to pay out 
between 25 and 30% of net income to shareholders provided business 
performance is good and general conditions are stable. For fiscal 2016, 
KUKA plans to maintain its dividend and possibly increase it slightly, 
allowing for the general conditions at the time.

Internal control and risk management 
system
 
Principles
 
Pursuant to section 289 para. 5 and section 315 para. 2 no. 5 of the Ger
man Commercial Code (HGB), KUKA Aktiengesellschaft as a publicly 
traded parent company, must describe within the management report 
the key characteristics of its internal control and risk management sys
tem with regard to the accounting process. The description must include 
the accounting processes of the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The risk management system comprises all organizational rules and 
measures related to identifying risk and dealing with entrepreneurial 
risk (see “Opportunities and risk report” on page 53 et seq.). The inter
nal control system is an integral part of the risk management system.

The internal control system (ICS) comprises all principles, processes 
and measures introduced to the company by management that result 
in systematic and transparent risk management. The internal control 
system focuses on organizational implementation of management deci
sions made to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of business oper
ations (including the safeguarding of assets, which includes preventing 
and detection asset misappropriation), adherence to generally accepted 
accounting principles and the reliability of internal and external account
ing and compliance with the legal provisions relevant to the company. 
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The objective of the ICS is to obtain sufficient assurance using the imple
mented controls and to be able to monitor and manage risks to ensure 
that the company’s goals can be achieved. Various monitoring meas
ures – both integrated into and independent of the processes – contrib
ute to the preparation of annual and consolidated financial statements 
that are in compliance with the legal provisions. 

Regardless of its specific form, an ICS is unable to provide absolute 
certainty as to whether it will achieve its objectives. Taking this into 
account, the accountingrelated ICS can only provide relative certainty 
rather than absolute certainty that material misstatements in accounting 
will be avoided or detected.

Structures and processes
With regard to the financial statement process, the structures and pro
cesses described below have been implemented in KUKA Group. The 
Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft bears full responsibility for 
the scope and design of the ICS.

The system extends via clearly defined management and reporting struc
tures to all subsidiaries that are included in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

For the Group’s German companies, the Shared Service Center of KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft is responsible at a central level for accounting and 
human resource operations.

IntraGroup tasks such as treasury, legal services and taxes are also 
largely performed centrally by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft on the basis of 
uniform Group processes.

The principles, organizational structures and processes of the (Group) 
accountingrelated internal control and risk management system are 
defined in guidelines and organizational procedures. Adjustments based 
on external and internal developments are integrated on a continuous 
basis and made available to all employees concerned.

Characteristics of the internal control and risk 
management system

With respect to the accounting process, we regard those characteristics 
of the internal control and risk management system as material that 
can significantly impact the accounting and the overall presentation of 
the consolidated and annual financial statements, including the com
bined management report. At KUKA Group, these include, in particular:

 › Identifying the main areas of risk (see the “Opportunities and risk 
report” on page 53  et seq.) and control that affect the (Group) 
accounting process;

 › quality controls to monitor the (Group) accounting process and the 
accounting results at the level of the Group Executive Board, the man
agement companies and individual reporting entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements;

 › preventive control measures in the finance and accounting systems of 
the Group and the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements as well as in operating business performance processes 
that generate key information for the preparation of the consolidated 
and annual financial statements and the combined management 
report, including a separation of functions of predefined approval 
processes in relevant areas;

 › processintegrated monitoring measures such as the principle of dual 
control. Each material business transaction must be signed or other
wise authorized by at least two authorized persons;

 › measures to ensure proper, ITsupported processing of (Group) 
accountingrelated facts and data. These include, for example, cen
tral management of access rights to the bookkeeping systems and 
automated plausibility checks when data are recorded in the reporting 
and consolidation system;

 › definition and monitoring of the implementation of the ICS control 
requirements is conducted by the processindependent central ICS 
Group department. By means of a defined procedure, the internal 
controls are documented by the responsible departments and then 
examined by independent parties – normally the Group ICS depart
ment – for design and operational effectiveness. Any weak points in 
the control system are targeted through action plans, whose imple
mentation is monitored. Significant control weaknesses and the 
implementation of action plans are reported to the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards. 

Internal Audit constitutes an additional control entity that is independ
ent of processes and regularly reviews the organizational structures, pro
cesses and compliance in addition to the defined ICS requirements, thus 
contributing to compliance with the ICS and risk management system.
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In addition, the CFOs of all subsidiaries must provide an internal rep
resentation letter in the context of external reporting every quarter, 
confirming that the data reported are correct. Only then do the mem
bers of the Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issue and sign 
a responsibility statement at midyear and yearend (see page 126), by 
which they confirm that they have adhered to the prescribed accounting 
standards of KUKA Group and that their figures give a true and fair view 
of the Group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The elements of the ICS relevant for financial reporting are evaluated 
by an auditor to determine their effectiveness as part of a riskoriented 
audit approach.

In its meetings, the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board regularly 
reviews the effectiveness of the financial statementrelated internal con
trol system. The Supervisory Board therefore continuously obtains an 
appropriate view of the Group’s risk situation and monitors ICS effec
tiveness. In so doing, the Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
presents the risks associated with financial reporting at least once per 
year, outlines the control measures implemented, and monitors their 
correct execution.

Summary
The structures, processes and characteristics of the internal control 
and risk management system that have been depicted ensure that the 
financial statement processes of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and KUKA 
Group are uniform and are implemented in accordance with the legal 
requirements, generally accepted accounting principles, international 
accounting standards and internal Group guidelines.

They also ensure that transactions are recognized and measured uni
formly and accurately throughout the Group and that accurate and reli
able information is therefore provided to the internal and external recip
ients of the information reported.

Disclosures in accordance with section 
289 para. 4 and section 315 para. 4 of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
 including accompanying explanations

The disclosures in accordance with takeover law required by sections 
289 para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
are presented as of December 31, 2015 and explained in the following. 

Composition of subscribed capital
As of December 31, 2015, the total share capital of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
amounted to € 100,103,273.40 and consisted of 38,501,259 noparvalue 
bearer shares with pro rata share capital of € 2.60 per share. The share 
capital is fully paid up. All these shares have equal rights and each share 
guarantees its holder one vote at the Annual General Meeting. Share
holders are not entitled to have share certificates issued for their shares 
(section 4 para. 1 of the Articles of Association). When new shares are 
issued, the start of profit sharing may be established at variance with 
section 60 para. 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) (section 4 
para. 3 of the Articles of Association).

Restrictions affecting voting rights or  
transfer of shares

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft regularly grants the company’s Executive Board 
members and other selected executives from Group companies the right 
to participate in socalled “phantom share programs”, i. e. virtual share 
programs, as per the terms of their individual contracts. The phantom 
share programs are part of the performancebased compensation sys
tem for executives and are aimed at sustainably increasing the enter
prise value. Each of the programs has a term of three years. The payout 
at the end of the term depends on the development of the share price 
and on the change in enterprise value during the term of the program. 
The phantom share programs stipulate that at the end of the term 
of the respective program, the executives entitled to participate must 
apply 25% of the gross sum paid out from the phantom share program 
toward the purchase of KUKA shares until a predetermined holding vol
ume is reached. For the programs established to date, the holding vol
ume amounts to 50% of the fixed annual remuneration of the executive 
in question. Shares acquired outside the phantom share program also 
count towards the holding target. The holding obligation does not end 
until the participant leaves KUKA Group.

Again in 2015, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft set up an employee share pro
gram (MAP 2015). Under the terms of MAP 2015, employees were enti
tled to buy KUKA shares and, in addition to the shares purchased, to 
receive bonus shares at a predetermined ratio as defined by MAP 2015. 
Employees are subject to a restriction on selling KUKA shares purchased 
or bonus shares allocated until December 31, 2016.

The Executive Board is not aware of any other restrictions that would 
affect voting rights or the transfer of shares. 
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Shareholdings that exceed 10%  
of the voting rights

According to the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), any investor 
who reaches, exceeds or falls below the voting rights threshold pursuant 
to section 21 of the WpHG through purchase, sale or by other means is 
obliged to report this to the company and the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin). 

The most recent notifications were made to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
by the following persons and companies, which reported the following 
shareholdings of more than 10% of the voting rights as follows: 

a) Swoctem GmbH – Notifications dated August 5, 2014

1. Swoctem GmbH,
Haiger /Germany

10.018 % held directly

2. Friedhelm Loh /Germany 10.018 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

b)  J.M. Voith GmbH & Co. Beteiligungen KG –  
Notifications dated March 31, 2015 and April 1, 2015 *

1. J.M. Voith GmbH &Co. Beteiligungen 
KG, Heidenheim an der Brenz / 
Germany

25.10 % held directly

2. J.M. Voith Verwaltungs GmbH,
Heidenheim an der Brenz /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

3. Voith GmbH,
Heidenheim an der Brenz /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

4. JMV GmbH &Co. KG
Heidenheim an der Brenz /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

5. JMV Verwaltungs GmbH,
Heidenheim an der Brenz /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

6. Voith Familien Verwaltung GmbH,
Mannheim /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

7. Familiengesellschaft J.M. Voith GbR,
Mannheim /Germany

25.10 % allocated pursuant to 
section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1 of the WpHG

 *  Pursuant to the notifications of December 3, 2014 and December 12, 2014, the entire 
voting rights of J.M. Voith GmbH & Co. Beteiligungen KG already consisted of vot
ing rights in accordance with sections 21, 22 WpHG (24.91%) and section 25a WpHG 
(0.19%) on these dates. Pursuant to the notifications of March 31, 2015 and April 1, 
2015, the entire voting rights of J.M. Voith GmbH & Co. Beteiligungen KG consisted 
solely of voting rights in accordance with sections 21, 22 WpHG from that time on. 

c) Midea Group – Notification dated February 3, 2016

1. MECCA International (BVI) Limited 10.22 % held directly

2. Midea International Corporation 
Company Limited

10.22 % allocated pursuant to 
 section 22 of the WpHG

3. Midea Group Co., Ltd.
Foshan /China

10.22 % allocated pursuant to 
 section 22 of the WpHG

Other than this, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft has no knowledge of any per
sons or companies whose direct or indirect shareholdings in the com
pany exceed 10% of the voting rights. 

Shares with special rights that confer powers  
of control

There are no shares with special rights conferring powers of control. 

Method of voting rights control when employ-
ees hold an interest in the share capital and do 
not directly exercise their rights of control

No employees hold an interest in the share capital within the meaning 
of section 289 para. 4 no. 5 and section 315 para. 4 no. 5 of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB).

Legal provisions and provisions of the Articles 
of Association regarding the appointment and 
dismissal of Executive Board members and 
amendments to the Articles of Association

Pursuant to section 6 para. 1 of the Articles of Association, the company’s 
Executive Board must consist of at least two persons. The Supervisory 
Board determines the number of Executive Board members (section 6 
para. 2 of the Articles of Association). The appointment and dismissal 
of members of the Executive Board are governed in sections 84 and 85 
of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG), section 31 of the Codetermination 
Act (MitbestG) and section 6 of the Articles of Association. 

Pursuant to sections 119 para. 1 no. 5 and 179 para. 1 of the Stock Cor
poration Act (AktG), any changes to the Articles of Association require 
a resolution by the Annual General Meeting. Section 22 para. 1 of the 
Articles of Association states that a simple majority of the share capital 
represented at the Annual General Meeting is sufficient to pass a reso
lution, provided that a greater majority is not required by law. A greater 
majority is required in particular for resolutions concerning changes to 
the company’s business purpose, reductions in the share capital and 
changes to the form of incorporation. 

Pursuant to section 11 para. 3 of the Articles of Association, the Super
visory Board is authorized to make amendments to the company’s Arti
cles of Association that only affect the wording. 

The resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held on June 10, 
2015 also authorized the Supervisory Board to amend the wording of 
section 4, para. 1 and 5 of the Articles of Association following complete 
(or partial) execution of the capital increase after Authorized Capital 
2015 has been used and, if Authorized Capital 2015 has not been fully 
used by June 9, 2020, following expiration of the authorization.
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With regard to the changes in the Authorized Capital and Conditional 
Capital 2010 and in the Conditional Capital 2013, the Supervisory Board 
was /is authorized by resolutions of the Annual General Meetings held 
on June 5, 2013 and May 28, 2014 to amend the wording of section 4 
para. 1, 6 and 7 of the Articles of Association as per the respective issue 
of subscription shares and all other associated amendments to the Arti
cles of Association that only affect the wording. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board was authorized by resolution of the 
Annual General Meeting of May 28, 2014 to amend the wording of sec
tion 4 para. 1 and 8 of the Articles of Association after (fully or partially) 
increasing the share capital after utilizing Conditional Capital 2014 and, 
in the event this has not been (fully) utilized by May 25, 2016 or June 4, 
2018, after expiry of the respective authorizations or deadlines for exer
cising conversion rights.

Executive Board authorization to issue and buy 
back shares
 
Authorized capital

As per the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on June 10, 2015 
and section 4 para. 5 of the company’s Articles of Association, which 
was added on the basis of this resolution, the Executive Board, subject 
to approval by the Supervisory Board, is authorized to increase the com
pany’s share capital on or before June 9, 2020 by up to € 46,420,808.20 
through the issue of new shares in exchange for contributions in cash 
or in kind on one or more occasions (Authorized Capital 2015). The 
shareholders shall be granted subscription rights. The new shares may 
also be underwritten by one or more financial institutions or by enter
prises operating according to section 53 para. 1 sentence 1 or section 
53b para. 1 sentence 1 or para. 7 of the German Banking Act, as specified 
by the Executive Board, subject to the obligation that they are offered 
to the shareholders for subscription (indirect subscription right). How
ever, the Executive Board shall be authorized, subject to approval by 
the Supervisory Board, to exclude fractional amounts from shareholder 
subscription rights and to exclude shareholder subscription rights if a 
capital increase in exchange for contributions in kind takes place for the 
purpose of acquiring companies or parts of companies or interests in 
companies or other assets (including thirdparty claims against the com
pany). Subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board 
shall be further authorized to exclude shareholder subscription rights in 
the event of Authorized Capital 2015 being used once or several times in 
exchange for cash contributions in an amount not exceeding 10% of the 
existing share capital at the time this authorization comes into effect 
and – if this value is lower – at the time this authorization is exercised, 
in order to issue the new shares at a price that is not significantly lower 
than the price of the company’s shares already quoted on the stock 
exchange at the time the new share issue price is finalized. Shares sold 
as a result of, and during the term of, the authorization granted at the 
Annual General Meeting of May 28, 2014 in accordance with section 71 
para. 1 no. 8 sentence 5 AktG in conjunction with section 186 para. 3 
sentence 4 AktG shall count towards the aforementioned 10% thresh
old. Furthermore, this 10% threshold shall also include shares issued 

for the purpose of servicing warrant or convertible bonds, participation 
rights or participating bonds or a combination of these instruments, 
provided that these instruments were issued as a result of, and during 
the term of, an authorization granted at the Annual General Meeting of 
May 28, 2014 in accordance with the appropriate application of section 
186 para. 3 sentence 4 AktG.

The Executive Board, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, is 
only permitted to use the aforementioned authorization to exclude 
shareholder subscription rights to the extent that the pro rata amount 
of the total shares issued under exclusion of subscription rights does not 
exceed 20% of the share capital at the time the authorization becomes 
effective or of the existing share capital at the time this authorization 
is exercised, should this amount be less. The Executive Board is author
ized, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, to stipulate other 
details regarding the capital increase and its execution, in particular 
with regard to share rights and the terms and conditions relating to 
the issuance of shares.

Conditional capital

In partial exercise of the authorization of the Annual General Meeting of 
April 29, 2010, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued a convertible bond with a 
nominal total value of € 58,800,000 by way of a private placement on Feb
ruary 12, 2013. Additionally, in partial exercise of the authorization of the 
Annual General Meeting of June 5, 2013, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued 
a (further) convertible bond with a nominal total value of € 91,200,000 
by way of a private placement on July 26, 2013. The convertible bond 
issued on July 26, 2013 constituted an increase in the convertible bond 
issued on February 12, 2013, resulting in a single convertible bond with 
a nominal total value of € 150,000,000. 

To service the convertible bond of February 12, 2013, section 4 para. 6 of 
the Articles of Association stipulated a conditional increase in the com
pany’s share capital by up to € 4,156,513.40, divided into up to 1,598,659 
noparvalue bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2010). To service the 
convertible bond of July 26, 2013, section 4 para. 7 of the company's 
Articles of Association stipulated a conditional increase in the compa
ny’s share capital by up to € 6,446,837.80, divided into up to 2,479,533 
noparvalue bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2013). 

Holders of the convertible bonds exercised their conversion rights in 
accordance with the bond terms during the period October 1, 2015 to 
December 31, 2015. To service the conversion rights, the company issued 
a total of 2,792,944 new shares by December 31, 2015, amounting to 
pro rata share capital of € 2.60 per share. This caused the share capital 
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft to rise from € 92,841,619.00 as of Decem
ber 31, 2015 to € 100,103,273.40, an increase of € 7,261,654.40. Condi
tional Capital 2010 (section 4 para. 6 of the Articles of Association) and 
Conditional Capital 2013 (section 4 para. 7 of the Articles of Association) 
decreased correspondingly. 
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Section 4 para. 8 of the Articles of Association stipulates a conditional 
increase in the company’s share capital by up to € 33,486,707.80, divided 
into up to 12,879,503 noparvalue bearer shares (Conditional Capital 
2014). The conditional capital increase will only be carried out to the 
extent that holders or creditors of option or conversion rights or con
version or option obligations exercise their option or conversion rights 
in exchange for cash for options and or convertible bonds, participation 
rights or participating bonds (or a combination of these instruments), 
issued or guaranteed by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft or a dependent Group 
company of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft up to May 27, 2019 as a result 
of the authorization granted to the Executive Board by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting of May 28, 2014, or, to the extent they 
were obliged to exercise their conversion or option rights, fulfill their 
conversion or option obligations, or to the extent that KUKA Aktienge
sellschaft exercises its option to wholly or partially grant shares of KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft instead of paying the monies due, provided no cash 
settlement or treasury shares or shares of another listed company are 
used to service the bonds. The new shares will be issued at the option 
or conversion price to be determined in accordance with the aforemen
tioned authorization resolution. The new shares will participate in the 
profits as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which they are created. 
The Executive Board is authorized, subject to approval by the Super
visory Board, to define the further details of the execution of the con
ditional capital increase.

Acquisition of treasury shares

As per the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 
2014, the company is authorized, until May 27, 2019, to buy back its own 
shares in an amount not to exceed 10% of the share capital existing at 
the time the resolution was passed via the stock market or in the form 
of a public purchase offer addressed to all shareholders by the company. 
In doing so, the purchase price (excluding transaction costs) may not 
be more than 10% higher or lower than the average stock market price 
defined in detail in the authorization. 

The company may exercise this authorization in whole or partial amounts, 
once or several times; however, it may also be executed by depend
ent companies or companies in a majority holding of the company, 
or through a third party on behalf of the company or its dependants.

Pursuant to the above resolution, the Executive Board is also authorized, 
subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, to treat the treasury shares 
acquired subject to the exclusion of shareholder subscription rights on 
the basis of that and earlier authorizations as follows: 

(1)    To sell the treasury shares acquired to third parties in connection 
with company mergers or the acquisition of companies, or parts 
of companies, or interests in companies, or for the purpose of 
acquiring other assets (including claims of third parties against 
the company);

(2)   To sell the treasury shares acquired by means other than via the 
stock exchange or an offer to all shareholders, provided the shares 
are sold for cash at a price that is not substantially lower than the 
quoted stock market price of treasury shares at the time of sale. 

   However, this authorization only applies subject to the proviso that 
the shares sold subject to the exclusion of subscription rights pur
suant to section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the German Stock Corpo
ration Act (AktG) may not, in total, exceed 10% of the share capital, 
whether on the effective date of the authorization or on the date 
on which it is exercised. The limit of 10% of the share capital is to 
include shares

 (a)   that are issued to service bonds with warrants or convertible 
bonds, participation rights or participating bonds, or a com
bination of these instruments, provided the instruments were 
issued on the basis of an authorization resolved by this Annual 
General Meeting pursuant to the corresponding application of 
section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG);

 (b)   that are issued by exercising an authorization – in effect on the 
date on which the above authorization took effect or that was 
resolved by this Annual General Meeting, from authorized capital 
pursuant to section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), under exclusion of subscription rights;

(3)   To use the treasury shares acquired to introduce the treasury stock 
on foreign stock exchanges on which they have not previously been 
admitted for trading.

Treasury shares acquired on the basis of this authorization or authori
zations granted at an earlier time may be canceled without requiring a 
further resolution at the Annual General Meeting for the cancelation. 
Cancelation leads to reduction of the share capital. However, the can
celation can also be effected by means of a simplified process without 
the reduction of share capital by adjusting the proportionate amount 
of share capital of the remaining shares according to section 8 para. 3 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Executive Board is in 
this case authorized to change the disclosure of the number of shares in 
the Articles of Association accordingly. This authorization for the acqui
sition of treasury shares, as well as the resale or cancelation of such 
shares, may be used once or several times, in whole or in part. More
over, subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board 
is authorized to withdraw or resell the treasury shares acquired. Both 
the purchase and disposal authorization may be exercised in part on 
one or more occasions.
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Significant company agreements that are 
 conditional upon a change of control, and the 
resulting impact 

Employment contracts of Executive Board members

The employment contracts of the Executive Board members contain 
“changeofcontrol” clauses. In the event of a change of control within 
the company (sections 29 para. 2 and 30 of the German Securities Acqui
sition and Takeover Act (WpÜG)), the Executive Board members are 
entitled to terminate the employment contract within three months 
of the change in control occurring, subject to a notice period of three 
months. In the event of a termination, the Executive Board members 
will be entitled to a severance payment, which is measured against the 
compensation due for the remainder of their contract, but is restricted 
to twice the annual compensation at most.

Syndicated bank loan

On March 30, 2015, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and its associated com
panies signed a new syndicated loan agreement with a banking syndi
cate led by Commerzbank AG, Deutsche Bank AG Deutschlandgeschäft 
branch, Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., UniCredit Bank AG, Landes
bank BadenWürttemberg, BNP Paribas S.A. German branch and Credit 
Suisse AG, under the terms of which the lenders provide an amount of 
up to € 230,000,000. The facility covers the main credit requirements 
of KUKA Group (including the furnishing of bank guarantees). The con
tract contains a changeofcontrol clause that is typical in the industry, 
under the terms of which the syndicated banks may demand repayment 
of the loan in the event that a shareholder (or group of shareholders 
acting in concert) acquires control of at least 30% of the voting rights 
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, or otherwise has the ability to control the 
operating policies of the company. 

2013 convertible bond

The terms and conditions of convertible bonds (“terms and conditions of 
issue”) include a customary changeofcontrol clause, pursuant to which 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft must publish any change of control immedi
ately upon acquiring knowledge thereof in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of issue and must announce the effective date of the 
change of control. Accordingly, each bondholder has the right to demand 
repayment of one or all bonds held at the principal amount plus accrued 
interest from the bond issuer on the effective date of the change of 
control. Otherwise, the conversion ratio will be adjusted as required 
by the terms and conditions of issue. A “change of control” within the 
meaning of the terms and conditions of issue exists when a person or 
persons acting in concert (i) acquire(s) – directly or indirectly (within 
the meaning of section 22 of the WpHG) – legal or beneficial ownership 
totaling more than 50% of the voting rights of the bondholder or the 
ability to control the management of the bondholder in another manner 
within the meaning of section 17 of the AktG or (ii) [participate(s) in] 
a takeover bid for shares of the bondholder and (A) the shares already 
controlled by the bidder and the shares for which the offer has already 
been accepted grant a total of more than 50% of the voting rights of 
the bondholder at any time during the takeover bid and (B) the offer is 

or becomes unconditional (without prejudice to any regulatory approv
als, particularly antitrust approvals that will not be obtained until after 
the end of the acceptance period in accordance with section 16 para. 1 
of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG)), or (iii) 
acquire(s) all or significantly all of the assets of the bondholder from 
the bondholder by sale or by transfer.

Promissory note 2015

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued a promissory note for € 250,000,000 
on October 9, 2015 led by Landesbank BadenWürttemberg and Uni
Credit Bank AG. 

The terms and conditions of the promissory note contain a standard 
clause referring to a “changeofcontrol” provision. Accordingly, imme
diately it learns of a change of control, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft must 
disclose this in accordance with the terms and conditions of the loan. 
The lenders then have the right, within 30 days of receiving notification 
of a change of control, to demand repayment of their (pro rata) loan 
at the next interest due date after receipt of the request for repayment 
and the interest due up to the date of repayment. A “change of control” 
within the meaning of the terms and conditions of the loan is given if a 
person or persons acting in concert directly or indirectly (i) either hold 
more than 30% of the voting shares, (ii) hold more than 30% of the 
voting rights in the company and /or (iii) otherwise have the possibility 
of directing the company’s business policy.

Agreements concluded between the company   
and members of the Executive Board or 
 employees governing compensation in the 
event of a takeover bid
No agreements have been concluded between the company and mem
bers of the Executive Board or employees governing compensation in the 
event of a takeover bid. The changeofcontrol clauses in the employment 
contracts of the Executive Board members do not constitute compen
sation clauses as defined in sections 289 para. 4 sentence 1 no. 9 and 
315 para. 4 sentence 1 no. 9 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Disclaimer
This management report contains forwardlooking statements regard
ing expected developments. These statements are based on current 
estimates and are naturally exposed to risks and uncertainties. Actual 
results may differ from the statements contained herein.
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in € millions Notes 2014 2015

Sales revenues (1) 2,095.7 2,965.9

 Cost of sales (2) 1,575.5 2,267.9

Gross income 520.2 698.0

 Selling expenses (2) 161.0 251.2

 Research and development costs (2) 78.2 105.4

 General and administrative expenses (2) 133.5 213.1

 Other operating income (3) 9.8 23.0

 Other operating expenses (3) 16.1 14.8

 Loss from companies consolidated at equity 2.6 3.5

Earnings from operating activities 138.6 133.0

Reconciliation to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

Financing costs included in operating results 3.2 2.6

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 141.8 135.6

 Depreciation and amortization 43.5 123.5

Earnings before interest, tax and amortization (EBITDA) 185.3 259.1

Interest income (4) 8.7 8.3

Interest expense (4) 34.0 15.7

Financial results -25.3 -7.4

Earnings before tax 113.3 125.6

 Taxes on income (5) 45.2 39.3

Earnings after taxes 68.1 86.3

of which: attributable to minority interests 0.0 0.5

of which: attributable to shareholders of KUKA AG 68.1 86.8

Earnings per share (undiluted) in € (6) 1.99 2.39

Earnings per share (diluted ) in € (6) 1.90 2.35

in € millions Notes 2014 2015

Earnings after taxes 68.1 86.3

Items that may potentially be reclassified to profit or loss

Translation adjustments 11.9 43.3

Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss

Changes of actuarial gains and losses (23) 16.1 5.8

Deferred taxes on changes of actuarial gains and losses 3.8 3.8

Changes recognized directly in equity -0.4 45.3

Comprehensive income 67.7 131.6

of which: attributable to minority interests 0.0 0.5

of which: attributable to shareholders of KUKA AG 67.7 132.1

Statement of comprehensive income
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft for the period January 1 – December 31, 2015

Financial Statements
Group income statement
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft for the period January 1 – December 31, 2015

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 Financial Statements

70



in € millions 2014 2015

Net income after taxes 68.1 86.3

Income taxes 51.8 61.2

Net interest income 24.9 7.4

Depreciation of intangible assets 18.4 87.8

Depreciation of tangible assets 25.1 35.7

Other nonpayment related income 16.2 28.5

Other nonpayment related expenses 9.2 10.9

Cash earnings 181.3 260.8

Result on the disposal of assets 0.4 11.6

Changes in provisions 34.8 8.8

Changes in current assets and liabilities

Changes in inventories 27.7 18.4

Changes in receivables and deferred charges 35.4 53.5

Changes in liabilities and deferred income (excl. financial debt) 67.6 56.7

Income taxes paid 32.2 51.9

Investments /financing matters affecting cash flow 4.1 4.1

Cash flow from operating activities 184.7 169.2

Payments from disposals of fixed assets 0.7 9.9

Payments for capital expenditures on intangible assets 15.9 31.0

Payments for capital expenditures on tangible assets 78.4 76.3

Payments for investment in financial investments – 1.6

Payments received from financial assets in the course of shortterm funds management 12.7 14.5

Payments received from the sale of consolidated companies and other business units – 47.2

Payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies and other business units 284.6 44.4

Interest received 8.6 8.2

Cash flow from investing activities -356.9 -73.5

Free cash flow -172.2 95.7

Payments from capital increase 86.6 –

Dividend payments 10.2 16.9

Proceeds /payments from the issuance /repayment of bonds and liabilities similar to bonds 173.0 –

Proceeds from /payments for the acceptance /repayment of bank loans 17.4 227.0

Payments from grants received 4.1 4.1

Interest paid 30.4 10.1

Cash flow from financing activities -140.3 204.1

Payment-related changes in cash and cash equivalents -312.5 299.8

Changes due to acquisitions of companies 56.8 0.2

Exchange raterelated and other changes in cash and cash equivalents 6.7 4.1

Changes in cash and cash equivalents -249.0 304.1

(of which net increase /decrease in restricted cash) (3.7) (0.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 441.1 192.1

(of which net increase /decrease in restricted cash) (6.1) (2.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 192.1 496.2

(Restricted cash) (2.4) (3.2)

 * See note 30 for further information on the cash flow statement

Cash flow statement * 
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2015
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ASSETS
in € millions

Notes Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (7) 430.4 423.0

Property, plant and equipment (8) 233.8 259.0

Financial investments (9) 0.6 3.9

Investments accounted for at equity (10) 5.6 6.6

 670.4 692.5

Finance lease receivables (11) 66.1 65.2

Income tax receivables 3.4 1.6

Other longterm receivables and other assets (15) 9.9 14.8

Deferred taxes (5) 48.2 49.2

 798.0 823.3

Current assets

Inventories (12) 272.4 297.8

Receivables and other assets

Trade receivables (13) 273.8 310.6

Receivables from construction contracts (14) 339.1 347.7

Finance lease receivables (11) 6.9 8.5

Income tax receivables 9.7 10.5

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges (15) 71.0 87.1

 700.5 764.4

 

Cash and cash equivalents (16) 192.1 496.2

Assets held for disposal (28) 16.5 –

 1,181.5 1,558.4

 

1,979.5 2,381.7

Group balance sheet
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft as of December 31, 2015
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
in € millions

Notes Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Equity (17)

Subscribed capital (18) 92.8 100.1

Capital reserve (19) 176.5 265.3

Revenue reserves (20) 255.0 367.6

Minority interests (21) 16.8 0.5

 541.1 732.5

Non-current liabilities, provisions and accruals

Financial liabilities (25+26) 137.0 294.2

Other liabilities (27) 18.2 24.0

Pensions and similar obligations (23) 121.7 114.0

Deferred taxes (5) 65.3 56.4

 342.2 488.6

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities (25+26) 22.5 2.1

Trade payables 274.6 402.0

Advances received 78.3 72.5

Liabilities from construction contracts (14) 247.6 217.0

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.1 0.0

Income tax liabilities 24.9 33.4

Other liabilities and deferred income (27) 290.8 290.6

Other provisions (24) 150.1 143.0

 1,088.9 1,160.6

Liabilities from assets held for disposal (28) 7.3 –

1,096.2 1,160.6

 

1,979.5 2,381.7
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Notes (18) (18) (19) (20) (21)

Revenue reserves

Number of shares
outstanding

Subscribed capital
in € millions

Capital reserve
in € millions

Translation
gains /losses
in € millions

Actuarial gains
and losses

in € millions

Annual net profit and 
other revenue reserves

in € millions

Equity to
shareholders
in € millions

Minority interests
in € millions

Total
in € millions

Jan. 1, 2014 33,915,431 88.2 94.5 -2.2 -4.9 202.2 377.8 1.3 379.1

Result after taxes – – – – – 68.1 68.1 – 68.1

Other income – – – 11.9 12.3 – 0.4 – 0.4

Comprehensive income – – – 11.9 -12.3 68.1 67.7 – 67.7

Capital increase 1,792,884 4.6 82.0 – – – 86.6 – 86.6

Dividend of KUKA AG – – – – – 10.2 10.2 – 10.2

Change in scope of consolidation /Other changes – – – – – 2.4 2.4 15.5 17.9

Jan. 1, 2015 35,708,315 92.8 176.5 9.7 -17.2 262.5 524.3 16.8 541.1

Result after taxes – – – – – 86.8 86.8 0.5 86.3

Other income – – – 43.3 2.0 – 45.3 – 45.3

Comprehensive income – – – 43.3 2.0 86.8 132.1 -0.5 131.6

Capital increase from conversions 2,792,944 7.3 88.8 – – – 96.1 – 96.1

Dividend of KUKA AG – – – – – 14.3 14.3 – 14.3

Change in scope of consolidation/Other changes – – – – – 5.2 5.2 16.8 22.0

Dec. 31, 2015 38,501,259 100.1 265.3 53.0 -15.2 329.8 733.0 -0.5 732.5

Development of Group equity
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2015
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Notes (18) (18) (19) (20) (21)

Revenue reserves

Number of shares
outstanding

Subscribed capital
in € millions

Capital reserve
in € millions

Translation
gains /losses
in € millions

Actuarial gains
and losses

in € millions

Annual net profit and 
other revenue reserves

in € millions

Equity to
shareholders
in € millions

Minority interests
in € millions

Total
in € millions

Jan. 1, 2014 33,915,431 88.2 94.5 -2.2 -4.9 202.2 377.8 1.3 379.1

Result after taxes – – – – – 68.1 68.1 – 68.1

Other income – – – 11.9 12.3 – 0.4 – 0.4

Comprehensive income – – – 11.9 -12.3 68.1 67.7 – 67.7

Capital increase 1,792,884 4.6 82.0 – – – 86.6 – 86.6

Dividend of KUKA AG – – – – – 10.2 10.2 – 10.2

Change in scope of consolidation /Other changes – – – – – 2.4 2.4 15.5 17.9

Jan. 1, 2015 35,708,315 92.8 176.5 9.7 -17.2 262.5 524.3 16.8 541.1

Result after taxes – – – – – 86.8 86.8 0.5 86.3

Other income – – – 43.3 2.0 – 45.3 – 45.3

Comprehensive income – – – 43.3 2.0 86.8 132.1 -0.5 131.6

Capital increase from conversions 2,792,944 7.3 88.8 – – – 96.1 – 96.1

Dividend of KUKA AG – – – – – 14.3 14.3 – 14.3

Change in scope of consolidation/Other changes – – – – – 5.2 5.2 16.8 22.0

Dec. 31, 2015 38,501,259 100.1 265.3 53.0 -15.2 329.8 733.0 -0.5 732.5
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Group notes
Group segment reporting * 

of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft for the financial year 2015

Robotics Systems   Swisslog KUKA AG and other companies Reconciliation and consolidation Group

2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Orders received 805.5 891.2 1,456.0 1,428.1 – 551.8 – – 32.5 32.2 2,229.0 2,838.9

Order backlog 241.5 233.4 955.4 923.2 517.2 491.0 – – 11.6 8.6 1,702.5 1,639.0

Group external sales revenues 814.0 881.8 1,281.7 1,463.3 – 620.8 – – – – 2,095.7 2,965.9

as a % of Group sales revenues 38.8 29.7 61.2 49.4 – 20.9 – – – – 100.0 100.0

IntraGroup sales 20.6 27.8 3.9 8.4 – 0.0 – – 24.5 36.2 – –

Sales revenues by division 834.6 909.6 1,285.6 1,471.7 – 620.8 – – -24.5 -36.2 2,095.7 2,965.9

Operating profit /loss 303.2 345.8 213.8 253.7 – 97.7 – – 2.6 0.8 520.2 698.0

as a % of sales revenues of the division 36.3 38.0 16.6 17.2 – 15.7 – – – – 24.8 23.5

EBIT 88.9 100.2 80.2 114.7 – -45.9 -27.4 -33.1 0.1 -0.3 141.8 135.6

as a % of sales revenues of the division 10.7 11.0 6.2 7.8 – 7.4 – – – – 6.8 4.6

as a % of average capital employed (ROCE) 53.1 56.6 67.9 87.9 – 14.5 – – – – 28.8 20.0

EBITDA 112.0 126.1 97.4 135.6 – 24.5 -24.1 -26.8 0.0 -0.3 185.3 259.1

as a % of sales revenues of the division 13.4 13.9 7.6 9.2 – 3.9 – – – – 8.9 8.7

Capital employed (annual average) ** 167.3 177.1 118.1 130.5 154.6 315.9 52.4 54.0 0.4 0.7 492.0 676.8

Capital employed (end of financial year) 176.3 178.0 136.6 124.6 309.3 322.5 48.7 59.3 0.8 0.8 670.1 683.6

Assets 394.9 430.4 725.5 723.0 537.6 578.7 494.6 545.4 416.8 442.8 1,735.8 1,834.7

Liabilities 227.8 261.6 611.0 619.4 261.2 292.2 90.9 90.3 9.6 8.9 1,181.3 1,254.6

Investments accounted for at equity 3.2 1.6 2.4 2.3 – – – 2.7 – – 5.6 6.6

Earnings of investments accounted for at equity 2.6 3.4 0.0 0.1 – – – 0.0 – – 2.6 3.5

Capital expenditure 30.4 39.4 28.7 23.5 – 22.2 35.2 22.5 0.0 0.6 94.3 107.0

Depreciation /amortization of intangible and tangible assets 22.5 24.4 17.1 18.2 – 70.4 3.3 6.3 – 0.1 42.9 119.2

Impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets – 1.0 – 2.7 – – – – – – – 3.7

Depreciation /amortization of interest capitalized under intangible assets 0.6 0.5 – 0.1 – – – – – – 0.6 0.6

Employees (Dec. 31) 3,644 4,232 5,810 5,146 2,369 2,555 279 367 – – 12,102 12,300

* See note 30 for more information on Group segment reporting
** For acquisitions during the year, the annual average is taken into account with half the capital employed as of the end of the year.
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Robotics Systems   Swisslog KUKA AG and other companies Reconciliation and consolidation Group

2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Orders received 805.5 891.2 1,456.0 1,428.1 – 551.8 – – 32.5 32.2 2,229.0 2,838.9

Order backlog 241.5 233.4 955.4 923.2 517.2 491.0 – – 11.6 8.6 1,702.5 1,639.0

Group external sales revenues 814.0 881.8 1,281.7 1,463.3 – 620.8 – – – – 2,095.7 2,965.9

as a % of Group sales revenues 38.8 29.7 61.2 49.4 – 20.9 – – – – 100.0 100.0

IntraGroup sales 20.6 27.8 3.9 8.4 – 0.0 – – 24.5 36.2 – –

Sales revenues by division 834.6 909.6 1,285.6 1,471.7 – 620.8 – – -24.5 -36.2 2,095.7 2,965.9

Operating profit /loss 303.2 345.8 213.8 253.7 – 97.7 – – 2.6 0.8 520.2 698.0

as a % of sales revenues of the division 36.3 38.0 16.6 17.2 – 15.7 – – – – 24.8 23.5

EBIT 88.9 100.2 80.2 114.7 – -45.9 -27.4 -33.1 0.1 -0.3 141.8 135.6

as a % of sales revenues of the division 10.7 11.0 6.2 7.8 – 7.4 – – – – 6.8 4.6

as a % of average capital employed (ROCE) 53.1 56.6 67.9 87.9 – 14.5 – – – – 28.8 20.0

EBITDA 112.0 126.1 97.4 135.6 – 24.5 -24.1 -26.8 0.0 -0.3 185.3 259.1

as a % of sales revenues of the division 13.4 13.9 7.6 9.2 – 3.9 – – – – 8.9 8.7

Capital employed (annual average) ** 167.3 177.1 118.1 130.5 154.6 315.9 52.4 54.0 0.4 0.7 492.0 676.8

Capital employed (end of financial year) 176.3 178.0 136.6 124.6 309.3 322.5 48.7 59.3 0.8 0.8 670.1 683.6

Assets 394.9 430.4 725.5 723.0 537.6 578.7 494.6 545.4 416.8 442.8 1,735.8 1,834.7

Liabilities 227.8 261.6 611.0 619.4 261.2 292.2 90.9 90.3 9.6 8.9 1,181.3 1,254.6

Investments accounted for at equity 3.2 1.6 2.4 2.3 – – – 2.7 – – 5.6 6.6

Earnings of investments accounted for at equity 2.6 3.4 0.0 0.1 – – – 0.0 – – 2.6 3.5

Capital expenditure 30.4 39.4 28.7 23.5 – 22.2 35.2 22.5 0.0 0.6 94.3 107.0

Depreciation /amortization of intangible and tangible assets 22.5 24.4 17.1 18.2 – 70.4 3.3 6.3 – 0.1 42.9 119.2

Impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets – 1.0 – 2.7 – – – – – – – 3.7

Depreciation /amortization of interest capitalized under intangible assets 0.6 0.5 – 0.1 – – – – – – 0.6 0.6

Employees (Dec. 31) 3,644 4,232 5,810 5,146 2,369 2,555 279 367 – – 12,102 12,300

* See note 30 for more information on Group segment reporting
** For acquisitions during the year, the annual average is taken into account with half the capital employed as of the end of the year.
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General comments

Accounting principles
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, headquartered in Augsburg, has prepared its 
consolidated financial statements for the period ending December 31, 
2015 according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) applicable and 
endorsed by the European Union as at the balance sheet date. The term 
IFRS also includes all valid international accounting standards (IAS). The 
interpretations of the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and 
the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Com
mittee (IFRS IC) – supplemented by the guidelines stipulated in section 
315a para. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) – were also taken 
into consideration.

The accounting policies used conform to the methods applied in the pre
vious year. Exceptions from this are the standards and interpretations 
for which application is mandatory for the first time in the 2015 finan
cial year and the other reporting methods described under “Changes in 
accounting policies”. The consolidated financial statements comply with 
German law. The currency reported in the consolidated financial state
ments is the euro. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts in the notes to 
the accounts are stated in millions of euros (€  million). 

With the exception of specific financial instruments reported in fair val
ues, the Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared based 
on historical costs. In this case, fair value is defined under IFRS 13 as 
the price that would be paid by independent market participants in an 
arm’s length transaction on the measurement date if an asset were sold 
or a liability transferred. 

KUKA Group does not carry any assets with an undefined useful life with 
the exception of goodwill.

The Group’s consolidated income statement is prepared using the cost 
of sales method. The consolidated financial statements comply with 
the classification requirements of IAS 1. The presentation in the Group’s 
consolidated balance sheet distinguishes between current and noncur
rent assets and liabilities. 

The identically worded declarations of compliance with the German Cor
porate Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) made by the Executive Board on January 18, 
2016 and the Supervisory Board on February 8, 2016 can be accessed 
on the Internet through the company’s website (www.kukaag.de). The 
Executive Board prepared the consolidated financial statements on 
 February 29, 2016. 

Scope of consolidation
In comparison to yearend 2014 the scope of consolidation has changed 
due to the acquisition, foundation and sale of companies and also due 
to mergers. 

The table below shows the development of the scope of consolidation 
since January 1, 2015:

Number of fully consolidated companies

Number Robotics Systems   Swisslog Other Total

As of Jan 1 , 2015 24 46 30 3 103

Additions – – 4 – 4

Disposals – 3 1 – 4

Mergers and changes of 
segment 1 3 1 – 5

As of Dec. 31, 2015 23 40 32 3 98

of which, Germany 1 11 5 2 19

of which, abroad 22 29 27 1 79

Number of associated companies

Number Robotics Systems   Swisslog Other Total

As of Dec 31, 2015 1 1 – 1 3

 
Additions 

The additions relate to the acquisition or foundation of:

 › Forte Industrial Equipment Systems Inc., Mason, Ohio /USA
 › Swisslog Automation GmbH, Karlsruhe
 › Swisslog Middle East LLC, Dubai /United Arab Emirates
 › KUKA Beteiligungen (Switzerland) AG, Buchs (AG) /Switzerland

Swisslog Automation GmbH, Karlsruhe was founded in the second quar
ter of 2015 (further details can be found under “Company acquisitions”).

Swisslog AG, Buchs /Switzerland, 100% subsidiary of Swisslog Hold
ing AG, Buchs /Switzerland, founded Swisslog Middle East LLC, Dubai /
United Arab Emirates, together with Al Tayer Group. In accordance 
with the articles of association, Swisslog holds 49.0% (corresponding 
to < € 0.1 million) of the share capital. However, Swisslog has an interest 
of 51.0% in the income and nominates the majority of members on the 
administrative board, with the effect that the company is fully incor
porated into KUKA Group. In total the business operations in 2015 are 
still of minor significance.

In the second quarter, to compensate the remaining shareholders of 
Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs /Switzerland, KUKA Beteiligungen (Swit
zerland) AG, Buchs /Switzerland was founded. After cash compensation 
to remaining shareholders and the merger execution in the third quar
ter, the company name was changed to Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs /
Switzerland.

Disposals 

In addition to the liquidation of Translogic Electric Corp., New York /
USA, the disposals relate to the sale in the second quarter of HLS Engi
neering Group, headquartered in Augsburg, to two financial investors. 
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HLS Group employs around 250 people and is active in the field of sys
tems and mechanical engineering services. KUKA will continue to work 
with HLS Group, but following the sale will concentrate more strongly 
on its core business. The following companies are owned by HLS Group:

 › HLS Ingenieurbüro GmbH, Augsburg
 › HLS Czech s.r.o., Mlada Boleslav /Czech Republic
 › HLS Vietnam CO., LTD. Ho Chi Minh City /Vietnam.

In the third quarter, the Tools and Dies business unit was sold to  Porsche 
AG. The transaction took the form of an asset deal, meaning that there 
were no effects on the number of companies incorporated in KUKA 
Group. The Tools and Dies business unit, with sites in Schwarzenberg 
and in Dubnica /Slovakia, had around 600 employees and was part of the 
Systems segment. The sale enables KUKA to focus even more strongly 
on its core business of robotbased automation solutions. 

Mergers and changes of segment 

In the first quarter of 2015, KUKA Laboratories GmbH, Augsburg /  
Germany was merged into KUKA Roboter GmbH, Augsburg /Germany, 
and Reis Holding Corp. USA, Elgin, Illinois /USA was merged into Reis 
Robotics USA Inc., Elgin, Illinois /USA. As part of the merger compensa
tion to remaining Swisslog shareholders, Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs /
Switzerland, was merged into KUKA Beteiligungen (Switzerland) AG in 
the third quarter (see also page 78 under “Additions”). 

In the fourth quarter, the Czech company Reis Robotics CR. Spol 
s.r.o, Chomutov /Czech Republic was merged into Reis Robotics CR. – 
 strojirenstvi spol. s.r.o., Chomutov /Czech Republic.

At the end of the year, due to business volume and to further opti
mize the corporate structure, Reis France EURL, PontaultCombeau /
France was merged into KUKA Automatisme + Robotique S.A.S., 
VillebonsurYvette /France.

The previous shell company KUKA Industries GmbH, Augsburg started 
operations in 2015. In this context, the company was removed from the 
Other segment and allocated to Systems.

Over the course of the financial year, the corporate purpose of Sys
tems U.S. Holdings Company LCC., Shelby Township, Michigan /USA 
changed. Previously, the enterprise had served as a holding company 
for the North American Systems companies. It is now taking on more and 
more crosssegment activities. The company was therefore reclassified 
from the Systems segment into the Other segment in the fourth quarter. 

The mergers and segment changes undertaken are of minor signifi
cance in themselves and for the relevant segment overall and thus do 
not affect comparability with the previous year.

Company acquisitions
Forte Industrial Equipment Systems Inc., Mason,  
Ohio /USA (“FORTE”)

In April 2015, 100.0% of the shares in FORTE, a renowned system integra
tor for the automation of warehouses, headquartered in Mason, Ohio /
USA, were acquired. The company specializes in services in the fields of 
solutions design, system integration and software technology for dis
tribution centers. FORTE plans, designs and implements intralogistics 
systems using its own warehouse execution software.

The acquisition strengthens the strategy of the Swisslog segment in the 
North American market by adding a complementary spectrum of prod
ucts and services, and increases the range of market coverage especially 
in the segments of ecommerce and pharmaceuticals.

€ 11.4 million of the € 12.9 million purchase price was paid immediately 
in cash. The remaining purchase price is due within 18 months and is 
covered by specific contractual guarantees. Cash and cash equivalents 
of € 1.4 million were transferred. No shares in previously fully consoli
dated companies of KUKA Group were acquired.

In the financial year, revenues of € 17.1 million were attributable to the 
acquisition with a result of € 0.2 million. If the company had already 
been taken over at the beginning of 2015, this would have created addi
tional revenues of around € 3.6 million and a net loss for the year of 
€ 0.1 million.

The following table shows the carrying amounts assumed as a result 
of the purchase of the divisions immediately prior to the acquisition as 
well as the opening balance sheet in fair values (provisional).

in € millions Carrying amounts 
assumed

Opening balance 
sheet in fair 

values

Intangible assets 0.0 3.9

Tangible assets 0.2 0.2

Inventories 0.3 0.3

Receivables and other assets 2.9 2.9

Liabilities and provisions 4.4 4.4

The acquired intangible assets consist to a large extent of rights to 
names, technology and orders on hand. Receivables and inventories 
primarily concern orders in house at the time of the acquisition. Con
tingent liabilities were not transferred. No deferred taxes arising from 
the takeover have to be taken into account. The transaction thus led 
to goodwill of € 8.8 million. The goodwill reflects first and foremost the 
future synergies described above.
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 Swisslog Automation GmbH, Karlsruhe

In April 2015 KUKA also acquired a range of technologies and personnel 
from Grenzebach Automation GmbH in Karlsruhe, Germany, in order to 
further strengthen its competence in the fields of automated guided 
vehicles (AGVs) and logistics robots. Swisslog Automation GmbH, Karls
ruhe was initially founded in the course of the takeover.

The acquisition consistently follows the strategy of positioning Swisslog 
more strongly in the ecommerce and multichannel segments and 
expanding the production logistics area. The purchase price amounted 
to a total of € 1.1 million, which was paid in cash. 

Swisslog Group

At the end of 2014, 94.5% of the shares in Swisslog Group, Buchs /
Switzerland were acquired and included in KUKA Group’s consolidated 
financial statements on the basis of preliminary figures, particularly in 
relation to tax assets. 

In the course of the preliminary allocation of the purchase price, deferred 
tax liabilities of € 42.9 million were recognized. These were increased by 
€ 2.0 million in the current financial year on account of additional find
ings. This resulted in newly established goodwill of € 150.2 million arising 
through the transaction, based on the full goodwill method.

Due to the squeezeout merger carried out in the current financial 
year, KUKA now holds 100.0% of the shares. The total purchase price 
amounted to CHF 337.9 million or € 283.3 million. 

All other information related to the acquisition is unchanged compared 
to last year’s report. In this respect, please refer to the 2014 annual 
report.

Faude Automatisierungstechnik GmbH, Gärtringen was also acquired 
and first consolidated at the end of 2014. For further details please refer 
to the 2014 annual report. The purchase price allocation has been finally 
taken into account in the current financial statements and was not sub
ject to any further changes. 
 

Investments in associates
On December 9, 2015 KUKA Group invested USD 3.0 million in a 30% 
stake in Barrett Technology, LCC, Newton, Massachusetts /USA. The 
 company develops medical robotics products, particularly in the reha
bilitation sector. Initial tests in medical applications were completed 
successfully in 2015. This investment enables KUKA to expand its med
ical portfolio and increase the attractiveness of its medical products. 
The investment is accounted for by the equity method in accordance 
with IAS 28. The carrying amount of the investment is entered at the 
level of the pro rata equity capital. The share of the company’s current 
gains or losses for KUKA is recognized directly in the income state
ment in the earnings before interest and taxes (EDIT) under the item 
“Earnings from companies valued at equity” and was significantly below 
€ 0.1 million in the financial year. This means that on the balance sheet 
date, the carrying amount remained almost unchanged compared to 
the date of investment.

Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
(“control concept” according to IFRS 10) are consolidated in the Group 
financial statements according to the rules of full consolidation. Con
trol prevails if there is a right to the variable returns and the possibility 
for the company to use the control so that thereby the level of returns 
from the company can be influenced. To determine the point at which 
the company is included in consolidation or is finally consolidated, the 
date is crucial on which control is effectively gained or lost.

The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial state
ments of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and those of the consolidated subsidi
aries and were prepared according to the uniform accounting policies for 
the Group. Capital consolidation takes place by offsetting the carrying 
amounts of the investment against the pro rata newly measured equity 
capital of the subsidiaries at the time of acquisition. In line with IFRS 3, 
any positive differences are capitalized as goodwill under intangible 
assets. Any negative differences are recognized in the income statement.

IntraGroup sales, expenses, earnings and receivables and payables are 
offset, and intercompany profits and losses are eliminated. The deferred 
tax entries required in connection with the consolidation processes have 
been recorded.

Guarantees and warranties that KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issues on 
behalf of consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated provided they do not 
have an external effect.
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Currency translation
Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency are trans
lated as of the balance sheet date using the average rate of the year. 
Any associated translation gains or losses are recognized in the income 
statement. Where the translation gains or losses are the result of for
eign currency transactions in respect of supplies and services, these are 
reported under the cost of sales; translation gains or losses on financial 
transactions, such as intraGroup loan transactions, are reported in the 
net interest income.

The annual financial statements of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries 
are translated from their functional currency (IAS 21) into euros. With 
the exception of KUKA Robotics Hungária Ipari Kft., Taksony /Hungary, 
whose functional currency is the euro, this is the respective local cur
rency, since the foreign subsidiaries operate predominantly within their 
currency area. The Group treats newly resulting derivative goodwill from 
the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries as assets of the economically 

independent subsidiary and translates this goodwill at the closing rate, if 
necessary (IAS 21.47). The resulting exchange differences are recognized 
in the foreign currency translation reserve. Unrealized price differences 
from the translation of equityreplacing loans to foreign subsidiaries 
in foreign currency are reported directly in the aggregate income /loss 
and so recognized directly in equity. On loss of control these effects are 
released through profit or loss. 

Assets and liabilities are translated at the rate effective on the balance 
sheet date. Derivative goodwill and equity recognized prior to January 1, 
2005 are translated using historical rates. Income and expenses are 
translated using average rates for the year. Differences arising from the 
translation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
compared to the prior year as well as translation differences between 
the income statement and the balance sheet are recognized in the rev
enue reserves. In the event of the departure of Group entities, existing 
exchange differences are then recognized in profit or loss. The following 
table shows the currency values compared to the previous year:

Balance sheet date Average rate

Country Currency Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 2014 2015

United Arab Emirates AED 4.4622 3.9876 4.8580 4.0428

Australia AUD 1.4829 1.4897 1.4724 1.4765

Brazil BRL 3.2207 4.3117 3.1228 3.6916

Canada CAD 1.4063 1.5116 1.4669 1.4176

China CNY 7.5358 7.0608 8.1883 6.9730

China, Hongkong HKD 9.4170 8.4376 10.3052 8.6023

Czech Republic CZK 27.7350 27.0230 27.5358 27.2850

Hungary HUF 315.5400 315.9800 308.7067 309.8975

India INR 76.7190 72.0215 81.0689 71.1752

Japan JPY 145.2300 131.0700 140.3783 134.2875

Korea KRW 1,324.8000 1,280.7800 1,399.0300 1,255.7417

Malaysia MYR 4.2473 4.6959 4.3472 4.3315

Mexico MXN 17.8679 18.9145 17.6621 17.5995

Norway NOK 9.0420 9.6030 8.3551 8.9417

Romania RON 4.4821 4.5245 4.4443 4.4452

Russia RUB 72.3370 80.6736 51.0113 68.0068

Singapore SGD 1.6058 1.5417 1.6830 1.5251

Sweden SEK 9.3930 9.1895 9.0969 9.3545

Switzerland CHF 1.2024 1.0835 1.2146 1.0676

Taiwan TWD 38.2507 35.7632 40.1498 35.1982

Thailand THB 39.9100 39.2480 43.1628 38.0008

United Kingdom GBP 0.7789 0.7340 0.8064 0.7260

USA USD 1.2141 1.0887 1.3288 1.1096
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Accounting and valuation
Orders received

An order is recognized as an incoming order on receipt of a binding pur
chase order. Framework agreements are not reported here. However, 
legally binding order releases for volumes from framework agreements 
are recognized as orders received.

Order backlog

If a binding customer order has not yet been invoiced or not yet real
ized as a sale in the case of longterm contract production, an order is 
recorded as an order backlog.

Revenue recognition

Sales revenues are recognized upon the performance of services or trans
fer of risk to the customer. Thus, sales revenues are recognized when 
the products or goods have been delivered or the services performed, 
the material risks and rewards associated with ownership have been 
transferred to the purchaser, the amount derived from the sale can be 
measured reliably, the inflow of economic benefits resulting from the 
transaction is probable, and the costs associated with the transaction 
can be measured reliably. 

Revenues for longterm construction contracts that meet the criteria of 
IAS 11 are recognized according to the percentage of completion (POC) 
method. As a rule, the percentage of completion to be recognized by 
contract is determined by the cost of work to date as a percentage of 
the estimated total costs (costtocost method). The profit from the 
contract is recognized on the basis of the percentage of completion 
thus determined. To the extent that services performed to date exceed 
advances received, the contracts are recorded as receivables from con
struction contracts. If there is a negative balance after deduction of 
advances, this is recognized as liabilities from construction contracts. 
Borrowing costs are considered for construction contracts in accordance 
with IAS 23. If necessary, provisions or assetside impairment losses are 
recognized for impending losses.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales comprises the cost of production of the goods sold as 
well as the acquisition cost of any merchandise sold. In addition to the 
cost of attributable direct materials and labor, this also comprises indi
rect costs, including the depreciation and amortization of production 
plants and intangible assets, writedowns of inventories and the recog
nized borrowing costs. KUKA Group accounts for provisions for product 
warranties as part of the cost of sales at the time of revenue recognition. 
Impending losses from contracts are recognized in the reporting period 
in which the current estimate for total costs arising from the respective 
contract exceeds the expected contract revenue.

Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
As the acquirer, KUKA and the acquired company may have already had a 
relationship that existed before the business combination was intended. 
If the business combination does in fact lead to a settlement of this 
preexisting relationship, KUKA recognizes the resulting gain or loss as 
the acquirer. The cost of acquisition is measured at the fair value of the 
assets given up and the liabilities incurred or assumed at the acquisition 
date. An agreed contingent consideration from KUKA as the acquirer is 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. The identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed in 
a business combination are initially measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any noncontrolling inter
ests. Uniform accounting policies are used here. After initial recognition, 
gains and losses are attributed without limit in proportion to the inter
est held; a negative balance with respect to noncontrolling interests 
can arise as a result. The noncontrolling interests are involved in profit 
sharing during the reporting period.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
 
Investments in associates are reported at cost in the first instance. A 
difference between the cash contribution and pro rata equity capital 
is recognized directly in equity. Subsequent measurement takes place 
using the equity method as described in IAS 28. The result of associates 
is recognized in a separate item of the income statement. 

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. To this end, impair
ment tests are performed in which the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the defined cash generating units (CGUs) is compared to 
the recoverable amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit, an impairment loss is recognized 
for the goodwill allocated to this cash generating unit. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the cash generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. KUKA uses a cash generating unit’s value in 
use to determine its recoverable amount. The data from the detail plan
ning phase from the business plan for the next three years were used as 
the underlying data to determine the value in use, assuming in subse
quent years that the annual cash flows will generally equal those in year 
three. For the sake of simplification, the perpetuity calculation further 
assumes that investments equal depreciation /amortization expense 
and the working capital remains unchanged.
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With respect to the segmentspecific discount rates as well as the fur
ther parameters and their derivation, and also for the identification of 
the principal items of goodwill, please refer to the discussions under 
note 7.

Self-developed software and other development costs

Development costs for newly developed products or internally generated 
intangible assets (e. g. software) are capitalized provided that the tech
nical feasibility and commercialization of the newly developed products 
are assured, and that this will result in an inflow of economic benefits to 
the Group (see IAS 38.57 for further requirements). In this context, the 
costs of production encompass the costs directly and indirectly attrib
utable to the cost of development. 

Depreciation commences when the asset is put into use and is recog
nized over an expected useful life of, as a rule, three to five years, using 
the straightline method. Moreover, the value recognized for capitalized 
costs of development projects not yet completed is subject to annual 
impairment tests.

Research and development costs that are not eligible for recognition as 
an asset are recognized as expenses when they are incurred.

Other intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets, predominantly software, patents and trade
marks, are recognized at their acquisition cost and are amortized over 
their expected useful life of usually three to five years using the straight
line method.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at acquisition or pro
duction costs. Depreciation is generally applied using the straightline 
method. The selected depreciation method is continuously reviewed.

Depreciation is based predominantly on the following periods of use
ful life:

Years

Buildings 25 – 50

Property facilities 2 – 15

Technical plant and equipment 2 – 15

Other equipment 2 – 15

Factory and office equipment 2 – 15

Impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets are recorded in 
accordance with IAS 36 if the recoverable amount of the asset is less 
than its carrying amount. In addition to changes in individual param
eters that affect computation such as a significant increase in market 
yields, a particular focus is placed on changes with an adverse effect on 
the company in the technological, market, economic or legal environ
ment in which it operates. By means of these indicators KUKA regularly 
observes whether a triggering event is present that would necessitate 
an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36. In this context, the recov
erable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the 
value in use of the asset in question. If the reasons for an impairment 
recorded in prior years no longer apply, the impairment is reversed.

Borrowing costs and qualifying assets

Under the provisions of IAS 23, finance costs must be accrued for quali
fying assets. Provided they are material, borrowing costs are capitalized 
for these qualifying assets. Those assets are defined as qualifying assets 
within KUKA Group for which a period longer than 12 months is required 
to make them ready for their intended use or sale (IAS 23.5). Examples 
here within KUKA Group in particular are manufacturing plants, inter
nallygenerated intangible assets and longterm construction contracts. 

Due to the way the corporation is internally managed and to increase 
transparency, finance costs included in operating results are eliminated 
in the reconciliation for the earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT).

Government grants

In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are recognized only if 
there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to them 
will be complied with and that the grants will be received. Government 
grants related to assets (e. g. investment subsidies and allowances) are 
deducted from the acquisition or production costs of the relevant asset. 
Grants related to income are recognized immediately in the income 
statement.

Finance and operating leases

In the vast majority of cases, KUKA Group acts as the lessee. In connec
tion with finance leases, ownership is attributed to the lessee in cases 
in which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership (IAS 17). In such cases, leases are capitalized 
as of the date of the lease agreement at their fair value or at the lower 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Depreciation is recog
nized by the straightline method over the useful life or over the lease 
term if it is shorter. The discounted value of payment commitments in 
connection with the lease payments is disclosed under other liabilities.

Finance lease agreements for which KUKA Group is the lessor are rec
ognized as a sales and financing transaction. A receivable is valued at 
the amount of the net investment in the lease and the interest income 
is recognized in the income statement.
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To the extent that KUKA Group has entered into operating leases (as a 
lessee) according to IAS 17, lease or rent payments are directly recog
nized as an expense in the income statement and distributed using the 
straightline method over the term of the leasing agreement, unless a 
different systematic basis more closely corresponds with the utilization 
period. Relevant total future costs are reported in note 30.

Financial instruments

KUKA Group holds both primary financial instruments (e. g. trade receiv
ables or trade payables) and derivative financial instruments (e. g. trans
actions to hedge the risks of changes in fair value).

Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value is 
derived from the price of an underlying asset (e. g. stocks, bonds, money 
market instruments or commodities) or a reference rate (such as cur
rencies, indices or interest rates). They require little or no initial invest
ment and are settled at a future date. Examples of derivative financial 
instruments include options, forward contracts and interest rate swap 
transactions. KUKA Group only uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge foreign currency risk.

Under IAS 39 the following categories of financial instrument are rele
vant to KUKA Group (see note 29):

 › Loans and receivables
 › Financial instruments held to maturity 
 › Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading with 

 measurement at fair value through profit or loss 
 › Availableforsale financial assets 
 › Other financial liabilities (financial liabilities measured at 

 amortized cost)

As a general rule, financial instruments are initially recognized when the 
asset is delivered to or by KUKA (settlement date accounting). Subse
quent measurement takes place either at fair value or at amortized cost, 
depending on the measurement category (see also note 29).

 › Measurement of loans and receivables, financial instruments held to 
maturity and other financial liabilities takes place at amortized cost 
after initial recognition. 

 › Subsequent measurement of financial assets or financial liabilities 
held for trading takes place at fair value through profit or loss. 

 › Availableforsale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value but are not recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives

KUKA Group recognizes all derivatives at fair value as of the settle
ment date. The fair value is determined with the aid of standard finan
cial mathematical techniques, using current market parameters such 
as exchange rates and counterparty credit ratings (marktomarket 
method) or quoted prices. Middle rates are used for this calculation.

Derivatives are used to hedge currency fluctuations. 

Derivatives with a positive fair value are recognized under other assets. 
If the fair value of derivatives is negative, this results in recognition 
under other liabilities.

Investments in non-consolidated companies  
and financial investments

In KUKA Group, investments in continuing business units that are not 
material to the net assets, financial position and performance of the 
Group are reported under availableforsale financial assets. They are 
recognized at cost of purchase. Current market values are not available, 
since no shares are traded in an active market.

Receivables and other assets

Receivables and other assets are recognized at amortized cost, applying 
the effective interest method with appropriate discounts for all identi
fied individual risks. General credit risk, if detectable, is also accounted 
for by appropriate valuation allowances. For this purpose, these finan
cial assets are grouped in accordance with similar default risk charac
teristics and are collectively tested for impairment, and written down if 
necessary. When calculating any such impairment losses, the empirical 
default history is taken into account in addition to contractually stipu
lated payment flows.

The carrying amount of the assets is lowered using separate allowance 
accounts for impairment losses. Actual defaults result in a writeoff of 
the receivables in question. The maximum theoretically possible default 
risk corresponds to the carrying amounts. The carrying amounts largely 
correspond to the market values.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at cost and include all cash 
funds recognized on the balance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, checks and 
cash balances at financial institutions with a remaining term of three 
months or less. Securities with an original remaining term of more than 
three months are not recognized in this item but under other assets. 

Liabilities

Liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet at amortized cost. Paya
bles arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value of 
future lease payments.
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Longterm liabilities with a term of more than one year are discounted to 
the balance sheet date on the basis of appropriate interest rates where 
the interest effect is material.

On initial recognition, financial liabilities are carried at fair value less 
transaction costs. They are measured at amortized cost in subsequent 
periods; any difference between the amount paid out (less transaction 
costs) and the settlement value is recognized in the interest result for 
the term of the loan using the effective interest method. Fees incurred 
when setting up credit lines are capitalized as credit transaction costs 
and are recognized as interest expense over the term of the correspond
ing loan commitment. 

Trade payables also include payments due on outstanding supplier 
invoices. KUKA Group has launched a supplier finance program for the 
purpose of managing trade payables. A separate agreement is made for 
each supplier based on a framework agreement with banks in which the 
supplier can discount authorized receivables at the bank at any time (i. e. 
those that have been approved by KUKA). KUKA Group pays the liability 
to the bank on the due date, irrespective of the supplier’s discounting 
date. This gives both suppliers and KUKA added flexibility and security.

Inventories

According to IAS 2, inventories are valued at average cost of acquisition 
or production. In addition to the direct unit costs, production costs also 
include appropriate costs for indirect materials and production over
heads according to IAS 2. Writedowns to lower net realizable value have 
been taken to the extent required. In addition to valuation allowing dis
posal at no net loss, these writedowns also cover all other inventory 
risk. If the reasons that led to a devaluation of inventories in the past 
no longer exist, impairment losses are reversed.

Current and deferred taxes

Tax receivables and liabilities are assessed using the expected amount 
of the reimbursement from or payment to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded according to IAS 12 for 
all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities on the Group balance sheet and their recognized value for 
tax purposes (liability method) as well as for tax loss carryforwards. 
Deferred tax assets for accounting and valuation differences as well as 
for tax loss carryforwards are only recognized to the extent that there is 
a sufficiently probable expectation that the corresponding benefit will 
be realized in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not dis
counted. Deferred tax assets are netted against deferred tax liabilities 
if the tax creditor is the same.

Pension provisions and similar obligations

The measurement of pension provisions and similar obligations is per
formed according to IAS 19. Pensions and similar obligations comprise 
obligations of KUKA Group to pay benefits under defined benefit plans. 
Company obligations from defined benefit plans are determined sep
arately for each defined benefit plan according to actuarial principles. 
First the retirement benefits are estimated that employees have earned 
in return for their service in the current period and prior periods. Then 
these benefits are discounted using the projected unit credit method. In 
addition to known pensions and vested benefits as of the balance sheet 
date, this method also takes expected future increases in salaries and 
pensions into account. The calculation is based on actuarial reports that 
must be prepared annually based on biometric data. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income in the period dur
ing which they arise. The company determines the net interest expense 
(net interest income) by multiplying the net liability (net asset value) 
at the beginning of the period with the underlying interest rate of the 
discount of the gross defined benefit pension obligation at the begin
ning of the period. Past service cost due to changes to the plan is rec
ognized directly in the period in which the change occurs. The standard 
return on plan assets is recognized in the amount of the discount rate 
applied to pension obligations. Administrative expenses for plan assets 
are recognized as part of the revaluation component in other compre
hensive income, whereas other administrative costs are allocated to 
operating profit at the time the costs are incurred. Insurers hold rein
surance coverage for excess obligations from preretirement schemes 
(Altersteilzeit) based on the “block model”. This is recognized using the 
same interest rate as the corresponding liability. The amount added for 
obligations from preretirement schemes is proportional to the amounts 
in the applicable collective bargaining agreements.

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized in the event that there is a current obli
gation to third parties arising from a past event. It must be possible to 
estimate the amount reliably, which must then more likely than not 
lead to an outflow of future resources. Provisions are only recognized 
for legal and constructive obligations to third parties.
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Provisions are recognized for costs of restructuring to the extent that a 
detailed, formal restructuring plan has been created and communicated 
to the parties affected by it and it is highly probable that the company 
can no longer withdraw from these obligations.

No provisions are recognized for future expenses, since these do not 
represent an external obligation.

Liabilities in the personnel area such as vacation pay, flextime credits 
and the statutory German preretirement scheme (Altersteilzeit) are 
recognized under other liabilities.

Liabilities for outstanding vendor invoices are recognized under trade 
payables.

Provisions are classified as current when it is expected they will be used 
within the normal business cycle. This may extend for longer than a year 
in individual cases. Longterm provisions with a term of more than one 
year are discounted to the balance sheet date on the basis of appropri
ate interest rates where the interest effect is material.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

A noncurrent asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if the 
associated carrying amount is mainly realized by a sales transaction or 
a distribution to shareholders and not by continued use. For this to be 
the case, the asset (or disposal group) in its current state under condi
tions that are established practice and common for the sale /distribution 
of such assets (or disposal groups) must be immediately available for 
sale /distribution and such sale /distribution must be highly probable. 
Noncurrent assets and disposal groups held for sale are measured at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less disposal costs, unless 
the items presented in the disposal group do not fall within the meas
urement rules of IFRS 5.

Share-based compensation 

Also in the 2015 financial year KUKA employees of German companies 
had the opportunity to purchase KUKA shares as part of an employee 
share program. Arranged according to a holding period (vesting period) 
of one, three and five years, employees receive an additional share as 
a bonus share for every ten KUKA shares acquired. Rights to additional 
shares are forfeited if the employment relationship of the beneficiary 
is terminated before the end of the vesting period. A 50% incentive 
in the form of extra shares was granted in addition to the subscribed 
shares. The total number of incentive shares was limited to 75,000 as 
in the previous year. KUKA employees acquired a total of 46,070 shares; 
23,035 incentive shares were credited. The KUKA share price at the time 
the shares were granted was € 76.45 (2014: € 43.80). This results in an 
expense of € 1.8 million (2014: € 1.4 million) for the 2015 financial year, 
which was recognized as other operating expenses. 

In addition to the employee share program, KUKA also has an annual 
phantom share program for the executive management team, which was 
introduced in 2012. The phantom share program for the years 2015 to 
2017 is measured as a cashsettled, equitylinked remuneration instru
ment using the fair value at each respective balance sheet date. The 
measurement parameters correspond to the phantom share program 
of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Executive Board. The entitlements are paid 
out at the end of the contractually agreed period. Early payment is pos
sible only under certain conditions when leaving the Group. An amount 
of € 10.6 million (2014: € 15.6 million) was set aside at December 31, 
2015 for future claims arising from the phantom share program for the 
executive management team. See the compensation report for further 
details about the structure of the phantom share program.

Assumptions and estimates
KUKA prepares its consolidated financial statements in compliance with 
the IFRS standards mandatory in the EU. In certain cases it is necessary 
for management to make assumptions and estimates. This is common 
practice in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial state
ments. These assumptions and estimates may change over time and 
differ from the actual amounts determined at a later time. Moreover, 
management could have made different assumptions and estimates in 
the same reporting period for similarly justifiable reasons. In the appli
cation of accounting policies, the company has made the following dis
cretionary decisions, which in some cases have a significant effect on 
the amounts in the annual financial statements. These do not include 
those decisions that represent estimates.

It is necessary to make assumptions and estimates, in particular when 
addressing the following accounting items:

 › Definition of the scope of consolidation
 › Calculation of fair value
 › Development costs
 › Goodwill impairments
 › Deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards
 › Trade receivables
 › Receivables and liabilities from construction contracts
 › Pensions and other postemployment benefits
 › Provisions
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Definition of the scope of consolidation

Subsidiaries are those companies over which KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
has existing rights enabling it currently to direct their significant oper
ations. Significant operations are business operations which have a 
material impact on the profitability of a company. Control is therefore 
only present if KUKA Aktiengesellschaft is exposed to variable returns 
as a result of its relationship with a company and has the possibility 
to influence these returns through its power to control the significant 
operations. As a rule, the possibility of exercising control is based on 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft having direct or indirect majority voting rights. 
However, since further parameters are required for the assumption of 
control over a subsidiary (such as, for example, additional contractual 
agreements), a judgment must always be made on the overall construct 
and on this basis an assessment concerning the type of consolidation to 
be applied. Joint ventures have their basis in joint agreements. A joint 
agreement is present if KUKA Group shares the management of activities 
conducted with a third party on the basis of a contractual agreement. 
Joint management is only present if decisions on significant activities 
require unanimous agreement from the parties involved. In the case of 
joint ventures the parties exercising the joint management hold rights 
to the net assets of the agreement. Joint ventures are accounted for 
according to the equity method. Associates are also measured by the 
equity method for which as a rule KUKA Aktiengesellschaft exercises 
significant influence based on a shareholding of between 20% and 50%. 
In both cases all the parameters of the particular relationship are exam
ined for the type of consolidation and the assessment made concerning 
the type of consolidation.

Calculation of fair value

IFRS 13 defines how to determine fair market value and expands on 
 disclosures related to the fair market value. The standard does not 
include any requirements regarding the cases for which fair value is 
to be used. Here, fair value is defined as the price that would be paid by 
independent market participants in an arm’s length transaction at the 
evaluation date if an asset were sold or a liability transferred. In accord
ance with IFRS 13, assets and liabilities evaluated at market values are 
to be attributed to the three levels of the fair value hierarchy. The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1
Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly  
or indirectly

Level 3
Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable  
market data.

Development costs

Development costs are recognized as assets in accordance with the meth
ods described under accounting policies. For the purpose of testing the 
potential impairment of the amounts recognized as assets, manage
ment must make assumptions concerning the expected future cash 
flows from assets, the applicable discount rates and the timing of the 
inflow of expected future cash flows. Moreover, assumptions must be 
made regarding costs yet to be incurred and the period until completion 
for projects that are still in the development stage.

Goodwill

Assets recognized as goodwill are tested at least once a year for impair
ment in KUKA Group. This requires an estimate to be made of the value 
in use for each cash generating unit to which the goodwill has been 
attributed. To determine the value in use, management must estimate 
the future cash flows of the respective cash generating units and select 
an appropriate discount rate for calculating the present value of these 
cash flows. The selected discount rate, for example, is influenced by vola
tility in capital markets and interest rate trends. The expected cash flows 
are also influenced by fluctuations in exchange rates and the expected 
economic developments. Furthermore, continuous review is necessary 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. In addi
tion to changes in individual parameters that affect computation such 
as a significant increase in market yields, a particular focus is placed 
on changes with an adverse effect on the company in the technolog
ical, market, economic or legal environment in which it operates. By 
means of these indicators KUKA regularly observes whether a triggering 
event is present that would necessitate an impairment test in accord
ance with IAS 36 for goodwill, but also for other noncurrent assets. For 
details about the carrying amounts of the assets recognized as good
will and the performance of the impairment tests please refer to the 
discussion under note 7. 

Deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards

Deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards are recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable income will be available such that the loss 
carryforwards can actually be used. The determination of the amount 
of deferred tax assets requires an estimate on the part of management 
of the expected timing and amount of anticipated future taxable earn
ings as well as future tax planning strategies. For details please refer to 
the discussion under note 5.
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Trade receivables

Impairment of doubtful receivables involves making significant esti
mates and assessments regarding individual receivables based on the 
creditworthiness of the respective customer, the current economic 
trends and the analysis of historical bad debts on a portfolio basis. As 
far as the company derives the impairment on a portfolio basis using 
historical default rates, a decrease in the volume of receivables reduces 
such provisions accordingly and vice versa.

Receivables and liabilities from construction contracts

Longterm construction contracts are recognized using the percentage 
of completion method. A significant share of business in the Systems 
and Swisslog segments in particular is related to longterm construction 
contracts. Revenues are reported based on the percentage of comple
tion. A careful estimate of the progress toward completion is essential 
here. Depending on the method used to determine the percentage of 
completion, the most important estimates include the total order costs, 
the costs yet to be incurred until completion, the total project revenues 
and risks as well as other assessments. The management team respon
sible for the respective project continuously monitors all estimates on 
a monthly basis and adjusts these as needed.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
 
Expenditures under definedbenefit plans and other postemployment 
benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. The actu
arial calculations are prepared on the basis of assumptions with respect 
to discount rates, future increases in wages and salaries, mortality rates 
and future pension increases. In line with the longterm orientation of 
these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainties. 
Please see note 23 for further details. 

Provisions

To a large degree, the designation and measurement of provisions for 
impending losses from contracts, of provisions for warranty obligations 
and of litigation provisions involve making estimates.
 
Longterm construction contracts in particular are awarded based on 
invitations to tender. KUKA recognizes a provision for impending losses 
when the current estimated total costs arising from the respective con
tract exceed the expected total revenue. These estimates may change 
due to new knowledge as the project progresses. Deficit orders are iden
tified based on continuous project costing. This requires an assessment 
of the performance standards and warranty costs. 

KUKA Group is confronted with litigation in different areas. These pro
ceedings can lead to criminal or civil sanctions or fines. A provision is 
always recognized when it is likely an obligation will result that will 
lead to future cash outflows and the amount of which can be relia
bly assessed. The underlying issues are often complex and associated 
with great uncertainties. Judgment whether a present obligation aris
ing from a past event is to be recognized on the balance sheet date, 
whether future cash outflows are probable and the obligation can be 
reliably assessed is therefore largely at the discretion of management. 
The company, with the assistance of external legal professionals, regu
larly assesses the respective stage of the proceeding. New findings can 
change the assessment and it may be necessary to adjust the provision 
accordingly. For further details please refer to note 24.

Changes in accounting policies

KUKA Group did not apply any standards or interpretations for the first 
time in the 2015 financial year that have a material effect on the Group’s 
net assets, financial position or performance. The following revised 
standard and interpretation were applied for the first time in the con
solidated financial statements in the 2015 financial year:

 › IFRIC 21, Levies
 › Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013

The amendments are explained once again in more detail below:

IFRIC 21 – Levies

IFRIC 21 is an interpretation of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabil
ities and Contingent Assets. It provides clarification in particular on 
when a present obligation due to levies imposed by governments is to 
be recognized and when a provision or liability is to be reported. The 
new interpretation has no material impact on KUKA Group's consoli
dated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013

Changes were made to four standards in the context of Annual Improve
ments 2011 – 2013. The amended wordings in individual IFRS standards 
provide clarification on existing regulations. The affected standards are 
IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13 and IAS 40.

The changes have no material impact on the present financial statements.

Altogether, the following standards, standard adjustments and inter
pretations were approved by the balance sheet date and have in part 
already been adopted into EU law:

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 Group Notes

88



Standard /Interpretation Effective date Planned applica
tion by KUKA AG

Amendments to IFRS 11 – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 1 – Notes January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 –  
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of  
Depreciation and Amortization

January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 – 
 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 19 – DefinedBenefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions

January 1, 2015 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 27 – Equity Method in 
Separate Financial Statements

January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 February 1, 2015 Financial 2016

Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 January 1, 2016 Financial 2016

Amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows January 1, 2017 Financial 2017

Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes January 1, 2017 Financial 2017

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments January 1, 2018 Financial 2018 *

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

January 1, 2018 Financial 2018 *

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture

n.a. ** n.a.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – 
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception

January 1, 2016 Financial 2016 *

IFRS 16 – Leases January 1, 2019 Financial 2019

 * Pending adoption (endorsement) by the European Union.
 **  Initial application by the IASB has been postponed indefinitely

Reporting changes

In respect of acquisitions made during the preceding year, KUKA Group 
has further optimized its internal reporting and also attained an accurate 
presentation of the net assets, financial position and performance. This 
has resulted in minor changes to the presentation of external reports in 
respect of the income statement and the cash flow statement. The pre
vious year’s figures have been adapted accordingly to allow comparison.

In particular the following changes of presentation which affect the 
income statement have been made:

 › As well as the reconciliation of the operating profit to the EBIT (earn
ings before interest and taxes), the EBIT will from now on be addi
tionally reconciled to the EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization). As a result of this, amortization of 
capitalized borrowing costs for intangible assets was also reclassified 
from the reconciliation of the operating profit to EBIT to the recon
ciliation of EBIT to EBITDA. 

 › Since the start of the 2015 financial year, currency translation gains 
and losses from the operating areas (for instance receivables or lia
bilities for goods and services in foreign currency) have been reported 
within the cost of sales. The effects of currency exchange rates arising 
from financial activities, on the other hand, are reported as a balance 
within other interest charges and similar income and expenses. This 
change in reporting has led in the previous year’s comparative fig
ures to reclassification of € 42.0 million from other operating income 
and € 47.7 million from other operating expenses to the cost of sales 
(€ 5.3 million) and to other interest and similar expenses (€ 0.4 mil
lion). Whilst the earnings after taxes remain unaffected, the reclassi
fication results in a lower EBIT (€ 0.2 million) together with a financial 
result reduced by this amount.

The following changes in presentation were made in the cash flow 
statement:

 › From 2015 onwards, dividends received will be shown within the 
investment cash flow instead of within the operating cash flow. 

 › Based on DRS 21, interest paid and grants received will no longer be 
shown within the operating cash flow but instead within the financ
ing cash flow. Implementation of this change for 2014 results in an 
increase of € 17.7 million in operating cash flow and an increase of 
€ 8.6 million in investment cash flow. This results in a free cash flow 
figure € 26.3 million higher and a financing cash flow figure € 26.3 mil
lion lower.

Explanation of items in the financial 
statements

Notes to the Group income statement

1. Sales revenues

Sales revenues include fees and charges billed to customers for goods 
and services less any sales deductions. Sales revenues primarily include 
delivered products and downstream services. Services account for 
€ 175.9 million (19.3%) in sales revenues in the Robotics division as com
pared to € 155.2 million (18.6%) reported last year. At Swisslog, services 
account for € 251.3 million (40.5%) in sales revenues. Services play a less 
significant role in the Systems division. The breakdown of sales revenues 
by business division and region is shown in Group segment reporting.

In connection with construction contracts, sales revenues in the amount 
of € 1,687.0 million were recognized in the reporting year (compared 
to € 1,043.1 million the previous year) according to the percentage of 
completion method.

89



2.  Cost of sales, selling expenses,  
research & development expenses and general and 
administrative expenses

The following is a breakdown of the cost of sales, selling expenses, research 
and development expenses and general and administrative expenses:

Cost of sales Selling expenses Research and development 
expenses

General and administrative 
expenses

Total

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Cost of materials 1,043.8 1,503.0 1.2 6.8 13.5 11.2 0.2 5.0 1,058.7 1,526.0

Personnel expense 404.2 596.4 83.0 129.1 41.5 61.4 91.6 141.3 620.3 928.2

Amortization 19.8 77.6 2.1 10.9 11.0 13.1 10.0 18.7 42.9 120.3

Other expenses and income 107.7 90.9 74.7 104.4 12.2 19.7 31.7 48.1 226.3 263.1

Total 1,575.5 2,267.9 161.0 251.2 78.2 105.4 133.5 213.1 1,948.2 2,837.6

Generally, the individual functional costs can be observed to include a rise 
in expenditure due to both the organic growth of KUKA Group and acquisi
tions, notably of Swisslog Group, which were not yet recognized in the 2014 
income statement. Foreign currency gains and losses from operational 
foreign currency transactions totaling € 4.6 million (2014: € 5.3 million) 
were recognized in other expenses and income under the cost of sales.

The cost of sales comprised under other expenses includes finance costs 
for receivables from construction contracts amounting to € 2.6 million 
compared to € 3.2 million the previous year. This was calculated on 
the basis of the Group capitalization rate of 3.3% (2014: 5.5%). The 
research & development expenses include € 0.6 million amortization of 
borrowing costs capitalized in prior years (2014: € 0.6 million).

Personnel costs are directly allocated to the functional areas. The fol
lowing figures result:

in € millions 2014 2015

Wages and salaries 520.8 760.6

Social security payments and contributions for 
retirement benefits and provident funds 99.5 167.6

(of that for retirement benefits) (6.8) (26.2)

Personnel costs 620.3 928.2

Annual average employees and employees at the balance sheet date in 
KUKA Group:

Annual average Balance sheet date

Employees by functional areas 2014 2015 Total 2014 Total 2015 of which,  
Germany

of which,  
abroad

Manufacturing 8,654 9,138 8,770 8,665 2,689 5,976

Sales 1,190 1,367 1,231 1,394 531 863

Administration 1,153 1,191 1,180 1,164 470 694

Research and development 507 659 549 729 602 127

 11,504 12,355 11,730 11,952 4,292 7,660

Apprentices 343 353 372 348 254 94

Total 11,847 12,708 12,102 12,300 4,546 7,754
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3. Other operating income and expenses

The line items under other operating income and expenses capture 
income and expenses that are not allocated to the functional catego
ries cost of sales, selling expenses, research & development expenses, 
general and administrative expenses or otherwise reported separately.

The income from the disposals of HLS Group and the Tools and Dies 
business unit is included under other operating income (2015: € 23.0 mil
lion; 2014: € 9.8 million). 

Other operating expenses (2015: € 14.8 million; 2014: € 16.1 million) 
include other taxes amounting to € 5.9 million compared to € 4.8 million 
the previous year. The previous year’s figure also included consultancy 
costs of € 5.2 million in connection with the purchase of Swisslog Group.

4. Financial result

Based on the scope of transactionrelated nonrecurring items, the finan
cial result in the following table is broken down into the current result 
and the result from nonrecurring items.

in € millions 2014 2015

Interest income from finance lease 6.2 6.9

Remaining interest and similar income 2.5 1.4

Other interest and similar income 8.7 8.3

Interest component for allocations to   
pension provisions 2.7 2.5

Guarantee commissions 0.7 0.7

Interest expense for the convertible bond 6.8 6.2

Interest expense for the promissory note loan – 0.8

Interest expense for the corporate bond 5.6 –

Financing costs reclassified to operating 
results and capitalized 3.5 2.9

Foreign currency gains and losses 0.4 0.3

Remaining interest and similar expenses 3.2 4.9

Other interest and similar expenses 15.9 12.5

Current financial result -7.2 -4.2

Oneoff charge on Syndicated Senior Facilities 
Agreement 0.4 1.3

Interest hedge for the promissory note loan – 1.9

Interest expense from the repurchase of 
 corporate bond shares 17.7 –

Financial result -25.3 -7.4

Remaining interest and similar income comes from shortterm deposits 
of cash at banks and investments in commercial papers. Financing costs 
reclassified to operating results and capitalized concern finance costs 
to be accrued according to IAS 23. The interest component for alloca
tions to pension provisions amounted to € 2.5 million (2014: € 2.7 million). 
Remaining interest and expenses also include ongoing expenses for 
accessing the cash line from the syndicated loan and the ABS program. 

The KUKA Aktiengesellschaft bond issued in November 2010 (original 
nominal amount: € 202.0 million) was repaid in line with the market on 
May 15, 2014 at a rate of 108.33%. This resulted in a nonrecurrent inter
est expense of € 17.7 million. 

5. Taxes on income /deferred taxes

Tax expense
Income tax expense breaks down by origin as follows:

in € millions 2014 2015

Current taxes 51.8 61.2

(of that relating to other periods) (0.2) (6.7)

Deferred taxes 6.6 21.9

from temporary differences (14.0) (19.2)

from loss carryforwards (7.4) (2.7)

Tax expense 45.2 39.3

Of the current expenses for tax on earnings, € 11.1 million is attrib
utable to domestic expenditure compared to € 16.3 million in 2014, 
whereas € 50.1 million is attributable to foreign expenditure compared 
to € 35.5 million in 2014. 

Deferred tax expenses of € 4.3 million are attributable to domestic oper
ations and € 17.6 million to foreign. This compares with € 1.9 million and 
€ 8.5 million respectively in 2014. 
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The expected tax expense based on earnings before taxes and the appli
cable tax rate for the KUKA companies in Germany of 30.0% (2014: 
30.0%) leads to the following actual tax expense: 

in € millions 2014 2015

Earnings before tax expense 113.3 125.6

Expected tax expense 34.0 37.7

Tax raterelated differences 5.9 4.8

Tax reductions due to taxexempt income 4.5 9.8

Tax increases due to nondeductible expenses 3.4 6.8

Tax arrears (+) /tax credits (–) for prior years 1.0 9.4

Changes to allowance on deferred taxes 3.8 6.2

Firsttime recognition of previously 
 unrecognized deferred tax assets on tax  
loss carryforwards 0.6 2.6

Change in deferred taxes on permanent 
differences 1.2 3.1

Tax impact of investments accounted for  
by the equity method 0.8 1.0

Other differences 0.2 1.5

Taxes on income (actual tax expense) 45.2 39.3

The applicable tax rate in Germany comprises corporate income tax 
(Körperschaftsteuer) of 15.0%, earned income tax (Gewerbesteuer) 
based on a uniform tax rate of 14.2% and the reunification tax (Soli
daritätszuschlag) of 5.5%.

In principle, deferred taxes were recognized on the basis of the applica
ble tax rate for each company in question.
 
In addition to an existing corporate income tax credit, an amount equal 
to € 1.6 million results after discounting as a noncurrent tax receiva
ble effective December 31, 2015 (2014: € 3.2 million), and an amount of 
€ 1.8 million (2014: € 1.8 million) as a current tax receivable.

There are no tax credits for which deferred taxes would need to be 
accounted. 

Current tax expenses in other accounting periods totaling € 6.7 mil
lion (2014: tax income € 0.2 million) resulted from German and for
eign operations.

In the current financial year, there were taxfree capital gains on opera
tions in Germany. Current tax income of € 4.6 million in the USA attrib
utable to other accounting periods was recorded. For the external audits 
conducted mainly on German operations for the years 2005 to 2008, back 
payments in connection with balance sheet provisioning are expected.

Deferred taxes
The value of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to temporary differ
ences and tax loss carryforwards in the Group is associated with the 
following items: 

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

Total Total

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Noncurrent assets 10.9 10.8 100.1 89.3

Current assets 93.9 69.1 73.0 53.7

Provisions 38.1 43.5 3.3 5.1

Liabilities 50.7 30.1 34.4 15.5

Subtotal 193.6 153.5 210.8 163.6

Balancing item 145.5 107.2 145.5 107.2

Valuation allowance 11.0 8.3 – –

Subtotal 37.1 38.0 65.3 56.4

Deferred taxes on tempo
rary differences 37.1 38.0 65.3 56.4

Deferred taxes on tax loss 
carryforwards 11.1 11.2 – –

Total 48.2 49.2 65.3 56.4

of that, from items 
recognized in equity 8.1 2.6 – –

Valuation allowances to the carrying amount of deferred tax assets are 
recognized if the realization of the expected benefit of the deferred taxes 
is not sufficiently probable. The estimates made are subject to change 
over time, which may result in the reversal of the valuation allowance 
in subsequent periods. 

The recognized values on the balance sheet are written off in the event 
that the tax benefits that they represent were no longer expected to 
be realized. 

In the loss carryforwards of € 292.5 million (2014: € 279.6 million), 
amounts totaling € 240.4 million (2014: € 227.0 million) are not consid
ered in the accounting of deferred taxes. 

Loss carryforwards amounting to € 63.4 million (2014: € 46.2 million) 
are available with a time limit and the remaining € 229.1 million (2014: 
€ 233.4 million) is not subject to a time limit. 
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The loss carryforwards for which deferred taxes were capitalized relate 
to the total loss carryforwards as follows:

Loss carryforwards for 
which deferred taxes were 

capitalized

Total existing loss 
 carryforwards

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Swisslog (Deutschland) 
GmbH 6.0 0.0 6.0 0.0

Reis GmbH & Co. KG 
Maschinenfabrik 10.1 0.0 34.3 46.8

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 15.4 28.5 69.3 82.3

Other 21.1 23.6 170.0 163.4

Total 52.6 52.1 279.6 292.5

Deferred tax income in the amount of € 2.6 million (2014: € 0.6 million) 
results from the recognition of deferred tax receivables on loss carryfor
wards from earlier periods which until now had not been included in or 
written down from the tax accrual /deferral. Deferred tax assets previ
ously recognized but not recognized in the current year in the amount 
of € 6.2 million (2014: € 3.8 million) were not reported. In accordance 
with IAS 12, deferred tax items must be recognized for the difference 
between the proportionate equity of a subsidiary recognized on the 
Group balance sheet and the investment carrying amount of this sub
sidiary on the tax balance sheet of the parent company (socalled “out
side basis differences”) if it is likely that this difference will be realized. 
Since both KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and the subsidiaries in question 
are corporations, these differences are predominantly taxexempt under 
section 8b of the Corporation Tax Law (KStG) upon realization and thus 
are permanent in nature. According to IAS 12.39, no deferred tax liability 
should be recognized even for temporary differences (e. g. those result
ing from the 5% flatrate allocation under section 8b KStG) if it is not 
likely, given control by the parent company, that these differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Since no such reversal is expected, no 
deferred tax items had to be recognized on the balance sheet for this 
purpose. There are outside basis differences in the amount of € 8.9 mil
lion (2014: € 42.1 million).

Overall, the change to deferred tax assets and liabilities of € 9.9 million 
(2014: € 18.2 million) came from amounts affecting net income totaling 
€ 21.9 million (2014: € 6.6 million) as well as, for the most part, amounts 
not affecting net income due to changes in pension obligations amount
ing to € 5.5 million and currency effects amounting to € 4.7 million as well 
as to corporate additions amounting to € 1.8 million.

Where loss carryforwards have not been written off, it is expected in 
the fiveyear planning period that this taxreducing potential will be 
utilized via taxable income, which is likely based on the expectations 
of Group companies. 
 

6. Earnings per share

Undiluted /diluted earnings per share break down as follows:

2014 2015

Net income /loss for the year after minority 
interests (in € millions) 68.1 86.3

Weighted average number of shares 
 outstanding (No. of shares) 34,169,423 36,138,486

Undiluted earnings per share (in €) 1.99 2.39

Diluted earnings per share (in €) 1.90 2.35

Undiluted earnings per share due to shareholders of KUKA Aktienge
sellschaft were calculated in accordance with IAS 33 and the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding for the year. There were 
33,915,431 shares outstanding at the beginning of 2014. The capital 
increase effected in November 2014 increased the number of shares by 
1,792,884. The resulting weighted average for shares outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 is 34,169,423.

From the 2013 convertible bond issue, 2,792,944 shares with a nominal 
value of € 102.8 million were converted in the fourth quarter of 2015. 
This led to the weighted average number of shares in circulation rising 
to 36,138,486 as of December 31, 2015.

Of the remaining volume of convertible bonds amounting to € 47.2 mil
lion, some stock dilution could arise in the future due to the conditional 
increase of capital. In the 2015 financial year the average price on the 
stock market due to excellent share price performance was higher than 
the conversion price of € 36.8067 on all trading days. As of the report
ing date too, the closing share price in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange was € 82.42 and thus higher than the conversion price. 
Therefore more units could potentially have been converted as of the 
reporting date. IAS 33.32 requires that all the potentially convertible 
shares (1,282,400) are taken into account when calculating the diluted 
earnings per share.
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Notes to the Group balance sheet: Assets
7. Intangible assets

Schedule of changes in intangible fixed assets in 2015 
The breakdown of the intangible fixed asset items and their develop
ment through the reporting period are shown in the following table.
 

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying amount

in € millions Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to 
 business  

combinations /
others

Reclassifications Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to  
business  

combinations / 
others

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

1. Rights and similar assets 224.1 15.8 11.7 0.4 2.9 0.6 254.7 54.4 – 71.2 – 0.9 124.7 130.0

2.  Selfdeveloped software and 
other development costs 49.2 1.9 18.9 29.8 5.1 0.2 45.1 18.9 0.1 16.6 28.4 – 7.0 38.1

3. Goodwill 232.9 17.1 – – 11.9 0.0 261.9 7.0 – 0.0 – – 7.0 254.9

4. Advances paid 4.5 – 0.0 – 4.1 0.4 0.0 – – – – – – 0.0

510.7 34.8 30.6 30.2 15.8 0.0 561.7 80.3 -0.1 87.8 28.4 -0.9 138.7 423.0

The column showing business combinations /others includes values 
from a disposal group pursuant to IFRS 5 (see note 28).

Schedule of changes in intangible fixed assets in 2014

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to 
 business  

combinations /
others

Reclassifications Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to  
business  

combinations / 
others

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2014

1. Rights and similar assets 61.1 1.6 9.1 0.3 152.6 – 224.1 46.9 1.0 8.8 0.3 2.0 54.4 169.7

2.  Selfdeveloped software and 
other development costs 31.5 0.0 6.8 4.1 15.0 – 49.2 13.4 – 9.6 4.1 – 18.9 30.3

3. Goodwill 66.4 1.0 – – 165.5 – 232.9 7.0 – – – – 7.0 225.9

4. Advances paid 0.8 – 0.0 0.6 4.3 – 4.5 – – – – – – 4.5

159.8 2.6 15.9 5.0 337.4 – 510.7 67.3 1.0 18.4 4.4 -2.0 80.3 430.4

Goodwill
Recognized goodwill amounts to € 254.9 million (2014: € 225.9 million). 
It is distributed across the cash generating units listed below. The table 
also shows the discount rates applied before taxes (weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC)). 

Profit Center

Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

in € millions Goodwill WACC (%) Goodwill WACC (%)

Aerospace 9.6 12.0 9.6 13.3

Assembly & Test 4.7 11.9 4.7 13.2

Body Structure 44.3 12.4 45.3 13.6

Reis Group 13.5 13.2 13.5 13.4

Robotics Automotive 3.8 13.1 3.8 13.7

Swisslog 148.2 – 176.2 8.0

Other 1.8 12.9 1.8 13.1

Total 225.9 254.9

As in previous years, the customer service business in the Robotics divi
sion is proportionately allocated to the profit centers “Automotive” and 
“General Industry”.

The Body Structure CGU and the Swisslog CGU were subject to the fol
lowing changes in the financial year: The changes in the Swisslog CGU 
are due to the adjustment of goodwill from initial consolidation, the 
acquisition of Forte and Swisslog Karlsruhe, and currency effects. Most 
of the changes in the Body Structure CGU resulted from currency effects.

The impairment test is based on a threeyear detailed planning period 
and increased steadiness in the last year of the detailed planning, i. e. on 
a steady return on sales, investments and depreciation. As in the previ
ous year, a moderate perpetual growth rate of 0.5% is applied. The dis
count rates applied in the financial year before taxes (weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC)) may be noted from the above table.
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Notes to the Group balance sheet: Assets
7. Intangible assets

Schedule of changes in intangible fixed assets in 2015 
The breakdown of the intangible fixed asset items and their develop
ment through the reporting period are shown in the following table.
 

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying amount

in € millions Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to 
 business  

combinations /
others

Reclassifications Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to  
business  

combinations / 
others

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

1. Rights and similar assets 224.1 15.8 11.7 0.4 2.9 0.6 254.7 54.4 – 71.2 – 0.9 124.7 130.0

2.  Selfdeveloped software and 
other development costs 49.2 1.9 18.9 29.8 5.1 0.2 45.1 18.9 0.1 16.6 28.4 – 7.0 38.1

3. Goodwill 232.9 17.1 – – 11.9 0.0 261.9 7.0 – 0.0 – – 7.0 254.9

4. Advances paid 4.5 – 0.0 – 4.1 0.4 0.0 – – – – – – 0.0

510.7 34.8 30.6 30.2 15.8 0.0 561.7 80.3 -0.1 87.8 28.4 -0.9 138.7 423.0

The column showing business combinations /others includes values 
from a disposal group pursuant to IFRS 5 (see note 28).

Schedule of changes in intangible fixed assets in 2014

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to 
 business  

combinations /
others

Reclassifications Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of  
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due to  
business  

combinations / 
others

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2014

1. Rights and similar assets 61.1 1.6 9.1 0.3 152.6 – 224.1 46.9 1.0 8.8 0.3 2.0 54.4 169.7

2.  Selfdeveloped software and 
other development costs 31.5 0.0 6.8 4.1 15.0 – 49.2 13.4 – 9.6 4.1 – 18.9 30.3

3. Goodwill 66.4 1.0 – – 165.5 – 232.9 7.0 – – – – 7.0 225.9

4. Advances paid 0.8 – 0.0 0.6 4.3 – 4.5 – – – – – – 4.5

159.8 2.6 15.9 5.0 337.4 – 510.7 67.3 1.0 18.4 4.4 -2.0 80.3 430.4

Goodwill
Recognized goodwill amounts to € 254.9 million (2014: € 225.9 million). 
It is distributed across the cash generating units listed below. The table 
also shows the discount rates applied before taxes (weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC)). 

Profit Center

Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

in € millions Goodwill WACC (%) Goodwill WACC (%)

Aerospace 9.6 12.0 9.6 13.3

Assembly & Test 4.7 11.9 4.7 13.2

Body Structure 44.3 12.4 45.3 13.6

Reis Group 13.5 13.2 13.5 13.4

Robotics Automotive 3.8 13.1 3.8 13.7

Swisslog 148.2 – 176.2 8.0

Other 1.8 12.9 1.8 13.1

Total 225.9 254.9

The cost of equity capital and borrowing costs were determined on 
the basis of segmentspecific peer groups. The peer group is made up 
of KUKA’s most important national and international competitors and 
thus includes companies with similar activity and product portfolios.

A key component used in determining WACC is the market risk premium 
of 6.95% for Swisslog; the market risk premium for all other CGUs is 
7.00% (2014: 6.25%). The beta factor was determined as a threeyear 
average of the respective peer group; it was 1.134 for Robotics Automo
tive (2014: 1.165), 1.139 for Aerospace, Assembly & Test, Body Structure 
(2014: 1.062), 1.134 for Reis Group (2014: 1.167) and 0.857 for Swisslog.

The ratios for the cost of equity capital and the cost of borrowed capi
tal were determined by CGU based on the average leverage ratios of the 
respective peer group for the last three years. As in the previous year, 
the tax rate used was 30.0% with the exception of Swisslog (18.5%).

A 1% higher WACC would only marginally influence the impairment 
of goodwill – as marginally as a reduction in sales revenues over the 
entire planning period by 10% with a correspondingly lower cash flow.
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Self-developed software and other product development costs
Total expenditures for research and development for the reporting period 
were € 105.4 million compared to € 78.2 million in 2014.

According to IAS 38, selfdeveloped software and other product develop
ment costs must be capitalized. For the purpose of such capitalization, 
KUKA Group uses the costs of production which include directly attribut
able costs as well as an appropriate allocation for overheads and depre
ciation. Borrowing costs are included in the production costs for qualify
ing assets based on the Group capitalization rate of 3.3% (2014: 5.5%).

In KUKA Group, development costs are recognized as assets mainly at 
KUKA Roboter GmbH and KUKA Systems GmbH and in Swisslog Group. 
The companies are working on several projects involving mechanical 
systems and power and control software for robots as well as new appli
cations in the area of medical technology and automation solutions. 
Borrowing costs of € 0.1 million (2014: € 0.3 million) were accounted for. 

In line with IAS 38, development costs with a carrying amount of 
€ 38.1 million (2014: € 30.3 million) are capitalized. Additions in the 2015 
financial year totaled € 18.9 million compared to € 6.8 million the previ
ous year. The items mainly concern selfproduced control software for 
robots, efficiency solutions for automation systems, ERP implementa
tion expenses and selfgenerated automation expenses.

The amortization of intangible fixed assets results from the statement 
of changes in intangible fixed assets (see above). The rise in sched
uled amortization of rights and similar assets (2015: € 71.2 million, 2014: 
€ 8.8 million) mostly results from the subsequent measurement of the 
rights and assets acquired and recognized at fair value in the context 
of the takeover of Swisslog Group in 2014. Impairment losses totaling 
€ 3.7 million were applied in connection with the development of a spe
cial machine and a software application. No impairment losses were 
recorded in the previous year.

8. Tangible assets

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2015 
The breakdown of the tangible asset items and their development 
through the reporting period are shown in the following table. The 
investment focuses of the financial year are described in the manage
ment report.

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2015

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange 
rate 

 differences 

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Land, similar rights and 
buildings including buildings 
on land owned by third 
parties 165.5 4.0 11.2 2.5 21.0 57.0 214.2 79.0 0.4 6.6 0.3 13.2 0.0 72.5 141.7

Technical plant and equip
ment 144.8 1.6 19.2 4.1 42.7 1.9 120.7 90.1 0.6 12.9 3.0 33.0 0.0 67.6 53.1

Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment 96.3 1.7 30.1 7.0 3.9 4.5 121.7 67.3 1.1 16.2 6.9 6.5 0.1 71.1 50.6

Advances paid and con
struction in progress 63.6 0.0 15.9 0.0 2.3 63.6 13.6 – – – – – – 0.0 13.6

470.2 7.3 76.4 13.6 -69.9 -0.2 470.2 236.4 2.1 35.7 10.2 -52.7 -0.1 211.2 259.0

The following amounts 
have been capitalized 
under “Technical plant and 
equipment” due to finance 
leases in which KUKA Group 
acts as the lessee: 4.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.0 0.0 0.5 4.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.0 0.0 0.2 0.3

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2014

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange 
rate 

 differences 

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

 combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 

2014

Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Land, similar rights and 
buildings including build
ings on land owned by third 
parties 120.9 2.6 11.5 0.1 28.6 2.0 165.5 73.0 0.8 5.4 0.1 0.1 – 79.0 86.5

Technical plant and  
equipment 122.0 1.9 12.2 2.8 13.6 2.1 144.8 83.6 1.2 9.3 2.5 0.0 1.5 90.1 54.7

Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment 83.0 1.4 13.4 3.8 0.5 1.8 96.3 61.4 1.0 10.4 3.6 1.9 – 67.3 29.0

Advances paid and  
construction in progress 25.7 0.2 41.3 – 1.5 5.1 63.6 – – – – – – 0.0 63.6

351.6 6.1 78.4 6.7 44.2 -3.4 470.2 218.0 3.0 25.1 6.2 -2.0 -1.5 236.4 233.8

The following amounts 
have been capitalized 
under “Technical plant and 
equipment” due to finance 
leases in which KUKA Group 
acts as the lessee: 4.7 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 4.4 3.9 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.3
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8. Tangible assets

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2015 
The breakdown of the tangible asset items and their development 
through the reporting period are shown in the following table. The 
investment focuses of the financial year are described in the manage
ment report.

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2015

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange 
rate 

 differences 

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2015

Land, similar rights and 
buildings including buildings 
on land owned by third 
parties 165.5 4.0 11.2 2.5 21.0 57.0 214.2 79.0 0.4 6.6 0.3 13.2 0.0 72.5 141.7

Technical plant and equip
ment 144.8 1.6 19.2 4.1 42.7 1.9 120.7 90.1 0.6 12.9 3.0 33.0 0.0 67.6 53.1

Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment 96.3 1.7 30.1 7.0 3.9 4.5 121.7 67.3 1.1 16.2 6.9 6.5 0.1 71.1 50.6

Advances paid and con
struction in progress 63.6 0.0 15.9 0.0 2.3 63.6 13.6 – – – – – – 0.0 13.6

470.2 7.3 76.4 13.6 -69.9 -0.2 470.2 236.4 2.1 35.7 10.2 -52.7 -0.1 211.2 259.0

The following amounts 
have been capitalized 
under “Technical plant and 
equipment” due to finance 
leases in which KUKA Group 
acts as the lessee: 4.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.0 0.0 0.5 4.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.0 0.0 0.2 0.3

Schedule of changes in KUKA Group’s tangible assets in 2014

Acquisition /manufacturing costs Acquisition /manufacturing costs Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Net carrying
amount

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange 
rate 

 differences 

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

 combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 

2014

Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2014

Exchange rate 
differences

Additions Disposals Change due 
to business 

combinations /
others

Reclassifica
tions *

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

Land, similar rights and 
buildings including build
ings on land owned by third 
parties 120.9 2.6 11.5 0.1 28.6 2.0 165.5 73.0 0.8 5.4 0.1 0.1 – 79.0 86.5

Technical plant and  
equipment 122.0 1.9 12.2 2.8 13.6 2.1 144.8 83.6 1.2 9.3 2.5 0.0 1.5 90.1 54.7

Other equipment, factory 
and office equipment 83.0 1.4 13.4 3.8 0.5 1.8 96.3 61.4 1.0 10.4 3.6 1.9 – 67.3 29.0

Advances paid and  
construction in progress 25.7 0.2 41.3 – 1.5 5.1 63.6 – – – – – – 0.0 63.6

351.6 6.1 78.4 6.7 44.2 -3.4 470.2 218.0 3.0 25.1 6.2 -2.0 -1.5 236.4 233.8

The following amounts 
have been capitalized 
under “Technical plant and 
equipment” due to finance 
leases in which KUKA Group 
acts as the lessee: 4.7 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 4.4 3.9 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.3

* The balance of reclassifications relates to the transfer of assets held for sale to inventories.
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The column showing business combinations /others includes values 
from a disposal group pursuant to IFRS 5 (see note 27).

The depreciation figures result from the schedule of changes shown 
above. There are no impairment losses in the year under review or the 
previous year.

Government grants
Grants and allowances of € 0.1 million (2014: € 0.2 million) were deducted 
from the acquisition or production costs of the tangible assets. 

Government grants totaling € 4.1 million (2014: € 4.1 million) were 
received and recognized as directly incomerelevant. There were no con
tingently repayable grants as of the balance sheet date.

9. Financial investments

Financial investments relate to equity investments where KUKA does 
not hold more than 10% of the voting rights.

10. Investments accounted for at equity

Taken individually or jointly, the three investments accounted for at 
equity are of minor significance for KUKA Group (2014: two ateq
uity investments). For this reason information in the notes pursu
ant to IFRS 12.B12 and B13 is omitted. The aggregate amount of the 
shares in the loss of the investments that has to be stated pursuant to   
IFRS 12.B16 is € 3.5 million (2014: € 2.6 million).

11. Finance leases

KUKA as a lessor
KUKA Toledo Production Operations LLC., Toledo, Ohio /USA (KTPO) man
ufactures Jeep Wrangler bodies under the terms of a payonproduction 
contract with Chrysler. The contract is set up as a finance lease with 
KUKA Group acting as lessor.

Because of the existing agreement to supply car bodies to Chrysler, 
the acquisition of the production system assets was not included on 
the balance sheet as an asset acquisition, but instead categorized as a 
finance lease in accordance with IFRIC 4 /IAS 17 guidelines and booked 
as a receivable from finance leases. A noncurrent lease receivable of 
€ 65.2 million (2014: € 66.1 million) and a current lease receivable of 
€ 8.5 million (2014: € 6.9 million) exist as of the balance sheet date. 
Sales revenues shown on KTPO’s balance sheet will thus be reduced by 
the fictitious leasing rate. The interest component included in the ficti
tious leasing rate is booked under interest result, while the repayment 
component of this payment reduces the receivables as per schedule.

Due to the arrangement of the dealing as a full payout lease agreement, 
future minimum lease payments correspond to the gross investment. 
The following table shows the reconciliation to the present value of the 
outstanding minimum lease payments:

in € millions 2014 2015

Future minimum lease payments /Finance 
lease gross investments 98.9 95.4

of that not later than one year 13.3 14.8

of that later than one year and not later 
than five years 53.0 80.6

of that later than five years 32.6 –

Unrealized financial income 25.9 21.7

Present value of outstanding minimum lease 
payments 73.0 73.7

of that not later than one year 6.9 8.5

of that later than one year and not later 
than five years 34.9 65.2

of that later than five years 31.2 –

KUKA as a lessee
The finance leases for technical plant and equipment have interest rates 
between 1.89% and 10.56% p. a. Future payments due for finance lease 
agreements as well as the present values for future leasing payments 
(the corresponding amounts are recognized under other liabilities) 
amount to € 0.3 million. In the previous year, both the minimum lease 
payments and the present values were € 0.2 million.

For information on operating lease agreements please see note 30 “Con
tingent liabilities and other financial commitments”. 

12. Inventories

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Raw materials and supplies 107.0 97.6

Work in process 104.5 127.9

Finished goods 41.4 53.4

Advances paid 19.5 18.9

Inventories 272.4 297.8

The carrying amount of inventories with adjusted valuation in the 
amount of € 134.1 million compares with € 155.3 million in 2014 and has 
been recognized at net realizable value. Writedowns, relative to gross 
value, amounted to € 52.7 million versus € 51.4 million in 2014.

13. Trade receivables

As of the balance sheet date, trade receivables amounted to € 310.6 mil
lion (2014: € 273.8 million) and have a term of less than one year. 
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15.  Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Non-current other assets

Noncurrent other receivables 7.3 8.9

Other 2.6 5.9

Total 9.9 14.8

Current other assets

Securities 3 to 12 months 22.3 9.2

Claims on revenue authorities 12.8 29.4

Other 35.9 48.5

Total 71.0 87.1

Other assets, prepaid expenses and  
deferred charges 80.9 101.9

Securities in the amount of € 9.2 million (2014: € 22.3 million) held at 
the balance sheet date are commercial papers with a remaining term 
of between three and twelve months. 

The claims on revenue authorities reported here are predominantly sales 
tax receivables.

The following table shows the financial instruments recognized under 
other assets as outlined in IFRS 7 according to age and impairment: 

in € millions Impaired 
receivables 

before 
recording of 
impairment 

losses

Impairment 
loss

Carrying 
amount of 

impaired 
receivables

Neither 
impaired 
nor past 

due as of 
the  balance 
sheet date

Net carrying 
amount

Dec. 31, 2014 2.3 2.1 0.2 38.0 38.2

Dec. 31, 2015 2.1 -1.8 0.3 36.7 37.0

The following table breaks down receivables by age and recoverability:

Not impaired as of the balance sheet date but in arrears by

in € millions Less than  
30 days

30 to  
60 days

61 to  
90 days

91 to  
180 days

More than 
180 days

Total of 
past due, 

unimpaired 
receivables

Impaired 
receivables 

before 
recording of 
impairment 

losses

Impairment 
loss

Carrying 
amount of 

impaired 
receivables

Neither 
impaired nor 

past due as 
of the bal
ance sheet 

date

Net carrying 
amount

As of  
Dec. 31, 2014 53.5 21.9 8.6 11.6 5.3 100.9 10.6 10.3 0.3 172.6 273.8

As of  
Dec. 31, 2015 47.7

18.5 7.4 14.0 9.0 96.6 14.3 -13.2 1.1 212.9
310.6

With respect to existing receivables that were neither impaired nor in 
arrears, there were no indications as of the balance sheet date that the 
obligors would not meet their payment obligations. 

Receivables of KUKA Roboter GmbH are regularly sold as part of ABS 
programs. See note 26 for more details.

Bad debt allowances on trade receivables developed as follows:

in € millions 2014 2015

Impairment losses as of Jan. 1 5.9 10.3

Change in scope of consolidation 4.4 0.2

Additions 2.2 6.3

Consumption 1.0 1.7

Reversals 1.2 1.5

Impairment losses as of Dec. 31 10.3 13.2

The total additions of € 6.3 million (2014: € 2.2 million) break down 
into additions for specific bad debt allowances of € 5.7 million (2014: 
€ 1.8 million) and lumpsum bad debt allowances of € 0.6 million (2014: 
€ 0.4 million). 

14. Receivables from construction contracts

For receivables from construction contracts, advances received have 
been offset against costs incurred in connection with the contract, 
including contributions to earnings on a per contract basis. This results 
in the following values as of the balance sheet date:

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Contract costs and recognized profits 2,157.1 2,542.6

Advances received 1,818.0 2,194.9

Receivables from construction contracts 339.1 347.7

Liabilities from construction contracts 247.6 217.0

Receivables from construction contracts have no specific due date and 
are not impaired.
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There are no other assets that are past due but not yet impaired as of 
December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

Impairment losses on other assets developed as follows:

in € millions 2014 2015

Impairment losses as of Jan. 1 2.3 2.1

Additions 0.0 0.1

Reversals 0.2 0.4

Impairment losses as of Dec. 31 2.1 1.8

 
16. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash funds recognized on the bal
ance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, checks and cash balances with financial 
institutions with a remaining term of three months or less. 

KUKA Group maintains bank balances exclusively at financial institutions 
with an excellent credit rating. Furthermore, funds to be invested are 
distributed across several financial institutions in order to diversify risk.

Cash and cash equivalents of € 3.2 million (2014: € 2.4 million) are sub
ject to restrictions. These are still related to company acquisitions made 
in the preceding years and to a governmentfunded contract in Brazil.

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Cash on hand 0.4 0.2

Cash and bank balances 189.3 492.8

Cash with limited availability 2.4 3.2

Total 192.1 496.2

Notes to the Group balance sheet:  
Equity and Liabilities
 
17. Equity

Changes in equity including changes with no effect on profit or loss are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

For more information on equity see the notes in the management report 
under “Disclosures in accordance with section 315 para. 4 of the Ger
man Commercial Code (HGB) including accompanying explanations”.

18. Subscribed capital

The company’s share capital amounts to € 100,103,273.40 (December 31, 
2014: € 92,841,619.00) and is subdivided into 38,501,259 shares (2014: 
35,708,315 shares). Each share carries one vote.

Convertible bond
In the fourth quarter of 2015, creditors of the convertible bond issued 
in 2013 made use of their conversion right. Due to the conversion dec
laration, new shares were created in accordance with the bond terms. 
Through the issue of new shares, the total number of KUKA shares has 
risen by 2,792,944, from 35,708,315 to 38,501,259 shares. 

The noparvalue bearer shares have a theoretical portion of the share 
capital amounting to € 2.60.

Pursuant to section 200 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), 
the issue of new shares caused the company’s share capital to rise by 
€ 7,261,654.40, from € 92,841,619.00 to € 100,103,273.40.

Capital increase as of November 2014
In November 2014 a capital increase was made excluding subscription 
rights through partial utilization of the authorized capital. By means of 
a fast bookbuilding process as part of a private placement to institu
tional investors, 1,792,884 new shares were issued. The placement price 
for the noparvalue bearer shares was € 49.00, signifying a theoreti
cal portion of the share capital of € 2.60 per noparvalue share (issue 
price). The placement was made against a cash contribution. The dif
ference between the placement price and the issue price is recognized 
in the capital reserve, taking account of commission and taxes. The 
company received the amount of € 86.6 million after deduction of the 
direct transaction costs.

After this capital increase, the share capital of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
is € 92,841,619.00, subclassified into 35,708,315 outstanding no par
value bearer shares. 

19. Capital reserve

The capital reserve applies to KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. The change com
pared to December 31, 2014 resulted from the conversion of units of 
the convertible bond referred to above. This saw recognized liabilities of 
€ 96.1 million exchanged for subscribed capital (€ 7.3 million) and capi
tal reserve (€ 88.8 million).

The change in the previous year was due to the difference between the 
issue price less costs and the nominal value resulting from the capital 
increase in 2014 referred to above. 
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20. Revenue reserves

The revenue reserves include:

 › The accumulated retained earnings of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft  
and its consolidated subsidiaries

 › Consolidation and exchange rate effects
 › Actuarial gains and losses included in provisions for pensions and 

the associated deferred taxes
 › Components from the employee share program for KUKA employees

Deferred taxes totaling € 2.6 million (2014: € 8.1 million) from transac
tions not recognized in profit or loss are included in equity. These are 
primarily attributable to actuarial gains and losses from pensions. 

Based on the resolution of the Annual General Meeting held in 2014, a 
dividend of € 0.40 per share was distributed in the 2015 financial year.

21. Balancing items for minority interests

During the third quarter of 2015, KUKA Group took over all outstand
ing shares in Swisslog Holding AG. Mainly as a result of this and of the 
disposals of HLS Group and the Tools and Dies business unit, the car
rying amount in equity arising from the minority holdings decreased 
from € 16.8 million to € 0.5 million, taking into account the effects of 
exchange rate variations and pro rata minority earnings. The remain
ing item relates to minority holdings in Faude Automatisierungstechnik 
GmbH, Gärtringen and Swisslog Middle East LLC, Dubai /United Arab 
Emirates.

22. Management of capital

The primary goal of managing capital for KUKA Group is to support ongo
ing business operations by providing adequate financial resources and 
to increase shareholder value.

This requires sufficient equity (equity ratio), liquidity (net liquidity), 
and a sufficient return on capital employed (ROCE). Management and 
controlling of the business divisions therefore also takes place based 
on these key indicators.

2014 2015

Equity € millions 541.1 732.5

 /Total equity € millions 1,979.5 2,381.7

Equity ratio % 27.3 30.8

EBIT € millions 141.8 135.6

 /Capital employed € millions 670.1 683.6

ROCE % 28.8 20.0

Cash and cash equivalents € millions 192.1 496.2

Noncurrent financial liabilities € millions 137.0 294.2

Current financial liabilities € millions 22.5 2.1

Net liquidity € millions 32.6 199.9

23.  Pension provisions and similar obligations

Pension provisions include liabilities from vested benefits and from cur
rent benefits paid to vested and former employees of KUKA Group as 
well as their surviving dependents. Depending on the legal, economic 
and tax situation in each of the countries concerned, various retirement 
benefit systems are in place that are as a rule based on employees’ length 
of service and compensation. 

Company retirement benefit coverage in the Group is provided through 
both defined contribution and defined benefit plans.

Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans in KUKA Group primarily concern plans in Germany 
and the United States. With the acquisition of Swisslog Group, mate
rial plans were added in Switzerland, the United Kingdom, Sweden and 
the United States as of December 31, 2014. The countryspecific char
acteristics and legal regulations relating to defined benefit plans are 
presented in the following. 

Germany
Obligations in Germany arise from agreements on company pension 
schemes concluded with various insurance institutions. The prerequi
sites regarding the type and amount of the entitlement depend on the 
worker’s age and number of years with the company. The benefits include 
the components oldage pension, disability pension, widow’s pension, 
death benefits and emergency assistance.

USA
The Systems division makes pension payments to its employees after 
they retire. Employees who entered the worker’s union before Septem
ber 14, 2004 are eligible to participate in the pension plan. The benefits 
are calculated on the basis of the rate applicable on the date they retire. 
This rate is composed of the years of service credited to the employee. 
Eligible employees are also provided with medical care. Owing to their 
benefit character, the obligations for postemployment medical bene
fits are also disclosed in this item according to IAS 19. These postem
ployment benefit provisions represent € 0.7 million (2014: € 0.8 million) 
of the total provisions and accruals. The Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act (ERISA) in the United States provides the legal and regula
tory framework for these plans.

The defined benefit plan of the Swisslog division exists for both the sal
aried workforce and the factory workers. Both plans are managed by an 
insurance company and are legally independent. Both are closed to new 
participants and are financed entirely by the employer. Swisslog Group is 
able to determine the distribution of the assets. The plans are designed 
to avoid the necessity to provision for the expenses of additional ben
efits. However, each individual savings basket bears a fixed percentage 
of interest (guaranteed minimum return).
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Switzerland
The plan is affiliated to a larger collective pension fund which is legally 
independent and exceeds the statutory minimum requirements in 
Switzer land (Occupational Old Age, Survivors’ and Invalidity Pension 
Provision, BVG). All employees in this are insured for the financial con
sequences of age, invalidity and death. Contributions to the collective 
pension fund are made by the employer and employees. Responsibility 
for investing the assets is borne by the board of the collective pension 
fund, whilst Swisslog Group is only able to define the investment style. 
In addition Swisslog Group sets the interest rate on the individual age 
tranches – subject to the statutory rules. In the event of a deficit for 
the Swisslog pension tranche within the collective pension fund, vari
ous measures can be taken such as a reduced interest rate or additional 
pension contributions. The level of cover pursuant to BVG exceeds 100% 
as of December 31, 2015. The Swiss pension plan is based on the BVG 
2010 generation tables (mod without risk sharing).

United Kingdom
The British defined benefit plan is also independent and has been closed 
to new participants since 2001. The assets are invested in an insurance 
fund. The plan is financed by the employer with the employees. Based 
on the statutory requirements a valuation is undertaken by an actuary 
every three years. In the event a deficit is calculated, it is necessary to 
establish a restructuring plan which also sets the future amortization 
payments to make good the deficit.

Sweden
The Swedish defined benefit plan is legally mandatory and is based on 
a collective agreement (agreement between the trade union and the 
Swedish employers). The plan cannot be changed by the company. The 
plan is available to all employees born before 1979. It covers the finan
cial consequences of age, invalidity and illness. There is a defined con
tribution plan for those employees born after 1979. The defined benefit 
plan is financed by the employer. The liability is covered by plan assets 
in a pension institution administered by an external insurance company.

Defined contribution plans
For the defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions to 
a public or private pension insurance carrier. Upon payment of the con
tributions, the company has no further obligations. Total payments for 
pensions under defined contribution plans in the amount of € 48.0 mil
lion compared to € 34.0 million in 2014 are disclosed as expenses for 
the particular year. This growth was primarily due to the contribution 
of Swisslog as of the 2015 financial year. Under defined benefit plans, 
the company incurs an obligation to provide the benefits promised by 
the plan to current and former employees.

Disclosures on actuarial assumptions
The amount of pension obligations (defined benefit obligation) was cal
culated by actuarial methods for which estimates are unavoidable. In 
addition to assumptions related to life expectancy, this involves assump
tions detailed below, which are dependent on the economic environment 
for each country in question:

Dec. 31, 2014 Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other

Demographic assumptions RT 2005 G BVG2010 AMC 00 /AFC 00
PCMA00 /PCFA00

FFFS 2007:31 RP 2014 diverse

Discount factor 1.90% 1.00% 3.70% 2.50% 3.80 – 3.95% 1.75 – 4.00%

Expected rate of return on assets n /a 1.00% 3.70% 2.50% 3.80 – 3.90% 1.75 – 4.00%

Wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50% 1.25% 4.20% 2.10% n /a 0.00 – 3.30%

Pension dynamics 1.75 – 2.50% 0.10% 3.20% 1.60% n /a 0.00 – 3.25%

Changes in cost of medical services n /a n /a n /a n /a 5.00 – 7.00% n /a

Dec. 31, 2015 Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other

Demographic assumptions RT 2005G BVG 2010 GT mod
without risk sharing

PMA08 /PFA08 FFFS 2007:31 RP 2014 RP 2006 
Blue Collar projected 

generational,  
scale MP 2015

diverse

Discount factor 2.20% 0.75% 4.00% 2.90% 4.12 – 4.25% 2.20 – 4.25%

Expected rate of return on assets n /a 0.75% 4.00% 2.90% 4.12 – 4.25% 2.20 – 4.25%

Wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50% 1.25% 3.30% 2.20% n /a 0.00 – 2.50%

Pension dynamics 1.00 – 2.50% 0.10% 3.20% 1.70% n /a 0.00 – 2.00%

Changes in cost of medical services n /a n /a n /a n /a 5.00 – 7.00% n /a

The discount factor is determined based on the returns from highquality, 
fixedrate corporate bonds.

Wage dynamics encompass future increases in wages and salaries that 
are estimated annually by reference to factors such as inflation and eco
nomic conditions, among others.
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Defined contribution plans
For the defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions to 
a public or private pension insurance carrier. Upon payment of the con
tributions, the company has no further obligations. Total payments for 
pensions under defined contribution plans in the amount of € 48.0 mil
lion compared to € 34.0 million in 2014 are disclosed as expenses for 
the particular year. This growth was primarily due to the contribution 
of Swisslog as of the 2015 financial year. Under defined benefit plans, 
the company incurs an obligation to provide the benefits promised by 
the plan to current and former employees.

Disclosures on actuarial assumptions
The amount of pension obligations (defined benefit obligation) was cal
culated by actuarial methods for which estimates are unavoidable. In 
addition to assumptions related to life expectancy, this involves assump
tions detailed below, which are dependent on the economic environment 
for each country in question:

Dec. 31, 2014 Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other

Demographic assumptions RT 2005 G BVG2010 AMC 00 /AFC 00
PCMA00 /PCFA00

FFFS 2007:31 RP 2014 diverse

Discount factor 1.90% 1.00% 3.70% 2.50% 3.80 – 3.95% 1.75 – 4.00%

Expected rate of return on assets n /a 1.00% 3.70% 2.50% 3.80 – 3.90% 1.75 – 4.00%

Wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50% 1.25% 4.20% 2.10% n /a 0.00 – 3.30%

Pension dynamics 1.75 – 2.50% 0.10% 3.20% 1.60% n /a 0.00 – 3.25%

Changes in cost of medical services n /a n /a n /a n /a 5.00 – 7.00% n /a

Dec. 31, 2015 Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other

Demographic assumptions RT 2005G BVG 2010 GT mod
without risk sharing

PMA08 /PFA08 FFFS 2007:31 RP 2014 RP 2006 
Blue Collar projected 

generational,  
scale MP 2015

diverse

Discount factor 2.20% 0.75% 4.00% 2.90% 4.12 – 4.25% 2.20 – 4.25%

Expected rate of return on assets n /a 0.75% 4.00% 2.90% 4.12 – 4.25% 2.20 – 4.25%

Wage dynamics 0.00 – 2.50% 1.25% 3.30% 2.20% n /a 0.00 – 2.50%

Pension dynamics 1.00 – 2.50% 0.10% 3.20% 1.70% n /a 0.00 – 2.00%

Changes in cost of medical services n /a n /a n /a n /a 5.00 – 7.00% n /a

The discount factor is determined based on the returns from highquality, 
fixedrate corporate bonds.

Wage dynamics encompass future increases in wages and salaries that 
are estimated annually by reference to factors such as inflation and eco
nomic conditions, among others.

The expected returns are derived from consensus forecasts for the 
respective asset classes. The forecasts are based on experience, eco
nomic data, interest forecasts and stock market expectations.

For funded plans, the pension obligations are reduced by an amount 
equal to the fund assets. If the fund assets exceed the defined bene
fit obligation, an asset is recognized according to IAS 19 and disclosed 
under other assets. If the fund assets do not cover the commitment, 
the net obligation is recognized as a liability under pension provisions.

Increases or decreases in either the present value of the defined bene
fit obligation or the fair value of the plan assets may give rise to actu
arial gains or losses. This may be caused by factors such as changes in 
actuarial parameters, changes to estimates for the risk profile of the 
pension obligations and differences between the actual and expected 
returns on the fund assets. 

The sensitivity analysis illustrates the extent to which changes in actu
arial assumptions would impact defined benefit obligations recognized 
as of December 31, 2015: 

Nature and degree of change  
in actuarial assumptions

in € millions

Present value 
of the defined 

benefit obligation 
after change

Change *

Increase in the discount rate  +0.25% 276.7 8.30

Decrease in the discount rate  0.25% 293.9 8.90

Pension increase  +0.25% 290.9 5.90

Pension reduction  0.25% 281.2 3.80

Increase in life expectancy +1 year 296.1 11.10

Decrease in life expectancy 1 year 274.3 10.70

Increase in wages and salaries  +0.25% 286.7 1.70

Decrease in wages and salaries  0.25% 283.5 1.50

 *  The changes in the actuarial assumptions have no linear impact on the calculation of 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation. Changing multiple assumptions 
simultaneously does not always correspond to the cumulative effect because there 
are interdependencies between factors. A new calculation of the defined benefit obli
gation must be made for each case. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in equity and offset 
against revenue reserves in the year in which they occur.

103



Funding status of defined benefit pension obligations

Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other Total

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Present value of pension benefits  
covered by provisions 83.8 75.9 – – – – – – – – 2.0 5.9 86.6 81.8

Present value of pension benefits  
based on plan assets – – 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 9.7 2.2 188.9 203.2

Defined benefit obligation 83.8 75.9 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 11.7 8.1 275.5 285.0

Fair value of plan assets – – 106.1 120.3 10.6 12.8 13.5 14.1 20.3 21.2 3.3 2.6 153.8 171.0

Net obligation as of Dec. 31 83.8 75.9 12.8 19.2 7.2 4.2 2.9 2.6 6.6 6.6 8.4 5.5 121.7 114.0

Reconciliation/Development of the defined benefit obligation
The reconciliation of the obligation for key items from the beginning to 
the end of the financial year breaks down as follows:

Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other Total

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Jan. 1 70.8 83.8 – 118.9 – 17.8 – 16.4 6.5 26.9 1.0 11.6 78.3 275.5

Change in scope of consolidation and  
other changes 0.2 3.2 118.9 – 17.8 – 16.4 – 18.8 – 10.3 4.0 182.5 0.8

Current service costs 0.5 0.7 – 4.0 – 0.2 – 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.7 5.8

Interest income (+) /interest expense (–) 2.5 1.6 – 1.3 – 0.7 – 0.4 0.2 1.1 – 0.2 2.7 5.3

Actuarial gains (+) /losses (–) 14.7 7.7 – 6.2 – 2.7 – 0.6 1.4 1.4 – 0.1 16.1 6.1

Plan curtailments and modifications – 0.5 – 1.3 – – – – – – – – – 1.8

Payments made 4.9 5.2 – 2.6 – 0.1 – 0.3 0.8 1.7 0.0 0.2 5.7 10.1

Translation gains /losses – – – 13.0 – 1.1 – 0.4 0.8 2.9 0.1 0.1 0.9 17.3

Dec. 31 83.8 75.9 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 11.6 8.1 275.5 285.0

 of that, funded by provisions (83.8) (75.9) – – – – – – (0.8) (0.0) (2.0) (5.9) (86.6) (81.8)

 of that, based on plan assets – – (118.9) (139.5) (17.8) (17.0) (16.4) (16.7) (26.1) (27.8) (9.6) (2.2) (188.9) (203.2)

Current service costs and interest expenses totaling € 11.1 million (2014: 
€ 3.4 million) compare to benefit payments of € 10.1 million during the 
financial year (2014: € 5.7 million). This rise was primarily due to the 
incorporation of Swisslog as of the 2015 financial year. In the 2015 finan
cial year currency effects of € 17.3 million (2014: € 0.9 million), mainly 
due to the Swiss franc and the US dollar, led to a notable increase in the 
defined benefit obligation. The plan curtailments set out are mostly due 
to the departure of employees in Switzerland.
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Funding status of defined benefit pension obligations

Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other Total

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Present value of pension benefits  
covered by provisions 83.8 75.9 – – – – – – – – 2.0 5.9 86.6 81.8

Present value of pension benefits  
based on plan assets – – 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 9.7 2.2 188.9 203.2

Defined benefit obligation 83.8 75.9 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 11.7 8.1 275.5 285.0

Fair value of plan assets – – 106.1 120.3 10.6 12.8 13.5 14.1 20.3 21.2 3.3 2.6 153.8 171.0

Net obligation as of Dec. 31 83.8 75.9 12.8 19.2 7.2 4.2 2.9 2.6 6.6 6.6 8.4 5.5 121.7 114.0

Reconciliation/Development of the defined benefit obligation
The reconciliation of the obligation for key items from the beginning to 
the end of the financial year breaks down as follows:

Germany Switzerland UK Sweden USA Other Total

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Jan. 1 70.8 83.8 – 118.9 – 17.8 – 16.4 6.5 26.9 1.0 11.6 78.3 275.5

Change in scope of consolidation and  
other changes 0.2 3.2 118.9 – 17.8 – 16.4 – 18.8 – 10.3 4.0 182.5 0.8

Current service costs 0.5 0.7 – 4.0 – 0.2 – 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.7 5.8

Interest income (+) /interest expense (–) 2.5 1.6 – 1.3 – 0.7 – 0.4 0.2 1.1 – 0.2 2.7 5.3

Actuarial gains (+) /losses (–) 14.7 7.7 – 6.2 – 2.7 – 0.6 1.4 1.4 – 0.1 16.1 6.1

Plan curtailments and modifications – 0.5 – 1.3 – – – – – – – – – 1.8

Payments made 4.9 5.2 – 2.6 – 0.1 – 0.3 0.8 1.7 0.0 0.2 5.7 10.1

Translation gains /losses – – – 13.0 – 1.1 – 0.4 0.8 2.9 0.1 0.1 0.9 17.3

Dec. 31 83.8 75.9 118.9 139.5 17.8 17.0 16.4 16.7 26.9 27.8 11.6 8.1 275.5 285.0

 of that, funded by provisions (83.8) (75.9) – – – – – – (0.8) (0.0) (2.0) (5.9) (86.6) (81.8)

 of that, based on plan assets – – (118.9) (139.5) (17.8) (17.0) (16.4) (16.7) (26.1) (27.8) (9.6) (2.2) (188.9) (203.2)

Current service costs and interest expenses totaling € 11.1 million (2014: 
€ 3.4 million) compare to benefit payments of € 10.1 million during the 
financial year (2014: € 5.7 million). This rise was primarily due to the 
incorporation of Swisslog as of the 2015 financial year. In the 2015 finan
cial year currency effects of € 17.3 million (2014: € 0.9 million), mainly 
due to the Swiss franc and the US dollar, led to a notable increase in the 
defined benefit obligation. The plan curtailments set out are mostly due 
to the departure of employees in Switzerland.

Reconciliation /Development of plan assets

The reconciliation of plan assets and asset classes at the close of the 
financial year breaks down as follows:

in € millions 2014 2015

Jan. 1 4.9 153.8

Interest income (+) /interest expense (–) 0.2 2.8

Change in scope of consolidation and other 
changes 148.4 0.1

Actuarial gains (+) /losses (–) 0.1 0.3

Employer contributions 0.2 9.0

Payments 0.5 7.8

Translation gains /losses 0.5 13.6

Fair value of plan assets as of Dec. 31 153.8 171.0

Fixedinterest securities 1.6 0.8

Shares 38.8 46.6

Bonds 81.6 83.8

Real estate 16.2 17.6

Other 15.6 22.2

Total 153.8 171.0

Investment and risk strategy
The allocation of plan assets to the various asset classes is determined 
taking potential returns and risks into account. Ratings and forecasts are 
used as the basis for selecting highquality stocks and bonds. An opti
mal portfolio is achieved by ensuring a good balance of risky and risk
free investments. A corresponding committee has been set up for this 
to monitor the results at least once every halfyear and to make changes 
if necessary to the composition of the plan assets. The company has 
identified the deterioration of the funded status due to the unfavora
ble development of plan assets and /or defined benefit obligations as a 
risk. KUKA monitors its financial assets and defined benefit obligations 
to identify this risk. In the case of the Swisslog Group pension plans the 
plan assets are managed by an independent entity as a rule. It provides 
a regular report so that by this means risk management is possible.

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligations
The following table provides an overview of the expected benefit pay
ments over the next ten years:

in € millions 2014 2015

Not later than one year 11.2 13.1

Later than one year and  
not later than five years 49.4 51.5

Later than five years and  
not later than ten years 57.9 64.4
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24. Other provisions

in € millions Status as of 
Jan. 1, 2015

Exchange rate 
differences

Change in scope 
of consolidation

Consumption Reversals Additions Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

Warranty commitments and risks  
from pending transactions 83.9 1.2 0.4 29.4 11.7 24.6 69.0

Miscellaneous provisions 66.2 1.0 3.1 23.0 8.0 34.7 74.0

Other provisions 150.1 2.2 3.5 52.4 19.7 59.3 143.0

Other provisions for warranty commitments and risks from pend
ing transactions include provisions for impending losses of € 9.1 mil
lion (2014: € 20.3 million) and warranty risks of € 59.9 million (2014: 
€ 63.6 million). 

Of the miscellaneous provisions, € 25.7 million (2014: € 21.1 million) 
relates among other items to costs still to be incurred for orders already 
invoiced and litigation risks of € 5.7 million (2014: € 3.7 million). 

The expected remaining term of the other provisions is up to one year.

25. Liabilities

Remaining maturity

2015 
in € millions 

up to one 
year

more than 
one year

Dec. 31, 2015
Total

Liabilities due to banks 1.7 249.4 251.1

Convertible bond 0.4 44.8 45.2

Financial liabilities 2.1 294.2 296.3

Trade payables 402.0 – 402.0

Advances received 72.5 – 72.5

Liabilities from construction contracts 217.0 – 217.0

Income tax liabilities 33.4 – 33.4

Other liabilities and deferred income 290.6 24.0 314.6

(of that for other taxes) (47.4) – (47.4)

(of that for social security payments) (12.0) – (12.0)

(of that liabilities relating to personnel) (134.6) (11.7) (146.3)

(of that for leases) (0.1) (0.2) (0.3)

(of that for forward exchange 
 trans actions for currency hedging) (3.8) – (3.8)

Total 1,017.6 318.2 1,335.8

Remaining maturity

2014 
in € millions 

up to one 
year

more than 
one year

Dec. 31, 2014
Total

Liabilities due to banks 21.4 0.1 21.5

Convertible bond 1.1 136.9 138.0

Financial liabilities 22.5 137.0 159.5

Trade payables 274.6 – 274.6

Advances received 78.3 – 78.3

Liabilities from construction contracts 247.6 – 247.6

Accounts payable to affiliated companies 0.1 – 0.1

Income tax liabilities 24.9 0.0 24.9

Other liabilities and deferred income 290.8 18.2 309.0

(of that for other taxes) (29.1) – (29.1)

(of that for social security payments) (10.3) – (10.3)

(of that liabilities relating to personnel) (135.0) (10.1) (145.1)

(of that for leases) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)

(of that for forward exchange 
 trans actions for currency hedging) (7.3) – (7.3)

Total 938.8 155.2 1,094.0
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26. Financial liabilities /financing

The existing financial liabilities are mainly the convertible bond issued 
in two tranches in 2013 and the promissory note loan issued in October 
2015. In addition, financial liabilities of Swisslog Group were also sub
ject to reporting in the previous year. 

Fixed interest rate agreements

Face value as of balance sheet date Net carrying amount Fair value

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 Nominal  
interest rate

Original maturity 2014 2015 2014 2015

Convertible bond 150.0 47.2 2.00% p. a. 2013 – 2018 138.0 45.2 246.5 102.0

Promissory note loan

Tranche 1 – 142.5 1.15% p. a.  
(MS +80bps)

2020 – 141.9 – –

Tranche 2 – 107.5 1.61% p. a.  
(MS +100bps)

2022 – 107.1 – –

Total promissory  
note loan – 250.0 approx. 1.35% p. a. 5 – 7 years – 249.0 – –

The market value of the convertible bond was determined using the 
closing price of Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last trading day of the 
respective year. The reduction of face value compared with the previ
ous year is due to the conversions that took place in the fourth quar
ter of 2015.

Variable interest rate liabilities to banks

Financial instrument  
in € millions 

Net carrying amount Avg. nominal 
interest rate

Year of latest 
maturity

Liabilities due to banks  
as of Dec. 31, 2015 0.3 € 0.3 € 6.10% p. a. 2016

0.8 CHF 0.7 € 1.50% p. a. 2016

Liabilities due to banks  
as of Dec. 31, 2014 278.2 INR 3.6 € 11.25% p. a. 2015

Fixed advance from 
Swisslog syndicated loan 
agreement 20.0 CHF 16.6 € 0.60% p. a. 2015

The nominal interest rates correspond to those interest rates which were 
payable on outstanding amounts at yearend in the respective currency. 

Promissory note loan
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued an unsecured promissory note loan 
with a total volume of € 250.0 million on October 9, 2015. The originally 
planned volume of € 150.0 million was increased because the issue was 
heavily oversubscribed. After deduction of the transaction costs, KUKA 
received a total of € 248.9 million from this issue. The additional funds 
are being used to continue the growth strategy of KUKA Group. 

The total volume of the loan was placed in two tranches. Tranche 1 has 
a volume of € 142.5 million and a term of five years; tranche 2 has a vol
ume of € 107.5 million and a term of seven years. The issue price was 
100.0% with a denomination per unit of at least € 0.5 million or a mul
tiple thereof. Repayment shall occur at 100.0%, payable in one sum on 
maturity of each fixedterm tranche. The promissory note loan carries 
interest coupons of 1.15% for tranche 1 and 1.61% for tranche 2. Interest 
payments are made at yearly intervals on October 9. Interest of € 0.8 mil
lion was deferred as of the balance sheet date.

On initial recognition, the promissory note loan was carried on the bal
ance sheet at fair value less transaction costs of € 1.1 million. The dif
ference between the amount paid out (less transaction costs) and the 
repayment amount is recognized in the interest result for the term of 
each tranche using the effective interest method. Taking account of the 
transaction costs, the effective interest rate rises to 1.24% for tranche 1 
and 1.67% for tranche 2.

Convertible bond
In February 2013, KUKA Aktiengesellschaft issued a convertible bond 
with a nominal value of € 58.8 million maturing in February 2018 
(tranche 1) and increased the nominal volume by € 91.2 million in July 
2013 (tranche 2). The convertible bond thus had a total nominal value 
of € 150.0 million. The bond was issued in denominations of € 100,000. 
The initial conversion price is € 36.8067 per share, which means the 
conversion ratio is 2,716.8967 shares per € 100,000 unit. In total, the 
bond entitles holders to convert their holdings into up to 4,075,344 new 
bearer shares of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft (of which 1,597,535 are for the 
tranche in February 2013 and 2,477,809 for the tranche in July 2013). The 
conversion rights are valid for the entire term of the convertible bond. 
The bond carries an interest coupon of 2.0% p. a. Interest payments are 
made at sixmonthly intervals on February 12 and August 12 every year. 
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The convertible bond is listed on the open market of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (ISIN DE000A1R09V9 /WKN A1R09V). The latest rate quoted 
for the convertible bond on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in 2015 was 
216.05%.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, a total of 2,792,944 convertible bond units 
with a nominal value of € 102.8 million were converted into new shares. 
This means that as of December 31, 2015, a nominal volume of € 47.2 mil
lion could theoretically still be converted into another 1,282,400 shares.

On the balance sheet, the convertible bond is broken down into an 
equity and a debt component. The market value of the debt component 
including issue costs is € 131.7 million, of which € 50.2 million applies 
to the first tranche and € 81.5 million to the second. As a result of the 
attractive market interest rate from a risk perspective, the company also 
issued a fixedinterest bond with no conversion rights at the same time 
it issued each of the convertible instruments (5.03% for tranche 1 and 
4.80% for tranche 2). The original resulting value of the equity compo
nent was € 27.0 million (tranche 1: € 7.5 million; tranche 2: € 19.5 million 
including a premium of € 10.5 million), which has been recognized as 
part of the capital reserve with allowance for deferred taxes and will 
not be changed until the due date or conversion. 

Due to the conversions carried out in 2015, the convertible bond liability 
has been reduced by € 96.1 million to currently € 45.2 million. € 7.3 mil
lion of the converted amount was transferred to subscribed capital and 
€ 88.8 million to the capital reserve. The conversions have resulted in a 
corresponding reduction of the initial equity capital component, taking 
the deferred taxes into account. 

The interest expense recognized for the bond in 2015 was € 6.2 million 
(2014: € 6.8 million).

Syndicated loan for KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft prematurely refinanced the syndicated loan 
that it concluded in December 2013, and at the same time redeemed the 
existing Swisslog Holding AG syndicated senior facilities agreement. The 
new contract was signed on March 30, 2015 and came into force on April 
2, 2015. It matures on March 30, 2020. It provides for a surety and guar
antee line in the amount of € 140.0 million and a working capital line, 
which can also be used for sureties and guarantees, in the amount of 
€ 90.0 million. This results in a volume € 70.0 million higher than with the 
previous contract. In addition, structural adjustments have been made. 
Both measures are attributable to the integration of Swisslog Holding 
AG and its subsidiaries following the acquisition in December 2014. 

The syndicated senior facilities agreement is unsecured and contains 
only the customary equal treatment clauses and negative pledges. More
over, it was possible to benefit from the improved market situation to 
obtain significantly improved terms, so that for instance the gearing 
(ratio of net financial liabilities to equity) is no longer part of the finan
cial covenant. Thus all that remains is a lower limit to the interest cov
erage ratio (ratio of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization [EBITDA] to net interest expense) and an upper limit to 
the leverage (ratio of net financial liabilities to EBITDA). The headroom 
to the respective limit values was more than 50% for both covenants. 

During the integration of Swisslog, the consortium of banks was 
expanded to include one of the consortium banks from the old con
tract with Swisslog Holding AG.

As of the reporting date the utilization of the guarantee facility and 
cash credit line from the syndicated senior facilities agreement of 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft amounted to a total of € 100.9 million (2014: 
€ 136.1 million, including the former syndicated senior facilities agree
ment of Swisslog Holding AG). 

For further details about the redeemed syndicated senior facilities agree
ments please refer to the company’s 2014 annual report.

Guarantee facilities from banks and surety companies
The guarantee facilities promised by banks and surety companies out
side the SLA total € 89.0 million (2014: € 89.0 million) as of December 31, 
2015, and can be utilized in full. At the end of the reporting year, the com
pany had utilized € 47.1 million versus € 41.2 million the previous year. 

Asset-backed securities program
KUKA Group launched an ABS (assetbacked securities) program in June 
2011 with a volume of € 25.0 million and maturing on June 30, 2018. 
Under this program, trade receivables of KUKA Roboter GmbH can be 
sold in regular tranches to a special purpose vehicle (SPV) of Landesbank 
BadenWürttemberg. Trade receivables of € 16.4 million (2014: € 3.1 mil
lion) were sold as at the balance sheet date. The SPV finances the pur
chase of the receivables by issuing securities on the capital market or 
through utilization of a corresponding credit line. Covenants for gear
ing, interest coverage ratio and leverage are in place for this financing 
program.

Default guarantees from credit insurers ensure adequate creditworthi
ness of the receivables sold. KUKA Roboter GmbH assumes the first 
1.15% of credit risk from the sale of receivables. The retention for this 
credit risk (continuing involvement) amounted to € 0.3 million as of 
December 31, 2015 (2014: € 0.2 million) and was fully written off. KUKA 
Roboter GmbH manages and processes the receivables that are sold. 
As in the previous year, no claims to be recognized in the income state
ment resulted from this.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
The following table shows the breakdown of the financial assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value:

2015 
in € millions

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets – 4.6 2.1 6.7

Financial liabilities – 3.8 – 3.8

2014
in € millions

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets 0.3 0.8 0.2 1.3

Financial liabilities – 7.3 – 7.3

The financial assets of level 1 mainly related to mixed fund units in 
the previous year. These mixed fund units no longer exist this year. The 
assets in level 2 mainly relate to forward exchange transactions carried 
as assets or liabilities. The value is determined with the aid of standard 
financial mathematical techniques, using current market parameters 
such as exchange rates and counterparty credit ratings (marktomarket 
method) or quoted prices. Middle rates are used for this calculation. In 
the previous year, the financial assets of level 3 were measured using 
the discounted future cash flows from the sale of a minority interest. 
In the current year, they include newly acquired units in investments 
not traded on the market.

27.  Other current /non-current liabilities and  
prepaid expenses /deferred charges

The other liabilities for other taxes are primarily from sales, wage and 
church tax. 

Other liabilities in the personnel area are mostly related to obligations 
from vacation entitlements (€ 20.0 million; 2014: € 18.7 million), flex
time credits (€ 17.5 million; 2014: € 17.4 million), variable compensa
tion elements (€ 69.0 million; 2014: € 82.4 million) and preretirement 
(“Altersteilzeit”) (€ 9.7 million; 2014: € 8.3 million). Preretirement obli
gations were reduced by the fair value of the corresponding fund assets 
(€ 7.3 million; 2014: € 7.1 million). The present value of entitlements from 
preretirement obligations (DBO) before offsetting was € 17.0 million 
(2014: € 15.4 million). Also reported under this item are, among other 
things, special payments, inventor’s compensation, longservice awards 
and trade association fees.

Liabilities arising from finance leases are recognized at the present value 
of future lease payments and disclosed as other liabilities.

28.  Assets and liabilities held for sale

The items posted for assets and liabilities held for sale at the balance 
sheet date of the previous year related to the sale of HLS Group during 
the financial year. 

As at December 31, 2015, there were no plans to divest business units 
or subunits, meaning that there are no circumstances to report as 
defined in IFRS 5. 

29. Financial risk management and financial derivatives

a) Principles of risk management
As part of its general business activities, KUKA Group is exposed to var
ious financial risks, in particular from movements in exchange rates 
and interest rates as well as counterparty risk and liquidity risk. The 
purpose of financial risk management is to identify, assess and man
age these risks. The aim is to limit the potential negative impact on the 
financial position. 

Derivatives may be a part of financial risk management depending on 
the risk assessment. Derivatives are exclusively used as hedging instru
ments with reference to an underlying transaction and are thus not held 
for trading or other speculative purposes. To reduce the credit risk, hedg
ing transactions are only concluded with financial institutions with an 
excellent credit rating.

The fundamentals of the Group’s financial policy are established by the 
Executive Board and implemented by Group Treasury in close coopera
tion with Group companies. Certain transactions require the approval 
of the CFO. The CFO is also informed on a regular basis of the current 
risk positions and safeguards. 

b) Currency risk
Risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates that may affect the 
Group’s cash flow – for example from investments, financing and already 
fixed or planned incoming and outgoing operational payments in for
eign currencies – are hedged as they arise or become known through 
the use of derivative financial instruments with banks or by offsetting 
opposing cash flows. Hedging may also cover future planned transac
tions such as planned purchases in foreign currencies, where hedging 
is used to cover exchange rate fluctuations congruent with the respec
tive maturities and amounts. Group Treasury is principally responsible 
for the conclusion of hedging transactions with banks.
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Exchange rate risks that do not influence the Group’s cash flows, e. g. 
risks resulting from translation of balance sheet and income statement 
items of foreign KUKA companies into the Group currency (translation 
risks), are generally not hedged. 

All intraGroup loans denominated in foreign currencies were hedged 
accordingly. KUKA was not exposed to any significant exchange rate 
risk in the area of financing at the reporting date on account of these 
hedging activities.

The individual KUKA companies handle their operating activities mainly 
in the relevant functional currency. However, some KUKA companies are 
exposed to corresponding exchange rate risk in connection with planned 
payments outside their own functional currencies. Such risks are hedged 
according to the policy outlined above. KUKA was not exposed to any 
significant exchange rate risks from its operating activities at the report
ing date on account of these hedging activities.

Currency risk as defined by IFRS 7 arises on account of financial instru
ments that are denominated in a currency other than the functional cur
rency and are of a monetary nature. Differences resulting from the trans
lation of financial statements into the Group’s presentation currency 
are not taken into consideration. Relevant risk variables are generally 
all nonfunctional currencies in which KUKA has financial instruments.

For the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7 requires sensitivity analyses 
that show the effects of hypothetical changes of relevant risk variables 
(e. g. interest rates, exchange rates) on profit or loss and shareholders’ 
equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical 
changes in the risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at 
the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the reporting date 
is representative for the year as a whole.

Currency sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions:

 › Major nonderivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets, 
receivables, liabilities) are either directly denominated in the func
tional currency or are transferred as far as possible into the functional 
currency through the use of derivatives. 

 › Major interest income and interest expense from financial instru
ments are also either recorded directly in the functional currency or 
transferred into the functional currency by using derivatives. For this 
reason, there can be no material effect on the variables considered 
in this connection.

The most important currency pairs for KUKA are considered when cal
culating currency sensitivities. This involves applying a hypothetical 
upward or downward revaluation of the national currency concerned 
against the relevant foreign currency.

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

National currency: EUR

EUR  /USD

EUR +10% 3.8 1.0

EUR 10% 4.6 1.2

EUR /JPY

EUR +10% 2.0 2.6

EUR 10% 2.5 3.2

EUR /CNY

EUR +10% 0.4 0.4

EUR 10% 0.5 0.4

EUR /HUF

EUR +10% 0.5 0.6

EUR 10% 0.6 0.7

EUR /BRL

EUR +10% 0.1 0.1

EUR 10% 0.1 0.1

EUR /CHF

EUR +10% n.a. 0.0

EUR 10% n.a. 0.0

EUR /SEK

EUR +10% n.a. 0.3

EUR 10% n.a. 0.3

EUR /GBP

EUR +10% n.a. 0.3

EUR 10% n.a. 0.3

EUR /CZK

EUR +10% n.a. 0.7

EUR 10% n.a. 0.8

EUR /INR

EUR +10% n.a. 0.2

EUR 10% n.a. 0.2

EUR /NOK

EUR +10% n.a. 0.4

EUR 10% n.a. 0.5

National currency: CNY

CNY /EUR

CNY +10% n.a. 0.0

CNY 10% n.a. 0.0

CNY /JPY

CNY +10% n.a. 0.8

CNY 10% n.a. 0.9
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in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

National currency: CHF

CHF /NOK

CHF +10% n.a. 0.2

CHF 10% n.a. 0.3

CHF /SEK

CHF +10% n.a. 1.1

CHF 10% n.a. 1.3

CHF /USD

CHF +10% n.a. 8.3

CHF 10% n.a. 10.1

CHF /EUR

CHF +10% n.a. 7.8

CHF 10% n.a. 9.6

National currency: USD

USD /NOK

USD +10% n.a. 0.4

USD 10% n.a. 0.4

USD /SEK

USD +10% n.a. 0.2

USD 10% n.a. 0.3

USD /EUR

USD +10% n.a. 0.1

USD 10% n.a. 0.1

Assumptions concerning the future cannot be derived from this pres
entation of currency effects. 

c) Interest rate risk
Risks from interest rate changes at KUKA are essentially the result of 
shortterm investments /borrowings in euros as well as the current secu
rities (see note 25). These are not hedged at the reporting date.

Interest rate risk is presented by way of sensitivity analyses in accord
ance with IFRS 7. These show the effects of changes in market interest 
rates on interest payments, interest income and expense, other income 
components and shareholders’ equity. Interest rate sensitivity analyses 
are based on the following assumptions:

 › Changes in the market interest rates of nonderivative financial instru
ments with fixed interest rates only affect income if these are meas
ured at their fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed 
interest rates that are carried at amortized cost (e. g. the issued con
vertible bond and promissory note loan) are not subject to interest 
rate risk as defined in IFRS 7.

 › Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense 
of nonderivative variableinterest financial instruments, the interest 
payments of which are not designated as hedged items of cash flow 
hedges against interest rate risks.

An increase in market interest rates by 100 basis points at December 31, 
2015 would have a positive effect on results of € 4.9 million (2014: 
€ 1.7 million). A decrease in market interest rates by 100 basis points 
would have a negative effect on results of € 0.1 million (2014: € 0.1 mil
lion). This hypothetical effect results solely from the financial invest
ments and borrowings with variable interest rates totaling € 495.7 mil
lion (financial investments) and € 1.0 million (borrowings) at the balance 
sheet date (2014: € 191.2 million and € 20.3 million respectively).

d) Credit risk
KUKA Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and 
certain financing activities. A default can occur if individual business 
partners do not meet their contractual obligations and KUKA Group thus 
suffers a financial loss. With regard to financing activities, important 
transactions are only concluded with counterparties that have at least 
an investment grade credit rating.

At the level of operations, the outstanding debts are continuously mon
itored in each area locally. There are regular business relations with 
major customers at multiple KUKA Group companies. The associated 
credit risks are subject to separate quarterly credit rating monitoring 
as part of the risk management system at the Group’s Executive Board 
level for early detection of an accumulation of individual risks. Added 
to these measures are comprehensive routine checks implemented at 
segment level as early as the order initiation process (submission of 
offers and acceptance of orders) to verify the credit rating of potential 
business partners. Credit risk is accounted for accordingly through indi
vidual impairments.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amounts of the financial assets that are carried in the balance sheet 
(including derivatives with positive market values). No agreements 
reducing the maximum exposure to credit risk had been concluded as 
of the reporting date.

e) Liquidity risk
One of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s primary tasks is to coordinate and 
control the Group’s financing requirements and to ensure the financial 
independence of KUKA and its ability to pay on time. With this goal in 
mind, KUKA Group optimizes the Group’s financing and limits its finan
cial risks. The standardized, Groupwide treasury reporting system imple
mented in 2007 is enhanced on a regular basis for this purpose. New 
companies are included in consolidation concurrently. In addition, the 
Group’s overall liquidity risk is reduced by closely monitoring Group com
panies and their control of payment flows. This entailed the successful 
introduction of a new Groupwide treasury management system in 2014.
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As a first step to ensure the payment capability at all times and the 
financial flexibility of KUKA Group, a liquidity reserve is kept by KUKA 
Aktiengesellschaft in the form of credit lines and cash funds. More over, 
KUKA has issued a convertible bond, placed a promissory note loan, 
signed a syndicated loan agreement with a consortium of banks and 
arranged for banks and surety companies to commit guarantee lines. 
The funding and guarantee requirements for business operations are 
ensured to a large extent internally by transferring cash funds (inter
company loans) and providing guarantees from the banks and the Group 
itself. This ensures that Groupwide liquidity management takes place 
at the individual company level, thereby further optimizing the Group’s 
financing on the whole.

The following figures show the commitments for undiscounted interest 
and redemption repayments for the financial instruments subsumed 
under IFRS 7:

Dec. 31, 2015
in € millions 

Cash flows 
2016

Cash flows 
2017

Cash flows 
2018 – 2020

Cash flows 
2021 et seq.

Noncurrent financial 
liabilities 4.3 7.0 195.1 119.7

Current financial liabilities 1.0 – – –

Trade payables 402.0 – – –

Accounts payable to 
 affiliated companies 0.0 – – –

Other noncurrent liabilities 
and provisions – 0.1 0.1 –

(of that for leases) – (0.1) (0.1) –

Other current liabilities  
and provisions 133.0 – – –

(of that for leases) (0.1) – – –

Dec. 31, 2014
in € millions 

Cash flows 
2015

Cash flows 
2016

Cash flows 
2017 – 2019

Cash flows 
2020 et seq.

Noncurrent financial 
liabilities 3.0 3.7 154.6 –

Current financial liabilities 21.6 – – –

Trade payables 276.6 – – –

Accounts payable to 
 affiliated companies 0.1 – – –

Other noncurrent liabilities 
and provisions – 0.1 – –

(of that for leases) – (0.1) – –

Other current liabilities  
and provisions 159.6 – – –

(of that for leases) (0.1) – – –

All financial instruments are included which were held at the balance 
sheet dates and for which payments have already been contractually 
agreed. Foreign currency amounts are expressed at the spot rate on the 
key date. The variable interest payments from the financial instruments 
were determined on the basis of the interest rates last fixed prior to 
December 31, 2015. Financial liabilities repayable at any time are always 
allocated to the earliest period. 

f) Hedges
Hedges are used by KUKA Group exclusively in the form of forward 
exchange transactions to secure existing balance sheet items as well 
as to hedge future payment flows. These are exclusively for the purpose 
of hedging currency risk. 

Other disclosures on financial instruments
The following shows the carrying amounts of the financial instruments 
by measurement category according to IAS 39:

in € millions Abbreviation Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

AvailableforSale Financial Assets AfS 0.5 2.1

HeldtoMaturity HtM 22.3 9.2

Loans and Receivables LaR 820.5 1,179.6

Financial Assets Held for Trading FAHfT 0.8 4.6

Total financial instruments (assets) 844.1 1,195.5

Financial Liabilities Measured at 
 Amortized Cost FLAC 586.4 827.6

Financial Liabilities Held for Trading FLHfT 7.3 3.8

Total financial instruments (liabilities) 593.7 831.3
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Carrying amounts and fair values by measurement categories  
for 2015

The carrying amounts and the fair values are derived from the follow
ing table:

in € millions IAS 39  
measurement 

category

Net carrying 
amount /

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered  

by IFRS 7

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by IAS 17

Net carrying 
amount of finan

cial instruments /
Status as of  

Dec. 31, 2015

Fair value /
Status as of  

Dec. 31, 2015

Assets

Financial investments 3.9 – – 3.9 3.9

 (of that loans) LaR (1.8) (0.0) – (1.8) (1.8)

 (of that participations) AfS (2.1) – – (2.1) (2.1)

 (of that participations at cost) LaR (0.0) – – (0.0) (0.0)

Investments accounted for by the equity method n. a. 6.6 6.6 – – –

Longterm finance lease receivables n. a. 65.2 – 65.2 – –

Other longterm receivables and other assets 14.8 9.8 0.0 5.0 5.0

 (of that from the category LaR) LaR (5.0) – – (5.0) (5.0)

 (of that other) n. a. (9.8) (9.8) – – –

Trade receivables LaR 310.6 – – 310.6 310.6

Receivables from construction contracts LaR 347.7 – – 347.7 347.7

Current finance lease receivables n. a. 8.5 – 8.5 – –

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 87.1 55.0 – 32.1 32.1

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) FAHfT (4.6) – – (4.6) (4.6)

(of that other from the category LaR) LaR (18.3) – – (18.3) (18.3)

(of that other from the category HtM) HtM (9.2) (9.2) (9.2)

(of that other) n. a. (55.0) (55.0) – – –

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 496.2 – – 496.2 496.2

Total financial instruments (assets) 1,195.5 1,195.5

in € millions IAS 39  
measurement 

category

Net carrying 
amount /

Status as of  
Dec. 31, 2015

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered  

by IFRS 7

of that: other 
 assets and 

 l iabilities covered 
by IAS 17

Net carrying 
amount of finan

cial instruments /
Status as of  

Dec. 31, 2015

Fair value /
Status as of  

Dec. 31, 2015

Liabilities

Noncurrent financial liabilities FLAC 294.2 – – 294.2 351.4

Other noncurrent liabilities and provisions 24.0 23.8 0.2 – –

(of that for leases) n. a. (0.2) – (0.2) – –

(of that other) n. a. (23.8) (23.8) – – –

Current financial liabilities FLAC 2.1 – – 2.1 2.1

Trade payables FLAC 402.0 – – 402.0 402.0

Liabilities from construction contracts n. a. 217.0 217.0 – – –

Accounts payable to affiliated companies FLAC 0.0 – – 0.0 0.0

Other current liabilities, prepaid expenses and  
deferred charges 290.6 157.5 0.1 133.0 133.0

(of that for leases) n. a. (0.1) – (0.1) – –

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) FLHfT (3.8) – – (3.8) (3.8)

(of that other from the category FLAC) FLAC (129.2) – – (129.2) (129.2)

(of that other) n. a. (157.5) (157.5) – – – 

Total financial instruments (liabilities) 831.3 888.5
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Carrying amounts and fair values by measurement categories  
for 2014

in € millions IAS 39  
measurement 

category

Net carrying 
amount /

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered  

by IFRS 7

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by IAS 17

Net carrying 
amount of finan

cial instruments /
Status as of 

Dec. 31, 2014

Fair value /
Status as of 

Dec. 31, 2014

Assets

Financial investments 0.6 – – 0.6 0.6

(of that loans) LaR (0.1) 0 – (0.1) (0.1)

(of that participations) AfS (0.3) – – (0.3) (0.3)

(of that participations at cost) LaR (0.2) – – (0.2) (0.2)

Investments accounted for by the equity method n. a. 5.6 5.6 – – –

Longterm finance lease receivables n. a. 66.1 – 66.1 – –

Other longterm receivables and other assets 9.9 7.3 0 2.6 2.6

(of that from the category LaR) LaR (2.6) – – (2.6) (2.6)

(of that other) n.a. (7.3) (7.3) – – –

Trade receivables LaR 273.8 – – 273.8 273.8

Receivables from construction contracts LaR 339.1 – – 339.1 339.1

Current finance lease receivables n. a. 6.9 – 6.9 – –

Other assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges 71.0 35.1 – 35.9 35.9

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) FAHfT (0.8) – – (0.8) (0.8)

(of that other from the category LaR) LaR (12.8) – – (12.8) (12.8)

(of that other from the category HtM) HtM (22.3) (22.3) (22.3)

(of that other) n. a. (35.1) (35.1) – – –

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 192.1 – – 192.1 192.1

Total financial instruments (assets) 844.1 844.1

in € millions IAS 39  
measurement 

category

Net carrying 
amount /

Status as of 
Dec. 31, 2014

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities not 
 covered  

by IFRS 7

of that: other 
 assets and 

 liabilities covered 
by IAS 17

Net carrying 
amount of finan

cial instruments /
Status as of 

Dec. 31, 2014

Fair value /
Status as of 

Dec. 31, 2014

Liabilities

Noncurrent financial liabilities FLAC 137.0 – – 137.0 246.5

Other noncurrent liabilities and provisions 18.2 18.1 0.1 – –

(of that for leases) n. a. (0.1) – (0.1) – –

(of that other) n. a. (18.1) (18.1) – – –

Current financial liabilities FLAC 22.5 – – 22.5 22.5

Trade payables FLAC 274.6 – – 274.6 274.6

Liabilities from construction contracts n. a. 247.6 247.6 – – –

Accounts payable to affiliated companies FLAC 0.1 – – 0.1 0.1

Other current liabilities, prepaid expenses and  
deferred charges 290.8 131.2 0.1 159.5 159.5

(of that for leases) n. a. (0.1) – (0.1) – –

(of that derivatives without a hedging relationship) FLHfT (7.3) – – (7.3) (7.3)

(of that other from the category FLAC) FLAC (152.2) – – (152.2) (152.2)

(of that other) n. a. (131.2) (131.2) – – –

Total financial instruments (liabilities) 593.7 703.2
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With the exception of financial investments and leasing claims, most 
assets have short terms to maturity. Their carrying amounts as of the 
financial reporting date therefore correspond approximately to the fair 
value. Longterm interestbearing receivables including finance lease 
receivables are measured and, if necessary, impaired based on different 
parameters such as interest rates and customerspecific credit ratings. 
Thus, these carrying amounts also largely reflect the market values.

Liabilities – with the exception of longterm financial liabilities and the 
other noncurrent liabilities – have regular, short terms to maturity. The 
values shown on the balance sheet approximately represent the fair val
ues. The market value of the convertible bond is based on the market 
prices quoted at the balance sheet date.

The derivative financial instruments recognized at the balance sheet 
date have to do with forward exchange transactions to hedge exchange 
exposure. Recognition in the balance sheet occurs at the market value 
determined using standardized financial mathematical methods, among 
other things, in relation to the foreign exchange rates.

Net results listed according to measurement categories are represented 
as follows:

Net profit /loss by IAS 39 measurement categories for 2015

in € millions Net gains /
losses

Total interest 
income /

expenses

Commission 
income /

expenses

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 4.1 2.3 0.0

AvailableforSale Financial Assets (AfS) 12.4 – –

HeldtoMaturity (HtM) – 0.1 –

Financial Instruments Held for Trading 
(FAHfT and FLHfT) 6.3 – –

Financial Liabilities Measured at  
Amortized Cost (FLAC) 9.7 9.0 0.7

Total 11.7 -6.6 -0.7

Net profit /loss by IAS 39 measurement categories for 2014

in € millions Net gains /
losses

Total interest 
income /

expenses

Commission 
income /

expenses

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 3.1 1.7 0.0

AvailableforSale Financial Assets (AfS) 0.2 – –

HeldtoMaturity (HtM) – 0.8 –

Financial Instruments Held for Trading 
(FAHfT and FLHfT) 13.8 – –

Financial Liabilities Measured at  
Amortized Cost (FLAC) 7.9 33.8 0.7

Total -3.0 -31.3 -0.7

As in the previous year, net losses from the category Loans and Receiva
bles also include exchange rate effects as well as results from additions 
and reversals of provisions for receivables and other assets. In addition to 
foreign currency effects, the net profits from Financial Liabilities Meas
ured at Amortized Cost also include income from writing off liabilities. 

Interest income for financial instruments from the category Loans and 
Receivables comes from the investment of cash and cash equivalents. 
The interest result from financial liabilities from the category Financial 
Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost largely reflects interest expenses 
from the promissory note loan, the current interest expenses from the 
convertible bond as well as from financial liabilities due to banks. In addi
tion, the interest income and interest expense also incorporate foreign 
currency gains and losses from financial assets and liabilities.

Commission expenses are recorded as the transaction costs for finan
cial liabilities due to banks and fees for the provision of guarantees.

30.  Contingent liabilities and other financial 
 commitments

The following contingent liabilities and other financial commitments 
existed as of the balance sheet date:

Contingent liabilities

in € millions 2014 2015

Liabilities from guarantees 4.6 4.5

Liabilities from warranty agreements 0.6 0.2

Total 5.2 4.7

Other financial commitments

in € millions 2014 2015

Purchase commitments (discounted notes) 11.4 4.3

Rent /lease liabilities 98.6 124.6

Other financial commitments 8.6 7.4

Total 118.6 136.3

The further reduction in purchase order commitments relates mainly 
to the Development and Technology Center. Completion of the building 
during the financial year results in a corresponding reduction of the 
purchase order commitments. The rise in rental and leasing commit
ments is largely the result of new tenancies and foreign currency effects.
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Commitments in connection with leases for passenger cars, office and 
factory buildings, technical office equipment and production facilities 
primarily include liabilities from leases and rental agreements in con
nection with operating leases. The lease payments and due dates are 
broken down as follows:

in € millions Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Due within one year 23.8 28.8

Due between one and five years 52.5 67.6

Due after more than five years 22.3 28.3

Total 98.6 124.7

Total rental expenses for the fiscal year were € 39.2 million compared to 
€ 23.4 million the previous year; rental income totaled € 0.2 million com
pared to € 0.6 million the previous year.

Notes to the Group cash flow statement
The cash flow statement reports cash flows separately for incoming 
and outgoing funds from operating, investing and financing activities 
in accordance with IAS 7. The calculation of cash flows is derived from 
the consolidated financial statements of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft by 
using the indirect method.

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise all cash 
and cash equivalents disclosed on the balance sheet, i. e. cash on hand, 
checks and cash with banks provided they are available within three 
months. Cash and cash equivalents of € 3.2 million (2014: € 2.4 million) 
are subject to restrictions. These are still related to company acquisi
tions made in the preceding years and to a governmentfunded con
tract in Brazil. 

Cash flow from operating activities is derived indirectly from the earn
ings after taxes.

Under the indirect method, the relevant changes to the balance sheet 
items associated with operating activities are adjusted for currency 
translation effects and changes to the scope of consolidation.

Notes to the Group segment reporting
The data for the individual annual financial statements have been seg
mented by business field and region. The structure follows internal 
reporting (management approach). The segmentation is intended to 
create transparency with regard to the earning power and the pros
pects, as well as the risks and rewards for the various business fields 
within the Group.

Segment reporting is designed to accommodate the structure of KUKA 
Group. KUKA Group was engaged in three major business segments in 
the reporting year and the previous year. 

KUKA Robotics

This segment offers customers from the automotive sector and gen
eral industry – as well as those supported by comprehensive customer 
services – industrial robots, from small models to heavyduty robots. 
 Medical robotics activities are also bundled in this segment.

KUKA Systems

This segment provides customers in the fields of automotive, aerospace 
and general industry with innovative solutions and services for auto
mated production. Applications range from welding, bonding, sealing, 
assembling and testing, to forming solutions tailored to meet the spe
cific customer needs and production of castings and plastic components.

  Swisslog

This segment produces leading automation solutions for futureoriented 
hospitals, warehouse and distribution centers with the focus on the seg
ments of trading, including ecommerce, pharmaceuticals, and chilled 
and frozen foods.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and other companies

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft and other investments that are supplementary 
to the operating activities of KUKA Group are aggregated in a separate 
segment. Crossdivisional consolidation items are shown in a separate 
column. The allocation of Group companies to the individual business 
segments is shown in the schedule of shareholdings.

The breakdown of sales revenues by region is based on the customer’s 
registered office /delivery location. Noncurrent assets (tangible and 
intangible assets) are calculated by company location.
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Revenues acc. to  
customer location

Noncurrent assets acc. 
to registered office of the 

company

in € millions 2014 2015 2014 2015

Germany 647.2 618.2 195.7 210.8

Rest of Europe 459.6 738.4 366.0 336.3

North America 596.1 1,035.7 77.9 108.3

Other regions 392.8 573.6 24.6 26.6

Total 2,095.7 2,965.9 664.2 682.0

Since Swisslog Group was only incorporated in KUKA Group as of Decem
ber 31, 2014, the revenue figures for 2014 do not include results for 
Swisslog Group.

In 2015, KUKA Group achieved more than 10% of total sales revenues 
from no (2014: two) customers. 

The calculations for segment reporting rely on the following principles:

 › Group external sales revenues show the divisions’ respective 
 percentage of consolidated sales for the Group as presented in  
the Group income statement.

 › IntraGroup sales revenues are sales transacted between segments. 
In principle, transfer prices for intraGroup sales are determined 
based on the market.

 › Sales revenues for the segments include revenues from sales to 
third parties as well as sales to other Group segments.

 › EBIT reflects operating earnings, i. e. the earnings from ordinary 
activities before financial results and taxes.

 › Elimination of scheduled and unscheduled depreciation on tangible 
and intangible assets from EBIT produces EBITDA. 

 › ROCE (return on capital employed) is the ratio of EBIT to average 
capital employed, which is largely noninterest bearing. To calculate 
ROCE the capital employed is based on an average value.

The reconciliation of capital employed to segment assets and segment 
liabilities is shown in the following table:

in € millions 2014 2015

Capital employed

Intangible assets 430.4 423.0

+ Tangible assets 233.8 259.0

+ Noncurrent lease receivables 66.1 65.2

+ Assets held for sale 16.5 –

+ Asset-side working capital 982.9 1,077.0

Inventories 272.4 297.8

Receivables from construction contracts 339.1 347.7

Trade receivables 273.8 310.6

Other receivables and assets 97.6 120.9

= Asset items of capital employed 1,729.7 1,824.2

. /. Other provisions 150.1 143.0

. /. Liabilities from construction contracts 247.6 217.0

. /. Advances received 78.3 72.5

. /. Trade payables 274.6 402.0

. /.
Other liabilities except for liabilities 
similar to bonds (incl. deferred income) 301.7 306.1

= Liability-side working capital 1,052.3 1,140.6

. /. Liabilities held for sale 7.3 –

= Liability items of capital employed 1,059.6 1,140.6

= Capital employed 670.1 683.6

Average capital employed 492.0 676.8

Segment assets

Asset items of capital employed 1,729.7 1,824.2

+ Other participations 0.5 3.9

+ At equity participations 5.6 6.6

= Segment assets 1,735.8 1,834.7

Segment liabilities

Liability items of capital employed 1,059.6 1,140.6

+ Pension provisions and similar 
 obligations 121.7 114.0

= Segment liabilities 1,181.3 1,254.6

Working capital

Assetside working capital 982.9 1,077.0

Liabilityside working capital 1,052.3 1,140.6

= Working capital -69.4 -63.6

Additional elements of the segment reports are contained in the man
agement report on the operating business divisions Robotics, Systems 
and Swisslog, as well as in the tables at the beginning of the Group notes.
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Other notes
Related party disclosures

Persons or companies that may be influenced by or have influence on 
the reporting company must be disclosed in accordance with IAS 24, 
provided they have not already been included as consolidated compa
nies in the financial statements.

Parties related to KUKA Group include mainly members of the Execu
tive and Supervisory Boards as well as nonconsolidated KUKA Group 
companies in which KUKA Aktiengesellschaft directly or indirectly holds 
a significant proportion of the voting rights or companies that hold a 
significant proportion of the voting rights in KUKA Aktiengesellschaft.

Compared to December 31, 2014, the list of related companies and per
sons has expanded to include the associated company Barrett Technol
ogy LLC, Newton, Massachusetts /USA. As in the previous year, KBee 
AG, Munich and Yawei Reis Robot Manufacturing (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. /
China are classified as associated companies, Freadix FryTec GmbH, 
Augsburg, IWK Unterstützungseinrichtung GmbH, Karlsruhe and KUKA 
Unterstützungskasse GmbH, Augsburg as nonconsolidated companies 
and the companies of Voith Group and Loh Group as related parties. 

The contractually agreed, future capital contributions made to KBee AG 
are to take place by the end of 2016 as a factor of the achievement of 
certain milestones and will amount to € 3.0 million. 

Including optionbearing financial instruments, Voith Group has a hold
ing  of 25.10% in KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. 

The following receivables from and liabilities to related parties existed 
as of the balance sheet date:

Shares Group receivables from  
related parties

Group liabilities  
from related parties

in € millions in % Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Voith Group 25.1 – 0.1 – 0.8

KBee AG, Munich 40.0 0.0 0.0 – –

Yawei Reis Robot Manufac
turing (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd. /
China 49.0 – 0.0 – 1.1

Others /less than €1 million – – 0.1 0.1

Total 0.0 0.1 0.1 2.0

Over the reporting year, the following services were provided to or pur
chased from related parties:

Shares Goods and services provided  
by the Group to related parties

Goods and services provided  
to the Group by related parties

in € millions in % 2014 2015 2014 2015

Voith Group 25.1 – 0.3 – 0.3

KBee AG, Munich 40.0 0.0 0.0 – –

Yawei Reis Robot 
 Manufacturing (Jiangsu) 
Co. Ltd. /China 49.0 – 0.4 – 0.5

Others /less than €1 million 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.8

Total 0.0 0.8 0.0 1.6

Business with all related parties is transacted under the “dealing at arm’s 
length” principle at transfer prices that correspond to market conditions. 
No business subject to reporting rules was conducted between any KUKA 
Group companies and members of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Executive 
or Supervisory Boards with the exception of the legal transactions out
lined in the compensation report.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board compensation

The Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft received a total compen
sation of € 7.9 million (2014: € 3.7 million). Altogether over the financial 
year, the Executive Board received a fixed salary including payments in 
kind and other compensation of € 1.2 million (2014: € 1.0 million). Tar
get achievement and performancebased compensation amounted to 
€ 6.7 million (2014: € 2.7 million). € 4.6 million (2014: € 1.0 million) was 
paid out in compensation under the phantom share program.
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The following receivables from and liabilities to related parties existed 
as of the balance sheet date:

Shares Group receivables from  
related parties

Group liabilities  
from related parties

in € millions in % Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 Dec. 31, 2015

Voith Group 25.1 – 0.1 – 0.8

KBee AG, Munich 40.0 0.0 0.0 – –

Yawei Reis Robot Manufac
turing (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd. /
China 49.0 – 0.0 – 1.1

Others /less than €1 million – – 0.1 0.1

Total 0.0 0.1 0.1 2.0

Over the reporting year, the following services were provided to or pur
chased from related parties:

Shares Goods and services provided  
by the Group to related parties

Goods and services provided  
to the Group by related parties

in € millions in % 2014 2015 2014 2015

Voith Group 25.1 – 0.3 – 0.3

KBee AG, Munich 40.0 0.0 0.0 – –

Yawei Reis Robot 
 Manufacturing (Jiangsu) 
Co. Ltd. /China 49.0 – 0.4 – 0.5

Others /less than €1 million 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.8

Total 0.0 0.8 0.0 1.6

Business with all related parties is transacted under the “dealing at arm’s 
length” principle at transfer prices that correspond to market conditions. 
No business subject to reporting rules was conducted between any KUKA 
Group companies and members of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s Executive 
or Supervisory Boards with the exception of the legal transactions out
lined in the compensation report.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board compensation

The Executive Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft received a total compen
sation of € 7.9 million (2014: € 3.7 million). Altogether over the financial 
year, the Executive Board received a fixed salary including payments in 
kind and other compensation of € 1.2 million (2014: € 1.0 million). Tar
get achievement and performancebased compensation amounted to 
€ 6.7 million (2014: € 2.7 million). € 4.6 million (2014: € 1.0 million) was 
paid out in compensation under the phantom share program.

Audit fees

The fee for the auditor, KPMG AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Munich, recognized as an expense in 2015 totals € 1.6 million for ser
vices provided in Germany. € 0.8 million was recognized for financial 
statement auditing services. € 0.8 million was recognized as an expense 
for tax advisory services performed by the auditor. 

€ 1.1 million was recognized as an expense for financial statement audit
ing services performed for foreign subsidiaries.

Events of material importance after the end of the 
reporting period

Cancelation of the convertible bond
In an announcement on February 18, 2016 KUKA Aktiengesellschaft irrev
ocably canceled the 2013 convertible bonds as of March 24, 2016. Unless 
the holders of the convertible bonds convert their units into shares in 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft by this date, the units still existing at this date 
will be repaid to the holders at a rate of 100%. Since repayment at 100% 
is not financially attractive to the investors, it may be assumed that 
the vast majority of the units still existing will be converted into shares 
before the redemption date. Even before this announcement, further 
conversions had already taken place in fiscal 2016. 

Apart from this there have been no events subject to reporting require
ments that had an impact on the net assets, financial position and per
formance of the company since the balance sheet reporting date.

Augsburg, February 29, 2016
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

The Executive Board

Dr. Till Reuter   Peter Mohnen

With a few exceptions, former Executive Board members have been 
granted benefits from the company pension scheme, which include old
age, vocational and employment disability, widow’s and orphan’s pen
sions. The amount of accruals included for this group of persons in 2015 
for current pensions and vested pension benefits totals € 10.0 million 
(HGB) compared to € 9.8 million the previous year. The expense recog
nized in this connection totaled € 0.8 million.

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft has no compensation agreements with the 
members of the Executive Board or with employees that would come 
into effect in the event of a takeover bid.

In the 2015 financial year the members of the Supervisory Board received 
a total of € 0.8 million (2014: € 0.9 million) for their activities as mem
bers of this body. 

Please refer to the notes in the audited compensation report for further 
information and details about the compensation of individual Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board members. The compensation report is part 
of the corporate governance report and summarizes the basic principles 
used to establish the compensation of the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft. The compensation report is an inte
gral part of the management report.

119



Corporate bodies
Supervisory Board

Bernd Minning
Kaisheim
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

 › President and CEO of WM Technologies GmbH, Kaisheim
 › Board of Directors WM Technologies (Shanghai) Ltd.,  

Shanghai / China **

Michael Leppek ** *
Stadtbergen
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

 › 1st Authorized Representative of IG Metall trade union,  
Augsburg branch 

 › MAN Diesel & Turbo SE *
 › SGL Carbon SE * 
 › AIRBUS Helicopters Deutschland GmbH *
 › Fujitsu Technology Solutions GmbH Deutschland, Munich *

Prof. Dr. Dirk Abel 
Aachen

 › Director of the Institute of Automatic Control at RWTH Aachen
 › ATC GmbH (Aldenhoven Testing Center of RWTH Aachen 

 University), Aachen **

Dr. Walter Bickel (until March 26, 2015)
Grünwald

 › Owner of the individual enterprise WB Consult
 › Managing Partner of Bickel Jung Verwaltungs GmbH
 › Limited Partner of Bickel Jung & Company GmbH & Co. KG
 › Member of Board of Directors, Maillefer Group **

Wilfried Eberhardt ** *
Aichach

 › Executive Vice President Marketing & Associations  
KUKA Roboter GmbH, Augsburg

 › Authorized Signatory of KUKA Roboter GmbH, Augsburg

Siegfried Greulich ** *
Augsburg

 › Deputy Chairman of the Works Council of the KUKA Plants  
at Augsburg

Thomas Knabel ** *
Zwickau

 › 2nd Authorized Representative of IG Metall trade union,  
Zwickau branch

Armin Kolb ** *
Augsburg

 › Chairman of the Works Council of the KUKA Plants at Augsburg

Carola Leitmeir ** *
Großaitingen

 › Member of the Works Council of the KUKA Plants at Augsburg

Dr. Hubert Lienhard (from June 10, 2015)
Heidenheim

 › CEO of Voith GmbH
 › EnBW *
 › Heraeus Holding GmbH *
 › SGL Carbon SE *
 › SMS Holding GmbH *
 › Voith Turbo Beteiligungen GmbH (Chairman) *
 › Voith Hydro Holding GmbH & Co. KG (Chairman) ** 
 › Voith Industrial Services Holding GmbH & Co. KG (Chairman) **
 › Voith Paper Holding GmbH & Co. KG (Chairman) ** 
 › Voith Turbo GmbH & Co. KG (Chairman) **

Friedhelm Loh (from June 10, 2015)
Dietzhölztal

 › Owner and CEO of the Friedhelm Loh Group, Haiger
 › Senator of Fraunhofer Gesellschaft 
 › Deutsche Messe AG *

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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Prof. Dr. Uwe Loos
Stuttgart

 › Dorma Holding GmbH +Co.KGaA, Ennepetal *
 › Bharat Forge Aluminiumtechnik, BrandErbisdorf **
 › Bharat Forge GmbH, Daun **
 › CDP Bharat Forge GmbH, Ennepetal **
 › Richard Fritz Holding GmbH, Besigheim **

Dr. Michael Proeller (until June 10, 2015)
Augsburg

 › Managing Partner of Erhardt + Leimer GmbH, Augsburg
 › Managing Director of Erhardt + Leimer Elektroanlagen GmbH, 

Augsburg
 › Managing Director of Erhardt + Leimer Steuerungstechnik GmbH, 

Augsburg 
 › Managing Director of Erhardt + Leimer Corrugated GmbH, Bielefeld
 › Erhardt + Leimer Inc, Duncan (South Carolina) /USA ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer, India Pvt. Ltd., Ahmedabad /India ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer S.r.l., Bergamo /Italy ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer do Brasil Ltda., Guarulhos São Paulo /Brazil ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer Limited, Burlington (Ontario) /Canada ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer Japan Ltd., Yokohama /Japan ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer France SARL, Mulhouse /France ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd., Hangzhou /China ** 
 › Erhardt + Leimer Korea, Ltd., Seoul /South Korea **

Guy Wyser-Pratte (until June 10, 2015)
Bedford, New York /USA

 › President of WyserPratte & Co., Inc. (FINRA Broker Dealer),  
New York, NY /USA

 › President of WyserPratte Management Co., Inc. (RIA),  
New York, NY /USA

Hans Ziegler (from June 10, 2015)
Feusisberg /Switzerland

 › OC Oerlikon Corporation AG, Pfäffikon SZ /Switzerland ** 
 › Schmolz + Bickenbach Holding AG, Emmenbrücke /Switzerland ** 
 › Credor Holding AG, Wil SG /Switzerland ** 
 › think & act AG, Feusisberg SZ /Switzerland **

 * Membership in other legally stipulated supervisory boards
 **  Membership in comparable German and foreign controlling  

bodies of commercial enterprises
 ** * Employee Representative on Supervisory Board

Executive Board

Dr. Till Reuter 
Pfäffikon /Switzerland
Chief Executive Officer

 › Dr. Steiner Holding AG *, Berlin
 › Rinvest AG, Pfäffikon /Switzerland **
 › Swisslog Holding, Buchs /Switzerland **

Peter Mohnen 
Munich
Chief Financial Officer

 * Membership in other legally stipulated supervisory boards
 **  Membership in comparable German and foreign controlling  

bodies of commercial enterprises
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Name and registered office of the company Currency Share of equity
in %

Method of
consolidation

Germany

1 Bopp & Reuther AnlagenVerwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Augsburg EUR 100.00 k

2 Faude Automatisierungstechnik GmbH, Gärtringen EUR 51.00 k

3 KUKA Industries GmbH, Augsburg * EUR 100.00 k

4 KUKA Roboter GmbH, Augsburg * EUR 100.00 k

5 KUKA Systems GmbH, Augsburg * EUR 100.00 k

6 Reis Asia Pacific GmbH, Obernburg EUR 100.00 k

7 Reis GmbH & Co. KG Maschinenfabrik, Obernburg * EUR 100.00 k

8 Reis GmbH, Obernburg EUR 100.00 k

9 Reis Group Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Obernburg * EUR 51.00 k

10 Reis Holding GmbH, Obernburg EUR 100.00 k

11  Swisslog (Deutschland) GmbH, Puchheim EUR 100.00 k

12  Swisslog Augsburg GmbH, Augsburg EUR 100.00 k

13  Swisslog Automation GmbH, Puchheim EUR 100.00 k

14  Swisslog GmbH, Dortmund EUR 100.00 k

15  Swisslog Healthcare GmbH, Westerstede EUR 100.00 k

16 Verwaltungsgesellschaft Walter Reis GmbH, Obernburg EUR 100.00 k

17 Walter Reis GmbH & Co KG, Obernburg * EUR 100.00 k

18 WR Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH, Obernburg EUR 100.00 k

19 KBee AG, Munich EUR 40.00 at

20 RoboCeption GmbH, Munich EUR 25.10 b

21 Freadix FryTec GmbH, Augsburg EUR 100.00 nk

22 IWK Unterstützungseinrichtung GmbH, Karlsruhe EUR 100.00 nk

23 KUKA Unterstützungskasse GmbH, Augsburg EUR 100.00 nk

24 Schmidt Maschinentechnik GmbH i.L., Niederstotzingen EUR 100.00 nk

Schedule of shareholdings of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
As at December 31, 2015
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Name and registered office of the company Currency Share of equity
in %

Method of
consolidation

Other Europe

25 IRT S.A., Neuchatel /Switzerland CHF 50.00 k

26 KUKA SBASE s.r.o. (in Liquidation), Roznov p.R. /Czech Republic CZK 100.00 k

27 KUKA Automatisering + Robots N.V., Houthalen /Belgium EUR 100.00 k

28 KUKA Automatisme + Robotique S.A.S., VillebonsurYvette /France EUR 100.00 k

29 KUKA Automotive N.V., Houthalen /Belgium EUR 100.00 k

30 KUKA Enco Werkzeugbau spol. s.r.o., Dubnica nad Váhom /Slovakia EUR 100.00 k

31 KUKA Nordic AB, Västra Frölunda /Sweden SEK 100.00 k

32 KUKA Roboter CEE GmbH, Linz /Austria EUR 100.00 k

33 KUKA Roboter Italia S.p. a., Rivoli /Italy EUR 100.00 k

34 KUKA Roboter Switzerland AG, Dietikon /Switzerland CHF 100.00 k

35 KUKA Robotics Hungária Ipari Kft., Taksony /Hungary EUR 100.00 k

36 KUKA Robotics OOO, Moscow /Russia RUB 100.00 k

37 KUKA Robotics UK LTD, Wednesbury /Great Britain GBP 100.00 k

38 KUKA Robots IBÉRICA S.A., Vilanova i la Geltrú /Spain EUR 100.00 k

39 KUKA Sistemy OOO, Togliatti /Russia RUB 100.00 k

40 KUKA Systems Aerospace SAS, BordeauxMerignac /France EUR 100.00 k

41 KUKA Systems France S.A., Montigny /France EUR 100.00 k

42 KUKA Systems SRL, Sibiu /Romania RON 100.00 k

43 KUKA Systems UK Ltd., Halesowen /Great Britain GBP 100.00 k

44 Reis Espana S.L., Esplugues de Llobregat (Barcelona) /Spain EUR 100.00 k

45 Reis France SCI, PontaultCombeau /France EUR 100.00 k

46 Reis Robotics CR. – strojirenstvi spol. s.r.o, Chomutov /Czech Republic CZK 100.00 k

47 Reis Robotics Italia srl, Bellusco /Italy EUR 100.00 k

48  Swisslog (UK) Ltd., Redditch /Great Britain GBP 100.00 k

49  Swisslog AB, Partille /Sweden SEK 100.00 k

50  Swisslog Accalon AB, Boxholm /Sweden SEK 100.00 k

51  Swisslog AG, Buchs /Switzerland CHF 100.00 k

52  Swisslog AS, Oslo /Norway NOK 100.00 k

53  Swisslog B.V., Culemborg /Netherlands EUR 100.00 k

54  Swisslog Ergotrans B.V., Apeldoorn /Netherlands EUR 100.00 k

55  Swisslog Evomatic GmbH, Sipbachzell /Austria EUR 100.00 k

56  Swisslog France SAS, SaintDenis /France EUR 100.00 k

57  Swisslog Holding AG, Buchs /Switzerland CHF 100.00 k

58  Swisslog IP AG, Buchs /Switzerland CHF 100.00 k

59  Swisslog Italia SpA, Mailand /Italy EUR 100.00 k

60  Swisslog Luxembourg S.A., Ell /Luxembourg EUR 100.00 k

61  Swisslog N.V., Wilrijk /Belgium EUR 100.00 k

62 IRT Italia SRL, Cinisello Balsamo /Italy EUR 50.00 b

63 Metaalwarenfabriek 'sHertogenbosch B.V., 'sHertogenbosch /Netherlands EUR 100.00 nk
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Name and registered office of the company Currency Share of equity
in %

Method of
consolidation

North America

64 Forte Industrial Equipment Systems Inc., Mason /USA USD 100.00 k

65 KUKA Assembly and Test Corp., Saginaw, Michigan /USA USD 100.00 k

66 KUKA de Mexico S.de R.L.de C.V., Mexico City /Mexico MXN 100.00 k

67 KUKA Recursos S. de R.L. de C.V., Mexico City /Mexico MXN 100.00 k

68 KUKA Robotics Canada Ltd., Saint John NB /Canada CAD 100.00 k

69 KUKA Robotics Corp., Sterling Heights, Michigan /USA USD 100.00 k

70 KUKA Systems de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., Mexico City /Mexico MXN 100.00 k

71 KUKA Systems North America LLC., Sterling Heights, Michigan /USA USD 100.00 k

72 KUKA Toledo Production Operations LLC., Toledo, Ohio /USA ** USD 100.00 k

73 KUKA U.S. Holdings Company LLC., Shelby Township, Michigan /USA USD 100.00 k

74 Reis Robotics USA Inc., Elgin, Illinois /USA USD 100.00 k

75  Swisslog Logistics Inc., Newport News /USA USD 100.00 k

76  Swisslog USA Inc., City of Dover /USA USD 100.00 k

77 Translogic Corp., Denver /USA USD 100.00 k

78 Translogic Ltd. (Canada), Mississauga /Canada CAD 100.00 k

79 Barrett Technology LLC., Newton, Massachusetts /USA USD 30.00 at

Latin America

80 KUKA Roboter do Brasil Ltda., São Paulo /Brazil BRL 100.00 k

81 KUKA Systems do Brasil Ltda., São Bernardo do Campo SP /Brazil BRL 100.00 k

82 Reis Robotics do Brasil Ltda., São Paulo /Brazil BRL 100.00 k

83 Reis Servicos de Automacao Ltda., São Paulo /Brazil BRL 100.00 k

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
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Name and registered office of the company Currency Share of equity
in %

Method of
consolidation

Asia and Australia

84 KUKA Automation Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai /China CNY 100.00 k

85 KUKA Robot Automation Malaysia Sdn BhD, Kuala Lumpur /Malaysia MYR 100.00 k

86 KUKA Robot Automation Taiwan Co. Ltd., ChungLi City /Taiwan TWD 99.90 k

87 KUKA Robotics Thailand Ltd., Bangkok /Thailand THB 100.00 k

88 KUKA Robotics (China) Co. Ltd., Shanghai /China CNY 100.00 k

89 KUKA Robotics (India) Pvt. Ltd., Haryana /India INR 100.00 k

90 KUKA Robotics Australia Pty. Ltd., Victoria /Australia AUD 100.00 k

91 KUKA Robotics Japan K.K., Tokyo /Japan JPY 100.00 k

92 KUKA Robotics Korea Co., Ltd., KyunggiDo /South Korea KRW 100.00 k

93 KUKA Robotics Manufacturing China Co. LTD., Shanghai City /China CNY 100.00 k

94 KUKA Systems (China) Co. Ltd., Shanghai /China CNY 100.00 k

95 KUKA Systems (India) Pvt.Ltd., Pune /India INR 100.00 k

96 Reis Robotics China Co. Ltd. (Kunshan), Kunshan /China CNY 100.00 k

97 Reis Robotics China Co. Ltd. (Shanghai), Shanghai /China CNY 100.00 k

98 Reis Robotics Singapore PTE Ltd., Singapore /Singapore SGD 100.00 k

99  Swisslog (Kunshan) Co. Ltd., Kunshan /China CNY 100.00 k

100  Swisslog Asia Ltd., Hongkong /China HKD 100.00 k

101  Swisslog Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney /Australia AUD 100.00 k

102  Swisslog Malaysia Sdn Bhd, Selangor Darul Ehsan /Malaysia MYR 100.00 k

103  Swisslog Middle East LLC., Dubai /United Arab Emirates AED 49.00 k

104  Swisslog Pte Ltd Singapore, Singapore /Singapore SGD 100.00 k

105  Swisslog Shanghai Co. Ltd., Shanghai /China CNY 100.00 k

106  Swisslog Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore /Singapore SGD 100.00 k

107 Yawei Reis Robot Manufacturing (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd., Yangzhou City /China CNY 49.00 at

 *  Companies that have made use of the exemption pursuant to section 264 para. 3  
or section 264 b of the German Commercial Code

 ** Principal place of business

Method of consolidation as of December 31, 2015
k Fully consolidated companies 
nk Nonconsolidated companies 
at Financial asset accounted for by the equity method 
b Participating interest
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Responsibility statement

“ To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 
reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 
loss of the Group, and the management report of the Group includes 
a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal 
opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of 
the Group.”

Augsburg, February 29, 2016

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
The Executive Board

Dr. Till Reuter  Peter Mohnen
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Audit opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft, Augsburg, comprising the income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, cash flow statement, balance 
sheet, statement of changes in equity, and the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, together with the Group management report for 
the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2015. The preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements and the Group management 
report in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to section 315a para. 1 
HGB are the responsibility of the parent company’s Executive Board. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the Group management report based on our audit.
 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with section 317 HGB and German generally accepted stand
ards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW – “Institute of Public Auditors in Germany”).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that 
misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting frame
work and in the Group management report are detected with reasonable 
assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstate
ments are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. 
The effectiveness of the accountingrelated internal control system and 
the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report are examined primarily 
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in 
consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolida
tion, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant 
estimates made by the company’s Executive Board, as well as evaluat
ing the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated 
financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the EU, the addi
tional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to section 
315a para. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, finan
cial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with 
these requirements. The Group management report is consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suita
ble view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development.

Munich, February 29, 2016

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Karl Braun Rainer Rupprecht
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Glossary

ABS
Assetbacked securities. Assetbacked securities are bonds or notes that 
are collateralized with assets (usually receivables). Receivables of KUKA 
Roboter GmbH are purchased within the framework of an ABS program.

Capital employed
Capital employed includes working capital as well as intangible assets 
and tangible fixed assets. Capital employed therefore represents the 
difference between operating assets and noninterestbearing outside 
capital.

Cash earnings
Cash earnings are a measurement for the inflow or outflow of cash 
from the operating profits (EBIT). They are the resulting balance from 
operating profits, interest, taxes, depreciation as well as other nonpay
mentrelated expenses and income.

Corporate compliance
Corporate compliance means that all employees conform to the com
pany’s legislative framework and internal guidelines and do not contra
vene any applicable laws. Proactive risk minimization is also part of a 
company’s compliance management system.

Corporate governance
Common international term for responsible corporate management and 
control that aims at creating longterm value.

DAX
German stock index of blue chip companies. It includes the 30 largest 
German companies admitted to the Prime Standard in terms of market 
capitalization and volume of stocks traded.

Declaration of compliance
Declaration of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board in accord
ance with section 161 of the German Corporation Act (AktG) regarding 
the implementation of the recommendations of the Government Com
mission in the German Corporate Governance Code.

Deferred taxes
Temporary differences between calculated taxes on the commercial and 
tax balance sheets designed to disclose the tax expense in line with the 
financial accounting income.

Derivatives
Financial instruments whose value is largely derived from a specified 
price and the price fluctuations /expectations of an underlying base 
value, e. g. exchange rates.

EBIT
Earnings before interest and taxes.

EBIT margin
EBIT in relation to sales revenues.

Employees
All figures for employees in the annual report are based on full time 
equivalent.

Equity ratio
Ratio of equity to total assets.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated on the basis of Group consolidated 
earnings after taxes and the average number of shares outstanding for 
the year.

Exposure
A key figure used to assess risk. This key figure includes all incoming 
payments in a 90day period prior to the record date of the down pay
ments, payments based on percentage of completion or compensation 
after acceptance of the work carried out. In addition, the key figure also 
comprises all customer payments made within 90 days and which have 
not yet been supplied with deliveries /services including the sum of 
unpaid invoices following delivery or service supplied to the customer, 
the POC receivables and any purchase commitments.

Free cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities plus cash flow from investing activ
ities. Free cash flow shows the extent of the funds generated by the 
company in the business year.

Free float
Shares of a public company owned by diverse shareholders.

GCGC
German Corporate Governance Code: the German Government Commis
sion’s list of requirements for German companies (since 2002).

General industry
General industrial markets not including the automotive industry.

Gross margin
Gross margin is determined by dividing gross profit by sales, expressed 
as a percentage.
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Gross profit
Gross profit on sales is defined as total sales minus cost of goods sold. 
Cost of goods sold includes all direct costs associated with sales reve
nues generated. Other costs, such as research and development, mar
keting and administration, are not included.

HGB
German Commercial Code.

IAS
International Accounting Standards.

IFRIC /SIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee – interpreter 
of the international financial reporting standards IAS and IFRS, formerly 
also SIC. IFRIC is the new name for the Standing Interpretations Com
mittee adopted by the trustees of the IASC foundation in March 2002. 
SIC was created in 1997 to improve the application and worldwide com
parability of financial reports prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standards (IAS). It outlines financial statement practices 
that may be subject to controversy.

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards: The IFRS ensure inter
national comparability of consolidated financial statements and help 
guarantee a higher degree of transparency.

MAP
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s employee share program.

Market capitalization
The market value of a company listed on the stock exchange. This is 
calculated by taking the share price and multiplying it by the number 
of shares outstanding.

MDAX
This stock index comprises the 50 largest German companies (after 
those of the DAX) according to market capitalization and volume of 
stocks traded.

Net liquidity /Net debt
Net liquidity /net debt is a financial control parameter consisting of 
cash, cash equivalents and securities minus current and noncurrent 
financial liabilities.

Percentage of completion method (POC)
Accounting method of sales and revenue recognition according to the 
stage of completion of an order. This method is used for customerspe
cific construction contracts.

R & D expenses
Expenditures related to research and development.

Rating
Assessment of a company’s creditworthiness (solvency) determined by 
a rating agency based on analyses of the company. The individual rating 
agencies use different assessment levels.

Reis Group
Reis Group refers to Reis Group Holding GmbH & Co. KG and its 
subsidiaries.

ROCE
Return on capital employed (ROCE) is the ratio of the operating profit /
loss (EBIT) to the capital employed (see Capital employed). To calculate 
ROCE the capital employed is based on an average value.

SDAX
This stock index comprises 50 smaller German companies that in terms 
of order book turnover and market capitalization rank directly below 
the MDAX shares.

Swisslog Group
Swisslog Group comprises Swisslog Holding AG and its subsidiaries.

Trade working capital
Trade working capital is defined as current assets minus current liabili
ties directly associated with everyday business operations; that is, inven
tories minus advance payments, trade receivables and receivables for 
manufacturing orders minus liabilities for trade receivables and man
ufacturing orders.

Volatility
Intensity of fluctuations in share prices and exchange rates or changes 
in prices for bulk goods compared to market developments.

Working capital
Working capital consists of the inventories, trade receivables, other 
receivables and assets, accrued items and the balance of receivables 
and payables from affiliated companies, as far as these are not allo
cated to financial transactions, minus other provisions, trade payables, 
other payables with the exception of liabilities similar to bonds and 
deferred income.

WPHG
German Securities Trading Act.
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Financial calendar 2016

First quarter interim report May 4, 2016

Annual general meeting, Augsburg May 27, 2016

Interim report to midyear August 3, 2016

Interim report for the first nine months November 9, 2016

This financial report was published on March 22, 2016 and is available in German and English 
from KUKA Aktiengesellschaft’s public relations /investor relations department. In the event of 
doubt, the German version applies.

Contact and imprint

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft 
Zugspitzstr. 140
86165 Augsburg
Germany
Phone: +49 821 7970
Fax:   +49 821 7975213
kontakt@kuka.com

Public Relations 
Phone: +49 821 7973722
Fax:   +49 821 7975213
pr@kuka.com

Investor Relations 
Phone: +49 821 7975226
Fax:   +49 821 7975213
ir@kuka.com

Concept and Design 
Whitepark GmbH & Co., Hamburg

Text
KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

Photographs 
Armin Brosch
page 6

Print 
Eberl Print GmbH, Immenstadt

Translation
AMPLEXOR Digital GmbH, Augsburg

130

KUKA Aktiengesellschaft
Annual Report 2015 





www.kuka.com


